Eawag: Swiss Federal Institute of Aquatic Science and Technology

Chemical Pollution in Lowand Middle-Income Countries



Chemical Pollution in Lowand Middle-Income Countries

Frederik T. Weiss Marianne Leuzinger Christian Zurbrügg Rik I.L. Eggen

Acknowledgements

This report has benefitted from inputs of many people. The authors are very grateful to all those that contributed with their ideas, suggestions and reviews on the content of the report.

We are especially grateful to our Eawag colleagues Christa McArdell, Alfredo Alder, Laura Sigg, Christian Stamm, Marion Junghans, and Annette Johnson, as well as to Heinz Böni (Empa, Switzerland), Martin Streicher-Porte (University of Applied Sciences, Northwestern Switzerland) for reviewing and improving sections of this report. At Eawag, Juliane Hollender, Rosi Siber, Hans Peter Bader, Linda Strande, Juerg Zobrist, Deborah Xanat Flores-Cervantes, Robert Kase and all colleagues from the Sandec department supported us by providing additional literature references and information. Similarly, Rick Johnston (WHO, Switzerland), Rachelle Yapo (CSRS, Centre Suisse de Recherches Scientifiques en Cote d'Ivoire), and Eric Rahn (ETH, Switzerland), provided valuable inputs and key documents to improve the quality of the report. We also thank all of them for the many fruitful discussions regarding chemical pollutants in low- and middle-income countries.

Heidi Höfer (Goethe University Frankfurt am Main; Germany), Torsten Brandenburg (DERA Deutsche Rohstoffagentur, Germany) and Claudia Casarotto (SwissRe) helped us with important information about mining commodities and pollutants. Hanna Capeder and Manuel Thurnhofer (Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation) organized the RésEAU e-discussion on Mining and Water Resources Management and thus allowed us to include a wide range of expert views. Andreas Weber (IWW Biebesheim am Rhein, Germany) gave us important insights on pharmaceuticals, based on the ongoing project on the Global Relevance of Pharmaceuticals in the Environment. Chela Vazquez from the Pesticide Action Network Asia and Pacific provided input on hazardous pesticides used in the Asia and Pacific region.

Last but not least we are particularly indebted to our Eawag colleagues Monika Okle for her organizational support, double-checking references, and her help in providing the graphical documentation, and Paul Donahue for his help in providing the necessary photographic documentation.

Inprint

Publisher: Swiss Federal Institute of Aquatic Science and Technology Überlandstrasse 133, 8600 Dübendorf, Switzerland

Copyright © 2016: All rights reserved. Published texts and figures may be reproduced freely for non-commercial purposes only (except when reproduction or translationrights are explicitly reserved), provided that mention is made of the author and this publication.

ISBN 978-3-906484-61-7

Printed in Switzerland by Paul Scherrer Institute (PSI), on chlorine free paper. Editing: Scriptoria Ltd. Layout: Liz Ammann Grafik Design, Zürich, Switzerland Cover picture: © Bill Frymire / Masterfile

Disclaimer. Data and information shown on maps are not intended to delineate countries or regions. The objective is to provide the best possible comprehensive overview based on data obtained from the literature already publicly available. All data shown is referenced, but was not verified for quality and reliability by the authors of this report. Geographical areas without data do not imply a value of zero, but, rather, that the information is not available.

Contents

Executive Summary

i)	data availability and data collection	10
ii)	development of concepts and tools for	
	monitoring and data collection	10
iii)	development of mitigation options	11
iv)	raise awareness in society, private sector and industry, politics and regulatory authorities as well as support the development & implementation of legislation and management tools	11
Iı	ntroduction	12
Cł	nemical pollution - an underestimated risk	12
Tł	ne future of chemical pollutants	

8

19

in low- and middle-income countries	15
Objectives of this report	16
Categorizing chemical pollutants	17
Limitations of this report	18

Agricultural Chemical Pollutants

Chemical characteristics and their	
potential risks	19
Introduction	19
Toxicological potential	19
Main Issues	20
Pesticides of environmental concern	20
A) Organochlorine (OC) insecticides	20
B) Organophosphates (OP) and Carbamates	22
C) Triazines	23
D) Bipyridylium herbicides	24
E) Pyrethroids	25

Input pathways of pesticides	31
Use of pesticides and pollution trends	
and impacts	31
Data availability	31
Future trends and hot spots	32
Impacts on environmental and human health	33
Issues of special concern	36
Inadequate storage	36
Case study of obsolete pesticide stockpiles	37
Inadequate handling and lack of education	37
Case study of inadequate pesticide handling	37
Inappropriate regulation and implementation	38
Best practices	38
Implemented examples	38
Initiatives and conventions in sound chemical management	
and consumption	38
Extension of data collection	39
Low cost approaches	39
Theoretical examples	40

Veterinary and Human Health Care Pollutants 41

Chemical characteristics and their

potential risks	41
Introduction	41
Main Issues	41
Toxicological potential	42
Physicochemical characteristics	42
Consumption	43

Active pharmaceutical ingredients

	44
A) Analgesics and anti-inflammatory drugs	44
B) Antibiotics	45
C) Antiviral drugs	49
D) Beta-blockers	51
E) Hormone preparations and oral contraceptives	52
F) Lipid regulators	53
G) Sedatives and antidepressants	54
H) Anticonvulsants	54
I) Cytostatic cancer therapeutics	56
J) X-ray contrast medium	56

Input pathways of pharmaceuticals

57

лл

Use of pharmaceuticals and pollution

trends and impacts	58
Data availability	58
Future trends and hot spots	58
Pharmaceuticals for veterinary treatment	59
Issues of special concern	62
Diclofenac endangers vulture population in	
India and Pakistan	62
Pharmaceutical manufacturing in India	62
Pharmaceutical manufacturing in China	62
Pharmaceutical manufacturing in Brazil	63
Best practices	63
Implemented examples	63
Changes in regulations	
Changes in regulations	63
More transparency	63 64
6 6	
More transparency	
More transparency Predictions of pharmaceutical concentrations in	64
More transparency Predictions of pharmaceutical concentrations in sewage treatment plant effluents	64 64
More transparency Predictions of pharmaceutical concentrations in sewage treatment plant effluents Theoretical examples	64 64 65 65 65
More transparency Predictions of pharmaceutical concentrations in sewage treatment plant effluents Theoretical examples Changes in legislation	64 64 65 65 65 65
More transparency Predictions of pharmaceutical concentrations in sewage treatment plant effluents Theoretical examples Changes in legislation More investigations in ecotoxicology	64 64 65 65 65



67

Chemical characteristics and their potential risks 67	
Introduction	67
Impact of ore exploitation	67
Impact of transportation	68
Impact of ore extraction	68
Impact of ore refining	68
Main Issues	68
Toxicological potential	69

Mining pollutants of environmental concern	70
Group A: Cadmium (Cd)	70
Group A:Chromium (Cr)	72
Group A: Copper (Cu)	73
Group A: Lead (Pb)	75
Group A: Manganese (Mn)	77
Group A: Mercury (Hg)	79
Group A: Thallium (TI)	82
Group B: Antimony (Sb)	84
Group B: Arsenic (As)	86
Group C: Asbestos	88

Input pathways of mining pollutants 92 Social impacts of mining 92 Production and pollution trends of hazardous metals, metalloids, and minerals 94 Data availability 94 Future trends and hot spots 94 96 Issues of special concern 96 Artisanal small-scale mining Acid mine drainage at abandoned mining sites 96 Working conditions and occupational incidents 98 **Best practices** 98 98 Implemented examples Increasing data transparency 98 Sustainable mining 98 Remediation techniques 99 Theoretical examples 100 Improvement in the recycling of metals and metalloids 100

Electronic Industry Pollutants (E-Waste) 102

102

Chemical characteristics and their potential risks

1	-	
Introduction	102	
Existing regulations and their enforcement	103	
Poor facilities and obsolete techniques	103	
Main Issues	103	
Mixture and variety of different compounds	104	
Inadequate labor conditions	105	
Toxicological potential	105	
E-waste pollutants of		
environmental concern	106	
A) Heavy metals and metalloids.	106	
B) PAHs, dioxins, and furans	111	

C) Flame retardants and other halogenated hydrocarbons. 114

Input pathways of e-waste pollutants 118

Production and pollution trends of hazardous	
compounds associated with e-waste	118
Data availability	118
Future trends and hot spots	119

Issues of special concern	120
Contaminants in the e-waste processing region of Guiyu, Guangdong Province, China	120
Health consequences of disposal, dismantling, and	121
recycling activities of WEEEs Lack of implementation of policies and regulations	121
Best practices	123
Implemented examples	123
Increased data transparency through the (Step) initiative	123
E-waste assessment methodology and implementation of dismantling programs Improvements in WEEE collection and	125
recycling practices	125
Development and implementation of greener technologies	126
Theoretical examples	126
Strengthening the regulatory framework and introducing attractive incentives	126
Better production processes through extended producer responsibility (EPR) and the green production of EER	E 127
Green production of EEE and increased data transparency	128

Residual Waste from
Selected Industries130Pollution risks from other industrial waste130Textile industry130Leather industry132

Paper industry	133
Construction industry (cement industry)	134
Rubber industry	135
Market share of several industrial	
commodities – mapping the risks	136

Knowledge Gaps and Opportunities to improve the Situation of Chemical Pollution, Exposure and Risks in LAMICS 139

Appendix	141
4) Raise awareness in society, private sector and industry, politics and regulatory authorities as well as support the development and implementation of legislation and management tools	140
3) Development of mitigation options	140
2) Development of concepts and tools for monitoring and data collection	140
1) Data availability and data collection	139

References	144

Executive Summary

In the current Millennium Development Goals' framework, three of the eight goals directly refer to healthrelated issues, while several other goals relate to determinants of health. Although much still needs to be done beyond 2015 to reduce the burden of communicable and non-communicable diseases, a still neglected issue is the health and environmental impact of the unsafe use and management of chemicals. This relates directly to the targets of Millennium Development Goal 7. These targets focus on the loss of environmental resources and biodiversity as well as setting other health targets.

This report draws attention to the neglected issue of anthropogenic chemical pollution in low- and middle-income countries.

The daily use of chemicals is omnipresent and only a few industrial sectors do not use chemical products. Consideration of chemical pollution issues are mainstream in the developed world where policy and practice engage in finding and implementing appropriate solutions. However, limited information and scientific evidence has yet been compiled on the use, fate, and impact of anthropogenic chemical pollutants, such as pesticides, pharmaceuticals, heavy metals from the mining sector, e-waste pollutants, and other industrial chemical substances, in the specific context of low- and middle-income countries.

This situation is alarming and becomes even more severe as chemical production and demand increases with population growth, urban development, improvements in living standards, and increased pressure to achieve high agricultural yields. Furthermore, chemical production is increasingly moved from high-income to low- and middle-income countries to reduce costs and maintain competitiveness. It is inevitable that with increased production of chemical substances and their use, there is a need for a comprehensive global overview of and insight into the exposure and effect of anthropogenic chemical pollutants on human and environmental health. There is also need for an assessment of the awareness and practices of stakeholders.

Looking in detail at the situation in low- and middle-income countries is justified by the increasing production and use of chemicals in these countries and the expected elevated release of toxins into the environment. Often obsolete techniques are applied, governmental infrastructure is lacking, and the disposal of waste is poorly managed, regulated or controlled. Furthermore, compared to the availability of scientific studies in high-income settings, the pathways of anthropogenic pollution in low- and middle-income situations are less evidenced by research and less well understood.

The scarcity of publicly available data currently makes it impossible to fully assess and quantify the risks of chemical pollutants to human and environmental health in low- and middle-income countries. Although different reports and scientific studies are available with site-specific information, a broader framework at the global level is still lacking. This report attempts to fill this gap. It provides a structured framework by distinguishing various types of chemical substances and sectors – pesticides, pharmaceuticals (for human health care and veterinary use), mining, e-waste, and residual industries (cement, paper, rubber, textile, and leather).

This report provides an overview of the current situation based on existing published information and reveals the most important and hazardous sources of those anthropogenic pollutants. It then advocates and encourages further discussion around this sensitive issue. Each section of this report covers different aspects of chemical pollution. Each section starts with a description of the specific chemical characteristics and the groups of chemicals of highest environmental concern. It goes on to describe their input pathways, their use – including trends and impacts – and issues of special concern. The section ends with the best practices observed and documented.

Based on a comprehensive literature search regarding anthropogenic chemical pollutants in low- and middle-income countries, a clear picture emerges of some fundamental issues that show a repeating pattern. Implementation of and compliance with international regulations still need to be significantly improved, especially in low- and middle-income countries. Although several international initiatives, such as the Stockholm, Basel, and Rotterdam Conventions, and the Strategic Approach to International Chemicals Management (SAICM) exist, their application in these countries of concern remains guestionable. It is obvious, although difficult to quantify, that the use of hazardous chemicals in low- and middle-income countries poses a grave threat to the environment and to human health, often affecting the already vulnerable and poor fraction of the population. Overall data on industrial production and exports, as well as on the import and use of hazardous chemicals is still significantly lacking. Without a comprehensive overview at the national level it is very difficult to assess the overall relevance of the different substances in a specific spatial context. Only when more data on production and use are available or accessible, can better evidence on input pathways, spatial distribution, and the associated risks to human and environmental health be established. At sites already identified as critical, more research is needed to develop efficient and low cost techniques for environmental remediation that are feasible for application in low- and middle-income countries.

The management of chemicals and their use are seldom considered priority issues by government agencies. Developing effective sticks and carrots, by politicians providing clear and enforced legal settings, or governments providing economic incentives, will have the potential to engender improvement. An important step in raising awareness and starting to mitigate the hazardous chemical pollution of the environment and reducing human exposure is to create a sound knowledge base for decision makers and local authorities. This will help them become aware of the existing risks and appropriate technologies that can be applied in the production and consumption of chemical commodities or mining products. This also includes an urgent need to raise the individual awareness of the appliers and consumers related to the effect of chemical compounds on their own and others' health as well as on the environment.

More than 1.5 billion¹ hectare (2012) of arable land are in low- and middle-income countries - around 75% of the global total. The most environmentally hazardous and controversial substances with the highest bioactivity used on these lands are pesticides. The US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) estimates that worldwide about 2.4 million tonne of active pesticide ingredients - single or a mixture of substances used for preventing, destroying, repelling, or mitigating any pest - are used each year. This amounts to an average annual use of pesticides of about 1.53 kg/ha. With population growth and increased intensification of agriculture, the use and application of pesticides is steadily increasing. Currently, about 1300 active pesticide substances are in use. These can vary significantly in their chemical characteristics, modes of action, effectiveness, and impacts. Pesticides are highly bioactive even at low concentrations and exposure to pesticides is known to impair human and environmental health. Extremely hazardous pesticides, which are banned in high-income countries, are still being stockpiled or even used in low- and middle-income countries. This use, linked to poor education on the handling of pesticides, limited awareness of their toxicity, the lack of regulations, and an overall lack of appropriate measures of risk mitigation, results in millions of people suffering from pesticide poisoning.

The use of pharmaceuticals to treat human and animal diseases is considered indispensable. More than 3000 active pharmaceutical ingredients are currently in use. These include analgesics, antibiotics, anticancer, antivirals, beta-blockers, contraceptives, lipid regulators, sedatives, impotence drugs, and others. The consistent use of pharmaceuticals results in an omnipresent contamination of the environment by active pharmaceutical ingredients or their transformation products. Increasingly, research in environmental toxicology and environmental chemistry, driven by improved analytical techniques, has resulted in better knowledge about pharmaceuticals in the environment and their effects on ecosystems. The occurrence and fate of pharmaceuticals in the environment have been extensively assessed and documented for high-income countries, whereas data is limited for the low- and middle-income country context. This is critical as the bulk of pharmaceutical production is in these countries. For example, China, India, and Pakistan are all producing large amounts of active pharmaceutical ingredients as a result of increasing demand and their lower production costs. Often the wastewater effluents, released without treatment into the environment, are important sources of pollution for such compounds. Use of active pharmaceutical ingredients increases with the availability of cheap generic drugs, improving living standards, and population growth. Finally, the rapid increase in intensive livestock farming (aquaculture and cattle, poultry, and pork) goes hand in hand with an increased use of active veterinary pharmaceutical ingredients. The consequences for human health resulting from the presence of active pharmaceutical ingredients in the environment are the development of antibiotic-resistant strains of bacteria (e.g. tuberculosis) or antiviral drug-resistant influenza viruses. Pharmaceuticals are found in many organisms in the environment and influence their development, reproduction, and behavior. The effects of this pollution with pharmaceuticals carry over into the population and even into the food web interactions in ecosystems.

Rising demand for raw material and ores from low- and middle-income countries relates particularly to metals and resources used in high-technology industry. Extractions of these minerals produce large quantities of waste. As more high-grade ore deposits are depleted, lower grade ores are exploited whereby even more waste is produced. To produce 0.3 mg of gold, 79 tonne of mine waste is generated. For 1 tonne of copper, 110 tonne of tailings (waste ore) and 200 tonne of waste rocks are generated. Mining energy commodities such as gas, oil, coal, or

radioactive uranium ore, although not discussed in this report, are known to affect environmental and human health significantly. This report distinguishes four steps in the mining sector that are of concern when analyzing the importance of chemical pollution - ore exploitation, extraction and enrichment, transport, and ore refining. The consequences of ore exploitation comprise not only the generation of mining waste, but also waste from the use of explosives. These include the mixtures of ammonium nitrate and fuel oil, trinitrotoluene, and nitroglycerine, which may have adverse effects on environmental and human health by polluting vulnerable ecosystems. Extracting and enriching the compounds of interest often implies the use of chemical substances. Gold, silver, and platinum group elements are often processed by leaching with cyanides or using mercury for amalgamation, which are then released in an uncontrolled way into the environment. For lead, zinc, and copper milling, flotation, smelting, and sulfuric or hydrochloric acid leaching methods are used, whereas iron is principally extracted by magnetic separation. Pollution from small-scale mining operations, which are widespread and typical in low- and middle-income countries, is a serious concern as regulation and control is hardly feasible. Common chemicals of environmental concern, which are used for the processing and extraction of ores and minerals include hydrochloric acids, sulfuric acid, potassium cyanide and cyanide acids, soda ash, sulfur dioxide, coal tar, and aluminum and zinc sulfates. However, the quantities of these chemicals used and the risks they pose to human and environmental health are difficult to assess. This report focuses on the most hazardous heavy metals, metalloids, and minerals that are released accidentally as side products, posing risks to the environment.

The management of waste from electrical and electronic equipment represents an emerging and growing problem. The continuous expansion of the electronics market and shortened innovation cycles stimulating the replacement of electrical and electronic equipment increase the amount of obsolete equipment. This type of waste comprises a diversity of hazardous compounds especially when poorly managed and regulated, which is often the case in low- and middle-income countries. Although international initiatives try to prevent the export and trade of ewaste from industrial countries they have limited impact. The International Labour Organization highlights that 80% of all e-waste that is sent to low- and middle-income countries ends up in informal and uncontrolled e-waste recycling sites. This poses a risk to human and environmental health given the often obsolete recycling techniques used and the very limited health protection measures afforded the workers.

The significance of chemical pollution from other industrial sectors was difficult to assess given the limited data available or accessible. This report describes issues around the use of chemical substances in the textile, leather, paper, and rubber industries. It identifies the major chemicals of concern and their potential negative impacts on human and environmental health.

Despite data being scarce and/or fragmented, it is safe to conclude that the situation is alarming and that there is a trend that this situation is getting worse. In all the sectors evaluated, significant amounts of a large variety of chemical compounds are used, which enter the environment in often uncontrolled manner and can have negative impacts on environmental health. The negative effects of chemical pollution on human health, either caused by direct exposure, or indirectly, e.g. via the environment or food, are also significant. Because of the lack of data, the real threat for humans and the environment can only be estimated. To improve the situation of chemical pollution, the following four recommendations have been made:

i) data availability and data collection

More comprehensive data, including the complete chemical life cycle, assessments of effects on environmental and human health, and comprehensive risk assessments are needed, on various scales. Data at global scale are needed to support international policy development as well as international conventions and protocols. Increasing international attention will also help national policy makers to make chemical pollution a priority topic. Country-level evidence is crucial for the development of national policies. Finally, since mitigation actions are implemented at local/catchment scale, more detailed information, with significant spatial and temporal resolution, is needed at this level. As a first step, it is suggested that existing data could/should be made publicly available.

ii) development of concepts and tools for monitoring and data collection

Available concepts and tools for monitoring and data collection need to be adapted or newly developed for LAMICs, so that evidence on exposure routes, environmental concentrations and effects of chemical pollutants can be collected. This under the consideration of i) functionality under the respective climatic situation, ii) efficiency and cost-effectiveness, iii) feasibility of use by local people with limited technical skills and expertise, iv) applicability for all relevant spheres (air, soil, water and anthroposphere), v) the ability to capture both exposure and effect assessments and vi) the ability to allow the development of locally relevant risk maps and mitigation options.

iii) development of mitigation options

Despite the fact that chemical pollution is of global importance and influenced by global trends, local mitigation measures are key to improving the situation for human and environmental health. There are no "one size fits all" solutions. A wide portfolio of mitigation options must be developed and evaluated. Ideally, finding and implementing mitigation solutions is a process taking place not in isolation but by including boundary conditions and local challenges and using a base of solid and detailed knowledge about the local situation.

iv) raise awareness in society, private sector and industry, politics and regulatory authorities as well as support the development & implementation of legislation and management tools

Awareness of the existing problem or the risk of the issue becoming a problem is a precondition for change. Society, including policy makers, regulatory authorities and producing industries must be better informed with clearer messages. In this regard, scientists and research play an important role as they can provide facts in an unbiased and neutral way. Furthermore, scientists can also support decision making under uncertainty. Interdisciplinary research including relevant stakeholders in the research process assures that the critical questions can be voiced and tackled by researchers, that necessary and required data can be collected in a focused, practical manner, that mitigation and management tools can be developed in a concerted action, and that evidence can support and drive policy and legislation.

Introduction

Chemical pollution - an underestimated risk

Chemical substances play an important role in our dai-

ly lives. One example is the common practice of using

large amounts of pesticides to increase yields in agricul-

ture. Similarly, the use of pharmaceuticals to treat animal

and human diseases is indispensable and widespread. In-

creasing agricultural and livestock production, population

growth, improving standards of life, increased productivity and changes in production sites, and the trade and use

of chemicals highlight the increasing importance of che-

mical substances in the global economy. The increasing

production and use of a growing number of substances

generally comes hand in hand with higher exposures and

thus increased risks for human and environmental health.

This is particularly of concern when governmental poli-

cies and enforcement are deficient, data on the produc-

tion, use, exposure scenarios, and toxicities are lacking,

or if inappropriate corporate practices are in place. Such

concerns are globally relevant, but become increasingly

significant in the context of low- and middle-income coun-

tries. The shift of production and use from high-income

countries to low- and middle-income ones can be clear-

ly observed.

Many polluted sites are in the low- and middle-income countries of Latin and Central America, Africa, and the Asia-Pacific region.

Unintentional poisoning may often be associated with the inappropriate use and environmental management of toxic chemicals.

Childhood underweight Unsafe sex Alcohol use Unsafe water, sanitation, hygiene High blood pressure Tobacco use Suboptimal breastfeeding High blood glucose Indoor smoke from solid fuels Overweight and obesity Physical inactivity High colesterol Occupational risks Vitamin A deficiency Iron deficiency Low fruit and vegetables intake Zinc deficiency Illicit drugs Unmet contraceptive need



Figure 1: Proportions of the main health risk factors – in percent of global disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) – for high-, low-, and middle-income countries (World Health Organization, 2009).

In the past, when discussing the health risks to the populations of low- and middle-income countries, the focus has been on issues such as availability of food, sexually transmitted diseases, and diarrheal diseases. Figure 1 shows the proportions of the main health risk factors – in percent of global disability-adjusted life years² (DALYs; World Health Organization, 2009) – for high-income countries and low- and middle-income countries. For low- and middle-income countries the risks of chemical pollutants have not yet been determined as relevant although evidence points to a considerable risk factor.

Few reports are available or accessible that give a comprehensive overview on chemical pollution in low- and middle-income countries. Most reports on global challenges and risks in low- and middle-income countries focus on health, food security, climate change, and socio-economic aspects. Two examples of reports with a focus on chemical pollution are the United Nations Environmental Programme's report on Global Chemicals Outlook - Towards Sound Management of Chemicals (United Nations Environment Programme, 2013c) and the annual reports of the Blacksmith Institute (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2011, 2012), produced in cooperation with Green Cross, on The World's Worst Pollution. The Blacksmith Institute revealed that the number of people affected by industrial waste (focusing mainly on heavy metals) is comparable to the number of people affected by tuberculosis or malaria when using DALYs as the unit of measurement. The top ten pollution problems with their respective contaminated sites, shown in the Blacksmith Institute's publication, highlight that many of the polluted sites are located in the low- and middle-income countries of Latin and Central America, Africa, and in several countries of the Asia-Pacific region (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2011).

In low- and middle-income countries, the production and use of pesticides, pharmaceuticals, and chemical substances for ore extraction in mining and use in the construction, textile, and apparel industries are often linked to a release of extremely hazardous and bioactive substances. These substances include heavy metals, pharmaceuticals, pesticides, detergents, solvents, or persistent organic pollutants (POPs). These pollutants, as single compounds or in mixtures, may have negative impacts on human health and the environment (Buccini, 2004; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2011; United Nations Environment Programme, 2010, 2013c).

A map showing unintentional deaths from poisoning (Figure 2) reveals that in many low- and middle-income countries the annual numbers of deaths from unintentional poisoning range from 30 to 450 cases per million inhabitants, with high levels especially in Belarus, Kazakhstan, Ukraine, South Asia, and West Africa. The World Health Organization (WHO) emphasizes that in such countries unintentional poisoning may often be associated with the inappropriate use and environmental management of toxic chemicals.

The annual report of The World's Worst Toxic Pollution Problems 2011 (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012, Figure 3) shows the number of mining sites (e.g. for minerals and ores) as well as polluted industrial and agricultural sites and it becomes clear that most of these sites are in low- and middle-income countries. The impact of anthropogenic chemical pollution is even higher when the emissions or discharges of these substances are not – or are inadequately – regulated, enforced, or controlled, or if obsolete production or treatment technologies are applied. Unfortunately, this is frequently the case in lowand middle-income countries (African Ministerial Conference on Environment and United Nations Environment Programme, 2004; International Labour Organization, 2012; United Nations Environment Programme, 2013c). Impact of anthropogenic chemical pollution is higher when the emissions are inadequately regulated, enforced, or controlled, or if obsolete production or treatment technologies are applied.



Figure 2: Global map with estimated deaths from unintentional poisoning in deaths per million (World Health Organization, 2005).



High human exposure to hazardous substances is also a consequence of poor working conditions.

Figure 3: Top ten pollution problems and the major sites of contamination (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2011). The impacts are further exacerbated as industries and dumping sites are often near to or in densely populated areas, thereby increasing the risk of human exposure. High human exposure to hazardous substances, especially for workers, is also a consequence of poor working conditions as safety measures are seldom in place or respected and occupational incidents are frequent (El Sebae, 1993; Quarantelli, 2003; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2011). Such behavioral aspects, together with awareness issues - the fact that operators, workers and local communities are minimally aware of the consequences and impacts of hazardous emissions - contribute to high exposure and the resulting health risks (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012). This problem is, however, not restricted to industrial settings and/or urban environments. The same is true for pesticide use in agriculture. Unawareness, lack of appropriate technology, or incomplete regulations result in increased exposures and risks for human and environmental health (Kesavachandran et al., 2009).

Lack of government enforcement and a disregard of the laws or regulations for the application, production, and disposal of chemicals and other waste material, result in a vast amount of chemicals being released into the environment (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012; International Labour Organization, 2012; United Nations Environment Programme, 2013c). Cases are documented where obsolete chemicals were stockpiled under insecure and unprotected conditions. As a result, these chemicals were leached into the soil, contaminated aquifers, or were transported by air or water (rainfall runoff or erosion) and discharged into river systems and lakes (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2001; Elfvendahl et al., 2004). Wildlife and humans living adjacent to insecure dumping sites were drinking polluted water, or eating plants grown in and animals raised on contaminated soil, and, most probably, were taking up increased amounts of hazardous chemicals (Oaks et al., 2004; Tue et al., 2010; Bedi et al., 2013).

In summary, the global situation, the degree of chemical pollution, and the impact on the environment and human health are yet unclear as evidence is limited, especially in low- and middle-income countries. This is a consequence of the limited number of governmental or other independent monitoring systems that have been implemented and/or the lack of capacity to do so. The lack of a strategy and capacity to oversee the use of hazardous chemicals in industrial activities is a major bottleneck to obtaining sound data – a basic requirement to ensure appropriate management. Obtaining a clear oversight of activities is also hindered by the existence of many informal busines-

ses (often small-scale enterprises), which, by definition, are not legalized and are, therefore, also difficult to quantify and monitor (Artisanal Gold Council 2015; International Labour Organization, 2012). Lack of sound data limits the possibilities to undertake a good risk assessment and this again limits the possibilities to advocate for a higher priority at the political level. Showing the consequences of chemical exposure is further complicated as such pollutants often show chronic effects that require the accumulation of data over a long period of time. Monitoring pollutants is also challenging as often there is a lack of analytical technologies and capacity in these countries.

As anthropogenic pollutants are often not considered as significant risk factors, they tend to be disregarded by policy measures. Similarly, the political will is often too low to change this situation and, when working with a limited budget, the issue of chemical pollutants most often does not receive high priority.

The future of chemical pollutants in low- and middle-income countries

Trends show a clear global increase in the production of chemical substances and this increase is particularly large in low- and middle-income countries (Pricewaterhouse-Coopers, 2012). Expected demographic changes, such as population growth, increasing life expectancy, improving living standards, and modern lifestyles are likely to increase the demand for chemicals and consequently stimulate global production and the increased use of hazardous ones.

The United Nations Environment Programme (2013c) in its Global Chemicals Outlook 2013 shows how the chemical industry has grown continuously over the last decades (Figure 4). Output from the chemical industry has increased globally from US\$171 billion in 1970 to US\$4120 billion in 2010, although these figures do not consider inflation or changes in prices. When focusing on economies in transition (Figure 4B), an exponential rate of growth is visible for low- and middle-income countries, whereas in developed regions this growth is linear. Rapid growth can be observed especially after the time of the financial crisis around 2008/2009. One explanation for this exponential growth in outputs in low- and middle-income countries is the shift of the production facilities of the chemical industry from high- to low- and middle-income countries.

This trend is confirmed by data from the European Chemical Industry Council (Cefic, 2013) and from figures published in the United Nations Industrial Development Obsolete chemicals are stockpiled under insecure and unprotected conditions. As a result, these chemicals are leached into the soil, contaminate aquifers, or are transported by air or water (rainfall runoff of erosion) and discharged into river systems and lakes.

Impact on the environment and human health are yet unclear as evidence is limited, especially in low- and middle-income countries.

Rapid growth of global chemical production goes hand in hand with a shift of the production facilities to low- and middle-income countries.

Chemical intensification in low- and middle-income countries is stimulated by increase in local demand and increase in the number of producing facilities for the local and global market. Organization's International Yearbook of Industrial Statistics 2013 (Appendix Figures 1–4; United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2013). Recently, several multinational chemical companies have opened new production facilities in low- and middle-income countries to reduce production costs (United Nations Environment Programme, 2013c). Chemical intensification in low- and middle-income countries is thus stimulated by both a local increase in demand as well as an increase in the number of facilities producing for local as well as high-income country markets (United Nations Environment Programme, 2013c).





The increase in the number and size of the production facilities in low- and middle-income countries is likely to go hand in hand with an increase in chemical pollution, exposure, and impact on human and environmental health. Such an intensification of chemical production will affect the lower-income countries most; it is these countries that will face the greatest difficulties in reacting to this increase with appropriate policy, technology, or management measures (African Ministerial Conference on Environment and United Nations Environment Programme, 2004; United Nations Environment Programme, 2013c; European Chemical Industry Council, 2013; United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2013). In addition, education and raising awareness will be major challenges in general, and in low- and middle-income countries in particular.

Objectives of this report

As highlighted in the first section **Chemical pollution** - an underestimated risk, the situation regarding chemical pollution in low- and middle-income countries is seldom well documented, and if it is, then it is only in small-scale scientific studies. Nevertheless, several signals point to an alarming situation with a worsening trend.

Therefore, the main objectives of this report are to:

- Develop a systematic structure to describe the different sectors of chemical use, the various chemical substance classes or individual compounds, and their importance and potential impact on human and environmental health
- Obtain the best possible comprehensive overview of the existing situation by studying all the relevant literature for each sector and to assess the main chemicals used, their pathways into the environment, human exposure to them, and their impacts on environmental and human health
- Identify high risk areas in which the welfare of human beings and the environment might be threatened and endangered
- Suggest possible measures to mitigate environmental and human health risks in the production and use of hazardous chemical substances by improving practices to reduce exposure, remediate polluted areas, or encourage innovative 'green' technologies in the production and application of chemical substances (Hanrahan et al., 2007; United Nations Environ ment Programme, 2013, 2013b)

- Identify significant gaps in knowledge where more research is necessary and use this to advocate for increased research resources to develop evidence that can be used for policy making and in practice to address the environmental conditions in regions at risk
- Advocate for more global attention to the issue of chemical pollution in low- and middle-income countries and for more structured and reliable country-level monitoring that can be complied with at a larger scale to examine the global situation and changes over time.

This report is not written primarily for a scientific audience, but rather it targets bilateral and multilateral organizations, government and non-governmental organizations, and representatives of the industry; anyone with an interest and stake in public health, industrial development, or environmental protection. For the scientific audience it indicates areas where more research is required and seeks to motivate researchers to engage in the overall topic of chemical pollution in low- and middle-income countries. Information about the actual levels of chemical pollutants in low- and middle-income countries and their impacts on environmental and human health is needed. Any possible collaboration with Eawag in providing and exchanging data about the production, export, and release of chemicals into the environment, as well as on the impacts on human and environmental health is welcomed. The aim is to find and establish together strategies to:

- Assess and monitor these hazardous pollutants in the environment
- Assess their impacts on environmental and human health
- Mitigate exposure to the environment and humans, with a strong focus on low- and middleincome countries.

Categorizing chemical pollutants

A first step when compiling this report was to specify and structure the broad term of anthropogenic chemical pollution. This report differentiates, according to various production sectors, where chemical substances are used and where pollution occurs that is relevant in the low- and middle-income country context (Buccini, 2004; Farrell et al., 2004; Pesticide Action Network Asia and the Pacific, 2010; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2011, 2012, 2013; International Labour Organization, 2012; United Nations Environment Programme, 2013c; Weber et al., 2014). The sectors covered by this report are:



For each of the sectors, the most relevant chemical pollutants are determined and classified into different categories according to their physicochemical characteristics and/or their environmental behavior. We also describe these characteristics and their potential risks to human and environmental health.

For each sector, the most hazardous pollutants are described, information is compiled regarding their input and exposure pathways, their trend of use, future expected pollution, and their negative impacts on humans and the environment.

Within each sector, cases of significant environmental and human concern are introduced describing causes and effects. An overview is given regarding good practices, which have been implemented already under specific conditions or which are recommended for implementation as mitigation measures to reduce emission or environmental impact, or which would help to mitigate the adverse effects on human health.

The report ends with conclusions and with an analysis of the current research gaps. It recommends future potential research questions and research requirements.

Limitations of this report

This report is based on an analysis of the literature and databases using scientific publications, news articles, reports, and reliable websites. Furthermore, personal contact was established with specific government and non-governmental organizations specializing in this topic and with individuals with experience of and expertise in chemical pollution. The maps shown in this report were compiled with the help of the geographic information system software ArcGIS, whereby data included in the maps are open source information obtainable from various international, government and non-governmental organizations.

This report does not cover all chemical substances of concern. The authors took an informed decision to leave out certain substances to make it more manageable given the timeframe for finalizing this report, but at the cost of restricting its scope. Natural geogenic pollutants, such as arsenic (As) and fluorine (F), are not covered in this report although it is well-known that high concentrations of these substances in groundwater of certain regions of the world impact severely on the health of humans drinking such water without appropriate treatment. Furthermore the report does not cover nutrients, such as nitrogen and phosphorous, the main causes of eutrophication. Also nanoparticles, chemical substances related to fossil fuels, radioactive compounds, air pollution, and greenhouse gases are not dealt with.

As mentioned in various sections of this report, one major bottleneck the authors faced when compiling this report was the lack or limited availability of chemical pollution data at the country level or with regard to specific industrial sectors in low- and middle-income countries. Only a few databases exist with more or less comprehensive country data on the use of chemicals or the concentrations of chemical pollutants in the environment (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013; Weber et al., 2014; United States Geological Survey, 2013; Step Initiative, 2015). Data on industrial activity, production, and use of chemical substances is not available to the public, especially in the context of low- and middle-income countries.

Agricultural Chemical Pollutants

Chemical characteristics and their potential risks

Introduction

According to calculations with the publicly available data of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO; 2013), there were 1563 billion hectare (ha) of both arable land and land with permanent crops available worldwide in 2012. Of this, about 75% is located in low- and middle-income countries.

In agriculture, the most environmentally hazardous and controversial substances with the highest bioactivity are pesticides. Large volumes of these are applied annually (Wesseling et al., 1997). According to the US EPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015a), a pesticide is defined as a single substance or a mixture of substances used for preventing, destroying, repelling or mitigating any pest (e.g. insects, mice, and other animals, unwanted plants, fungi, and microorganisms).

Along these lines, the EPA estimated that worldwide about 2.4 million tonne of active pesticide ingredients are used each year. This means that given the global area of arable land and permanent crops, the average annual use of pesticides is about 1.53 kg/ha (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2011; Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013). Hence, chemical substances are used intensively for the removal of unwanted pests and plants on crops and in fields since mechanical removal is considered too time, labor, and cost intensive. In line with population growth and increased intensification of agriculture, the application of pesticides has also increased and intensified in low- and middle-income countries (Henriques et al., 1997; Ecobichon, 2001). Other substances of environmental concern, like phosphorous, nitrogen, and other fertilizers, which are causing eutrophication, do not fall within the scope of this study. However that is not to say that they are not of environmental concern.

Currently, about 1300 active pesticide substances are known (European Commission, 2015). They vary markedly in their chemical characteristics, modes of action, effectiveness, and impacts. According to their use, toxicity, chemical structure, and persistence, the most hazardous insecticides (I) and herbicides (H) are (Fishel, 2014a, b, 2015; International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015; European Commission, 2015):

- Bipyridylium (H)
- Carbamates (I,H)
- Organochlorines (I)
- Organophosphates (I)
- Pyrethroids (I)
- Triazines (H)

In general, in low- and middle-income countries more investigation about the fate, occurrence, and the human and environmental health risks of pesticides is required.

Toxicological potential

Most of the pesticides used are not highly specific to one target organism. They are not easily degradable as shown by their half-lives, which range from several days to years. Also, they are applied in large quantities all over the world (~1.5 kg/ha; Deer, 2004). Adding to this, especially in low- and middle-income countries, pesticides that are banned already in high-income countries, such as Europe or the USA, are still used or stockpiled in low- and middle-income countries where regulations, environmental controls, infrastructure, and the risk awareness of those hazardous pollutants are lacking (Kesavachandran et al., 2009; Carneiro et al., 2012). Several of these pesticides, especially the organochlorines, have a high toxic and bioaccumulation potential (Bedi et al., 2013). In addition, metabolites of degraded pesticides and their effects on environmental and human health are often unknown or unclear (Somasundaram and Coats, 1991; Belfroid et al., 1998). Pesticides used in low- and middle-income countries, their environmental relevance, their physicochemical properties, and the trends in their use are summarized in Table 1. The human toxicological potential of substances is indicated by their lethal dose for 50% of the organisms tested - the (LD₅₀)³ values for rats - and their eco-toxicological potential as indicated by the environmental quality standards (Ecotox Centre, 2015). The environmental guality standards, MAC-EQS (maximum allowable concentrations) and AA-EQS (annual average concentrations), represent the acute and chronic environmental concentrations of chemical agents that, if exceeded, indicate a risk to aquatic organisms in surface water bodies.



Application of pesticides has increased and intensified in low- and middle-income countries.

About 1300 active pesticide substances are in use. They vary in their chemical characteristics, modes of action, effectiveness, and impacts.

Pesticides that already are banned in high-income countries are still used or stockpiled in low- and middle-income countries.

Main Issues

- It is known that pesticides are highly bioactive even at low concentrations and exposure to pesticides can impair human and environmental health (van der Werf, 1996; Roldán-Tapia et al., 2005; Wesseling et al., 2005; Relyea, 2009; World Health Organization, 2010b; Wu et al., 2011a; Xu et al., 2013)
- The major part of the global arable land and land with permanent crops (about 75%) is located in low- and middle-income countries (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013) and where the highest amounts of pesticides (around 2.4 million tonne/year) are used globally (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2011)
- Extremely hazardous pesticides, which are banned in many high-income countries, are still stockpiled in low- and middle-income countries. Additionally, banned pesticides or pesticides that cannot be properly handled in low- and middleincome countries are being used in these countries under inappropriate conditions (Dinham, 2003; Elfvendahl et al., 2004; Wesseling et al., 2005; Pesticide Action Network Asia and the Pacific, 2010)
- Millions of people suffer from pesticide poisoning in low- and middle-income countries (Kesavachandran et al., 2009) mainly because of poor education regarding the handling of pesticides, lower awareness of the toxicity of pesticides, and a lack of regulations governing pesticide use (Kesavachandran et al., 2009; Dawson et al., 2010; Pesticide Action Network Asia and the Pacific, 2010).

According to the WHO's estimates, about 3 million people around the globe are severely poisoned annually by pesticides. Of these, at least 10% died and 99% of these poisoning incidents happened in low- and middle-income countries. Suicides by ingesting pesticides contributed to about two-thirds of all acute pesticide poisoning cases (Jeyaratnam, 1990; Jeyaratnam and Chia, 1994; Kesavachandran et al., 2009). However this number may be underestimated since in low- and middle-income countries health care centers remain difficult to access and thus many cases of poisoning are not registered and remain unreported. The chronic effects on environmental and human health resulting from exposure to pesticides are often not included in such risk assessment studies (Kesavachandran et al., 2009; Dawson et al., 2010; Pesticide Action Network Asia and the Pacific, 2010). A comprehensive research literature study revealed that the main groups of the most hazardous pesticides used in uncontrolled ways and in high quantities in low- and middle-income countries are organochlorines, organophosphates, bipyridylium herbicides, carbamates, and triazines (Kesavachandran et al., 2009; Pesticide Action Network Asia and the Pacific, 2010). The environmental behavior and toxicity of typical representatives of those pesticide groups considered most harmful in low- and middleincome countries are described in more detail in the following chapter.

Pesticides of environmental concern

A) Organochlorine (OC) insecticides

Organochlorine (OC) insecticides are of particular concern for environmental and human health. Lindane, dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT), aldrin, dieldrin, endosulfan, heptachlor, and heptachlor epoxide are OC insecticides (Lewis et al., 2015).

Consumption

The use of most OC insecticides is declining because of international restrictions. For example, the Stockholm Convention 2004 restricted or prohibited the production, import, export, and inappropriate stockpiling of OC insecticides that contain POPs, such as aldrin, chlordane, DDT, dieldrin, endrin, heptachlor, hexachlorobenzene, mirex, taxophene, chlordecone, a- and B-hexychlorocyclohexane, and lindane (United Nations Environment Programme, 2013d). Nevertheless, OC insecticides still pose risks to environmental and human health. The OC insecticide of most concern for its effects on the environment in several low- and middle-income countries is DDT. DDT was banned in many parts of the world in the 1970s and 1980s because of its environmental persistence and moderate toxicity (National Geographic, 2006). However, DDT has begun to be used again more frequently since 2000, mainly in sub-tropical and tropical low- and middleincome countries in Africa, Latin America, and South Asia. This is because it is an effective and long-lasting insecti-

3 million people annually are poisoned by pesticides. 99% of these poisoning incidents happened in low- and middle-income countries.

Chronic effects on environmental and human health by exposure to pesticides are often not included in risk assessment studies. cide for controlling insects that spread malaria, dengue fever, typhus, and cholera, and because its low cost makes it affordable in poor regions (Loganathan and Kannan, 1994: African Ministerial Conference on Environment and United Nations Environment Programme, 2004; European Commission, 2015). The recommended method for using DDT as a vector control for insects that transmit malaria, dengue fever, typhus, and cholera in low- and middle-income countries is to spray a very low concentration on house walls as an insect repellent. In the past, DDT has also been widely used in agriculture. In lowand middle-income countries, the use of DDT should be strictly controlled and regularly monitored (National Geographic, 2006). High-income countries already generally restrict the use of DDT. Globally, much less is used now than previously (Loganathan and Kannan, 1994). Nevertheless, since the ban on OCs, tonnes of DDT have been stockpiled under inappropriate conditions in low-income countries where they pose a risk to environmental and human health (Elfvendahl et al., 2004; Dasgupta et al., 2010). To date, reliable comprehensive data on the production of OCs and the use of old stocks of OCs are not available.

Environmental behavior and occurrence.

The physical and chemical properties of OC insecticides vary considerably. For instance, lindane and its other hexychlorocyclohexane isomers have higher vapor pressures and water solubilities, but lower adsorptions than chlordanes and DDT and, therefore, have less potential for bioaccumulation. However, all OC insecticides are known to persist in environmental systems for extended periods. Table 1 presents the physiochemical properties of significant OC insecticides. Volatile and semi-volatile OCs, such as lindane, persist in the atmosphere. The global climate transports volatile OCs from warmer to colder polar regions where they accumulate in the water and ice (Goldberg, 1975). In contrast, lipophilic compounds accumulate in soils and biota and affect wildlife and humans. Biotransformation eliminates residues slowly (Figure 5). Decades after the ban on OC insecticides, the levels of residues in human and bird adipose tissue are declining very slowly (Loganathan and Kannan, 1994). The top predators, the last links in the food chain, are most affected as a consequence of the enrichment of lipophilic OC insecticides by biomagnification at successive trophic levels (Bro-Rasmussen, 1996). Clearance rates in biota are higher in rivers and lakes than in semi-closed seas, where OC concentrations have slightly decreased, and in oceans, where they have remained constant. In aquatic biota in tropical regions, concentrations of OCs have increased slightly since 1970. The increase in concentrations may be the result of the persistence of OCs and because several of these, mainly DDT, are still used to prevent the spread of vector-borne diseases, such as dengue fever and malaria.

In 2003, OC insecticide concentrations in the Tonghui River, China, ranged from 134.9 to 3788 ng/L. Concentrations of OC insecticides in sediments ranged from 1.79 to 13.98 ng/g dry weight (Zhang et al., 2004). On the east coast of Thailand, oysters contained concentrations of OC insecticides up to 16.71 ng/g wet weight (Cheevaporn et al., 2005). In 2008, Devanathan et al. showed that the concentrations of DDT in breast milk in low- and middle-income countries were higher than those in higher-income countries (Devanathan et al., 2009). In New Delhi the mean level of DDT in human breast milk was 1500 ng/g lipid weight and in Chennai 1200 ng/g lipid weight. Breast milk sampled in the Democratic Repu-

Use of organochlorine insecticides is declining due to international restrictions. However, in sub-tropical and tropical low- and middleincome countries DDT is used again more frequently since 2000.

All organochlorine insecticides are known to persist in environmental systems for extended periods. Volatile and semi-volatile organochlorines persist in the atmosphere and accumulate in the water and ice of colder polar regions. Lipophilic compounds accumulate in soils and biota and affect wildlife and humans.

Aquatic Biota



Terrestrial Biota



Figure 5: Pollution trends of organochlorine insecticides in aquatic and terrestrial biota (Loganathan and Kannan, 1994)

blic of Vietnam had a DDT concentration (mean value) of 2200 ng/g lipid weight, in China (Hong Kong) it was 2870 ng/g lipid weight, and in Mexico, 4100 ng/g lipid weight. In contrast, human breast milk sampled in the USA had DDT residues of 65 ng/g lipid weight, Germany 240 ng/g lipid weight, Japan 340 ng/g lipid weight, United Kingdom 470 ng/g lipid weight, and Australia 1200 ng/g lipid weight (Devanathan et al., 2009).

Toxicity

OC insecticides have a bad reputation because of their toxic potential. There is evidence of the negative effect of OCs on endocrine activity (Kojima et al., 2004; Lemaire et al., 2004), their carcinogenic potential (Ibarluzea et al., 2004), and their potential to promote neuropsychiatric impairment and diseases such as Parkinson's Disease (Fleming et al., 1994). Furthermore, the DDT metabolite dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene is known to cause eggshell thinning by impairing or inhibiting prostaglandin synthesis in eggshell gland mucosa (Lundholm, 1997). Bobwhite quail (Colinus virginianus) exposed to 60 to 85 µg DDT/g body weight as an oil solution or 300 µg DDT/g body weight in a crystalline form showed acute toxic effects. After chronic exposure (63 days) to 3.07 mg DDT by oral ingestion, 70% of the tested bobwhite quail died (Coburn and Treichler, 1946).

B) Organophosphates (OP) and Carbamates

The most hazardous organophosphates are: Azinphosmethyl, chlorpyrifos, diazinon, dichlorvos, dimethoate, ethephon, malathion, methamidophos, naled, and oxydemeton-methyl. The carbamates aldicarb, aldoxycarb, aminocarb, bendiocarb, carbofuran, dimetan, dimetilan, dioxacarb, methiocarb, carbofuran, dimetan, dimetilan, dioxacarb, methiocarb, methomyl, oxamyl, and propoxur are very toxic. Bufencarb, carbosulfan, pirimicarb, promecarb, thiodicarb, and trimethacarb are moderately toxic carbamates (Morais et al., 2012).

Consumption

Detecting carbamates is a challenge even when using relatively modern techniques, such as liquid chromatography (LC) with post-column fluorescence detection or LC-diode array ultraviolet (UV) detection. Most OPs and carbamates are used in insecticides, herbicides, and fungicides (Table 1). Today, most WHO Class I and II OPs and carbamates are banned in most parts of the world. Large amounts of Class II or lower OPs and carbamates are still widely used (Table 1).

Environmental behavior and occurrence

Compared to OCs, OPs and carbamates are less persistent and bioaccumulative (Henriques et al., 1997; Klaassen, 2013). Table 1 presents the physiochemical properties of several OPs and carbamates. In soil samples taken in 2002 and 2003 from agricultural areas around Hisar, Haryana (India), the maximum concentrations of the OPs chlorpyriphos, malathion, and quinalphos were 0.172, 0.008, and 0,01 μ g/g, respectively (Kumari et al., 2008).

In 2000, groundwater from an agricultural area in the Yaqui Valley, in northwest Mexico, had 5.4 µg/L of the carbamate methiocarb, and surface water had 18 µg/L of the carbamate metabolite of carbofuran, 3-hydroxycarbofuran. In this region, groundwater is an important source of drinking water, especially in rural areas, thus contamination of groundwater by pesticides is a serious health risk for local communities (García de Llasera and Bernal-González, 2001). Consequently, although OPs and carbamates degrade more easily than OCs and have shorter half-lives, these pesticides still occur in water samples at µg/L or ng/L concentrations because of their continuous use in agriculture over months or years (Gruber and Munn, 1998). In low- and middle-income countries, especially in sub-tropical and tropical regions, pesticides may be used throughout the year because there is no winter. Continuous application increases environmental concentrations, especially in standing water (lakes), groundwater, and soils. Inappropriate application of pesticides, applying too much, neglecting to consider wind direction or surface runoff, or applying to agricultural areas near wells or aquifers that are used as drinking water sources, can lead to high concentrations (Wesseling et al., 2005; Pesticide Action Network Asia and the Pacific, 2010). Although large amounts of carbamates are widely used, monitoring data and data on environmental concentrations are not as available as for OCs and OPs, mainly because of the challenge of detecting carbamates. García de Llasera and Bernal-González, (2001) showed that it is even difficult to detect carbamates using relatively modern techniques, such as liquid chromatography (LC) with post-column fluorescence detection or LC-diode array ultraviolet (UV) detection.

Toxicity

Although the chemical structures of OPs and carbamates differ, they act in a similar way. Both inhibit the enzyme acetylcholinesterase. Carbamates are considered to be less toxic than OPs as they bind less tightly to acetylcholinesterase (Henriques et al., 1997). Inhibiting the enzyme acetylcholinesterase kills many insects. However, vertebrates and mammals are also highly susceptible because inhibiting acetylcholinesterase causes neuropsychological sequelae (Fukuto, 1990; Story and Cox, 2001). For instance, in human pesticide poisoning, sym-

Continuous application of organophosphates and carbamates increases environmental concentrations especially in lakes, groundwater, and soils, although they degrade more easily than organochlorines. ptoms of acetylcholinesterase inhibition are miosis, salivation, sweating, lacrimation, rhinorrhea, abdominal cramping, vomiting, diarrhea, urinary incontinence, bronchospasm, dyspnea, hypoxemia, bradycardia, bronchial secretions, pulmonary edema, and respiratory failure (Morais et al., 2012). School children exposed to OPs and carbamates in infancy suffer significant consequential damage. This includes, for example, deficient inhibitory motor control or difficulties in the acquisition phase of verbal learning tasks (Kofman et al., 2006).

In Costa Rica in 2001, drifts of the OP methamidophos, which was being used to prevent agricultural pests, affected 78 children. In 2003 the number was 40 children and in 2004, 61 children were affected (Wesseling et al., 2005). Carbamates and OPs also impair reproduction in vertebrates (Pawar and Katdare, 1984) and mammals (Gosselin et al., 1984) because of their estrogenic potential (Schulte-Oehlmann et al., 2011). Furthermore, carbamates and OPs are suspected of causing cancer (Schlatter and Lutz, 1990). The toxic potential of OPs, and especially carbamates, varies considerably. For instance, aldicarb, aldoxycarb, aminocarb, bendiocarb, oxamyl, and propoxur have an estimated LD₅₀⁴ value for humans of less than 50 mg/kg. Bufencarb, carbosulfan, pirimicarb, promecarb, thiocarb, and trimethacarb are moderately toxic with estimated LD_{50} values of from 50 to 200 mg/kg. Fenocarb, carbaryl, and isoprocarb have low toxicity with an estimated LD₅₀ of less than 200 mg/kg (Erdman, 2004). From the eco-toxicological point of view, crustaceans are much more sensitive to OPs than to carbamates: Daphnia magna and Hyalella azteca showed acute LC_{50} s of 0.6 and 0.1 µg/L after exposure to the OP chlorpyrifos for 48 hours, and $LC_{50}s$ of 3990 and 583 $\mu g/L$ after exposure to the carbamate aldicarb for 48 hours. Vertebrates generally seem to be less sensitive to exposure to OPs and carbamates than crustaceans. The fish Pimephales promelas had higher LC50 values than crustaceans -162.7 µg/L after exposure to chlorpyrifos for 48 hours and 8860 µg/L after exposure to aldicarb for 48 hours. Nevertheless, chronic exposure of fish to OPs and carbamates led to alterations in swimming (Matton and LaHam, 1969) and feeding (Bull and McInerney, 1974) behavior, changes in social interactions (Symons, 1973), widened opercula, and increased hyperexcitability (Zinkl et al., 1991). In plants, the herbicide carbamates, for example carbetamide, inhibit cell division by disturbing the nucleic acid metabolism and protein synthesis (Audus, 1976; Ocampo and Barea, 1985; Morais et al., 2012), and they are also known to inhibit photosynthesis (Moreland, 1980).

C) Triazines

Atrazine, atraton, simazine, prometon, and propazine are members of the triazine-derivate herbicides of environmental concern (Köck-Schulmeyer et al., 2013).

Consumption

The triazine derivate atrazine is one of the most widely used herbicides worldwide (Azevedo et al., 2010). According to a quantitative analysis for atrazine, the EPA estimated that the annual consumption of atrazine was about 35,000 tonne, in 2001 (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2006). Usually, the herbicide is used to eliminate unwanted plants before the emergence of the crop. Most of it is used before the cultivation of crops such as corn, sugarcane, sorghum, and sweet corn. In addition to its agricultural application it is used in forestry for non-selective plant control on roads, railway lines, and industrial areas (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2006; Azevedo et al., 2010).

Environmental behavior and occurrence

The investigations of Köck-Schulmeyer et al. (2013) showed that triazines, triazine- derivates, and the transformation products atrazine, desethylatrazine, deisopropylatrazine, simazine, and terbuthylazine are hard to remove from water systems. Given their nitrogen and chlorine atoms, triazines have polar and persistent characteristics.

The physicochemical properties of atrazine are presented in Table 1. From 2007 to 2009, Köck-Schulmeyer et al. (2013) measured concentrations of triazines, its derivates, and its metabolites ranging from 20 to 169 ng/L (mean values) in the effluents of wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) from Catalonia (north-east Spain), although they have been banned in the EU since 2003 (Sass and Colangelo, 2006). In addition, the maximum concentration of 1990 ng/L simazine was measured in effluents from one Catalonian WWTP (Köck-Schulmeyer et al., 2013). In addition to these high environmental concentrations in Spain, triazines occur in water samples in other countries and in low- and middle-income countries as well. These herbicides are still in use in the USA and various low- and middle-income countries (Gfrerer et al., 2002; Sass and Colangelo, 2006; Kesavachandran et al., 2009). For instance, in 2002, in the Liaoning Province, eastern China, atrazine concentrations of up to 1600 ng/L were detected in Liao-He River water (Gfrerer et al., 2002). Furthermore, according to the environmental relevance of pesticides from wastewater treatment plants index (ERPWI), atraziVertebrates and mammals are also highly susceptible to carbamates, as inhibiting acetylcholinesterase causes neuropsychological pathological conditions.

The triazine derivate atrazine is one of the most widely used herbicides worldwide. Although banned in the EU since 2003 triazines are still in use in the USA and many low- and middleincome countries. ne and simazine, as well as diazinon and diuron, were listed as the most problematic compounds within the scope of their study. The ERPWI considers the occurrence and removal of pesticides in wastewater treatment installations and the toxicity of pesticides to algae, daphnia, and fish (Köck-Schulmeyer et al., 2013).

Toxicity

Triazines act as strong herbicides by inhibiting photosynthesis. Accordingly, processes that are correlated with photosynthesis, for example, stomatal movement, transpiration, ion movement, and other energy-dependent processes, are affected by triazines as well (Ebert and Dumford, 1976). Furthermore, animal tests with rats showed that exposure to triazines causes neuroendocrine development and reproduction impairments because of the antiandrogenic properties (Stevens et al., 1994; McMullin et al., 2004). The uptake of atrazine leads to the suppression of the luteinizing hormone surge in ovariectomized estrogen-primed adult female rats, and it was shown that atrazine has antiandrogenic properties after conducting in vitro and in vivo studies. Moreover, it was revealed that these herbicides affect parts of the central nervous system, for example, causing hypothalamic dysfunction and disrupting the pituitary function (McMullin et al., 2004). Other effects on humans and wildlife include changes in organ weights and damage to the heart and liver. Tremors were observed as well (Fishel, 2015). Because of the adverse effects of the triazine compound atrazine, the EPA recommended that atrazine concentrations in drinking water should not exceed 3 µg/L to prevent chronic effects on humans and animals (Fishel, 2015). For the algae Chlamydomonas reinhardtii and Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata, mean $\mathrm{EC}_{\mathrm{50}}$ values (96 hour), ranged from 176 to 117 µg atrazine/L. The triazine metribuzin seems to be more toxic by showing lower EC₅₀ mean values ranging from 23 to 43 μ g/L when used with the same algae. For the macrophytes Ceratophyllum demersum and Lemna minor, EC50 values of 22 and 92 µg/L were measured for atrazine and 14 and 36 $\mu\text{g/L}$ for metribuizin (Fairchild et al., 1998). Invertebrates are much less sensitive to triazines. For example, for zebrafish (Danio rerio) embryos, a LC₅₀ (48 hour) value of 36.8 mg/L was determined (Wiegand et al., 2000).

Effects on humans and wildlife by triazines include changes in organ weights and damage to the heart and liver.

D) Bipyridylium herbicides

Diquat and paraquat are the most popular bipyridylium herbicides (Pesticide Action Network UK, 1996).

Consumption

These are non-selective contact herbicides, causing wilting of foliage as a result of the rapid destruction of plant cell membranes even after a few hours of exposure (Fishel, 2014a). Diquat is mainly used for agricultural purposes to desiccate certain crops, for example, alfalfa, clover, potato, grain sorghum, and soybean, to simplify harvesting. It is used to control free-floating and submerged weeds in aquatic systems as well (Food and Agriculture Organization and World Health Organization, 1995). Paraquat is mostly used as a desiccant prior to harvesting of plants or it is applied as a weed killer to quickly eliminate unwanted plants before favored crops are sown (Fishel, 2014a).

Environmental behavior and occurrence

The distribution patterns of diquat and paraguat are quite similar. Given their low vapor pressures and their relatively high solubilities in water, they do not have the tendency to evaporate out of the water phase (Food and Agriculture Organization and World Health Organization, 1995; Rodriguez Jr et al., 2002; Sigma-Aldrich, 2014b). Paraguat and diquat are stable under neutral and acidic conditions, but in alkaline environments (pH > 12) they are hydrolyzed (Roberts et al., 2002). However, although they are soluble in water, they more likely adsorb to organic material and accumulate in soils and sediments. Because of their high affinity to bind to soil surfaces and their, therefore, lower availability in the soil pore water, their potential for microbial degradation is limited (Riley et al., 1976; Roberts et al., 2002; Fishel, 2014a). Regardless of these limitations for microbial degradation, there are some microbial species and fungi that are able to metabolize these herbicides alone or through co-metabolism processes (Funderburk and Bozarth, 1967; Carr et al., 1985; Roberts et al., 2002). Nevertheless, these herbicides pose a risk to aquatic environmental health mainly because of continuous exposure. Agricultural surface runoff transports these substances into flowing and still water systems, harming aquatic organisms, particularly algae and macrophytes (Sáenz et al., 1997; Sigma-Aldrich, 2014b). However, because of its adsorption to soils, it is not transported into ground water aquifers (Roberts et al., 2002). Fortunately, these compounds are not extensively transferred into plants (Fuerst and Vaughn, 1990), they can be removed quite easily from plant surfaces and water through sunlight and photo-degradation processes, or they can be removed through absorption to the soil (Slade, 1965, 1966; Roberts et al., 2002). Nevertheless, it has to be noted that these herbicides are much disputed, especially for use in low- and middle-income countries, because of their high acute toxicity (Wu et al., 2012a). In these regions, no data about environmental concentrations are available.

Toxicity

According to the material safety data sheets of Sigma-Aldrich, these agents are categorized as Category 1 chemicals, which have chronic aquatic toxicity (Sigma-Aldrich, 2014a, b) and are particularly known for their high acute toxicity as well (Sigma-Aldrich, 2014a, b). The toxic effects of these compounds are caused by several steps:

• After the exposure of plants and animals to bipyridylium herbicides (paraquat and diquat) the compounds are reduced, leading to the formation of radicals

• These radicals then reduce the molecular oxygen and promote formation of superoxide radicals

• Through further complex processes and reactions, other toxic oxygen species are formed, for example, hydroxyl radicals, hydrogen peroxides, and singlet oxygen

• The formation of these toxic species, lipid peroxidation, and the adverse effects to cell membrane integrity, results in fast dehydration (Fuerst and Vaughn, 1990).

Vertebrates and crustaceans seem to be less sensitive to exposure of bipyridylium herbicides. For instance, studies show that the LC_{50} of paraquat for the fish *Lepomis macrochirus* is 13 mg/L after 96 hours of exposure and the EC_{50} for *Daphnia magna* after 48 hours of exposure is 2.8 mg/L (Sigma-Aldrich, 2014b). For the algae *Selenastrum capricornutum* and *Chlorella vulgaris* even very low mean EC_{50} values (96 hour) of 670 and 140 µg paraquat/L were determined for the endpoint growth (Sáenz et al., 1997).

Although paraquat and diquat are known for their potential for geo-accumulation, they are not suspected to bio-accumulate in fruits and food because of their high potential for photochemical degradation (Food and Agriculture Organization and World Health Organization, 1995). To humans and mammals, the acute toxicity of diquat and paraquat is high (Category 2; Sigma-Aldrich, 2014a, b), especially the dermal uptake, and uptake through inhalation during application is life-threatening. The uptake of these agents causes organ damage, particularly to lungs and skin (Clark et al., 1966; Sigma-Aldrich, 2014a, b). Malfunctions of the respiratory system and adverse effects to the nervous system and kidneys are caused when these herbicides are inhaled. Exposure to high volumes causes progressive pulmonary fibrosis and epithelial proliferation that can lead to death (Rodriguez Jr et al., 2002). The LD_{50} of paraquat for rats through oral uptake is 57 mg/kg body weight, whereas the LD₅₀ through dermal uptake for rabbits is 325 mg/kg (Sigma-Aldrich, 2014b). Furthermore, these substances are well-known for causing damage to the central nervous system (Clark et al., 1966; Wu et al., 2012a; Prakash et al., 2013) and paraquat is even suspected to cause Parkinson's disease (Wu et al., 2012a; Moretto and Colosio, 2013). According to the EPA, the maximum concentration of diquat and paraquat in drinking water, 20 µg/L or 3 µg/L, respectively, should not be exceeded (Rial-Otero et al., 2006). For humans the highest risk is through accidental uptake or skin contact during unsafe application of these herbicides. Unsafe applications include the use of inappropriate methods, not using personal protective equipment, or occupational accidents.

Mainly because of its high acute toxicity and its potential to endanger aquatic systems, paraquat has gained a bad reputation - during the last decades it has become one of the most controversial herbicides worldwide (Dinham, 2003). In addition, paraguat was being used very frequently to commit suicide, especially in developing countries (Dinham, 2003). Several public organizations, such as the Berne Declaration of Switzerland, Swedish Society for Nature Conservation, Foro Emaús of Costa Rica, Pesticide Action Network of Asia and the Pacific (PANAP), and Pesticide Action Network (PAN) UK, support a phasing out of paraquat. They emphasize that paraquat is mainly used in low- and middle-income countries in Asia and Central and South America, where proper handling of these hazardous herbicides cannot be guaranteed because of a lack of knowledge of the safe handling of pesticides and regulations governing its use (Dinham, 2003). Furthermore, it is questionable why, when paraquat is banned in several countries (including Austria, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Hungary, Slovenia, Sweden, and Switzerland), its use in low- and middle-income countries is still permitted.

E) Pyrethroids

The pyrethroids can be classified into two types, Type I without and Type II with cyano groups. The cyano-pyrethroids (Type II pyrethroids) – cyhalothrin, cypermethrin, deltamethrin, cyfluthrin, fenvalerate, flucythrinate, and Bipyridylium herbicides are more likely to adsorb to organic material and accumulate in soils and sediments. Their high affinity to bind to soil surfaces and lower availability in the soil pore water limits their potential for microbial degradation.

The uptake of diquat and paraquat through the skin, and inhalation during application is acutely life threatening to humans and mammals. fluvalinate – are the pyrethroids of higher concern because they are more toxic than the Type I pyrethroids (Roberts and Reigart, 2013).

Consumption

After application, pyrethroids adsorb to particles and organic matter and are transferred to rivers and streams with surface runoff and erosion.

Pyrethroids are synthetic analogues of natural pyrethrins obtained from chrysanthemum flowers (Chrysanthemum cinerariaefolium). They are modern insecticides. Compared to natural pyrethrins, pyrethroids are designed to have an increased toxicity to targeted insects, have more persistence in the environment, and to have a good knockdown activity to pests. At the same time, they are designed to have a lower mammalian toxicity than other pesticides (Palmquist et al., 2012). Nevertheless, since synthetic pyrethroids became popular as substitutes for banned OCs, OPs, and carbamates, their application and the accompanying concern caused by these substances has constantly increased (Sayeed et al., 2003). Today, they are often used in agriculture, homes, and gardens, and for the treatment of ectoparasitic diseases in humans and animals. In some products, they are often combined with other strong OP or carbamate insecticides to enhance their effects (Roberts and Reigart, 2013).

Environmental behavior and occurrence

These synthetic compounds are known for their lipophilic characteristics, their persistence, and their high stability to photolytic degradation. Their low vapor pressures and high octanol-water coefficients show that they have a low potential to volatilize, but they have a high affinity to adsorb to organic matter and soils (Weston and Lydy, 2010; Palmquist et al., 2012; Lewis et al., 2015). Therefore, according to their physicochemical properties (Table 1) pyrethroids are most likely adsorbed to organic matter and particles. After application, these pesticides are transferred to rivers and streams by sediment movement through surface runoff. Investigations have shown that these pesticides occurred significantly in eroded sediments (Gan et al., 2005), which is indicative of their high potency for sorption to soil and organic particles (Luo and Zhang, 2011). For instance, in the Ubombo and Ingwavuma districts in KwaZulu-Natal province, South Africa, the maximum concentration of the pyrethroid cypermethrin found in the soil of the Makhathini flat was 1651 µg/kg and the maximum concentration found in the water of the same area was 40.7 µg/L. In the Ndumo agricultural area, concentrations of up to 467.3 µg/kg were measured in soil samples, while concentrations in the water samples were 23.19 µg/L. In Ophansi, 261 µg/kg of cyfluthrin was detected in soils, whereas in the water no cyfluthrin could be detected. Even in Tembe Elephant Park, a nature

reserve, surprisingly high concentrations – up to $467.3 \mu g/$ kg – of cyfluthrin were found although, officially, no pesticides have been applied in this region (Sereda and Meinhardt, 2005). These concentrations confirm that these compounds tend to sorb to organic matter, soil, and suspended sediments because the concentrations in soils exceed those found in the water samples. The concentrations found in water and sediments are both of environmental concern.

Toxicity

In contrast to the OPs, the pyrethroids do not impair the central nervous system of animals exposed to them, but, rather, they affect the functioning of the peripheral nervous system. Pyrethroids prolong the opening time of voltage-gated sodium channels on nerves. Consequently, this alteration in nerve function leads to a series of short bursts or a prolonged burst, caused by repeated stimulus-dependent nerve depolarization or discharges of nerve signals (Soderlund and Bloomquist, 1989). For humans, exposure to Type I pyrethroids causes effects like restlessness, hyperexcitation, prostration, and body tremors. Exposure to Type II pyrethroids leads to hyperactivity, incoordination, convulsions, and writhing (Soderlund and Bloomquist, 1989; Fishel, 2014b). The pyrethroids are well-known for being less toxic to mammals and birds, because they do not have a high potential for bioaccumulation and they are easily degradable through the liver systems of mammals and birds. However, in contrast, non-target insects, invertebrates, and fish are highly susceptible to these chemicals (Fishel, 2014b).

On the one hand, as described before, pyrethroids are less toxic to mammals and birds than most of the other pesticides, for example, carbamates, OCs, and OPs, because they are more selective to insects and they are more easily metabolized. On the other hand, fish and invertebrates seem to be highly susceptible to exposure to pyrethroids. For instance, for the fish *Danio rerio*, the LC₅₀ values range from 1.9 to 27.6 μ g/L after exposure to permethrin for 2 days (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2014a)

For crustacean invertebrates, the 10 day LC50 values for pyrethroids in general ranged from 2 to 140 ng/L in water samples (for *Americamysis bahia* and *Ceriodaphnia dubia*) and from 4 to 110 ng/L (for *Hyalella Azteca*) in sediments (Hladik and Kuivila, 2009). In summary, given their photolytic stability, their high lipophilic characteristics, and their high acute toxicity to fish and invertebrates, pyrethroids pose a risk to environmental health and especially to aquatic systems.

Fish and invertebrates seem to be highly susceptible to exposure to pyrethroids.

Name ^A	Type/ chemical family	WHO toxicity classi- fication ^B (World Health Organization, 2010b)	Use trend ^C	Henry's law constant (at 25°C)	Log K _{ow} (at 25°C)	Water solubility [g/L]	LD ₅₀ for rats [mg/kg body weight] (World Health Organization, 2010b)	Environmental quality standard (in surface water bodies) AA-EQS/ MAC-EQS [µg/L]
BIPYRIDILS								
Paraquat	Herbicide	II	<₽	1.23*10 ⁻¹² (Lewis et al. 2015)	-4.5 (20°C) (Lewis et al. 2015)	620 (20°C) (Lewis et al. 2015)	150	NA/NA
CARBAMATES								
Carbaryl	Insecticide	II	-	3.3*10 ⁻⁹ (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	2.4 (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	0.120 (27°C) (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfall- versicherung, 2013)	300 ^D	0.23/NA (National Institute for Public Health and the Environment - RIVM, 2008)
Carbendazim	Fungicide	IV	0	2.1*10 ⁻¹¹ (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	1.5 (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	0.008 (20°C) (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfall- versicherung, 2013)	> 10,000	0.34/0.57 (Ecotox Centre, 2015)
Carbofuran	Insecticide	lb	J	3.1 * 10 ⁻⁹ (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	2.3 (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002	0.320 (25°C) (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfall- versicherung, 2013)	8	0.02/NA (Institut National de l'Environ- nement Industriel et des Risques - INERIS, 2008a)
Carbosulfan	Insecticide	II	e	1.83*10 ⁻⁵ (Lewis et al. 2015)	7.42 (Lewis et al. 2015)	0.00011 (20°C) (Lewis et al. 2015)	101 (Lewis et al. 2015)	NA/NA
Fenobucarb	Insecticide	II	-	5.9*10 ⁻⁸ (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	2.8 (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	Practically not soluble (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfall- versicherung, 2013)	620	NA/NA
Mancozeb	Fungicide	IV	0	1.76*10 ⁻¹⁰ (20°C) (Lewis et al. 2015)	1.8 (European Commission, 2015)	0.000006 (25°C) (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfall- versicherung, 2013)	>8000	0.07/0.7 (European Commission,2015)
ORGANOCHLORINES		1	l	'	1			
2,4-D	Herbicide/ Alkyl chloro- phenoxy		e	1.40*10 ⁻⁹ (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	2.8 (Travis and Arms, 1988)	23.180 (25°C) (European Commission, 2015)	425-764 (European Commission, 2015)	0.2/1.3 (Ecotox Centre, 2015)
Butachlor	Herbicide		J	5.1*10 ⁻⁸ (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	4.5 (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	0.020 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	2200	NA/NA
Chlorothalonil	Fungicide	IV	-	1.36*10 ⁻⁵ (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	2.9 (Institut für Arbeits- schutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfall- versicherung, 2013)	0.0006 (20°C) (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfall- versicherung, 2013)	>10.000	0.035/1.2 (Maycock et al., 2012a)
Clomazone	Herbicide/ oxazolidone	II	-	1.67*10 ⁻⁶ (Lewis et al., 2015)	2.54 (Lewis et al., 2015)	1.102 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	1369 (Lewis et al., 2015)	2/NA (Institut National de l'Environnement Industriel et des Risques - INERIS, 2008b)
DDT	Insecticide	II	e	8.3*10 ⁻⁶ (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	6.9 (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	0.000001 (20°C) (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfallversicherung, 2013)	113	0.025/NA (European Commission, 2008)

Table 1: Selection of hazardous pesticides used in low- and middle-income countries

The human toxicological potential of substances is indicated by the LD_{50} values for rats and the eco-toxicological potential by the environmental quality standards. AA-EQS (annual average concentration) and MAC-EQS (maximum allowable concentration) are the chronic and acute environmental concentrations of chemical agents which affect water organisms significantly.

NA: not applicable

- A: A: Approved in EU; Approved in EU (European Commission, 2015)
- B: Ia: Extremely hazardous; 1b: Highly hazardous; II: Moderately hazardous; III: Slightly hazardous; IV Unlikely to present acute hazard in normal use.
- C: Presumable decreasing trend in use; Trend in use is uncertain approximation is difficult; Presumable increasing trend in use.
- D: The LD₅₀ was not a single value, but rather a value within the wider than usual range adopted for the WHO's recommended classification of pesticides by hazard.
- E: Usually, the LD₅₀ values for oral uptake are taken. E indicates that the LD₅₀ values are for dermal uptake.
- F: Converted from Henry's constant k_{H}^{cp} [atm m³/mol] to k_{H}^{cc} [dimensions less] using the EPA online tools for site assessment calculation (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015b).
- G: Approximated by and ad hoc value; less data available.

Name A	Type/ chemical family	WHO toxicity classi- fication ^B (World Health Organization, 2010b)	Use trend ^C	Henry's law constant (at 25°C)	Log K _{ow} (at 25°C)	Water solubility [g/L]	LD ₅₀ for rats [mg/kg body weight] (World Health Organization, 2010b)	Environmental quality standard (in surface water bodies) AA-EQS/ MAC-EQS [µg/L]
ORGANOCHLORINES	6							
Difenoconazole	Fungicide	II	-	7.31 * 10 ⁻¹⁰ (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	4.4 (Mensink, 2008)	0.015 (25°C) (Schummer et al., 2010)	1453	0.76/7.8 (National Institute for Public Health and the Environment RIVM, 2008)
Endosulfan	Insecticide	II	e	6.5*10 ⁻⁵ (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	3.8 (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	0.00033 (20°C) (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfall- versicherung, 2013)	80	0.005/0.01 (European Commission, 2008)
Fipronil	Insecticide	II	-	1.60*10- ⁷ (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	4.0 (Institut für Arbeits- schutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfall- versicherung, 2013)	0.0024 (20°C) (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfallversicherung, 2013)	92	0.012/NA (Biocidal Products Committee, 2011)
Imidacloprid	Insecticide	11	-	4.10*10 ⁻¹¹ (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	0.33 (Institut für Arbeits- schutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfall- versicherung, 2013)	0.61 (20°C) (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfallversicherung, 2013)	450	0.067/0.2 (National Institute for Public Health and the Environment RIVM, 2008)
MCPA ^G	Herbicide	II	-	1.10*10 ⁻⁸ (Lewis et al., 2015)	2.56 (Institut für Arbeits- schutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfall- versicherung, 2013)	0.3 (25°C) (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfallversicherung, 2013)	700 (Institut für Arbeits- schutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfall- versicherung, 2013)	1.34/15.2 (Ecotox Centre, 2015)
Niclosamide	Fungicide	IV	<₽	2.15*10 ⁻¹² (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	4.56 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	0.005 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	5000	NA/NA
Propanil	Herbicide/ anilide	П	<₽	1.82*10 ⁻⁸ (Lewis et al., 2015)	2.29 (Lewis et al., 2015)	0.095 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	960 (Lewis et al., 2015)	NA/NA
Propiconazole	Fungicide	II	-	4.2 * 10 ⁻⁹ (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	3.7 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	0.15 (20°C) (European Commission, 2015)	1520	1.0/NA (Marion Junghans (Ecotox Centre); personal communication)
ORGANOPHOSPHAT	ES	1	1		·			
Acephat	Insecticide	II	e	2.15*10 ⁻¹¹ (Lewis et al., 2015)	-0.85 (Lewis et al., 2015)	790 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	945 (Lewis et al., 2015)	57/570 ¹ (Marion Junghans (Ecotox Centre); personal communication)
Chlorpyrifos	Insecticide	II	-	3.0*10 ⁻⁶ (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	5.0 (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	0.001 (20°C) (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfallversicherung, 2013)	135	0.03/0.1 (European Commission, 2008)
Dichlorvos ^G	Insecticide	lb	e	1.50*10 ⁻² (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	1.43 (Institut für Arbeits- schutz der Deutschen Gesetz- lichen Unfallver- sicherung, 2013)	10 (20°C) (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfallversicherung, 2013)	17 (Institut für Arbeits- schutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfall- versicherung, 2013)	0.0006/0.0007 (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2013)

The human toxicological potential of substances is indicated by the LD_{50} values for rats and the eco-toxicological potential by the environmental quality standards. AA-EQS (annual average concentration) and MAC-EQS (maximum allowable concentration) are the chronic and acute environmental concentrations of chemical agents which affect water organisms significantly.

NA: not applicable

- A: A: Approved in EU; Approved in EU (European Commission, 2015)
- B: la: Extremely hazardous; 1b: Highly hazardous; II: Moderately hazardous; III: Slightly hazardous;
- IV Unlikely to present acute hazard in normal use.
- C: Presumable decreasing trend in use; Trend in use is uncertain approximation is difficult; Presumable increasing trend in use.
- D: The LD₅₀ was not a single value, but rather a value within the wider than usual range adopted for the WHO's recommended classification of pesticides by hazard.
- E: Usually, the LD₅₀ values for oral uptake are taken. E indicates that the LD₅₀ values are for dermal uptake.
- F: Converted from Henry's constant $k_{\mu}c_{p}$ [atm m³/mol] to $k_{h}c_{c}$ [dimensions less] using the EPA online tools for site assessment
- calculation (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015b).
- G: Approximated by and ad hoc value; less data available.

Name ^A	Type/ chemical family	WHO toxicity classi- fication ^B (World Health Organization, 2010b)	Use trend ^C	Henry's law constant (at 25°C)	Log K _{ow} (at 25°C)	Water solubility [g/L]	LD ₅₀ for rats [mg/kg body weight] (World Health Organization, 2010b)	Environmental quality standard (in surface water bodies) AA-EQS/ MAC-EQS [µg/L]
ORGANOPHOSPHATES								
Dimethoate	Insecticide		-	1.0*10 ⁻¹⁰ (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	0.8 (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	39.8 (20°C) (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfallversicherung, 2013)	150 ^D	0.07/0.977 (Ecotox Centre, 2015)
Fenthion	Insecticide	II	-	1.4*10 ⁻⁶ (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	4.1 (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	0.055 (20°C) (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfall- versicherung, 2013)	586 ^E	0.003/NA (National Institute for Public Health and Environment - RIVM, 2008)
Glyphosate	Herbicide	111	0	8.5*10 ⁻¹¹ (European Commission, 2015) ^F	-3.2 (European Commission, 2015)	10.5 (20°C) (European Commission, 2015)	4230	196/389 (Maycock et al., 2012b)
Malathion	Insecticide	111	0	4.9*10 ⁻⁹ (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	2.4 (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	0.145 (20°C) (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfallversicherung, 2013)	2100 ^D	0.013/NA (National Institute for Public Health and the Environment RIVM, 2008)
Monocrotophos	Insecticide	lb	e	6.5*10 ⁻¹³ (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	-0.2 (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	818 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	14	0.00008/NA (National Institute for Public Health and the Environment RIVM, 2008) ¹
Parathion-methyl	Insecticide	la	•	2.30*10 ⁻⁶ (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	3.0 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	0.55 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	14	0.011/NA (National Institute for Public Health and the Environment RIVM, 2008)
Phenthoate	Insecticide	Ш	⇒	6.34*10 ⁻⁵ (Lewis et al., 2015)	3.69 (Lewis et al., 2015)	0.011 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	249 (Lewis et al., 2015)	NA/NA
Phorate	Insecticide	la	e	4.4*10 ⁻⁶ (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	3.6 (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	0.050 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	2	0.000165/NA (National Institute for Public Health and the the Environment - RIVM, 2008)
Phosphamidon	Insecticide	la	J	6.5*10 ⁻¹² (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	0.4 (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	Completely mixable (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfallversicherung, 2013)	7	0.03/NA (National Institute for Public Health and the Environmen RIVM, 2008) ^I
Profenofos	Insecticide	П	•	2.2*10 ⁻⁸ (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	4.7 (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	0.02 (25°C) (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2000)	358	NA/NA
Quinalphos	Insecticide	II	-	2.38*10 ⁻⁶ (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	4.44 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	0.0178 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	62	NA/NA
Triazophos	Insecticide	lb	J	1.30*10 ⁻⁶ (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	3.55 (Lewis et al., 2015)	0.035 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	82	0.001/0.02 (National Institute for Public Health and the Environmen RIVM, 2008)
PYRETHROIDS								
Cyfluthrin	Insecticide	lb	0	7.78*10 ⁻⁵ (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	6.0 (European Commission, 2015)	0,000002 (20°C) (Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfallversicherung, 2013)	15 ^D	0.0006/NA (Andersson and Kreuger, 2011)
Cyhalothrin	Insecticide	II	-	4.62*10 ⁻¹¹ (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	6.85 (Ochiai et al., 2004)	0.000004 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	144 ^D	0.00002/0.00047 (National Institute for Public Health and the Environmen RIVM, 2008)
Cypermethrin	Insecticide	II	•	3.70*10 ⁻⁶ (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	5.3 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	0.000009 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	250 ^D	0.00008/0.0006 (Ecotox Centre, 2015)
Deltamethrin	Insecticide	Ш	0	4.20*10 ⁻⁶ (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	6.2 (European Commission, 2015)	<0.0001 (20°C) (European Commission, 2015)	135 ^D	0.0000031/0.0003 (National Institute for Public Health and the Environmen RIVM, 2008)
Esfenvalerate	Insecticide	II	•	1.01*10 ⁻⁶ (Lewis et al., 2015)	6.24 (Lewis et al., 2015)	0.000001 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	88.5 (Lewis et al., 2015)	0.0001/0.0009 (National Institute for Public Health and the Environment RIVM, 2008)

Name ^A	Type/ chemical family	WHO toxicity classi- fication ^B (World Health Organization , 2010b)	Use trend ^C	Henry's law constant (at 25°C)	Log K _{ow} (at 25°C)	Water solubility [g/L]	LD ₅₀ for rats [mg/kg body weight] (World Health Organization, 2010b)	Environmental quality standard (in surface water bodies) AA-EQS/ MAC-EQS [µg/L]
TRIAZINES								
Atrazine	Herbicide		-	2.3*10 ⁻⁹ (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	2.6 (Gramatica and Di Guardo, 2002)	0.035 (22°C) (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2003)	2000 ^D	0.6/2 (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2008)
OTHERS								
Cymoxanil	Fungicide/ urea derivative	II	0	1.53*10 ⁻⁸ (Lewis et al., 2015) ^F	0.67 (Lewis et al., 2015)	0.78 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	760 (Lewis et al., 2015)	3/NA (Andersson and Kreuger, 2011)
Dinocap ^G	Fungicide/ dini- trophenol	II	-	5.96*10 ⁻⁶ (Lewis et al., 2015)	6.5 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	0.000183 (20°C) (Lewis et al., 2015)	766 (Institut für Arbeits- schutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfall- versicherung, 2013)	NA

The human toxicological potential of substances is indicated by the LD₅₀ values for rats and the eco-toxicological potential by the environmental quality standards. AA-EQS (annual average concentration) and MAC-EQS (maximum allowable concentration) are the chronic and acute environmental concentrations of chemical agents which affect water organisms significantly.

NA: not applicable

- A: = Approved in EU; = Not approved in EU (European Commission, 2015)
- B: la: Extremely hazardous; 1b: Highly hazardous; II: Moderately hazardous; III: Slightly hazardous;
- IV Unlikely to present acute hazard in normal use.
- C: Presumable decreasing trend in use; Trend in use is uncertain approximation is difficult; Presumable increasing trend in use.
- D: The LD₅₀ was not a single value, but rather a value within the wider than usual range adopted for the WHO's recommended classification of pesticides by hazard.
- E: Usually, the LD₅₀ values for oral uptake are taken. E indicates that the LD₅₀ values are for dermal uptake.
- F: Converted from Henry's constant $k_{\mu}c_{p}$ [atm m³/mol] to $k_{h}c_{c}$ [dimensions less] using the EPA online tools for site assessment calculation (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015b).
- G: Approximated by and ad hoc value; less data available.

Input pathways of pesticides

The input pathways of pesticides in low- and middle-income countries and higher-income countries have similarities and differences.

In high-, and low- and middle-income countries, pesticides after application can leach into the subsoil and groundwater aquifers through irrigation or they can be transported into rivers, streams, and groundwater systems through surface runoff after rainfall events, thus posing risk to environmental and human health. However, in high-income countries, ground water and surface waters are more strictly controlled and wastewater treatment facilities for surface water purification are common. In contrast, in most of the low- and middle-income countries, water controls and wastewater treatment facilities are lacking or not available. This results in higher environmental concentrations of pesticides, especially if contaminated and untreated river water is used for irrigation over several years (Clarke et al., 1997; Corcoran et al., 2010; Heeb et al., 2012; Ismail et al., 2012; Sapari and Ismail, 2012).

In addition, the amounts of pesticides released into the environment through individual input sources differ to a greater extent between high- and low- and middle-income countries. For example, in high-income countries with their more strict controls and regulations and improved education in pesticide handling and storage, less cases of acute pesticide poisoning are observed during application and, presumably, smaller amounts of pesticides are exposed and released to the environment (Jeyaratnam and Chia, 1994; Kesavachandran et al., 2009). Consequently, smaller amounts accumulate in soil/sediments, biota, and food (crops, fruits). For instance, the amount of DDT found in human breast milk is much higher in lowand middle-income countries than in high-income countries (Devanathan et al., 2009). However, it must be noted that reliable, comprehensive, and comparative data about the amounts of pesticides released in high- and in lowand middle-income countries are not available yet. Even in high income countries, studies of the environmental distribution and the individual sources of pesticides need to be conducted to gain a better understanding of their environmental behavior and their risk to environmental and human health (Wittmer et al., 2010).

In private gardens in urban regions of high-income countries, pesticides are mainly used to protect plants. Herbicides, fungicides, and algaecides are applied to terraces and floors or they are contained in wall paints and renderings to get rid of unwanted plants or to prevent plants, algae, and fungi growing for aesthetic reasons (Wittmer et al., 2010, 2014). In private households in several urban regions located in low- and middle-income countries, pesticides are used for cultivating plants for private purposes. Or they are used as vector control agents against malaria and other pathogenic diseases that are transferred by insects. In that case, more hazardous and persistent pesticides - carbofuran, DDT, dichlorvos, endosulfan, monocrotophos, profenofos, etc., which are banned in Europe or most other high-income countries – are often used (Mabaso et al., 2004; National Geographic, 2006). In high- and low- and middle-income countries, inappropriate disposal and cleaning of contaminated equipment can act as additional point sources of pesticide pollution, as well (Pesticide Action Network Asia and the Pacific, 2010; Wittmer et al., 2010). In low- and middle-income countries, inappropriate stockpiles of obsolete pesticides, originating from industrial countries, are acting as additional point sources of high amounts of hazardous pesticides (Elfvendahl et al., 2004; Dasgupta et al., 2010).

Use of pesticides and pollution trends and impacts

Data availability

It is generally difficult to obtain reliable data on pesticide use. In addition, comprehensive data about the production of pesticides is even more difficult to get hold of. This is true for high-income countries and it is particularly problematic for low- and middle-income countries. In general, according to the National Health Surveillance Agency and the Observatory of Pesticides of the Universidade Federale do Paraná, Brazil, it is safe to assume that during the last decade, the world pesticide market increased by 93%. The Brazilian market alone increased by 190% (Carneiro et al., 2012). Apart from that, in low- and middle-income countries, weakly implemented regulations and policies governing pesticide use and import, the stockpiling of obsolete pesticides, and poor education in pesticide storage and handling, have led to a high risk of occupational acute and chronic pesticide poisoning. These issues make it more difficult to assess data about pesticide production, import, and use. Currently, it is not possible to reliably assess the number of people affected by pesticide poisoning. Nevertheless, the WHO estimates that every year, around 3 million people globally might suffer from severe pesticide poisoning and the estimated number of unreported cases seems to be unpredictably high (Kesavachandran et al., 2009). In low- and middle-income countries it is imposHazardous and persistent pesticides - carbofuran, DDT, dichlorvos, endosulfan, monocrotophos, profenofos, etc. - are often used for control of disease transmitting vectors in low- and middle-income countries.

Currently, it is not possible to reliably assess the number of people affected by pesticide poisoning. Nevertheless, the WHO estimates that every year, around 3 million people globally might suffer from severe pesticide poisoning and the estimated number of unreported cases seems to be very high. sible to document systematic and authentic data about pesticide poisoning for many reasons. These include the lack of medical facilities, the farmers' lack of knowledge of the symptoms of pesticide poisoning, and the uncontrollable use of pesticides, particularly in remote small agricultural establishments.

In general, it can be said that worldwide, from 2 million to 2.4 million tonne of pesticides are consumed annually (Gupta, 2004; United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2011). According to the studies of Kesavachandran et al. (2009) and Gupta (2004) around 45% of this is consumed in Europe alone, 25% in the USA, and about 20–25% in low- and middle-income countries. Of all pesticides, the consumption of herbicides is highest, representing 47.5%, followed by insecticides at 29.5%. Fungicides account for 17.5% and others for 5.5% (Gupta, 2004). In our report, we focus mainly on the pesticides most used, and the pesticides having the highest negative effects on environmental and human health - herbicides and insecticides. Nevertheless, although such data is not readily available, some hot spots with high use of those pesticides can be identified (Figure 6).

Future trends and hot spots

Research shows that there are serious issues related to policies and regulations, application, storage, and disposal of pesticides, especially in low- and middle-income countries. The list of pesticides presented in Table 1 and the investigations of Roberts et al. (2003) show that exposure to OPs, OCs, bipyridylium herbicides, and carbamates poses high risks to human and environmental health. Several publications of international organizations and research institutes show that there are serious issues, especially in low- and middle-income countries, related to policies and regulations, application, storage, and disposal of pesticides (El Sebae, 1993; Eddleston et al., 2002; Pesticide Action Network Asia and the Pacific, 2010; United Nations Environment Programme and Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013; United Nations Environment Programme, 2013c, 2014). Today, the WHO Class II pesticides (as shown in Table 1) seem to be the most used and most hazardous ones, since the production of WHO Class I pesticides is being phased out and their use and trade abolished in the most parts of the world (Roberts et al., 2003). Implementation of the Rotterdam and Stockholm Conventions has resulted in the international trade in several obsolete and dangerous pesticides being abolished and has triggered a phasing out of the most toxic and persistent Class I and several Class II (WHO classification) pesticides. These include aldrin, chlordane, chlordecone, dieldrin, endrin, heptachlor, hexachlorobenzene, hexachlorocyclohexane, lindane, mirex, pentachlorbenzene, endosulfan, and toxaphene. In future, the consumption of OCs will decrease because of restrictions on and prohibitions of these compounds. This is because of their high persistence and their high toxicologic and bioaccumulative potentials. However, the use of pyrethroids will increase as they are used as substitutes for the banned OCs, OPs, and carbamates because of their lower toxicity to mammalian species (Fishel, 2014b; Luo and Zhang, 2011; Palmguist et al., 2012). Furthermore, the use of the lower toxic OPs and carbamates of WHO Class III or Class IV pesticides will increase as well.

Figure 6 presents the worldwide average annual use of pesticides. Between 2001 and 2010, this ranged from 0 to 80 kg pesticide/ha of arable land according to data available from FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013). According to the datasets, the hot spots for pesticide application, with dosages ranging from 5.2 to 76 kg pesticides per ha of arable land, are the Bahamas, Maureta-



Figure 6: Average annual pesticide use for the period 2001–2010 ranged from 0 to 80 kg pesticide/ha of arable land (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013). The shaded areas represent lowand middle-income countries. nia, Costa Rica, Colombia, North Korea, Suriname, China, Belize, Panama, Jordan, Ecuador, Guatemala, Malaysia, Bolivia, and El Salvador, in descending order of rate of application. However, these data have to be treated with caution since for several regions, especially Africa, South America, and Asia, there is a lack of data. This is especially the case for the rural regions and smaller agricultural communities in low- and middle-income countries where it is difficult to estimate the real amounts of pesticides applied. Often farmers in these regions are buying their pesticides unofficially and they do not really know the concentrations of the pesticides applied on their fields. For this reason, the amounts of pesticide applied may be underestimated for several regions (Pesticide Action Network Asia and the Pacific, 2010).

Figure 6 shows the average annual pesticide use for the period 2001–2010 and this forms the base layer for the components of Figure 7.

Figure 7 shows the worldwide average use of pesticides per hectare of arable land along with the annual average production (2005–2009) of crops requiring high volumes of pesticides. These include the permanent crops coffee (Rama and Jaga, 1992; Yang et al., 2011) and lemons and limes (Ortelli et al., 2005), and the temporary crop soybeans (Pizzutti et al., 2007) as the top layer (data from FAO; Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013). Although for the cultivation of palm trees (a permanent crop) less pesticides are required, as compared to most other commodities, data about palm oil production is shown as well. Mainly this is because it is well-known that for the cultivation of palm trees, large amounts of the extremely acutely toxic herbicide paraquat are used. In addition, these tropical trees are commonly cultivated in many different low- and middle-income countries (Teoh, 2010). By considering these data on crop production, it can be assumed that in middle America, northern and southern South America, west central Africa, southeast Africa, South Asia, and Oceania, higher amounts of pesticides might be used for the cultivation of these agricultural commodities than is suggested by the average pesticide use.

Impacts on environmental and human health

Pimentel (1995) predicted that of the amount of pesticide applied, only 0.1% to 0.3% comes into contact with the target pests directly or indirectly. Thus, 99.7 to 99.9% of the applied pesticide is dispersed into the environment and reaches non-target organisms, including humans. This might certainly be the case if obsolete methods and equipment are used in applying the pesticides. Mostly, pesticides can be dispersed into the environment through the air. If they are sprayed manually using a backpack spray tank or mechanically by a lawn sprinkler system, a plane, or a tractor, the unintentional drift of these substances can range from hundreds of meters up to several kilometers (Pimentel, 1995) depending on the method, weather conditions, and the degree of education of the person applying the pesticide. Afterwards residues of the pesticides remain and adsorb to plants, soils, and sediments, given their high potential for bioaccumulation. Additionally, pesticides can be leached out into drinking water aquifers by the rain and irrigation water or they can be transported by surface runoff into river systems. Humans can take up hazardous pesticides directly by inhaling the pesticide spray or ingest them by drinking or eating contaminated water or food. Some pesticides, such as paraquat, can even be absorbed directly through the skin during the preparation of the pesticide solution, through handling, or during the mixing process (Wester et al., 1984; Dinham, 2003).

After exposure, pesticides often have adverse impacts on human health. Most of them, particularly the OPs, OC, and carbamates, are known to cause malfunctions in the brain and peripheral nervous system. Chronic exposure can lead to neurological, neurobehavioral, and psychiatric diseases and diminish intelligence (Salvi et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2012a). The pesticides which cause inhibition of cholinesterase – OCs, OPs, and carbamates – can affect the respiratory system. An affected respiratory system can be indicated by symptoms like coughing, discharging phlegm, and wheezing. In addition, pesticides can cause contact allergies and skin eruptions (Kesavachandran et al., 2009). Furthermore, OPs, OCs, and carbamates are known for causing malfunctions in reproduction through their endocrine disruptive potential. Moreover, there is evidence that chronic pesticide exposure can lead to several forms of cancer (López et al., 2007; Kesavachandran et al., 2009; Bedi et al., 2013). There are a many examples of private and occupational accidents involving pesticide poisoning in low- and middle-income countries that have led to adverse effects on human health or even to death. For instance, in the state of Mato Grosso do Sul,

Of the amount of pesticide applied, only 0.1% to 0.3% comes into contact with the target pests directly or indirectly. Thus, 99.7 to 99.9% of the applied pesticide is dispersed into the environment and reaches non-target organisms, including humans.



 Lemon & lime production 2005-2009 [tonne/a]

 • 0 - 58,000
 • 58,000 - 580,000
 • 580,000 - 10,000,000



Figure 7: Average annual pesticide use in 2001–2010 and the average annual A) coffee, B) lemon and lime, C) palm oil, and D) soybean production. For the period 2005–2009 production ranged from 0 – 84 million tonne (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013). The shaded areas represent low- and middle-income countries.

Brazil, between 1992 and 2002, about 123 persons suffered from acute pesticide poisoning. Of these, 46% were intentional self-poisonings and the rest were poisoned as a result of occupational and private incidents. In Brazil as a whole, 5185 people suffer pesticide poisoning annually. Of these, 31.1% are intentional and 68.9% unintentional poisonings (Recena et al., 2006). In the Warangal district in Andhra Pradesh, southern India, more than 1000 pesticide poisoning cases have been observed annually, leading to 200–400 deaths. In 2002, the majority of deaths were caused by the pesticides monocrotophos and endosulfan (Srinivas Rao et al., 2005). A recent headline event covering pesticide poisoning concerned 23 school children who died after eating a school lunch in eastern India. Forensic tests revealed that the meal was contaminated with oil containing residuals of the WHO Class Ib OP, monocrotophos. This is a product that has been banned already in many countries (ABC News Online, 2013).

Besides the observed adverse health impacts to humans, exposure to pesticides can have disastrous consequences for the health of the environment as well. Vertebrates and mammals are often highly susceptible to pesticides. For instance, OCs cause eggshell thinning in birds (Lundholm, 1997). OPs and carbamates are posing high risks to mammals (Kwon et al., 2004) and herpetofauna be-



cause of their high toxicity, their large-scale application in agriculture (Story and Cox, 2001), and, especially, their inhibition of acetylcholinesterase activity. Furthermore, these pesticides and the pyrethroids affect the reproduction of amphibians as well because of their estrogenic activity (Pawar and Katdare, 1984; Kojima et al., 2004). The pyrethroids are less toxic to mammals than the OCs, OPs, and carbamates (Palmquist et al., 2012). Other pesticides act as endocrine disruptors as well. Tests with animals showed that the triazine herbicides can hinder the reproduction of mammals because of their antiandrogenic activity (Stevens et al., 1994; McMullin et al., 2004). Because of their high toxicity, potential to adsorb to organic material, soils, and sediments, or their persistence in water systems, OPs, carbamates, triazines, bipyridylium herbicides, and pyrethroids harm non-targeted invertebrates located close to pesticide treated areas (Fukuto, 1990; Köck-Schulmeyer et al., 2013). At present, there are plenty of publications about other non-target organisms that are affected by exposure to pesticides. For instance, in several regions, honey bee (*Apis mellifera*) populations are endangered. It has been proven that pesticides are causing significant delays in the development of bees. Furthermore, the exposure to pesticides is making bees more susceptible to viral, spore, and bacterial infections and these are showing sub-lethal effects (Wu

Organochlorines cause eggshell thinning in birds; organophosphates, carbamates and pyrethroids affect the reproduction of amphibians because of their estrogenic activity; triazine herbicides can hinder the reproduction of mammals because of their antiandrogenic activity; organophosphates, carbamates, triazines, bipyridylium herbicides, and pyrethroids harm nontargeted invertebrates located close to pesticide treated areas (e.g. honey bees).

Worldwide, 400,000 to 500,000 tonne of obsolete pesticides are stockpiled in low- and middle-income countries. et al., 2011a). Bees and other pollinators are very important in most terrestrial ecosystems. They guarantee genetic variation in the plant community and flora diversity, specialization, and evolution. The production of seeds, nuts, and fruits relies on pollination; in the absence of bees and other pollinators, many species of plants and animals would not be able to survive (Bradbear, 2009).

Also, other invertebrates are affected adversely by contamination with of pesticides. For instance, the crustacean Americamysis bahia and the branchiopoda Ceriodaphnia dubia are sensitive to pyrethroids, having a low LC_{50} after 10 days of exposure, ranging from 2 to 140 ng/L. The amphipod crustacean Hyalella azteca has a low LC₅₀ after 10 days of exposure of from 4 to 110 ng/L (Hladik and Kuivila, 2009). The carbamates, bipyridylium, and triazine herbicides are known to cause inhibition of nucleic acid metabolism and protein syntheses and affect photosynthetic activity (Audus, 1976; Ebert and Dumford, 1976; Moreland, 1980; Ocampo and Barea, 1985; Morais et al., 2012). The non-selective bipyridylium herbicides are known to promote oxidative stress as a result of producing reactive oxygen species (Pasternak et al., 2007) or for destroying plant cell membrane (Fishel, 2014a).

For instance, 0.5 mg/L atrazine completely inhibits the autotrophic growth of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* (Helling et al., 1971) and 1 mg/L of atrazine, paraquat, or diquat is able to inhibit photosynthesis and growth or kill the cyanobacteria *Anabaena azollae* after 10 days of exposure (Holst et al., 1982). In addition, although the amounts of atrazine that are affecting the growth of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* are quite high, field studies showed that atrazine concentrations of even 50 µg/L or greater were ecologically relevant (Solomon et al., 1996). The primary producers (algae, cyanobacteria, and other plants) are important for sustaining the high quality of the aquatic habitat, which enables other organisms, such



Figure 8: Volumes of obsolete pesticides stockpiled in different areas of the world (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2015a) as invertebrates and vertebrates, to survive and settle down. Chronic exposure to herbicides may lead to a reduction of primary production which consequently can have adverse effects on the survival, growth, and reproduction of herbivores and predators, leading to disruptions of the food chain (Solomon et al., 1996). According to data obtained by FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013), the highest risk areas for environmental and human health from exposure to pesticides seem to be in middle America, northern and southern South America, west, central and southeast Africa, and south and east Asia. This assessment is based on the annual amounts of pesticide used (kg per ha of arable land) and the amount of crops produced that require large amounts of pesticides (or highly toxic ones) for their growth.

Issues of special concern

Inadequate storage

The stockpiling of obsolete pesticides is a serious problem in many low- and middle-income countries (Elfvendahl et al., 2004; United Nations Environment Programme, 2013c). After they were banned, their registrations withdrawn, or because of international policy decisions and conventions, several stocks of highly toxic and persistent pesticides, which were being phased out, were transferred from high-income countries and deposited in lowand middle-income ones. For instance, DDT, lindane, aldrin, atrazine, endosulfan, chlordane, heptachlor, metazachlor, and pendimethalin are examples of these obsolete pesticides that have been transferred. Today, these unwanted pesticides are often a severe source of pollution because they are stored under inadequate and unsafe conditions, thus posing high risks to human and environmental health (Elfvendahl et al., 2004). Examples of these stockpiled obsolete pesticides were found in low- and middle-income countries all over the world (García de Llasera and Bernal-González, 2001; Haylamicheal and Dalvie, 2009; Dasgupta et al., 2010). FAO published data about the volumes of pesticides which were disposed of inappropriately and under unsafe conditions (Figure 8). At present, they estimated that, worldwide, 400,000 to 500,000 tonne of obsolete pesticides are stockpiled in low- and middle-income countries (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2001). Of this amount, about 50,000 tonne are found in Africa alone (United Nations Environment Programme, 2003, 2013). Figure 8 shows that the highest amounts of stockpiled pesticides can be found in eastern Europe; Russia, Macedonia, Ukraine, and Uzbekistan have the highest volumes. Africa has the second highest
volume with Mali, Tanzania, and Tunisia holding the highest amounts of these pesticide legacies. It is estimated that it would need US\$1.25 billion to clean up this amount of obsolete pesticides (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2015a).

Case study of obsolete pesticide stockpiles

One good example of a country with a legacy of obsolete pesticides is Tanzania. There, according to estimates of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, about 1500 tonne of obsolete pesticides were stockpiled in the whole country in 2008 (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2015b). In Arusha and Tanga, 470 L of atrazine, 10 kg pirimiphos methyl + permithrin, 11 kg benomyl, 40 tonne DDT, 8 tonne endosulfan and 3000 L dinitro-ortho-cresol were found (Rwazo, 1997). In 1989 in the Co-operative and Rural Development Bank warehouse in Mikocheni, about 11,000 L and 350 kg of the OPs Damfin P (methacrifos) and phosphamidon and the fungicide Thiovat (sulfur) were found. In 1993, according to a survey conducted by the Tanzania-Germany Project on Integrated Pest Management 40,000 L of obsolete pesticides - endosulfan, flumeturon, atrazine, malathion, methidathion, and DDT - were found in Mwanza and Shinyanga in the southern region close to the Lake Victoria. Additionally, 50 tonne of DDT, lindane, aldrin, chlordane, heptachlor, and endrin were located at Vikunge farm (Rwazo, 1997). Today, after removal of the obsolete pesticides at Vikunge farm, there are still high concentrations of pesticides found in this region. Soil samples taken to a depth of from 0 to 5 cm contained 12 to 282 g DDT and 23 to 63 g lindane per kg dry weight. Even after a cleanup of obsolete pesticides, these storage areas are often highly contaminated with pesticide residuals. Tap water at Vikunge farm was contaminated for years after the pesticide cleanup. In 2000, it was showing pesticide concentrations of 0.95 µg/L lindane and 1.7 µg/L DDT. Often only the visible remains of pesticides, the tanks and packages, are removed instead of a systematic removal of the soils within the contaminated areas (Elfvendahl et al., 2004).

Inadequate handling and lack of education

Inadequate handling and inappropriate application of pesticides poses another risk to human and environmental health in low- and middle-income countries (Eddleston et al., 2002; Kesavachandran et al., 2009). Often no personal protective equipment, such as rubber gloves, boots, breathing masks, googles, and coats, are worn because they are too expensive and uncomfortable to wear in the heat and high humidity present in tropical regions. In addition, the agricultural workers are not well educated in handling pesticides. In these countries the level of illiteracy is quite high and farmers are often not able to read or understand the safety precautions printed on the pesticide packages. Up to one-third of agricultural workers in low- and middle-income countries read the safety instructions on the packages, while only 1.5% understand the color coding system that presents information about the toxicity of the pesticide being used (Kesavachandran et al., 2009). These workers are not aware of the consequences resulting from acute or chronic exposure to hazardous pesticides. Often, untrained farmers were blending several hazardous pesticides together trying to increase their effect without knowing if these mixtures are useful or not. A lot of agricultural workers in low- and middle-income countries are continuously exposed to pesticides in several processes, like mixing pesticides (as mentioned previously sometimes pesticides were even blended together by hand), cleaning, and loading spray equipment. They are also exposed through inadequate manual application, by not considering the wind direction when spraying, or by wearing contaminated clothes for days. They are in direct contact with pesticides and they are often not able to wash off pesticide spillages because water is not always available (Eddleston et al., 2002; Kesavachandran et al., 2009; Pesticide Action Network Asia and the Pacific, 2010; United Nations Environment Programme, 2013c). Furthermore, pesticides are stored in their kitchens and living rooms posing risks to human health, especially to children and pregnant women (Pesticide Action Network Asia and the Pacific, 2010). Deliberate selfpoisoning through pesticide ingestion is a big problem as well. This comes about because of the easy access to highly toxic pesticides. In the event of contamination, especially in rural regions, there is not much knowledge of how to interpret the symptoms of pesticide poisoning. In addition, there are few or no medical services accessible. In these regions there are too many patients and too few medical facilities, pharmaceuticals, antidotes, and doctors. There is little evidence that people know how to treat poisoned patients properly (Eddleston et al., 2002; Pesticide Action Network Asia and the Pacific, 2010).

Case study of inadequate pesticide handling

A survey conducted by PANAP (Pesticide Action Network Asia and the Pacific, 2010) in eight Asian countries (Cambodia, India, Sri Lanka, Indonesia, Philippines, Vietnam, Malaysia, and China) showed that farmers and agricultural workers in those regions are often not well educated in the adequate handling of and appropriate application methods for pesticides. The survey showed that mostly the workers are not wearing adequate protective clothing. For instance, in most of the regions surveyed (An Gian, A lot of agricultural workers in low- and middle-income countries are continuously exposed to pesticides during mixing of pesticides, cleaning, or loading of spray equipment. Workers are neither aware of the risks nor of the consequences resulting from acute or chronic exposure to hazardous pesticides. Andhra Pradesh, Digos, Orissa, and Yunnan) only 1–5% of the farmers wore gloves when applying pesticides. In An Gian, Andhra Pradesh, Digos, Orissa, Prey Veng, Sri Lanka, and Yunnan only 0–13% wore overalls and in most of the regions (An Gian, Andhra Pradesh, Orissa, Sri Lanka, and Yunnan) only 0–19% were equipped with masks during pesticide application.

The survey showed that the blending of different hazardous pesticides is another issue. For example in Prey Veng, Cambodia, farmers blended from three to eight different pesticides together. In Hai Van, Vietnam, about three different pesticides were blended together. Often the field workers had no idea which kind of pesticides they were using. Furthermore, the survey revealed that in most of the regions (Andhra Pradesh, Orissa, Nam Dinh, Prey Veng, Sarawak, Sri Lanka, Yunnan) from 77% to 90% of the agricultural workers have never received any training on the pesticides they use in their fields. According to that it would appear that they are often not aware of the toxicity of these pesticides and that they follow bad practices when using pesticides.

Inappropriate regulation and implementation

Another critical point is the inappropriate implementation of government and international regulations and restrictions on pesticides in low- and middle-income countries. In these regions, the governments do not have the resources to enforce and control the availability and the use of pesticides, in part because there is a lack of pesticide registration processes and government infrastructure. Where there are regulations and restrictions governing pesticide use, they often differ markedly between countries. This encourages the illegal import of more toxic, but less expensive pesticides from neighboring countries (Roberts et al., 2003). Strengthening international regulations and initiating additional international conventions, like the Stockholm and Rotterdam ones, would solve this problem. The responsibility for controlling the circulation, safety, and use of hazardous pesticides should rest more on the importers, exporters, manufacturers, and the pesticide industry in general (Eddleston et al., 2002).

Best practices

A more sustainable and secure use of pesticides is required. Currently, there are several government and nongovernmental initiatives to control and improve the use of toxic pesticides. Some theoretical approaches as well as some methods that have been implemented already are described below.

Implemented examples

Initiatives and conventions in sound chemical management and consumption

Currently, there are several approaches to achieving more sustainable and ecological agriculture. For instance, the main goal of the Rotterdam Convention is to control and ban the international trade in certain hazardous chemicals, including 32 pesticides. It also seeks to avoid the stockpiling of obsolete pesticides in low- and middle-income countries to prevent environmental and human health hazards. In addition, another objective is to guarantee the sound use of chemicals by giving information about chemical characteristics and labeling toxic chemicals with safety instruction and pictograms (United Nations Environment Programme and Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013). The Stockholm Convention is an international agreement which focuses on abolishing highly persistent, bioaccumulative, and toxic chemical compounds (United Nations Environment Programme, 2013d). In addition there are several non-governmental organizations (NGOs), such as Global Good Agricultural Practices (GlobalGAP) and the PAN organizations, trying to improve or enforce the sound use of pesticides. GlobalGAP is a European non-profit organization that defines voluntary standards for the certification of production processes for agricultural products worldwide. This organization was established to show consumers that agricultural commodities were being produced using sustainable production techniques and smaller amount of pesticides and other agro-chemicals, and to ensure that the working conditions and the animal husbandry practices were fair and safe (GlobalGAP, 2016). PAN is a network, including over 600 participating NGOs, individuals, and institutions, operating in more than 90 countries. Its main objective is to reduce and replace the use of hazardous pesticides with ecologically sound approaches. It has five independent collaborating regional centers located in North America, Latin America, Europe, Africa, and Asia and the Pacific region (Pesticide Action Network International, 2014). For example, PAN Asia and the Pacific conducted a community monitoring study to investigate the effects of pesticides in 12 communities in eight Asian countries. They interviewed 1304 people from the

agricultural sector, including vegetable, paddy, and cotton farmers and workers in crop fields and palm oil plantations. They studied which of them used pesticides and which pesticides were the most toxic (paraquat, endosulfan, monocrotophos, etc.). They investigated, if the workers had been educated in the handling, use, and storage of pesticides and if they wore personal protective equipment. Studies like this are helping us to understand and highlight issues in pesticide use and, consequently, to find some solutions to these problems. Furthermore, they are teaching workers how to handle pesticides and what alternative methods could be used for agriculture, for example keeping away unwanted pests by using traps or pheromone traps or predators of the pests (Pesticide Action Network Asia and the Pacific, 2010).

The investigations of Roberts et al. (2003) showed that establishing regulations alone will not always be sufficiently effective to minimize the risks of hazardous pesticides to human and environmental health. For instance, at the beginning of the ban of WHO Class I pesticides in 1995, in Sri Lanka the number of deaths decreased significantly. Three years after this ban, the Class I OPs were substituted with endosulfan and carbamates causing even more deaths than before. This Sri Lankan case indicates that more adjustments and arrangements have to be made than just changing regulations to achieve significant improvements in the long term. Occupational and intended pesticide poisonings could be reduced according to a three step system.

- eliminate the most hazardous pesticides using regulations and controls and introduce alternative and more sustainable methods to reduce the infestations of pests
- have people who are trained in the handling of pesticides administer the controls. Only workers who are trained should be allowed to apply pesticides. Pesticides should never be stored at home. They should be stored in community stores with lockers available only to trained individuals. In addition, pesticide exposure should be monitored and controlled regularly
- personal protective equipment should be used to guarantee safe and healthy working conditions and the medical management of pesticide poisonings needs to be improved to minimize the sequelae of pesticide poisoning (Murray and Taylor, 2000; Roberts et al., 2003).

Extension of data collection

It is important to collect more data about the spatio-temporal distribution of pesticides among the environmental compartments air, water, soil, and biota. This is necessary to obtain more detailed information about the toxicity of pesticides used in the past, present, and future. In future, it will be relevant to investigate the combined effect on environmental and human health of different pesticides or mixtures of pesticides and other anthropogenic agents. Chemicals can be measured directly in soils (Elfvendahl et al., 2004), air, and water (Karlsson et al., 2000) and pesticide residues can be measured indirectly in fruits and vegetables or in animal and human blood samples. For instance, Lehotay et al. (2005) developed a quick, easy, cheap, effective, rugged and safe method based on gas chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry with an ion trap instrument to identify different pesticides in lettuce and oranges. In addition, PAN, together with the European Food Safety Authority and the Swedish Chemicals Agency, are highlighting a selection of endocrine disrupting pesticides found in fruits, vegetables, milk, and eggs (Pesticide Action Network Europe, 2013). Dulaurent et al. (2010) developed a general screening method to determine and quantify pesticides in blood samples. To obtain their measurements they used LC coupled with a single linear ion trap mass spectrometer. With their method it is possible to detect more than 320 different pesticides and metabolites in blood, serum, plasma, and urine samples (Dulaurent et al., 2010).

Low cost approaches

To reduce the number of deaths caused by pesticides in low- and middle-income countries it is important to find cheap and easy methods, which are available in these countries, to monitor pesticide contaminations or for fast diagnosis of poisoning. For instance, the Securetec Detektions-Systeme AG company, Brunnthal, developed, in cooperation with the Bundeswehr Institute of Pharmacology and Toxicology, a rapid and cheap (about €3770 for the applicator and 100 test kits; Mark Johnson (Securetec), personal communication *in vitro* detector which can give information about poisoning by OPs, carbamates, or other nerve agents. Detection is based on the photometric analysis of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) or butyrylcholinesterase (BChE) activity. The inhibition of AChE and BChE is the predominant indicator of poisoning caused by OPs and carbamates. With this tool it is possible to get results within several minutes. The tool is easy to handle and it can be used in the laboratory or in field studies at temperatures ranging from 10° to 50°C (Securetec AG, 2013).

More data and analysis on the spatio-temporal distribution of pesticides and the combined effect on environmental and human health of different pesticides or mixtures of pesticides and other anthropogenic agents is needed. García-Santos et al. (2011) introduced a low cost method to monitor the drift of airborne pesticides after application using a knapsack sprayer. For their studies, they used a test field of 380 m² in Tunja, Columbia. To measure the air born drift of pesticides, highly absorbent papers were fixed at various distances up to 20 m downwind and next to the treated area. Droplet deposition inside the test field and on the applicator was determined as well by installing highly absorbent paper inside the test field and on the applicator. The test solution (for instance water) was sprayed by a farmer under stable weather conditions at low radiation intensity. Afterwards, the distribution and the deposition of potential airborne pesticides in exposed fields next to the test one, inside the test field, and directly at the applicator were determined. This was achieved using a cheap and simple weight method - absorbent papers were weighed directly before and after the application of the test substance. These results were evaluated according to a simple mass balance approximation. In the end, they showed that by using the weight method they were able to explain about 86% of the airborne drift and deposition variance (García-Santos et al., 2011).

Theoretical examples

Improvement of existing regulations

As already mentioned in the chapter "Input pathways of pesticides," internationalizing and generalizing regulations on pesticide use, export, import, and production would help to interrupt the circulation of highly toxic and illegal pesticides. Although there are some international conventions about pesticide use, as a status quo they do not seem to be effective enough. Furthermore, hazardous pesticides, the application of which requires the use of proper and expensive personal protective equipment (overalls and respirators) – especially the majority of the phase I and II pesticides – should be prohibited in low-

and middle-income countries, where the appropriate application of the pesticide cannot be guaranteed (Roberts et al., 2003). In addition, there should be more investigation of chronic exposure of humans, animals, and the environment to pesticides. Mostly, the toxicity of pesticides is determined and classified through the investigation of acute animal tests (World Health Organization, 2010b). However, the effects of a long-term exposure of the environment, animals, and humans to pesticides are guite unclear. Moreover, the research on and the use of improved and more specific pesticides, which are potentially less bioaccumulative and toxic, such as most of the pyrethroids, should be promoted and extended. Maybe funding for the use of less toxic pesticides and/or the application of organic agricultural practices could help to reduce the production and the use of pesticides with high toxicity.

More data on the production, application, uses, and distribution of pesticides are required. Often in low- and middle-income countries, monitoring and risk assessment is challenging or impossible because of the scarcity of data and the uncontrolled use of unregistered pesticides. If comprehensive data about

- pesticide use (use rates and concentrations)
- application (application rates and which pesticides are used in which region for each crop)
- crop and pesticide production
- the import and export of pesticides

were available, it might be possible to conduct preliminary risk assessment studies. These would localize high risk areas where further investigation was needed to mitigate the risks to human and environmental health associated with exposure to pesticides.

Veterinary and Human Health Care Pollutants

Chemical characteristics and their potential risks

Introduction

Today, the use of human and veterinary pharmaceuticals for the treatment of diseases is indispensable. There are more than 3000 active pharmaceutical ingredients (APIs) used as analgesics, antibiotics, antivirals, betablockers, contraceptives, lipid regulators, sedatives, and impotence drugs (Ternes et al., 2004; Richardson et al., 2005). The persistent application of pharmaceuticals results in a continuous and omnipresent contamination by APIs, in their original form or as transformation products, of aquatic environments and soils particularly (Ferrari et al., 2003; Sarmah et al., 2006; Gros et al., 2007; Larsson et al., 2007). During the last decades, continuous exposure to these substances resulted in relatively new research areas being established - the fields of environmental toxicology and environmental chemistry. These disciplines are driven by the improved ability to measu-

re these micro-pollutants. From the knowledge gained, they have raised awareness that exposure of the environment to pharmaceuticals can adversely affect ecosystems and the environment. It has also been established that these pharmaceuticals are highly active even at very low concentrations (Crane et al., 2006; Hernando et al., 2006; Klavarioti et al., 2009). Even human health might be affected by APIs that are released into the environment, as exemplified by the formation of multi drug-resistant microbial strains (Phillips et al., 2004; Hersher, 2012). In this context, evidence for the development of antibiotic-resistant bacterial strains of tuberculosis (Zager and McNerney, 2008; Hersher, 2012), salmonella (Kingsley et al., 2009), and Escherichia coli (E.coli; Rogers et al., 2011), or for the generation of antiviral drug-resistant influenza viruses (de Jong et al., 2005) has been found. To date, the occurrence and fate of pharmaceuticals in the environment have been extensively assessed and documented in high-income countries (Sacher et al., 2001; Heberer, 2002; Kolpin et al., 2002; Ternes et al., 2004; Jones et al., 2005; Togola and Budzinski, 2008; Vulliet and Cren-Olivé, 2011). However, environmental data about APIs in low- and middle-income countries is limited and their risks to environmental health in low- and middle-income countries have been poorly assessed and documented (Richardson et al., 2005; Larsson et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2010; Rehman et al., 2015). In this context, more investigation of the occurrence and the fate of APIs in low- and middle-income countries is required.

Even in low- and middle-income countries, APIs should be considered as significant environmental risk factors.



Active pharmaceutical ingredients are omnipresent in aquatic environments and soils, in their original form or as transformation products. Exposure of the environment to pharmaceuticals can adversely affect ecosystems and the environment even at very low concentrations.

Main Issues

- The bulk of the pharmaceutical production has and is being relocated from high- to low- and middle-income countries, such as China, India, and Pakistan. These countries are producing large amounts of APIs and the generic forms of the drugs are extensively produced in low- and middleincome countries as well (Pricewaterhouse Coopers, 2012; Rehman et al., 2015). The increased production of APIs in low- and middle-income countries is mainly driven by the lower production costs that are possible in these countries and by the growing demands and markets for APIs in these countries (Rehman et al., 2015)
- Often in low- and middle-income countries the industrial effluents act as a considerable number of point source of micro-pollutants of

environmental systems (Larsson et al., 2007) as they are released untreated into the environment (Rehman et al., 2015)

- The consumption of APIs increases in densely populated areas with the availability of cheaper generic drugs and with improving living standards (Zhang and Geißen, 2010; IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics, 2012)
- Excessive animal livestock farming (aquafarming (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2010) fish, crustacean, mussels or the farming of cattle, chicken and pork (BBC, 2013; Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013; Richard, 2013) is being carried out increasingly in many low- and middle-income countries with veterinary APIs being used intensively and in an uncontrolled manner (Mitema et al., 2001; Sarmah et al., 2006; Ok et al., 2011)





Toxicological potential

APIs are designed to be persistent and to have a highly bioactive potential even at low environmental concentrations (Heberer, 2002; Fatta-Kassinos et al., 2011; Köck-Schulmeyer et al., 2013). Since their widespread occurrence in the environment (Heberer, 2002; Fent et al., 2006; Fatta-Kassinos et al., 2011), and since they have shown eco-toxicological effects, especially to aquatic systems (Crane et al., 2006; Hernando et al., 2006; Ernst et al., 2012), concern about their effects on the environmental has increased during recent years (Voigt and Bruggemann, 2008; Kümmerer, 2009b). Figure 9 illustrates the high toxic potential of individual APIs on aquatic organisms of different trophic levels. Environmental concentrations of these pharmaceuticals at ng/L and µg/L levels are able to impair considerably the health of water organisms, causing them to show chronic and acute toxic effects (Kümmerer, 2008; Ecotox Centre, 2015). The antidepressant fluoxetine and the beta-blocker propranolol, especially, are acutely toxic to benthos and zooplankton (Figure 9 (A)). Even a chronic exposure of from 0.001 to about 0.0.1 mg/L of the anti-inflammatory drug diclofenac and the antidepressant fluoxetine can cause perceptible adverse effects in fish or phytoplankton (Figure 9B).

The proposals of the quality standards of the Ecotox Centre of Eawag/EPFL (École polytechnique fédérale de Lausanne) also show that even concentrations of several APIs at a level of ng/L can be enough to adversely affect the health of water organisms and to interrupt the interaction. Acute risks to the health of water organisms are assumed when the environmental levels of APIs in surface waters exceed the MAC-EQS and chronic effects to water organisms can be assumed if the environmental water concentrations surpass the AA-EQS (Ecotox Centre, 2015). The proposed MAC-EQS for the antibiotic azithromycin is 90 ng/L, for clarithromycin it is 110 ng/L, and for ciprofloxacin, 363 ng/L. For the hormone preparation and contraceptives 17-ß-ethinylestradiol, 17-ß-estradiol and estrone the AA-EQS are 0.037, 0.4, and 3.6 ng/L, respectively. The analgesic diclofenac has an AA-EQS of 50 ng/L and for the antibiotics erythromycin, clarithromycin, and ciprofloxacin the AA-EQS values of 40, 60 and 89 ng/L, respectively, are determined (Ecotox Centre, 2015).

Physicochemical characteristics

APIs are complex molecules with a molecule weight ranging from 200 to 1000 Dalton and with varying physicochemical and biological properties and functionalities. According to their ionic nature, most of the APIs are polar and consequently remain in aquatic systems (Kümmerer, 2008). Nevertheless some APIs, such as several antibiotics, can have lipophilic characteristics as well (Hamscher et al., 2003; Sarmah et al., 2006; Kümmerer, 2009a) and, therefore, they can adsorb to organic material, such as soil particles, sediments, feces, sewage sludge, and manure. Most of the APIs have a low volatility, which is mainly due to their relatively high molecular weights and their highly hydrophilic characteristics (Hernando et al., 2006).

Consumption

In general, it can be assumed that about several hundred thousand tonnes of pharmaceuticals are consumed worldwide. The annual global consumption of pharmaceuticals per capita is predicted to be of the order of 15 g, while in industrial countries a consumption of pharmaceuticals of between 50 and 150 g per capita per year can be assumed (Ternes and Joss, 2007).

According to our literature search, it can be assumed that more comprehensive data about the consumption and production of pharmaceuticals is not readily available (if at all) to the general public – neither in high- nor in low- and middle-income countries. Since this is the case, it is not possible to compare the consumption and the production of pharmaceuticals in high- and in low- and middle-income countries in more detail. Just the available data on the expenditures of pharmaceutical companies can be used to approximate their production and the consumption in individual countries or lending groups. This is shown in the chapter "Input pathways of pharmaceuticals" and in the following paragraph.

Generally, the production, demand, and consumption of pharmaceuticals is dependent on several factors. The outsourcing of the pharmaceutical manufacturing facilities from Organisation for Economic Development and Cooperation (OECD) to non-OECD countries is driven mainly by the lower production costs in these countries. This, together with the excessive and increased production of generic drugs in low- and middle-income countries, causes a high increase in the production of human and veterinary pharmaceuticals in low- and middle-income countries with fast growing economies, such as China, India, Pakistan, etc. (IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics, 2012; PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2012; Rehman et al., 2015). Along these lines, PricewaterhouseCoopers (2012) predicts that the 2011 sales of pharmaceuticals in China of US\$66.9 billion can increase until 2020 by 163%. In India the US\$15.6 billion industry of 2011 can have increased 213% by 2020. In the fast followers (including Argentina, Egypt, Indonesia, Mexico, Pakistan, Poland, Romania, South Africa,

Thailand, Turkey, Ukraine, Venezuela, and Vietnam) 2020 can see a growth of 125% in their US\$76.6 billion industry. In comparison, in high-income countries the trends in sales of pharmaceuticals will be less pronounced or even decline. For instance, for the USA it is predicted that the sales of US\$337 billion will increase by just 26% while in the large EU countries (France, Germany, Italy, Spain, and the UK) the sales of US\$205 billion will decrease by 5% from 2011 to 2020 (PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2012). This data are shown in Figure 12 and discussed again in the chapter on "Future trends and hot spots". However, according to these data on the sales of pharmaceuticals the following conclusion can be drawn: In low- and middle-income countries there will be a growing trend in the production of pharmaceuticals during the next years.

In addition, because of future demographic changes, such as improved living standards, the increases in the average life span and the population will be more pronounced in low- and middle-income countries (The World Bank Group, 2014). The demand for pharmaceuticals and the production of lower cost generic drugs, especially in the low- and middle-income countries with strong economies, might increase during the next decades (Kümmerer, 2009b; IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics, 2012; PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2008; The World Bank Group, 2014). Together, these suggest an increase in demand for and, accordingly, the availability of pharmaceuticals in low- and middle-income countries as well.

For these reasons consumption in low- and middle-income countries with strong economies will be stimulated and will provoke the release of high amounts of pharmaceuticals into the environment. This might give rise to outcomes that impair human health – the formation of multidrug-resistant microbes and to the degradation of aquatic ecosystems – in countries with lower incomes as well (Mitema et al., 2001; Richardson et al., 2005; Zager and McNerney, 2008; Larsson, 2010; Rogers et al., 2011; Zhao et al., 2010; Ok et al., 2011).

Nevertheless, although no comprehensive data about the consumption of pharmaceuticals are available, especially for low- and middle-income countries, some case examples can be found that show that in these countries high quantities of pharmaceuticals are used as well. For instance, Richardson et al. (2005) assumed that in 2004 about 15,770 tonne of antibiotics for human application were used in Hong Kong and the Pearl River Delta region of south China. In the same region, the same amount or even more is used in the agricultural sector as food additives or as veterinary agents for livestock as well. Given the immense number of industrial/pharmaceutical manu-

Production and consumption of human and veterinary pharmaceuticals is rapidly increasing in low- and middle-income countries with fast growing economies, e.g. China, India and Pakistan. This may enhance outcomes that impair human health such as the formation of multidrug-resistant microbes or the degradation of aquatic ecosystems. facturing facilities in this region, Richardson et al. (2005) suppose that it is possible to find here even higher environmental concentrations of pharmaceuticals and other micro-pollutants with wider distribution than there are in western countries such as Europe, the UK, and the USA. Therefore, overcrowded areas and areas with high agricultural and industrial activities – which is the case in Hong Kong and the Pearl River Delta region – are significant sources of APIs and other industrial chemicals, which pose risks to environmental and human health. This is especially so if there are no, or inadequate or insufficient, wastewater treatment facilities available, which is often the case in low- and middle-income countries (Richardson et al., 2005; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012).

In addition, Mitema et al. (2001) identified that in Kenya alone, large volumes – about 14.6 tonne – of active antimicrobials were used in animal food prodution. In 1999, the main antibiotics used in the animal husbandry sector in Kenya were aminoglycosides, ß-lactams, tetracyclines, nitrofurans, quiniolones, and sulfonamides. Between 469 and 39,866 kg were used annually. In general, there is an even greater lack of data on the application of steroids and other growth promoters in the agricultural sector than there is for the human consumption of antibiotics.

A screening for pharmaceuticals of human urine samples from Durban, South Africa, within the scope of the Valorization of Urine Nutrients in Africa (VUNA) project (www. vuna.ch; Etter et al., 2015) shows that APIs, which can cause adverse effects to aquatic environments (Ecotox Centre, 2015), are available, consumed, and excreted as well. The most prominently consumed and excreted APIs of this region are the antibiotics sulfamethoxazole and its metabolite N-acetyl-sulfamethoxazole, trimethoprim, the transformation product of the beta-blocker atenol, atenolol acid, and the analgesic diclofenac (Bischel et al., 2015). Further investigations show that in other countries with low incomes, such as Pakistan, considerable levels of the antibiotics ciprofloxin, oxytetracycline, oflaxacin, and sulfamethoxazole in concentrations of up to 4 µg/L, and the analgesic diclofenac up to a concentration of 8 µg/L, have been measured in domestic wastewater (Rehman et al., 2015).

The groups of APIs of highest eco-toxicological concern, which will play an increasing role in low- and middle-income countries, are highlighted in the following section. For most of these pharmaceutical groups, except antibiotics (Okeke et al., 2005a; Hersher, 2012) and antivirals (Richman et al., 2004; Dilernia et al., 2007; Baggaley et al., 2010), the environmental concentrations in surface waters are generally not supposed to affect human health, therefore the impacts on human health of just the antibiotics and the antivirals are discussed in more detail.

Active pharmaceutical ingredients of environmental concern

A) Analgesics and anti-inflammatory drugs

Paracetamol, acetylsalicylic acid, ibuprofen, fenoprofen, mephenamic acid, naproxen, indomethacin, and diclofenac are common and broadly used as painkillers and antiinflammatory agents.

Consumption

Worldwide, the annual use of these agents amounts to several kilotonnes (Cleuvers, 2004). Given their low prices and that these agents can be obtained mainly without prescription – they are referred to as over-the-counterdrugs – the pattern of their consumption is relatively incomprehensible (Oaks et al., 2004). The anti-inflammatory drugs ease pain mainly by the inhibition of cyclooxygenase 1 and/or 2 (Vane and Botting, 1998).

Environmental behavior and occurrence

Given the immense consumption of these agents, their persistence, and their high water solubility, several antiinflammatory drugs or their transformation products can reach considerable environmental concentrations - up to µg/L (Ternes, 1998; Stumpf et al., 1999; Heberer, 2002; Ferrari et al., 2003; Jiménez et al., 2012; Tredoux et al., 2012). This is especially so for the analgesic diclofenac, which is well-known for its high persistence in aquatic environments. Even with state of the art wastewater treatment facilities it is difficult to degrade this API effectively (Zhang et al., 2008). In Côte d'Ivoire, the maximal concentrations of the anti-inflammatory agent diclofenac above 1 µg/L were found in surface water (Weber et al., 2014; Figure 16). In domestic wastewater in Pakistan, diclofenac concentrations up to 8 µg/L were measured (Rehman et al., 2015). In addition, in France (Deblonde et al., 2011) a maximum concentration of diclofenac of 3.1 µg/L was measured in domestic wastewater while in Spain (Gracia-Lor et al., 2012) the value was 1.49 µg/L. Even in groundwater samples in Germany, diclofenac concentrations at a magnitude of ng/L were detected (Sacher et al., 2001; Heberer et al., 2011).

Toxicity

In order to evaluate the eco-toxicological potential of antiinflammatory drugs in more detail, there is evidence that even low concentrations (0.5 µg/L) of diclofenac showed toxic effects to the organs of a brown trout (Salmo trutta f. fario; Hoeger et al., 2005). In addition, the findings of Schwaiger et al. (2004) show that exposure to 5 μ g/L of diclofenac is enough to initiate renal lesions and cause adverse effects to the gills of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Moreover, diclofonac is well-known for its alarming eco-toxicological potential, since Oaks et al. (2004) showed that the population of oriental white-backed vultures (Gyps bengalensis) in Pakistan had been endangered through eating the carcasses of diclofenac-treated livestock. This ingestion of dead livestock with accumulated residuals of diclofenac by the vultures was leading to renal failure and death. According to the Ecotox Centre, the chronic environmental standard value (AA-EQS) of 0.05 µg/L for diclofenac should not be exceeded in the long term in order to protect aquatic environments. For ibuprofen, the proposed AA-EQS value is 0.3 µg/L and for naproxen it is 1.7 µg/L (Ecotox Centre, 2015).

B) Antibiotics

Active antibiotic substances, such as sulfadimidine, sulfadiazine, cloxacillin, benzylpenicillin, bacitracin, oxytetracycline, and virginiamycin, are used to treat disease and promote the growth of livestock and in aquaculture (Sarmah et al., 2006; Kemper, 2008). Antibiotics like clarithromycin and erythromycin, sulfamethoxazole and trimethoprim are more likely to be used for human treatment (Kemper, 2008; Ernst et al., 2012). Table 2 represents a small collection of antibiotics used for veterinary and human treatments.

Consumption

Worldwide, humans are using approximately 100–200 thousand tonne of antibiotics and the lack of global data about the amount used for veterinary purposes makes it even more difficult to estimate total consumption (Wise, 2002; Sarmah et al., 2006; Rehman et al., 2015). Although the number of studies on the occurrence, fate, and ecoto-xicology of antibiotics have increased within the last decades, the processes and the behaviors of these agents in the environment, especially in the long term, are quite unclear (Kümmerer, 2009a).

Environmental behavior and occurrence

Antibiotics can diffuse and accumulate in water systems and soils by having polar and partly apolar properties (Sarmah et al., 2006; Kümmerer, 2009a). This is especially the case if the application of veterinary products is not controlled and regulated and domestic and municipal wastewater and the effluents of hospitals are not treated sufficiently. This is often the case in low- and middleincome countries where antibiotics can be released into the environment through the discharge of untreated industrial wastewaters (Mitema et al., 2001; Larsson et al., 2007; Duong et al., 2008; Ok et al., 2011). For example, the concentration of antibiotics in the effluents of WWTPs in the Pearl River Delta in South China were found to range from 0.009 to 2.054 μ g/L (Xu et al., 2007). In untreated hospital wastewaters in Vietnam, the concentrations of fluoroquinolone antibacterial agents were found to be from 1.1 to 44 μ g/L for ciprofloxacin and from 0.9 to 17 µg/L for norfloxacin (Duong et al., 2008). Treated wastewater effluents adjacent to an industrial estate near Hyderabad, India, which houses 90 bulk drug manufacturers, contained maximal concentrations of antibioticfluoroquinolones of about 31,000 µg/L of ciprofloxacin and 900 µg/L of enrofloxycin (Larsson et al., 2007). In the Poudre River in Colorado, USA, which has urban and agricultural influences, the average concentrations of several tetracyclines and sulfonamides were found to range between 0.05 and 0.17 µg/L (Yang et al., 2004).

Furthermore, antibiotic agents can remain parly in soils as well. Hamscher et al. (2002) found the highest average concentrations of tetracycline (ranging from 86.2 to 198.7 μ g/kg) and of chlortetracycline (ranging from 4.6 to 7.3 μ g/kg) in soil layers up to 30 cm deep in a field with intensive livestock farming in northern Germany. In another study, they revealed that tylosin, tetracyclines, sulfamethazine, and chloramphenicol, mainly, can be traced in dust samples from a German pig-fattening farm in concentrations of about 12,500 μ g/kg dust (Hamscher et al., 2003). These environmental concentrations of antibiotics in water systems and soils indicate that antibiotics have the potential to remain or even accumulate in water and soils.

Toxicity

The eco-toxicological classification of Table 2 shows the maximum measured environmental concentrations of different antibacterial substances found in sewage effluent, surface water, groundwater, or drinking water in Germany. The table also indicates whether the individual subs-

Anti-inflammatory drugs such as diclofenac are well-known for an alarming ecotoxicological potential. Ingestion of dead livestock with accumulated residuals of diclofenac by vultures has led to widespread renal failure and death in Pakistan. tance should be considered as a priority pharmaceutical or not. This prioritization of pharmaceuticals is based on:

- The eco-toxicological effect of concentrations of the pharmaceutical on water organisms
- The occurrence in the aquatic environment
- The consumption rates of APIs between 2002 and 2009.

This prioritization was undertaken by the IWW Water Centre and the German Federal Environmental Agency (GFEA); Bergmann et al., 2011.

However, this classification in Table 2 must be treated with caution, because it is determined by monitoring and measuring environmental concentrations in Germany. What has to be taken into account is that some antibiotics that pose a risk to environmental health, which are not often used in Germany, can be used intensively in low- and middle-income countries and vice versa. Furthermore, it has to be considered that often in lower-income countries water treatment systems are not available or are less effective than the ones in higher-income countries. Even in industrial countries, sewage treatment plants (STPs) have problems in dealing with and eliminating antibiotic agents (Xu et al., 2007; Kümmerer, 2008). In addition, it is suggested that high concentrations of antibiotics in STPs might interrupt the microbiological depletion of pharmaceuticals and other chemical pollutions by inhibiting the proliferation of, or killing, the non-target microbial communities that are required for the biological purification of wastewater (Kümmerer, 2009a). In general, antibiotic agents that are found to pose risks to aquatic systems in industrial countries should not be used in low- and middle-income ones. This suggestion is made because often in these regions there is no monitoring of these compounds and there are probably not enough financial resources available to remediate contaminated sites (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2011, 2013).

For example, the use of quinolones is restricted in industrial countries because they act as a highly effective group of antibacterial drugs for human infections. They are wellknown for their capability to generate cross-resistance and they have the potential to accumulate in sediments because of their low rates of biodegradation. In contrast, in China and Chile these antibiotics are used widely, without any restrictions, in aquaculture (Cabello, 2006).

Class	Compounds	Primary usage	Potential side effects	Eco-toxicological classification ^A
Aminoglycosides				
	Apramycin	Pigs only	Neurotoxic	NA
	Gentamycin	All animals, humans	Nephrotoxic	NA
	Kanamycin	Dogs, pigs, cattle, horses	Ototoxic, nephrotoxic	NA
	Neomycin	All animals		NA
	Sisomycin	Humans only	Ototoxic, nephrotoxic	NA
	Spectinomycin	Pigs, cattle, poultry, sheep		NA
	Streptomycin	Obsolete		NA
ß-Lactams: penicillins				
	Amoxicillin	All animals, humans	Allergic reactions	P) 🗢) 🗢
	Ampicillin	All animals		NA
	Azlocillin	Humans		NA
	Benzylpenicillin	All animals		NA
	Cloxacillin	Cattle		NA
	Dicloxacillin	Cattle		NA
	Flucloxacillin	Humans		NA
	Methicillin	Humans		NA
	Mezlocillin	Humans)
	Nafcillin	Humans		NA
	Oxacillin	Cattle		NA
	Piperacillin	Humans		NA
	Phenoxymethylcillin	Humans		NA
	Penicillin G	Humans)

Table 2: Selection of active antibacterial substances used for veterinary and human purposes(Sarmah et al., 2006; Kemper, 2008; Bergmann et al., 2011)

Class	Compounds	Primary usage	Potential side effects	Eco-toxicological classification ^A
Cephalosporines				
	Cefalexin	Dogs	Cross allergic reactions to ß-lactams	NA
	Cefalotin	Humans		NA
	Cefazolin	Humans		NA
	Ceftiofur	Cattle, pigs		
	Cefotaxim	Humans		NA
	Cefotiam	Humans		NA
	Cefquinom	Cattle, pigs		NA
Fenicoles				
	Chloramphenicole	Cats, dogs	Anemia	P) ()
Fluoroquinolone	s			
	Ciprofloxacin	Humans	Arthropathy in young animals	P 🗩
	Enrofloxacin	All animals, aqua-planting (Holmström et al., 2003))
	Marbofloxacin	All animals		NA
	Flumequin	Humans, aqua-planting (Cabello, 2006)		NA
	Ofloxacin	Humans)
Lincosamides			I	
	Clindamycin	Dogs, humans	Gastro-intestinal problems	P) () () (
	Lincomycin	Pigs, cats, dogs, cattle		P) () (
Macrolides				
	Azithromycin	Humans)@)@
	Clarithromycin	Humans		P) ()
	Erythromycin	Humans, cattle, chicken		
	Roxithromycin	Humans		NA
	Spiramycin	All animals		NA
	Tylosin	Animals only)))))
	Vancomycin	Humans		NA
Sulfonamides				
	Sulfanilamide	Humans		NA
	Sulfadimethoxine	Cattle, pigs, chicken		
	Sulfadimidine	Cattle, sheep, chicken		
	Sulfamethoxazole	Humans		
	Sulfapyridine	Pigs		NA
	Sulfathiazole	Humans		NA
Trimethoprim		In combination with) ()
		sulfonamides		
Tetracyclines				
	Chlortetracycline	Cattle, pigs	Hepatotoxic	P) • • •
	Doxycycline	Humans, cats, dogs		P)
	Oxytetracycline	Humans, cattle, sheep, pigs, Aqua-planting (Holmström et al., 2003)		P) () () ()
	Tetracycline	Humans, horse, sheep, pigs		

A: Declaration if the substance has been assigned to the list of priority substances affecting water organisms as classified by IWW and the GFEA (Bergmann et al., 2011) with

P = high priority substances and

(P) = moderate priority substances.

NA means that these compounds are not prioritized pharmaceuticals or that too little data or no data for prioritization was possible. MEC_{max} – maximum measured environmental concentration in surface water in Germany, with

 $M = MEC_{max} > 1 \ \mu g/L; \implies M = MEC_{max} > 0.1 \ \mu g/L; \implies MEC_{max} < 0.01 \ \mu g/L.$

Concerning environmental toxicity, the release of antibiotics into the environment can directly affect organisms because of their acute and chronic toxicity. However, primary organisms, such as bacteria, fungi, and microalgae, seem to be more sensitive to exposure to antibiotics compared to vertebrates and invertebrates, because antibiotics were designed to eliminate microorganisms. High environmental concentrations of antibiotics may lead to an interruption of the food web system.

Antibiotic-resistant bacteria will be most problematic in developing countries where the infectious disease rates are high and newer and more effective antibiotic agents are unaffordable.

The following are examples of the direct toxicity of antibiotics to aquatic organisms. *Vibrio fisheri* showed significant adverse effects to ciprofloxacin at concentrations of 5000 μ g/L (Hernando et al., 2007) and the growth of the microalgae *Microcystis aeruginosa* was inhibited at concentrations lower than 100 μ g/L (Halling-Sørensen, 2000). After conducting a 7 day experiment with static concentrations of sulfamethoxazole and levofloxacin ranging from 100 to 1000 μ g/L, phytotoxic effects were observed in the water plant *Limna gibba* (Brain et al., 2004).

From the environmental prospective, and according to the data of the IWW and the GFEA, the antibiotics amoxicillin, chloramphenicole, chlortetracycline, ciprofloxacin, clindamycin, doxycycline, erythromycin, oxytetracycline, sulfadimidine, sulfamethoxazole, roxithromycin, and tetracycline were found to be the most relevant ones (Bergmann et al., 2011). For instance, according to the Ecotox Centre, the chronic environmental standard (AA-EQS value) of ciproflaxin is 0.089 µg/L, of erythromy-



Figure 10: Three bacterial mechanisms leading to resistance to antibiotics (Byarugaba, 2010)

cin is 0.04 $\mu g/L,$ and of sulfamethoxazole is 0.6 $\mu g/L$ (Ecotox Centre, 2015).

Concerning human toxicity, it has been shown that exposure to antibiotics can result in the formation of antibiotic-resistant genes and bacteria strains (Cabello, 2006; Duong et al., 2008; Kümmerer, 2009a; Sosa et al., 2010; Ernst et al., 2012). The formation of antibioticresistant bacteria will be most problematic in developing countries where the infectious disease rates are high and people are unable to pay for the newer and more cost intensive antibiotic agents (Kümmerer, 2009a). The formation of antibiotic-resistant bacteria and the interactions between bacterial populations and antibiotics are highly complex processes that are not completely understood (Martinez and Baquero, 2000; Kemper, 2008; Kümmerer, 2008). Nevertheless, it is known that the emergence of antibiotic-resistant bacteria can be induced by different mechanisms. Three of those are presented in Figure 10.

The main mechanisms (the 1st and 2nd mechanism) inducing antibacterial resistance are encoded by plasmids. Plasmids are circular, double stranded DNA molecules including, among other elements, beneficial genetic information that improves the survival of bacteria. This genetic material is transmissible to other bacteria. Expression or suppression of a specific gene in vivo can lead to resistance to antibiotics by promoting or inhibiting the production of specific enzymes (Fluit et al., 2001). For instance, for inducing resistance, an enzyme is required that is able to inactivate or degrade the antimicrobial agent by molecular scissioning through hydrolase or other processes (Figure 10, orange pellets, 1st mechanism). In addition, resistance to antibacterial drugs can be prompted by the induction of specific enzymes that are able to either modify and inactivate the antibiotic agent or that inhibit the antimicrobial agent's target receptor (Figure 10, green pellets, 2nd mechanism; Stewart and Costerton, 2001).

Moreover, through changes or inhibition of the bacterial plasma membrane permeability, according to changes in the pore channels or membrane structure, the uptake of antibiotics can be reduced. In addition, antibiotics can be actively pumped out of the cell by transport proteins or so-called efflux pumps (Fluit et al., 2001; Schaechter, 2009; Küster et al., 2013; 3rd mechanism).

In low-income countries, the increased emergence of the resistance of *Salmonella enterica*, subspecies *enterica*, serotype Typhi to the antibacterial agents ampicillin, chloramphenicol, and trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole poses

a risk to human health. This formation of multidrug-resistant typhoid strains is causing increased outbreaks of typhus especially in regions where there are no appropriate health care systems and where newer and more expensive antibiotics are less available (Okeke et al., 2005b). The resistance of *Staphylococcus aureus* to vancomycin and methicillin is another prominent example of the antibiotic resistance of bacteria in the medical sector (Sieradzki et al., 1999). Several known antibiotic-resistant zoonotic bacteria that have the potency to transfer infectious diseases from animals to humans and hence pose risks to human health are shown in Table 3 (Kemper, 2008).

C) Antiviral drugs

Oseltamivir, acyclovir, stavudin, and zidovudine are commonly used antiviral agents. Oseltamivir is the main antiviral agent for the treatment and prophylaxis of pandemic influenzas. Acyclovir is broadly used against herpes simplex virus infections and in the treatment of chickenpox. Another field of application of antiviral drugs is as agents used for the treatment of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). At present, HIV- affected people are treated mainly with a triple combination antiretroviral therapy – highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) - by using a mixture of three antiretroviral classes, like protease inhibitors, non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors, and nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NR-TIs). With the help of these mixtures, it is possible to successfully suppress viral replication for long periods and to reduce the potential for the formation of resistant strains (Baggaley et al., 2010; Wu and Musto, 2011).

Consumption

Reliable data about the production and consumption of antiviral drugs that are used to control and treat pandemic influenzas, such as pig and bird flu and other viral diseases, are not available. In low- and middle-income countries, HIV, which is transmitted through unprotected sexual intercourse or the transfusion of contaminated blood and the sharing of contaminated needles, syringes, or other sharp instruments, is still one of the most dangerous and incurable viral diseases. WHO estimates that worldwide there are about 37 million people living with HIV infections, with approximately 95% of these living in low- and middle-income countries (World Health Organization, 2008, 2015b; Baggaley et al., 2010). Of these, about one-third (9.7 million people) have access to antiretroviral therapy and 1.6 million people are dying annually (World Health Organization, 2015b; United Nations

Table 3: Resistances in zoonotic bacteria (Kemper, 2008)

Species	Clinical disease in humans	Possible resistance against	Literature
Escherichia coli	Diarrhea, urinary tract infections, septicemia	ß-Lactams Tetracyclines Streptomycin/ spectinomycin Sulfonamides Cimethoprim Chinolones Chloramphenicoles Gentamycin/Kanamycin/ Neomycin	Angulo et al., 2004; Helmuth et al., 2004
Salmonella spp.	Diarrhea	ß-Lactams Tetracyclines Streptomycin/ Spectinomycin Sulfonamides Cimethoprim Chinolones Chloramphenicole Gentamycin/Kanamycin/ Neomycin	Angulo et al., 2004; Hensel and Helmuth, 2005; Davis et al., 2007
Campylobacter Diarrhea, neural damage as a sequel		Ciprofloxacin Tetracyclines Doxycycline Erythromycin Trimethoprim Sulfamethoxazole	Luber et al., 2003; Angulo et al., 2004; Bae et al., 2005; Senok et al., 2007

Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS, 2013). In comparison, in 2009, it was documented that the pandemic influenza H1N1 caused about 12,500 deaths in the US (Shresta et al., 2011). The supply of antiretroviral drugs, especially in low- and middle-income countries, is very important and necessary. Nevertheless, the formation of antiviral drug-resistant strains can pose problems of high concern for the health of humans and other animals. Therefore, more investigation of the development of drug-resistant virus strains is required.

Environmental behavior and occurrence

To date, the environmental behavior and occurrence of antiviral drugs has not been studied sufficiently and controversial information about the degradation of these drugs in WWTPs and in the environment can be found. For instance, there are environmental concerns raised regarding the API oseltamivir, which is used for the treatment and prevention of pandemic influenza.

There is evidence that oseltamivir and its stable metabolites, such as oseltamivir carboxylate, are hardly degradable in normal WWTPs and that it is not degraded substantially by ultraviolet light radiation (Fick et al., 2007; Singer et al., 2007). Thus oseltamivir seems to be quite persistent in the environment and it seems to be hardly removable from water systems even through wastewater treatment. Its physicochemical properties include maceuticals, but there is evidence that it can be slightly adsorbed by suspended particles, soils, or organic matter (Kümmerer, 2008; Straub, 2009). This persistence might lead to a release and an enrichment of oseltamivir in aquatic environments and favor the formation of drug-resistant virus strains in the environment (Fick et al., 2007; Singer et al., 2007).

high water solubility and it is not volatile as are most phar-

In German surface waters, for example, oseltamivir can be found at concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 1 µg/L (Fick et al., 2007; Kümmerer, 2008). There is evidence that this API is probably not as persistent in surface water as was suspected by Singer et al. (2007) and Fick et al. (2007). Straub (2009) and Bartels and von Tümpling Jr, (2008) revealed that in surface water oseltamivir can be degraded through a combination of indirect photolysis and a microorganism-induced biodegradation. There is evidence for the primary biodegradation of oseltamivir in sediments as well.

In addition, according to a monitoring study investigating the occurrence of antivirals in WWTP effluents and river waters in Germany, oseltamivir and other antivirals, such as acyclovir, abacavir, lamivudine, nevirapine, peniciclovir, ribavirin, stavudine, and zidovudine, were found in raw wastewater as well. Abacavir, acyclovir, lamivudine, peniciclovir, and stavudine concentrations were significantly reduced following wastewater treatment. However, this study did not investigate whether these compounds are degraded biologically by microorganisms or physically removed by adsorption to fecal sludge. In contrast, nevirapine, zidovudine, oseltamivir, and oseltamivir carboxylate concentrations stayed relatively constant, showing similar concentrations in raw wastewater influents and the effluents of WWTPs. So for the latter antivirals, bacterial biodegradation and/or adsorption to fecal sludge seems to be negligible. In river water from Hessian Ried, Germany, maximum concentrations of 0.19 µg/L for acyclovir and 0.17 µg/L for zidovudine were detected (Prasse et al., 2010). In general, knowledge of the environmental behavior, such as the photolytic and biological degradation of antiviral drugs used to treat influenza infections or immune deficiency diseases, are rare. In low- and middle-income countries there is a complete lack of information about the environmental concentrations of antivirals.

Toxicity

To date, the environmental impacts of antivirals on water organisms and aquatic ecosystems have not been comprehensively studied. However, for the API oseltamivir ethylester phosphate, which is available commercially as Tamiflu®, it has been shown that only surface water concentrations at mg/L levels can adversely affect the growth of algae after 96 hours of exposure (Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata) and the health of daphnia (D. magna) after 48 hours of exposure. A chronic daphnia (D. magna) reproduction test of 21 days and a fish early life stage test with Danio rerio of 32 days revealed that no toxic effects were observed at the highest tested concentrations (1 mg/L) of oseltamivir ethylester phosphate. Nevertheless, the chronic predicted no-effect concentration of this compound to D. magna and D. rerio of 0.1 mg/L was investigated (Straub, 2009). There are no proposals yet from the Ecotox Centre for testing other antiviral drugs (Ecotox Centre, 2015), but the chronic environmental standards (AA-EQS) for aquatic environments for the antivirals ribavirin, abacavir, and oseltamivir of 119, 95 and 100 µg/L have been investigated (Straub, 2009; FASS Vårdpersonal, 2014).

The major concern regarding exposure to antivirals is the emergence of drug-resistant viral strains. For example, HIV can replicate very quickly and it has specific mechanisms that are vulnerable to a high rate of mutation. The enzyme responsible for the replication of genetic information in HIV lacks a proofreading mechanism and, in addition, the virus can evolve and recombine at a high rate. These are the reasons why HIV achieves its considerable genetic diversity that enables the formation of strains resistant to antiretrovirals (Baggaley et al., 2010). In addition, the development of resistance to antiviral drugs in general is fostered in regions where there is widespread and unregulated access to antiretroviral medicaments. This is the case in sub-Saharan Africa and other regions that are characterized by war, extreme poverty, and inadequate infrastructure (Harries et al., 2001). Some empirically investigated instances of antiretroviral resistance in several low- and middle-income countries, categorized by drug class and country, are presented in Table 4 (Baggaley et al., 2010). According to this data, the highest resistance to the NRTIs - 11.6 or 12% - was observed in Africa and Thailand. In industrial countries, the occurrence and transmission of antiretroviral drug- resistant virus strains have become a major challenge as well. According to the study of Richman et al. (2004), conducted in the USA, it was estimated that 10 years after access to antiretroviral drugs 76% of the HIV-infected patients carried HIV strains resistant to one or more antiretroviral drugs.

The major concern regarding exposure to antivirals is the emergence of drug-resistant viral strains.

Region, country	Study	NRTI [%]	PI (primary mutations) [%]	NNRTI [%]
Asia				
India	Hira et al., 2004	6.5	2.5	NI
Korea	Chin et al., 2006	3.8	NI	3.8
China	Jiang et al., 2006	4.2		0
Thailand	Sukasem et al., 2007	12.4	0	0
Africa				
Nigeria	Ojesina et al., 2006	17	NI	NI
Mozambique	Parreira et al., 2006	11.6	NI	NI
Madagascar	Razafindratsimandresy et al., 2006	0	3.5	NI
Burkina Faso	Tebit et al., 2006	2.4	0	4.8
Ethiopia	Kassu et al., 2007	1.1	0	2.2
Latin America				
Brazil	Brindeiro et al., 2003	2.4	2.2	2.1
Argentina	Dilernia et al., 2007	1.4	1.4	2.1
Mexico	Viani et al., 2007	2.5	0	2.5
Russia and Eastern Europe				
Slovenia	Babič et al., 2006	3.9	0	0

Table 4: Abundance of antiretroviral resistance in low- and middle-income countries (Baggaley et al., 2010)

NI = no information; NNRTI = non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (antiviral drug Class I);

NRTI = nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (antiviral drug Class II); PI = protease inhibitor (antiviral drug Class III).

D) Beta-blockers

Betaxolol, carazolol, atenolol metoprolol, propranolol, and nadolol are common beta-blockers that are used worldwide.

Consumption

In general, beta-blockers are used to lower blood pressure for the treatment of hypertension and to prevent further attacks in patients who have suffered from heart attacks. Beta-blockers are competitive inhibitors of the beta-adrenergic receptors. The adrenergic system regulates several physiological functions. For example, it controls oxygen need and beating of the heart and it regulates the vasodilatation mechanisms of blood vessels and bronchodilation (Fent et al., 2006). In general, an increase in cardiovascular disease (CVD) burden is expected even in low- and middle-income countries that will stimulate the production and consumption of beta-blocker as well. In 2012, 17.5 million people died from CVDs worldwide and over three quarters of these deaths took place in low- and middleincome countries (World Health Organization, 2015a).

Environmental behavior and occurrence

It has been observed that beta-blockers, especially atenolol (Fent et al., 2006; Etter et al., 2015; Ecotox Centre, 2015), metoprolol (Fent et al., 2006; Bergmann et al., 2011; Ecotox Centre, 2015), propranolol (Fent et al., 2006; Bergmann et al., 2011), and nadolol (Bergmann et al., 2011), have the potential to accumulate in the environment, posing a risk to environmental health. Although beta-blocker have lipophilic characteristics - they should be able to pass the blood-brain barrier (Fent et al., 2006) and the excretion rate of unchanged metoprolol and propranolol is quite low (not exceeding 10%; Ternes, 1998), these beta-blockers can be found in surface waters. For example, the metabolite of atenolol, atenolol acid, was found in urine samples in Durban, South Africa at concentrations ranging from 280 to 360 µg/L (unpublished data). In addition, effluents from a treatment plant that is connected to the effluents from around 90 bulk drug manufacturers in Hyderabad, India, showed an alarmingly high concentration of metoprolol of between 800 and 950 µg/L, which is an environmental risk level (Larsson et al., 2007). In hospital effluents from the Hangzhou metropolitan area and Linan County, southeast China, atenolol concentrations ranging from 0.05 to $0.3 \,\mu$ g/L were measured. The environmental concentration in the Qiantang River was determined to be below $0.02 \mu g/L$ (Chen et al., 2012).

In German surface water, maximum concentrations of propranolol, bisoprolol, and metoprolol of 0.59, 2.9, and 2.2 μ g/L, respectively, were detected. Betaxolol and carazolol were found at lower levels of 0.028 μ g/L and 0.11 μ g/L (Ternes, 1998). In the Lyon area, France, comparable concentrations of bisoprolol, metoprolol, and propranolol of from 0.05 to 2.94 μ g/L were measured as well (Miège et al., 2006).

Toxicity

The acute eco-toxicological effects of beta-blockers have not been extensively studied yet except for propranolol, which is observed to be the most toxic beta-blocker. The exposure of Ceriodaphnia dubia and Daphnia magna to propranolol showed EC50 (48 hour) values of 0.8 and 1.6 mg/L (Huggett et al., 2002; Ferrari et al., 2004), among phytoplankton. The EC50 (96 hour) of the cyanobacteria Synechococcus leopolensis was 668 µg/L (Ferrari et al., 2004). According to the data obtained, zoo- and phytoplankton seemed to be more sensitive to beta-blockers than benthos and fish (Fent et al., 2006). However, a chronic exposure of beta-blockers can cause impairments of reproduction and toxic effects to water organisms at environmentally relevant concentrations. For example, long-term exposure to 100 µg/L and 250 µg/L of propranolol caused significant impairments in reproduction to Hyalella azteca and Ceriodaphnia dubia (Huggett et al., 2002). To arrive at a conclusion about the eco-toxicity of beta-blockers is not yet possible as there is insufficient information, but their negative impact on environmental health is not negligible. According to the quality standards of the Ecotox Centre (2015), even concentrations of propranolol, metoprolol, and atenolol of about 12, 76, and 330µg/L, respectively, are posing acute risks to aquatic organisms given their proposed MAC-EQS values. Their chronic environmental standards (AA-EQS) are 0.16 µg/L, 64 µg/L, and 150 µg/L, respectively (Ecotox Centre, 2015).

E) Hormone preparations and oral contraceptives

Estrone (E_1), 17-beta-estradiole (E_2), and 17-alpha-ethinylestradiole (EE_2), used directly as active compounds or as the metabolized products of the prodrug mestranol by demethylation, belong to the most frequently found and reported hormone compounds in monitoring studies (Sumpter and Jobling, 1995; Ternes et al., 1999; Duong et al., 2010; Chávez et al., 2011; Ernst et al., 2012).

Consumption

Usually, hormone preparations and contraceptives are prescribed and broadly used as oral contraceptives. In some regions, they may be used as steroids to promote reproduction in or growth of livestock, as well (Fan et al., 2007). Global consumption data for these oral contraceptives has not been determined.

Environmental behavior and occurrence

Because of their occurrence in water samples and their high bioactive potential - they act as endocrine disruptors at concentrations of ng/L (Purdom et al., 1994) - these compounds have received noticeable public attention. Because of that they are partially measured and quantified in water systems, even in low- and middle-income countries. For instance, in influents of an activated sludge wastewater works in Darvill, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa, environmental concentrations (arithmetic mean values) of 84 ng E_1/L , 119 ng E_2/L , and 30 ng EE_2/L were measured. In effluents of a wastewater works in Darvill, concentrations of 23 ng E_1/L , 20 ng E_2/L , and 3 ng E_2/L were measured. In the Umsunduzi River downstream of this wastewater works, concentrations of 8 ng E₁/L, 10 ng E_2/L , and 2 ng EE_2/L were found. Therefore, within this wastewater works, 72 \pm 12% ng of E1, 78 \pm 12% ng of E_2 . and 90 ± 3% ng of EE_2 were eliminated, mainly through biodegradation, but partly through adsorption processes onto sludge particles (Silva et al., 2012; Manickum and John, 2014). Further investigations in the Tula Valley, Mexico, showed environmental concentrations of E_1 ranging from 10.3 to 77 ng/L and of E_2 from 0.2 to 13.1; the concentrations of EE₂ were below the limit of detection (Chávez et al., 2011). In influents of a Brazilian sewage water treatment plant in Penha, Rio de Janeiro, 40 ng E₁/L and 21 ng/L of and E₂ were determined. Of these, 67 to 83% of E1 and 92 to 99.9% of E2 were eliminated through the wastewater treatment (Ternes et al., 1999). In wastewater effluents of WWTPs in Italy and Canada, average concentrations of 9 and 3 ng/L of E1 were measured, respectively. The E2 concentration in the WWTP effluents in Italy was 1 ng/L and in Canada, 6 ng/L. An EE₂ concentration of 0.45 ng/L was found in the Italian WWTP effluents while in the Canadian ones it was 9 ng/L (Ying et al., 2002).

Although these oral contraceptives were found in water samples, according to their physicochemical properties they have the potential to adsorb to organic material and particles and for bioaccumulation as well. E_1 , E_2 , and EE_2 have relatively high log K_{ow} values of 3.42, 3.94, and 4.15, indicating their potential to bind to organic matter (Lai et

al., 2000). For example, concentrations of E_1 of 0.17 ng/g, of E_2 ranging from 0.22 to 2.48 ng/g, and of EE_2 ranging from 0.05 to 0.5 ng/g have been found in ocean sediments (Braga et al., 2005).

Toxicity

Within of the scope of the monitoring study of the IWW (Bergmann et al., 2011), EE_2 and E_2 are assigned to the list of high priority substances posing high risks to water organisms because of their high potential as endocrine disruptors (Purdom et al., 1994; Schultz et al., 2003).

These endocrine disruptors are well-known for reducing the fertility and causing feminization of males (Purdom et al., 1994). For example, after treating male rainbow trout with EE₂ concentrations of 10 and 100 ng EE₂/L, embryonic development was impaired by 50% if the sperm of the treated fish was used to fertilize the eggs of untreated rainbow trout. In addition, 1000 ng EE₂/L was deadly for all the test organisms (Schultz et al., 2003). In addition, the laboratory studies of Purdom et al. indicated that low concentrations, of up to 1 ng/L, of EE₂ are able to provoke feminization in male rainbow trout (Purdom et al., 1994). Converse results were found for mollusks. For example, Jobling et al. (2003) found that a 63 day exposure of Potamopyrgus antipodarum to about 25 ng EE₂/L stimulated embryo production, while concentrations of about 100 ng/L resulted in inhibiting this stimulation. For Pimephales promelas, embryo production was stimulated after the fish was exposed to a concentration of 1 ng EE₂/L and up for 3 weeks. However, exposure to concentrations of 100 ng/L caused spawning to cease. These alterations in reproduction relating to exposure to endocrine disruptive pharmaceuticals are mainly observed in vertebrates and mollusks. They are caused by the disruptors binding to and activating the estrogen receptors (Jobling et al., 2003; Schultz et al., 2003). Additionally, according to the quality values of the Ecotox Centre, chronic exposure to EE₂ of greater than 0.04 ng/L, to E₂ of greater than 0.4 ng/L, and to E1 of greater than 3.6 ng/L will cause adverse effects to water organisms (Ecotox Centre, 2015).

F) Lipid regulators

The active metabolite clofibrate acid, formed by the transformation of the prodrugs etofibrate, etofyllin clofibrate, and clofibrate, and the active metabolites of the lipid regulators fenofibrate, bezafibrate, and gemifibrozil are found in wastewater, surface water and ground water samples (Fent et al., 2006; Vulliet and Cren-Olivé, 2011).

Consumption

Lipid regulators are applied to reduce cholesterol concentrations in blood plasma. They can be divided into two groups, statins and fibrates. Statins reduce cholesterol synthesis by inhibiting the 3-hydroxymethylglutaril coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase. This decrease in intracellular cholesterol induces the expression of low-density-lipoprotein and consequently leads to resorption of LDL-cholesterol from the blood plasma (Laufs and Liao, 1998). Fibrates are used to decrease the concentrations of cholesterol and triglycerides in blood and they are observed to show anti-inflammatory effects as well (Staels et al., 1998; Fruchart et al., 1999). It is the fibrates that are of particular environmental concern.

Environmental behavior and occurrence

In the surface waters of 18 Brazilian rivers in Rio de Janeiro state, the main metabolites, fenofibric acid and clofibric acid, of the prodrugs fenofibrate, clofibrate, etofibrate, etofyllin clofibrate, and bezafibrate were measured at concentrations of from 0.09 to 0.35 µg/L (Stumpf et al., 1999). Lipid regulators are difficult to remove from wastewater. For instance, with wastewater treatment, from 34 to 51% of clofibric acid and from 46 to 69% of gemifibrozil can be eliminated, thus they have a potential to enrich aquatic environments (Petrovič et al., 2003). In German surface waters, the maximum measured environmental concentration (MEC_{max}) of bezafibrate was above 1 µg/L and the main metabolite (clofibrine acid) of the prodrugs etofibrate, etofyllin clofibrate, and clofibrate was found to be present at a similar level. The MECs_{max} of mecfenobrate and gemifibrozil were likewise measured at the 0.1 µg/L level in German rivers (Bergmann et al., 2011).

Toxicity

In general, data about the toxicity of these lipid regulators are rare. According to the data that were available, the lipid regulator clofibrate seems to show LC_{50} values of from 7.7 to 39.7 mg/L. The fish *Gambusia holbrooki* was affected (LC_{50}) after a 96 hour exposure to 7.7 mg/L of clofibrate (Nunes et al., 2004). According to a water monitoring program for pharmaceuticals in Germany, bezafibrate, a substance classified as having moderate toxic potential for aquatic environments (Bergmann et al., 2011), was found in surface waters with a MEC_{max} above 1 µg/L. The main metabolite (clofibrine acid) of the prodrugs etofibrate, etofyllin clofibrate, and clofibrate was found at similar levels. The MECs_{max} of mecfenobrate and gemifibrozil of 0.1 µg/L were observed in German rivers (Bergmann et al., 2011). Although data about the toxicity of lipid regulators are rare, the proposed acute and chronic quality criteria values of the Ecotox Centre (2015), the MAC-EQS and AA-EQS, of bezafibrate are available. These values indicate that acute exposure to 76 μ g/L and chronic exposure to 0.46 μ g/L can cause significant adverse effects in water organisms.

G) Sedatives and antidepressants

Venlafaxin, fluoxetine, fluvoxamine, imipramine, and amitriptyline are commonly used antidepressants.

Consumption

Although there is a lack of information about the supply of antidepressants and the treatment of mental disorders in low- and middle-income countries, the amount used for the treatment of neuropsychiatric disorders will increase over time. This is especially so as there are cheaper generic sedatives and antidepressants now available in low- and middle-income countries, so availability and consumption in these countries will rise as well (Patel, 2007). Patel (2007) showed that mental disorders account for 11% of all the diseases occurring in low- and middle-income countries. The antidepressant fluoxetine, which was found in the environment, is showing its effect by inhibiting the re-uptake of serotonin. As a result of this inhibition, the serotonin level in the pre-synaptic nerve cleft is increasing, causing a reduction of depression (Fent et al., 2006).

Environmental behavior and occurrence

Even in industrial countries, the occurrence of these pharmaceuticals has not been well studied and there is a lack of data about their eco-toxicological relevance and their potential for geo- and bioaccumulation (Brooks et al., 2003).

In low- and middle-income countries, there is even less data available about the environmental concentrations of antidepressants than there is in high-income countries. The effluents of the huge drug manufacturing area in Patancheru, India, (a major production site of generic drugs) contained the globally highest ever measured amounts of pharmaceuticals (the antibiotic-fluoroquinolone) in industrial effluents – up to 31,000 μ g/L (Larsson et al., 2007). There, the antidepressant agent citalopram was measured at concentrations ranging from 770 to 840 μ g/L. As a result, it has to be considered that drug factories, especially in low- and middle-income countries,

can act as relevant pollution sources for pharmaceuticals as well.

In the context of the IWW water monitoring study of German water systems (Bergmann et al., 2011), no measured environmental concentrations were available for several antidepressant agents, such as alprazolam, amitriptyline, citalopram, fluvoxamine, imipramine, etc. Fluoxetine is one of the most commonly used and investigated antidepressants (Reddy et al., 2007). A concentration of 0.0012 μ g/L was detected in river water in the USA (Kolpin et al., 2002) and a concentration of 0.099 μ g/L was found in river water in Canada (Metcalfe et al., 2003).

Toxicity

It has been found that these selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitors can elicit endocrine effects in vertebrates as well as invertebrates. Studies with zebrafish showed adverse effects on egg viability at test concentrations of the antidepressant mianserin of 250 µg/L after an exposure of 14 days (van der Ven et al., 2006). With invertebrates, fluvoxamine showed contrary effects. For instance, fluvoxamine at concentrations about 0.032 µg/L, lead to a stimulation of spawning in zebra mussels (Fong, 1998). Furthermore, for some organisms fluoxetine seems to be highly acutely toxic; the EC50 values of a concentration of fluoxetine of 24 µg/L for algae was observed by Brooks et al. (2003). According to the proposed chronic environmental quality standards (AA-EQS), the long-term environmental concentration of the sedative fluoxetine should not exceed 0.012 µg/L (Umweltbundesamt, 2012), that for fluvoxamine should not exceed 0.1 µg/L (FASS Vårdpersonal, 2014), and that for venlafaxine should not exceed 4.8 µg/L (FASS Vårdpersonal, 2014).

H) Anticonvulsants

Carbamazepine, diazepam, and promidone are anti-epileptic drugs that are found in the environment worldwide.

Consumption

In 2007, the following predicted sale volumes of carbamazepine in low- and middle-income countries were estimated: India, 115.5 tonne in total or 102 mg per capita; Brazil, 30.4 tonne in total or 160 mg per capita; Pakistan, 24.9 tonne in total or 151 mg per capita; Russia, 21.3 tonne in total or 151 mg per capita; South Africa, 16.2 tonne in total or 368 mg per capita; Egypt, 15.1 tonne in total or 188 mg per capita; Argentina, 11.8 tonne in total or 293 mg per capita; China, 11.8 tonne in total or 8.8 mg per capita; Hungary, 11.7 tonne in total or 1175 mg per capita; and Romania, 10.6 tonne in total or 476 mg per capita. In comparison, in high-income countries the figures were: Germany, 72 tonne in total or 874 mg per capita; UK, 51.2 tonne in total or 842 mg per capita; and France, 31.4 tonne in total of 493 mg per capita (Zhang and Geißen, 2010; Barzel, 2013). Anticonvulsants affect the central nervous system by lowering neuronal activity (Fent et al., 2006). The neuronal activity can be decreased by enhancing y-aminobutyric acid (GABA)-ergic inhibition (diazepam), by blocking the neuronal and glial uptake of GABA, and by fostering an increase of the synaptic GABA concentration through inhibition of GABA-aminotransferase. It can also be decreased by inhibition of the voltage-dependent calcium ions into neurons (Czapinski et al., 2005; Fent et al., 2006).

Environmental behavior and occurrence

Carbamazepine is one of the most abundant pharmaceuticals found in the effluents of STPs or in surface water, although only 1 or 2% of carbamazepine is excreted unchanged by humans (Ternes, 1998; Ferrari et al., 2003). Nevertheless, carbamazepine occurs broadly in aquatic environments mainly because of its high water solubility (carbamazepine has a water solubility of 112 mg/L (Ferrari et al., 2003) while diazepam has a water solubility of 50 mg/L (Yalkowsky and Dannenfelser, 1992)) and its high resistance to biodegradation. For instance, even in STPs almost no elimination of this pharmaceutical is observed. Results show that sometimes the effluents of STPs contained even more carbamazepine than the influents. This can be explained by the transformation of carbamazepine glucuronides and other conjugates to the parent compound during the enzymatic processes during the wastewater treatment (Gros et al., 2010). Other data showed that less than 10% carbamazepine is eliminated in STPs (Zhang and Geißen, 2010).

In the Pearl River system in China, an MEC_{max} of 43.1 ng/L was found for carbamazepine (Zhao et al., 2010). In Indian river waters, the MEC_{max} of carbamazepine was 128 ng/L (Ramaswamy et al., 2011). In North America (Canada and the USA), the environmental average concentrations of carbamazepine ranged from 2.5 to 166 ng/L, and the MEC_{max} was 1500 ng/L (Cunningham et al., 2010). In Europe, the average carbamazepine concentrations of between 1.1 and 410 ng/L were identified in surface waters and the MEC_{max} was 7100 ng/L (Cunningham et al., 2010).

Toxicity

There is significant evidence that anti-epileptic agents can have adverse effects on water organisms. For instance, Pascoe et al. showed that a concentration of anti-epileptic agents of 0.010 mg/L inhibited polyp regeneration in the cnidarian Hydra vulgaris (Pascoe et al., 2003). However, for several other organisms the effect concentrations are outside the range of environmental concentrations. For instance, a motility test of Daphnia magna showed EC₅₀ (48 hour) values of around 13.8 mg/L after exposure to carbamazepine (Ferrari et al., 2003). Some fish species seem to be relatively sensitive to carbamazepine. It was found that the LC_{50} (24 hour) for Cyprinus carpio was 50.70 mg/L (Malarvizhi et al., 2012). In rainbow trout and common carps, a concentration of carbamazepine of 1000 mg/L caused significant adverse effects to the liver, The malfunctions caused by exposure to the pharmaceuticals diclofenac and metoprolol were more pronounced than those caused by carbamazepine and clofibrate (Schwaiger et al., 2004). During a comprehensive sediment study, the midge Chironomus riparius was found to be very sensitive to carbamazepine showing EC10 values of 0.07-0.21 mg/kg dry weight. In contrast, other species, such as the oligochaete Lumbriculus variegatus and the freshwater snail Potamopyrgus antipodarum, were not affected at the tested concentrations (0.625-10 mg/ kg dry weight L. variegatus; 0.4-250 mg/L P. antipodarum; Oetken et al., 2005). In summary, apart from some specific organisms, carbamazepine is characterized as low acute toxic to aquatic organisms (Oetken et al., 2005). Along these lines, the proposed acute environmental quality standard (MAC-EQS) of the Ecotox Centre for carbamazepine of 2.550 mg/L is relatively high (Ecotox Centre, 2015). Nevertheless, the exposure of aquatic ecosystems to carbamazepine in the long term can have adverse effects on water organisms as well and this is indicated by the low chronic environmental standard of 0.0005 mg/L.

I) Cytostatic cancer therapeutics

Cyclophosphamide, ifosfamide, methotrexate, cisplatin, 5-fluorouracil, etoposide, doxorubicin, and doxorubicinol are agents often used in the chemotherapy treatment of cancer. These therapeutics work by impairing cell proliferation, particularly of fast growing tumor cells (Fent et al., 2006; Matthies, 2008).

Consumption

Some cytostatics, such as cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide, reduce the growth and inhibit the division of tumor cells and other fast growing cells through the alkylation of DNA. According to the IMS Institute (IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics, 2012), anticancer drugs lead the market with sales of US\$83–88 billion. Since generics of several of these pharmaceuticals are available, the spending on medicines in the so-called 'pharmerging' countries (Russia, Brazil, China, and India) has increased. The IMS Institute (IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics, 2012) has shown that of 22 new anticancer drugs, between 18% and 46% were available in China, India, Brazil, and Russia (ascending order of availability).

Environmental behavior and occurrence

In aquatic environmental samples, the cytostatics cyclophosfamide, ifosfamid, and methotrexate seem to be the most representative ones. Yin et al. (2010) conducted the first monitoring study of cytostatic drugs in hospital effluents in China (Beijing). They detected the highest concentrations of cyclophosfamide, ifosfamide, and methotrexate - ranging from 4 to 10,647 ng/L - with cyclophosfamide and ifosfamide being found most frequently. Methotrexate, etoposide, and azathioprine were less abundant at maximal measured concentrations of 4689, 380, and 38 ng/L, respectively. They are mostly found in the effluents of hospitals at low levels - between ng/L to µg/L. This was certainly the case in the effluents of German hospitals (Heberer, 2002). In the surface water of a lake in Switzerland, they were found at concentrations ranging from 0.05 to 0.17 ng/L. However, in general, there is a dearth of data about the occurrence of cytostatic agents, especially in surface waters or sediments (Heberer, 2002; Buerge et al., 2006; Zounková et al., 2007; Yin et al., 2010).

According to the investigations of Buerge et al. (2006), cytostatic drugs seem to have persistent characteristics. For example, under dark conditions the half-life of cyclophosphamide was 80 days and that of ifosfamide was 620 days. The transformation of cytostatics by photo-oxidation cannot be excluded, though this process seems to be relevant only in regions of clear, shallow water. Experiments with active sludge revealed that no transformation of cytostatics was observed within 24 hours at test concentrations of about 100 ng/L.

Toxicity

The concentrations measured in the aquatic environment are several orders of magnitude lower than the concentrations posing risk (showing acute toxic effects) to aquatic organisms (Yin et al., 2010). Although they are used as anticancer drugs to treat bronchial, breast, and ovarian cancer, lymphomas and leukemia or to treat auto-immune diseases, they are able to promote cancer at certain concentrations. They are well-known for their mutagenic and embryo-toxic characteristics and for inhibiting cell proliferation (Heberer, 2002; Buerge et al., 2006; Yin et al., 2010). For instance, exposure of the ciliate Tetrahymena pyriformis to methotrexate showed an EC_{50} (48 hour) value of 45 mg/L (Henschel et al., 1997). Disorders in fish embryo development were observed at concentrations around 85 mg/L (EC_{\rm 50}, 48 hour; Henschel et al., 1997). Zounková et al. (2007) conducted a comprehensive toxicity study using five cytostatics (cyclophosfamide, cisplatin, 5-fluorouracil, doxorubicin, and etoposide). They found that cisplatin and 5-fluorouracil were the most toxic to the bacteria Pseudomonas putida and the algae Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata, showing LOECs between 0.01 and 1 mg/L. Cyclophosfamide showed values of between 500 and 1000 mg/L (Zounková et al., 2007). Although the concentrations of the cytostatics found in the environment are lower than the concentrations that are causing adverse effects to water organisms, their occurrence and their impact on the environment and on water organism should not be ignored. The use of these agents is still increasing given the constant improvements in living standards and the increase in the number of cancer patients worldwide. These compounds are known to have high bioactive potential and we lack information about their chronic toxicity and the environmental distribution pattern of these agents (Buerge et al., 2006; Zounková et al., 2007; Yin et al., 2010). The chronic environmental standard found for the cytostatic cancer drug doxorubicin is 0.01 mg/L (FASS Vårdpersonal, 2014), that for ifosfamide is 2 mg/L (Bergmann et al., 2011), and that for cyclophosphamide is 20 mg/L (Bergmann et al., 2011).

J) X-ray contrast medium

lopamidol, iobitridol, iomeprol, iopromide, iohexol, diatrizoate, and ioxithalamic acid are a selection of iodinated x-ray contrast media which are broadly used.

Consumption

These agents are used frequently and with high doses (up to 200 g per person (Steger-Hartmann et al., 1999)

as diagnostic agents, especially in hospitals (for computed tomography or x-ray images and magnetic resonance imaging or radiological surgeries). These media improve the contrast between organs or vessels and tissues during x-ray radiography and facilitate visualization and observation of morphological alterations on organ tissues (Steger-Hartmann et al., 1999; Heberer, 2002; Bergmann et al., 2011; Ernst et al., 2012). These agents can be differentiated into ionic (diatrizoate, iothalamic acid, and ioxithalamic acid) and non-ionic (iopamidol, iopromide and iomeproll) contrast media (Ternes and Hirsch, 2000). In all countries with a developed health care system - mainly in emerging and developed countries - the residuals of x-ray contrast media can be found in wastewaters, effluents of STPs, surface water, and ground water.

Environmental behavior and occurrence

X-ray contrast media are specifically designed to be stable against chemical and biological degradation and, because of this, x-ray contrast media are not metabolized after uptake by humans. They are excreted as the parent compound, primarily in urine. This stability of the x-ray contrast media enables it to maintain the efficiency of the diagnostic analysis following application of the x-ray contrast media. Additionally, given their stability, the formation of toxic transformation products is avoided (Ternes and Hirsch, 2000; Kümmerer, 2009b).

Accordingly, these agents are negligibly, or not at all, degraded by bacterial processes or adsorbed to sewage sludge during wastewater treatment or when exposed in surface waters. This is because of their high persistence, high water solubility, and their low lipophilicity (for instance, iopromide has a $\rm K_{ow}$ of 4.7*10^3; Steger-Hartmann et al., 1999). It has been found in raw domestic wastewater in Atlanta, South Africa, that the maximal concentration of iopromide was 0.09 µg/L. In the VUNA project (Eawag: The Swiss Federal Institute of Aquatic Science and Technology and eThekwini Water and Sanitation (EWS), 2013) a concentration of 97 µg/L iobitridol was found in urine samples in Durban, South Africa. In Gaobeidian, China, effluents of a STP contained about 2 µg/L iopamidol (middle value), 1.5 µg/L diatrizoate, and about 0.2-0.3 µg/L iopromide and iohexol. Analogous values, with magnitudes of µg/L, were found in industrial countries such as Germany and Switzerland (Ternes and Hirsch, 2000; Buerge et al., 2006; Ernst et al., 2012). In addition, in WWTPs in Hesse, Germany, no degradation of x-ray contrast media was observed (Ternes and Hirsch, 2000). Because of that, x-ray contrast media are well-known for their high persistence in aquatic systems (Heberer, 2002; Kümmerer, 2008).

Toxicity

Steger-Hartmann et al. (1999) conducted a comprehensive study on the eco-toxicological behavior of the x-ray contrast medium iopromide. They discovered that iopromide presented no acute toxic effects to the bacteria Vibrio fisheri, Pseudomonas putida, the algae Scenedesmus subspicatus, the crustacean Daphnia magna, or the fish Danio rerio and Leuciscus idus at the highest test concentration of 1 g/L. In addition, Daphnia magna showed no chronic toxic effects after long-term exposure to 1 g iopromide/L. Toxicity tests with mammals, which were conducted during the development of the pharmaceutical iopromide, showed no adverse effects on reproduction or any genotoxic effect (Schöbel and Günzel, 1993). According to the environmental risk assessment study of Steger-Hartmann et al. (1999), x-ray contrast media, like iopromide, do not pose any risk to the aquatic environment. Given their high persistence, however, and the lack of knowledge of their ability to cause sublethal effects (Ternes and Hirsch, 2000), environmental assessments are still required. Nevertheless, the chronic environmental standard of 1000 µg/L for the x-ray contrast media iohexol (Bergmann et al., 2011) and iomeprol (FASS Vårdpersonal, 2014) have been proposed.

Input pathways of pharmaceuticals

The possible entry pathways of APIs are outlined in Figure 11. For example, APIs can be released into the environment directly at pharmaceutical production plants, mainly through the release of industrial wastewater effluents. The APIs of pharmaceuticals for veterinary purposes - to treat animal diseases or as food additives to promote growth at aquaculture farms (Cabello, 2006) or animal husbandries - can enter the environment via excretion (Sarmah et al., 2006). In addition, after human uptake, the excreted pharmaceuticals from private households or hospitals can enter the municipal wastewater system via urine or feces, with most of the APIs excreted unchanged (Holm et al., 1995; Hirsch et al., 1999; Duong et al., 2008; Kümmerer, 2009b). If industrial or municipal wastewaters are processed by STPs, the non-degradable APIs are released into the surface water (Gros et al., 2007; Togola and Budzinski, 2008; Voigt and Bruggemann, 2008; Ernst et al., 2012; Köck-Schulmeyer et al., 2013). If no WWTPs are available, which is more likely to be the case

Given their persistence, their continuous consumption, and the large amounts used, many APIs have the potential to remain and to accumulate in the environment. in low- and middle-income countries, all the APIs from these wastewaters are directly released into the surface water (Rehman et al., 2015). If sewage sludge or excreta from animals is used as manure in agriculture or the contaminated surface water is used for irrigation, which is often the case in low- and middle-income countries (Heeb et al., 2012; Rehman et al., 2015), APIs can further accumulate in the soil. Alternatively, they can enter surface waters as surface runoff after rain events or they can leach into groundwater aquifers (Rehman et al., 2015). If unused medicaments are flushed down the toilet (this pathway is not presented in Figure 11) they are released into the municipal wastewater system (Kümmerer, 2009b). If expired or unused pharmaceuticals are disposed of as domestic waste in landfills they could leach into groundwater systems as well (Holm et al., 1995; Heberer, 2002).

As a result, given their persistence (even after wastewater treatment), their continuous consumption, and the large amounts used, many APIs have the potential to remain and to accumulate in the environment (Gros et al., 2007; Togola and Budzinski, 2008; Voigt and Bruggemann, 2008; Zhang et al., 2008; Fatta-Kassinos et al., 2011; Ernst et al., 2012; Kirrolia and Nehra, 2012; Köck-Schulmeyer et al., 2013). In general, the excretion of pharmaceuticals by humans or other animals and the use of contaminated sewage sludge and feces of animals as manure are the main inputs of pharmaceuticals' into the environment. Pharmaceuticals' loads in industrial effluents can be very high as well. However, in general, industrial pollution is very local.



Figure 11: Entry routes for human and veterinary pharmaceuticals into the aquatic environment (Heberer, 2002)

Use of pharmaceuticals and pollution trends and impacts

Data availability

Currently, there is a scarcity of data about the production, sales, and consumption of pharmaceuticals. There are almost no comprehensive systematic data available, especially, for the non-OECD countries. Where such data about pharmaceuticals have been compiled using marketing survey studies and industry intelligence, mostly only the urban regions were covered and small-scale and retail enterprises were left out. In addition, there is a lack of transparency about these data and limited public access (Dickens, 2011). The Institute for Healthcare Informatics (IMS Institute), a leading pharmaceutical consulting company, and the consulting company PricewaterhouseCoopers AG (PWC) are focusing on collecting data about pharmaceuticals. They are endeavoring to forecast future behavior changes in pharmaceutical sales and production from a global perspective. But mostly these data are not publicly available or the data about specific pharmaceuticals has to be purchased (IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics, 2012; PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2012).

Future trends and hot spots

The data introduced by PricewaterhouseCoopers (Figure 12; PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2012; and the IMS Institute (Figure 13) are in accordance with each other. Both are showing an increasing trend in global spending on pharmaceuticals. IMS Institute is showing an increase of from US\$658 billion to \$1,205 billion from 2006 to 2016, while PWC predicts an increase from US\$1,084 billion in 2011 to US\$1,571 billion in 2020. Both predict a declining trend for the spending in the EU, while the spending in Canada and Japan will remain almost constant in future. In addition, there will be increased spending on pharmaceuticals in the USA and, especially, in the pharmerging countries - China, Brazil, Russia, and India - and the fast followers -Mexico, Turkey, Poland, Venezuela, Argentina, Indonesia, South Africa, Thailand, Romania, Egypt, Ukraine, Pakistan, and Vietnam. According to the IMS Institute, pharmerging countries are defined as those with more than US\$1 billion in absolute spending growth between 2012 and 2016 and with a gross domestic product per capita of less than \$25,000 at purchasing power parity. These criteria essentially define low- and middle-income countries. Between 2011 and 2016, sales of pharmaceuticals in the pharmerging countries are calculated to increase from US\$191 billion to US\$362 billion, according to the IMS Institute data. The PWC data indicate a possible increase from US\$205 billion to US\$500 billion between 2011 and 2020 (IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics, 2012; PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2012). These increases in spending will arise for several reasons. Since the economic crisis of 2007, there has been a shift of the industry from highincome countries to low- and middle-income ones (United Nations Environment Programme, 2013c), which will lead to an increase in sales of pharmaceutical products in these countries. Furthermore, PWC and the IMS Institut forecast that the production of generics will increase extensively in pharmerging countries. This process will be stimulated given that the patents of several widely used pharmaceuticals are due to expire. Consequently, there will be a increased manufacture of, and spending on, cheaper generics taking place mainly in low- and middle-income countries. The IMS Institute showed that the increase in spending on pharmaceuticals in pharmerging countries is mainly the result of the increased production of generic drugs. Besides the shift of the pharmaceutical production and the added production of generics in low- and middle-income countries, demographic changes can have effects on the spending on medicines as well. For instance, the global extended life expectancy and the one-child policy in China are promoting the aging population phenomena, leading to an increase in the average age of a population, even in low- and middle-income countries. In addition, the increasing growth rate of the world's population, especially in low- and middle-income countries, will further increase the demand for pharmaceuticals worldwide (The World Bank Group, 2001). Moreover, the middle class will expand worldwide resulting in improved living standards, infrastructure, and development in general. The percentage of the population having an income ranging from US\$6000 to US\$30,000 purchasing power parity is predicted to further increase (Pricewaterhouse-Coopers, 2012). The conclusion to be drawn is that this increase in demand, improvement in living standards, and the enhanced production of pharmaceuticals in lowand middle-income countries will improve health care systems. These changes, in turn, will increase the availability of pharmaceuticals in these countries, which will lead to an intensification of the release of pharmaceuticals into the environment though production processes and excretion by humans or animals following their use (IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics, 2012; PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2012).

Pharmaceuticals for veterinary treatment

Currently, there is almost no information available about the consumption patterns and amounts of pharmaceuticals – antibiotics, anti-inflammatory drugs, or steroids – used for animal treatment. Nowadays, the use of phar-



Figure 12: Sales of pharmaceuticals in US\$ billion at constant exchange rates in several countries (PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2012). Total sales in 2011 were US\$1,084 billion and in 2020 are predicted to be US\$1,571 billion. The EU Big 5 are France, Germany, Italy, Spain, and the UK. The fast followers include Argentina, Egypt, Indonesia, Mexico, Pakistan, Poland, Romania, South Africa, Thailand, Turkey, Ukraine, Venezuela and Vietnam.



Figure 13: Sales of pharmaceuticals in US\$ billion with variable exchange rates in several countries (IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics, 2012). Total sales in 2006 were US\$658 billion, in 2011 US\$956 billion, and in 2016 are predicted to be US\$1,205 billion. The EU Big 5 are France, Germany, Italy, Spain and the UK. The pharmerging countries are China, Brazil, Russia, India, Mexico, Turkey, Poland, Venezuela, Argentina, Indonesia, South Africa, Thailand, Romania, Egypt, Ukraine, Pakistan, and Vietnam.

maceuticals to treat diseases in animal husbandry and aqua-farming is inevitable (Sarmah et al., 2006). Each year, high volumes of these drugs are used in veterinary treatments, especially since these pharmaceuticals are relatively cheap. They are traded worldwide and many of these agents are available as generic drugs. Looking at the volume of chicken, cattle, and pig meat produced in each region may give some indirect insights about those regions where environmental and human health is endangered as a result of the increased exposure to veterinary pharmaceuticals. These agents are released through excretion into the environment without any treatment and leach and accumulate in soils and drinking water reservoirs. According to the data on meat production from FAOSTAT (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013) and illustrated in Figure 14, the demand for veterinary pharmaceuticals in low- and middle-income countries is highest in China, followed by Brazil, Russia, Mexico, Argentina, Vietnam, and India (in descending order). By considering the tonnes of chicken, cattle, and pig meat produced per 1000 ha of arable land, which is shown in Figure 15, the highest meat production areas in lowand middle-income countries are Djibouti, Malaysia, Lebanon, St. Lucia, Jordan, Colombia, Costa Rica, Seychelles, Jamaica, Kiribati, Occupied Palestinian Territory, Ecuador, Dominican Republic, Samoa, and China (in descending order).

Given the high meat production, especially in these regions, continuous monitoring of the movement of veterinary drugs into the environmental compartments is strongly recommended. However, other regions may be adversely exposed to veterinary pharmaceuticals as well. This cannot be specified more precisely given the data available and with the resolution of the data obtained. One example where environmental health was endangered after exposure of the environment to veterinary pharmaceuticals occurred in two regions, in India and in Pakistan. There, the vulture population declined drastically because of renal failure caused by ingesting the carcasses of diclofenac-treated animals (Oaks et al., 2004).

Moreover, in a cooperative, interdisciplinary project involving the German Federal Environmental Agency, the IWW Water Centre and adelphi (Weber et al., 2014), worldwide data on the maximum environmental concentrations (MEC_{max}) measured were compiled. This



Figure 14: Summary of the amount of chicken, cattle, and pig meat produced on average between 2006 and 2010. The range is from 1 to 81 million tonne of meat/year (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013)

Figure 15: Summary of the average amount of chicken, cattle, and pig meat produced per 1000 ha of arable land between 2006 and 2010. The range is from 1 to 33 thousand tonne of meat/ 1000 ha of arable land/year (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013) was undertaken to indicate high risk areas where pharmaceuticals released into the environment may affect human and environmental health. One, not yet finished, example of a collection of measured environmental concentrations is shown in Figure 16 (Weber et al., 2014). According to previous data, the MECs_{max} of diclofenac were measured in low- and middle-income countries like Ukraine, Greece, Pakistan, and Côte d'Ivoire, where concentrations greater than 1 µg/L were detected. In Brazil, Costa Rica, South Africa, Jordan, China, and Malaysia, concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 1 µg/L were found. These values indicate that even in low- and middle-income countries the monitoring of environmental concentrations of pharmaceuticals is highly relevant. This monitoring is relevant, first because of the high concentrations found in

these regions and second because of the lack of data on this issue, especially in low- and middle-income countries.

To get a better overview of the global distribution of pharmaceutical industries, the locations of pharmaceutical companies, associations, and pharmaceutical production places were identified using Google Maps and illustrated in Figure 17. These data, although they have to be treated with caution, indicate that high levels of activity are suspected in the low- and middle-income countries of north and west Latin America, west, east and south Africa, India, east and west China, and Indonesia.





Figure 16: Environmental concentrations of the analgesic diclofenac in different UN regions; (Weber et al., 2014)

Figure 17: Google map of places connected with pharmaceuticals and pharmaceutical companies

Issues of special concern

In general, the excretion of pharmaceuticals used for the treatment of human and veterinary diseases is supposed to be the main pathway for the release of pharmaceuticals into the environment. However, it has to be considered that, especially in low- and middle-income countries the effluents of pharmaceutical manufactories can be relevant point sources of APIs. These latter also show the highest environmental concentrations worldwide. In these regions, there is little or no legislation for sound waste management. There are no regulations governing the maximum concentrations of APIs that are allowed to be present in the effluents of industries and WWTPs. There are no monitoring programs for checking the occurrence of APIs in drinking water and river systems. Often the inspections, if available, are failing and the use of sustainable and environmentally-friendly methods is not guaranteed. The legacies of obsolete, closed factories and the use of landfills for disposal pose risks to environmental and human health. If pharmaceuticals are produced for the global market, as in an example from Brazil, an internationally shared responsibility for producing more environmentally-friendly APIs is necessary.

Diclofenac endangers vulture population in India and Pakistan

As already mentioned in chapters above, one prime example where exposure to pharmaceuticals has had disastrous consequences to environmental health is presented in the Indian and Pakistani regions, where several vulture populations were endangered because of the anti-inflammatory agent diclofenac. Oaks et al. (2004) determined that the renal failure found in vultures was directly correlated with the diclofenac residues found in carcasses of veterinary treated livestock. This indicates that although most of the pharmaceuticals are supposed to be polar and, therefore, should be excreted easily from the body, some of them show the potential for bioaccumulation within the food web system. This results in an enrichment of these compounds per trophic level, posing risk to environmental health, especially to the end consumers of the food web, the raptors and other predators.

Pharmaceutical manufacturing in India

Another example is that pharmaceuticals are not only released into the environment primarily through the excreta of medically treated humans and animals but also by inappropriate disposal of expired medicines – by flushing them down the toilet. In addition, wastewater effluents of manufacturing plants can channel large vo-

lumes of pharmaceuticals into aquatic systems. APIs can leach into soils and water aquifers at dumping sites close to production facilities (Larsson, 2010). For instance, Larsson et al. (2007) investigated the effluents of the WWTP in Patancheru near Hyderabad, India. Patancheru Enviro Tech Ltd. (PETL) is posing a risk to environmental and human health. PETL is treating the waste of approximately 90 bulk drug manufacturers. Each day, about 150 trucks of wastewater are delivered to PETL representing a volume of about 1500 m³. This WWTP is able to deplete about 77% of the organic material contained in the industrial wastewater (measured as the biological and chemical oxygen demands) and about 50% of the total dissolved solids and total suspended solids. The efficiency and the capacity of PETL is not high enough to treat the volume of wastewater received. Larsson et al. (2007) ranked the top 11 APIs found in the effluents of the WWTP. These effluents contained the highest concentrations of APIs measured in any effluent worldwide. For example, the maximum concentrations of the antibiotics ciprofloxacin, and enrofloxycin (fluoroquinolone group) were found to be about 31,000 and 900 µg/L. The beta-blocker metoprolol was measured at concentrations up to 950 µg/L.

The concentrations of ciprofloxacin are so high that the maximum therapeutic dose for humans would be exceeded by ingesting 1 L of this water. The concentration is three to four times higher than that which was toxic to the water plant Lemna minor and the cyanobacteria Microcystis aeruginosa. An additional problem arises through the inappropriate dumping of untreated wastewater (Gurunadha Rao et al., 2001; Larsson et al., 2007). In two lakes in this area, which are not connected to the effluents of PETL, high amounts of ciprofloxacin - up to 6.5 mg/L – were found. These high concentrations may result from leakages of untreated wastewater from the dumping sites (Larsson, 2010). Many of these APIs (mostly generics), which are produced in Patancheru, are distributed worldwide and included in products sold by other pharmaceutical companies in industrial countries as well. Aside from these findings in India, elevated concentrations of APIs in effluents were found in the effluents of other drug companies in China and Brazil as well (Li et al., 2008a; Deschamps et al., 2012).

Pharmaceutical manufacturing in China

The Shanghai Environmental Department has compiled a blacklist of 721 companies. Of these, 374 companies are not applying approved environmental procedures or are failing inspections. It was found that 159 companies were contravening the water pollution prevention rules (Chi-

naCSR, 2010). For instance, Li et al. (2008a) found concentrations up to 920 mg/L of oxytetracycline (OTC) in influents and 19.5 mg/L in effluents of a WWTP in North China in Hebei Province. This tetracycline derivate is an antibiotic mainly used for aquaculture and livestock to promote growth. In the surface water of the Xiao River downstream of the WWTP, a maximum concentration of OTC of 712 µg/L was detected. In 2007, about 117 pharmaceutical production plants were forced to close down their facilities until they had improved significantly their facilities and made them more environmentally friendly (China Daily, 2007). According to the Blacksmith Institute's The World's Worst Toxic Pollution Problems: Report 2011, obsolete factories (of both pharmaceutical and other industrial manufacturers) are posing risks to human and environmental health. This is because often, especially in low- and middle-income countries, there is no capacity to remove these legacy structures or nobody feels responsible for their removal (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2011).

Pharmaceutical manufacturing in Brazil

Deschamps et al. (2012) revealed that pharmaceutical companies in the state of Minas Gerais, Brazil, release their water into the environment without any treatment. At present, there is no legislation in Brazil that controls exposure of the environment to micro-pollutants and pharmaceuticals. (Even in high-income countries there are no critical values implemented for pharmaceuticals in the environment). Moreover, it was brought to light that several companies do not rigorously manage their waste disposal as untreated waste was dumped in landfills and garbage dumps. Primarily, the Brazilian companies are producing commodities for domestic use in contrast to the industrial park area in Patancheru, India, where APIs for the domestic and the global market are produced (Larsson et al., 2007; Deschamps et al., 2012).

Best practices

The impact of pharmaceuticals released into the environment is an emerging issue, especially since general environmental consciousness is rising and better techniques for measuring environmental concentrations have been developed. More attention is being paid to this topic. At the moment, there are several initiatives and programs running with a focus on reducing the emission of pharmaceuticals into the environment and monitoring pharmaceuticals in WWTP effluents, surface water, and drinking water. However, to assess the risks these compounds pose to the environment, especially in low-andmiddle-income countries, more efforts are required. Examples, some theoretical and others already implemented, of how to reduce the impacts of pharmaceuticals on the environment, which are feasible for low- and middle-income countries, are mentioned below.

Implemented examples

Changes in regulations

Fortunately, during the last decade since the convening of the Johannesburg Plan of Implementation (United Nations, 2002) and Agenda 21 (United Nations, 1992), more commitments to ensure the sound management of chemicals and hazardous wastes have been made. These should enforce more sustainable development and protect human and environmental health. The goal of this implementation is to ensure that, by the year 2020, chemicals are produced and used in ways that minimize significant adverse impacts on environmental and human health, using transparent science-based risk assessment approaches and risk management procedures to support developing countries in strengthening their capacity for sound management of chemicals and hazardous wastes by providing technical and financial assistance (United Nations, 2013). In China, around 100 pharmaceutical production factories were forced to close because of severe pollution issues. To continue operations they must significantly improve the quality of their operations and put more effort into working more sustainably and in a more environmentally-friendly way. In addition, in developing countries, environmental consciousness is slowly growing. In Nigeria and Senegal, industrial wastewaters are starting to be controlled. In most low- and middle-income countries parameters like chemical or biological oxygen demand, heavy metals, pathogens, total suspended solids, pH, conductivity, nutrients, and dissolved oxygen are quantified, but information about the occurrence of pharmaceuticals in wastewaters is lacking (Institut sénégalais de Normalisation (ISN), 2001; Ngwuluka et al., 2011). However, initiatives to assess the state of wastewater management conducted by pharmaceutical industries in Nigeria have been undertaken (Ngwuluka et al., 2011). A survey showed that of 34 pharmaceutical businesses in Nigeria, 31 did poorly in managing the disposal of their waste. About one-third of the pharmaceutical businesses were releasing their wastewaters into the environment without any treatment. Some companies were found to be burying their pharmaceutical wastes near their premises ignoring the fact that these agents can leach into water aquifers or threaten environmental health. Surveys like

this are helping to localize weaknesses in regulation or of the authorities. They are helping to identify those regions where the released chemicals are reaching high levels (in the air, soils, and water), and posing risks to environmental and human health. Furthermore, they can help link the pharmaceutical industries with the environmental agencies helping to reduce environmental pollution from industrial facilities that are acting as point sources. This could be beneficial for the industry as well. It will encourage them to develop techniques to further improve their efficiency of production and sustainability. It will help to improve the working conditions of their employees by reducing hazardous emissions in the work place or the occurrence of occupational accidents. In addition, preventing the release of toxicants into the environment is much cheaper than the remediation of contaminated sites (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2013). Furthermore, such surveys are providing information about which companies require further support and more education in wastewater management. The focus should not be to punish companies with poor results, but, rather, to help them develop strategies and find methods to support the sound production and management of chemicals.

More transparency

As previously mentioned, Larsson and Fick (2009) investigated the origin of pharmaceutical products marketed in Sweden. They came to the conclusion that about one-third of the 242 pharmaceuticals that were available in the Swedish market were produced and delivered from a pharmaceutical production plant in India which releases high amounts of hazardous APIs - mainly antibiotics - into the environment (Larsson et al., 2007). Because of the lack of data about pharmaceutical production and the stages of the supply chain, investigations like these are necessary to obtain more insights into the processes involved in pharmaceutical production and their supply chains. More transparency in the production chain would be helpful in reducing the chemical pollution caused by the pharmaceutical production facilities. Another possibility for assessing the risk pharmaceuticals pose for the environment is to predict the concentrations of APIs in river systems or effluents.

Predictions of pharmaceutical concentrations in sewage treatment plant effluents

Even in high-income countries, there is a dearth of information about the occurrence and biodegradation of several pharmaceuticals in industrial wastewaters (Heberer, 2002), such as antiviral agents (Prasse et al., 2010), sedatives (Brooks et al., 2003), or cytostatic cancer therapeutics (Buerge et al., 2006; Zounková et al., 2007; Yin et al., 2010). Zhang and Geißen (Zhang and Geißen,

2010) modeled the carbamazepine concentration found in the effluents of WWTPs treating human excreta in 68 countries. Although their approximations are a really good approach for calculating concentrations of APIs in wastewater effluents, it has to be considered that for their models, they used values such as:

- Consumption of carbamazepine (represented by the sales volumes of carbamazepine per country in 2007)
- Water consumption
- Disposal rate
- Excretion rate
- Removal efficiency for carbamazepine through wastewater treatment.

These values are not always available for every region and for every substance. Furthermore, the rates of degradation of different groups of APIs and individual pharmaceuticals can vary considerably depending on their physicochemical differences or the different wastewater treatment techniques. This makes it complicated to model the concentrations of APIs in effluents.

Zhang and Geißen estimated that in the low- and middle-income countries - Pakistan, Singapore, Tunisia, Turkey, and South Africa - the predicted concentrations of carbamazepine in WWTP effluents resulting from human excretion ranged from 942 to 1736 ng/L (Zhang and Geißen, 2010). Data like this can help to find risk areas where pharmaceuticals may be released into the environment at high levels, to spot regions where more monitoring would be required, and identify the need for more comprehensive data about toxicants. Consequently, their model is not easily applicable for every substance. For highly persistent chemicals, like carbamazepine, which have elimination rates below 10%, or other substances with stable elimination rates, the concentrations in the effluents can be calculated more accurately (Zhang et al., 2008; Zhang and Geißen, 2010). In contrast, the concentrations of APIs in the effluents of WWTPs cannot be calculated if the efficiency of removal of the WWTPs or the sewage pipes for the different agents vary a lot, it is very difficult to calculate the amount of diclofenac released through WWTPs (or to predict its environmental concentration in surface waters) since its elimination rates range from zero to 70 or 80% in the effluents of STPs (Zhang et al., 2008). Another difficulty is that the production, sales, or consumption data for APIs, especially in low- and middle-income countries, are

currently not readily available to the public. Some consulting groups are selling data about sales and production volumes of pharmaceuticals, but these are quite expensive.

Theoretical examples

Changes in legislation

Today, there is less reliable data available about the production and sales of individual pharmaceuticals, particularly for public access (Larsson and Fick, 2009; Zhang and Geißen, 2010). Following the expansion of international trade and the associated complex production chains - covering every step from purchasing raw materials to packaging the end product offered to the consumer - it is even more difficult to obtain information about the real origin of a product. To assess the amount of pharmaceuticals that can be released into the environment and to identify the risks these chemicals pose to environmental and human health, the production and the sales figures need to be more transparent. In addition to more information about the pharmaceuticals for human use, more information about the amounts of veterinary pharmaceuticals produced, sold, and consumed are required as well. This is particularly so if they are used on a large scale - as in livestock and aquaculture for the treatment of diseases or promotion of growth. Production and sales of pharmaceuticals, which are known to show significant adverse effects on water organisms and which are persistent as well, should be reduced wherever comparable and more environmentally-friendly substitutes for these APIs are available. In future, initiatives like the Kiev Protocol on Pollutant Release and Transfer Registers (part of the Aarhus Convention) will help generate more insights about the production and trade of waste and other hazardous material (United Nations Economic Commission for Europe, 2014). The objective of this protocol is to improve public access to information by implementing international pollutant release and transfer registers. It is an open global initiative, so all states can participate in the protocol. At present, apart from Switzerland, Iceland, French Guiana, Ukraine, Georgia, Armenia, Tajikistan, Republic of Moldova, the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Albania, Montenegro, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Serbia, mostly EU countries have joined this protocol. Hence, at present there is no information available from most of the low- and middle-income countries. Although there is a change going on and more restrictions and guidelines are being implemented in low- and middle-income countries (China Daily, 2007), the production facilities and the legislation governing waste disposal need to be adapted to the standards of the industrial countries.

More investigations in ecotoxicology

Although there are already a number of investigations on the eco-toxicological potential of pharmaceuticals, the total impact of most of the APIs on the environment and their distribution among biota, water, and soil is still not well understood (Ternes, 1998; Brooks et al., 2003; Oetken et al., 2005; Fent et al., 2006; Kümmerer, 2008). This is especially so for the consequences of chronic emissions of APIs into the environment, the synergetic effect of several APIs (Cleuvers, 2004; Jones et al., 2005; Schwarzenbach et al., 2006), and the exposure of nontarget organisms - bacteria, plants, invertebrates (worms and snails), and vertebrates (fish and birds) - which are often unclear (Oetken et al., 2005). Mostly, initiatives were taken to monitor and reduce exposure to pharmaceuticals only after significant adverse effects on environmental and animal health - impairment of reproduction, malformations of mental, physiological, and morphological development, and even species extinction - were noticed (Oaks et al., 2004). Through more detailed investigations of the eco-toxicological potential, the impacts of pharmaceuticals on the environment could be estimated in advance, before the APIs are produced and released into the environment. To achieve that, more comprehensive toxicity tests are required during the development phase of new pharmaceuticals. Often pharmaceuticals are tested in the short term on basic test organisms - zebrafish, daphnia, algae, and rats and mice. But the toxic effects to other plants or invertebrates and vertebrates, like birds, snails, worms, insects, and amphibians, which are essential for ecosystems, remain unclear. In addition, it is important to focus on gaining a better understanding about the presence and impacts of pharmaceuticals in the environment in the long term. This will aid in better understanding the effects within complete ecosystems and the food web. In addition, the implementation of toxicity tests, risk assessments, and modeling approaches are useful tools for predicting the impact of pharmaceuticals on the environment.

Risk assessment

From the risk assessment approaches, valuable information about the toxic potential of different APIs can be investigated. This helps to estimate their risk to the environment. For instance, examination of the toxic potential of APIs on water organisms, expressed as acute quality criterion values (MAC-EQS) and chronic quality criterion values (AA-EQS), delivers information about the acute and chronic concentrations of different APIs that are provoking adverse effects on water organisms (Ecotox Centre, 2015). APIs which are posing a high risk at low chronic concentrations in higher-income countries, for example 17-alpha-ethinylestradiol, 17-betaestradiol, azithromycin, clarithromycin, carbamazepine, and diclofenac (with AA-EQS ranging from 0.037 ng/L to $0.5 \,\mu$ g/L) should be monitored in low- and middle-income countries as well.

More information for physicians, prescribers, and customers

Often the interest groups - the physicians, prescribers, and customers - are well informed about the side effects of pharmaceuticals, but on the packaging or package inserts there is no information available about the ecotoxicological potential and persistence in the environment or about the origin of the APIs. An optional, adequate, and consistent labeling or certification system with pictograms could give information to the provider and the consumer about the ranking of sustainability of the production processes. (For instance, were environmentally-friendly techniques, standards, and controls implemented? Were the APIs produced in domestic or non-domestic facilities? Was the waste disposed of appropriately? Is there information about persistence in the environment and risks to water organisms?) With this information, consumers can make their own decisions; whether they are willing to pay more for a certified environmentally-friendlier product or if they prefer to buy an unlabeled or a cheaper one, which may be produced under less controlled and less environmentally-friendly conditions. Unfortunately at this time, the latter is more often the case in low- and middleincome countries than in higher-income countries (Larsson and Fick, 2009). Larsson and Fick (2009) showed that of 242 pharmaceuticals on the Swedish market, about 123 (51%) products originated from manufacturers located in India. And of these, 74 (31%) were produced in the highly industrial region near Hyderabad, where large amounts of pharmaceutical waste are being dumped into river systems following inefficient wastewater treatment or are being deposited inappropriately in landfills where they could leak into aquifers (Larsson et al., 2007; Larsson, 2010).

More education in the veterinary sector

Besides providing more information for physicians, prescribers, and customers, the farmers involved in raising livestock animals and aquaculture farming in low- and middle-income countries should be better educated about using veterinary medicines as well. This may be of especially high relevance for growing markets like the raising of fish, crustaceans, and mollusks. From 1950 to 2008, fish production through aquaculture increased from less than 1 million tonne to 52.5 million tonne. This represents around 37% of the estimated annual global fish production of 142.3 million tonne (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2010). The production of fish is dominated by the Asian region. Of the 52.5 million tonne of fish produced through aquaculture, 88.8% were produced in Asia (China accounts for 62.3%), while 4.5% was produced in Europe, 3.3% in Latin America, and 1.8% in Africa. Farmers need to be taught about the consequences to the environment that result from using large amounts of pharmaceuticals and how they can reduce the volume of veterinary pharmaceuticals used for animal treatment and growth promotion. They should also be shown that there are alternative therapies available for treating animal diseases and for avoiding parasitic or bacterial infestations of animals. For instance, Romero et al. (2012) introduced some alternative therapies. These included using probiotic microorganisms, essential oils containing antimicrobial components, or bacteriophages as ways of preventing infections by pathogens. One recent headline indicates that more education and stronger legislation and controls are desperately needed in low- and middle-income countries, especially China. There, thousands of dead ducks and the carcasses of around 16,000 pigs were found floating in the Jiapingtang River, which supplies drinking water to the megacity Shanghai. From local reports, it is suspected that the dead animals may have originated from animal husbandries in neighboring Zhejiang province (BBC, 2013; Richard, 2013). The animals probably died of bacterial or viral infections and afterwards they were disposed of inappropriately in the river. Given the large number of dead animals, the question of whether the livestock in this region is kept under tolerable and environmentallyfriendly conditions can be raised.

Mining Industry Pollutants

Chemical characteristics and their potential risks

Introduction

The continuous growth of population and increased global consumption of minerals and metals as a result of raised standards of living are increasing the demand for raw material and ores. This is particularly so for the metals and resources used in the high-technology industries, even in low- and middle-income countries (Öko-Institut e.V., 2007; International Council on Mining & Metals, 2012). Given the development of newer and better high-technology products, a broader range of elements are now used. For instance, in the semiconductor industry, 12 elements were used in 1980. By the 21st century, the number of elements used in this sector had increased to 60 (see Appendix Figure 5). This has resulted in an additional rise in demand as well as an increase in pressure on resources (Theis, 2007). Data about the acquisition of primary minerals and metals from mining are difficult to come by. However, in the USA alone, about 85.4 million tonne of primary metals and 294 million tonne of industrial minerals were mined in 2010 (Matos, 2012). Because of these increased demands for raw material, the interest in resource-rich low- and middle-income countries is increasing.

In general, most of the metals and metalloids are used in the industrial sector (in electronics, construction, and in the production of iron), and in the jewelry industry. Because of the increase in demand, the primary exploitation of these essential ores and minerals will further increase over time, while their natural stocks will decline. For instance, the natural stocks of rare earth elements (yttrium, niobium, neodymium, and scandium), the platinum group elements (platinum and palladium), the metalloid germanium, the transition metals (tungsten, cobalt, and molybdenum), the alkali metal lithium, the alkaline earth metal magnesium, and the metals tin and indium have been severely reduced (vbw, 2011). In contrast, the natural stocks of other metals, such as silver, gold, cadmium, manganese, zinc, and iron, have been less exhausted.

Different mining techniques are available for the primary extraction of metals. There are mainly two approaches – surface mining and underground mining. For surface mining, soil and rocks are blasted out of the subsoil or vegetation is removed to create open pits which lay bare the different ores and minerals. For underground mining, tunnel systems are created to exploit the minerals and ores. In general, open-pit mining is used more frequently (two-thirds of the time) than underground mining, because it is cheaper and less dangerous for the employees to work at the surface rather than in narrow underground shafts (Farrell et al., 2004; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012).

During the mining, processing, and trade of primary minerals and metals there are four steps. These are ore and mineral exploitation, transportation, extraction, and refining. Several impacts of environmental concern are associated with these processes.

Impact of ore exploitation

The processing of mineral ores produces high volumes of waste. As the more high-grade ore deposits are diminished, lower-grade ones are used and even more waste is produced. For instance, the production of 0.3 mg of gold results in 79 tonne of mine waste. The production of 1 tonne of copper results in 110 tonne of tailings (waste ore) and 200 tonne of waste rocks (Farrell et al., 2004). [Note that the exploitation of mining commodities used as energy resources, such as fossil fuels (gas, oil, and coal) and radioactive uranium ore, and their risks to environmental and human health are not discussed in our report. This does not mean that they are less relevant or of less environmental concern: we did not have the resources to focus on these commodities as well.]

Generally for open-pit mining, higher amounts of waste are produced than from underground mines. This is because open-pit mining can be used to obtain lowergrade sediments and rocks from which the mineral can be extracted (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 1995). Open-pit mining is associated with deforestation and the consequent increased erosion of soil. It is also associated with the use of explosives – mixtures of ammonium nitrate and fuel oil, trinitrotoluene, and nitroglycerine – that may have adverse effects on environmental and human health by polluting vulnerable ecosystems (Brüning et al., 1999; Wihardja, 2010; Swenson et al., 2011; Butler, 2012).



Open-pit mining produces higher amounts of waste than underground mining.

Impact of transportation

In general, the exploited material is stockpiled in heaps or dumps to await further processing. To transport the material, trucks, conveyers, and railways are used. Because of that, hydraulic oils, fuels, lubricants (with such constituents as glycol ethers, benzene, ethylbenzene, toluene, and other hydrocarbons), and batteries (with sulfuric acid, lead, antimony, and arsenic) are needed. Some of these products may be released or dumped into the environment as well (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 1995).

Impact of ore extraction

Beneficiation methods are used to extract and enrich the compounds of interest. These methods differ for different metals. Commonly, gravity concentration, milling and floating, heap and dump leaching, and magnetic separation are the beneficiation methods used. Gold, silver, and the platinum group elements are often processed by leaching the heaps with cyanides or by amalgamation. The amalgamation process using mercury is especially of high environmental concern because during this process, large quantities of mercury are reguired and released into the environment. This procedure is widely used in low- and middle-income countries in uncontrolled, small-scale mining operations (Limbong et al., 2003; Farrell et al., 2004; Kippenberg, 2011). For lead, zinc, and copper, milling, flotation, smelting, and leaching with sulfuric or hydrochloric acid are the methods used. Iron is principally extracted by magnetic separation. After extraction, waste rock residues, which may contain toxic extraction chemicals and heavy metals, are disposed of in tailings dams or abandoned as waste rock legacies posing environmental risk (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 1995; International Council on Mining & Metals, 2012). Common chemicals of environmental concern that are used for the processing and extraction of ores and minerals are: hydrochloric acids, sulfuric acid, potassium cyanide and cyanide acids, soda ash, sulfur dioxide, coal tar, and aluminum and zinc sulfates. The quantities of these chemicals used and their risks to human and environmental health are even harder to assess than those of the mineral and metals (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 1995). Even though these pollutants are of environmental concern, in this chapter we focus more on the most hazardous heavy metals, metalloids, and minerals that are released accidentally as side products and that pose risks to the environment.

Impact of ore refining

The pre-treated material is freighted to a smelter where impurities are removed under high temperature to produce the pure raw product, which can be traded and used. During the whole metal production cycle, the smelting of ores consumes the most energy and creates high levels of air pollutants, especially if the smelters or refineries are unregulated and if obsolete methods are used (Farrell et al. 2004; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2013).

During the processes involved in the exploitation, transport, extraction, and processing of metals and minerals, large amounts of hazardous heavy metals and minerals are unintentionally released into the environment. The minerals and metals of most concern are asbestos and antimony, arsenic, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, manganese, mercury, and thallium. The products accumulate and remain in the soils next to the mining areas and at the mineral and mining processing facilities (Ayres, 1992; Stoeppler, 1992; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012). In general, the accumulation and distribution of these compounds result from such processes as the leaching of heavy metals from tailings and by acid

Main Issues

The main issues associated with mining activities, which especially hold true for low- and middleincome countries, are that:

- Mining (especially open-pit mining) results in the destruction and deforestation of vulnerable natural environments (Farrell et al., 2004; Swenson et al., 2011).
- In mining processes, very large amounts of hazardous extraction chemicals or contaminated waste rocks are released and disposed of into the environment (Farrell et al., 2004; Liu et al., 2005) or abandoned in the mining sites.

Acid drainage from the mines can also result (Naicker et al., 2003; Johnson and Hallberg, 2005; Lin et al., 2007; Tutu et al., 2008).

 In low- and middle-income countries particularly, the mine employees often work under poor and insecure conditions and they use obsolete and hazardous extraction methods. Often the legislative framework to manage these issues is missing or not well implemented (van Straaten, 2000; Limbong et al., 2003; Smith, 2011; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012).

Gold, silver, and platinum are often processed by leaching the heaps with cyanides or by amalgamation. The amalgamation process using mercury is especially of high environmental concern because large quantities of mercury are required and released into the environment during this process. mine drainage (AMD). Alternatively, these compounds can be distributed as airborne particles and through adsorption onto aerosols as a result of the smelting and industrial processes.

Toxicological potential

In general, it is possible to distinguish between those trace elements that are essential for plant, animal, and human nutrition and those that are not. There are some elements that are required and beneficial for growing, enzymatic processes, and metabolism. A shortage of these essential elements would cause significant deficits in growth, development, metabolic activities, and, conseguently, health. There are other elements for which plants, humans, and other animals have no demonstrated biological requirements, but for which exposure is associated with significant toxic effects. The highest concentration or dose of essential and non-essential metals that does not cause statistically significant adverse effects to the exposed population or biota is referred to as the 'no observed adverse effect level' (NOAEL). However, for both, essential and non-essential metals, a threshold can be reached where a further increase in concentration or dose does adversely affect the health of plants, animals, and humans and can even lead to death (see Figure 18; Goyer, 1997; Adriano, 2001). The lowest concentration level or dose that causes significant effects to living organisms is referred to as the 'low observed adverse effect level' (LOAEL).

Trace metals (and metalloids) such as cobalt, copper, iron, manganese, molybdenum, nickel, selenium, and zinc are essential to plants, humans, and other animals. In contrast, aluminum, antimony, arsenic, beryllium, bismuth, cadmium, gold, lead, mercury, platinum, silver, and tungsten are not essential for plants, humans, and other animals (Adriano, 2001; Luoma and Rainbow, 2008). Furthermore, it is recognized that metals released into the environment pose one of the most serious pollution problems of today (Chandra Sekhar et al., 2003). This problem results from their specific characteristics. For example, they are non-biodegradable and non-thermo-degradable: heavy metal contamination can last for hundreds and even thousands of years if the contaminants are not physically or chemically immobilized or removed (Bohn et al., 1985; Mapanda et al., 2005). The half-live of cadmium in the soil is from 15 to 1100 years. That of copper is between 310 and 1500 years, while that of lead is between 740 and 5900 years. These wide variations in half-lives depend on the soil type and its physicochemical parameters (Alloway and Ayres, 1993). Consequently, heavy metal concentrations can increase unnoticed over time and reach hazardous or even toxic concentrations (Bohn et al., 1985). In the World's Worst Pollution Problems 2012 annual report, the Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross estimated that in low- and middle-income countries the health of about 14 million people is at risk as a result of mining and ore processing activities (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012).

Generally, comprehensive data about most mining pollutants are not available and this is especially so in lowand middle-income countries. It is next to impossible to assess the consumption, occurrence, and fate of, and risks arising from the use of extraction chemicals such as cyanides (used for extracting precious metals) and sulfuric and hydrochloric acids (used for extracting lead, zinc and copper).

In this section about mining pollutants, the minerals and metals of highest environmental concern and for which the most comprehensive data are available were selected. Similar issues and trends hold true for other hazardous mining commodities, but they are not considered in this report. In this report, the selected pollutants



Figure 18: Dose-response relationship for essential (A) and non-essential (B) elements in plants, humans, and other animals (modified from Adriano, 2001)

Metals released into the environment pose one of the most serious pollution problems of today as they are non-biodegradable and non-thermo-degradable and therefore can last for hundreds and even thousands of years if the contaminants are not physically or chemically immobilized or removed. known for being of the highest environmental concern are (Ayres, 1992; Stoeppler, 1992; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012):

- The metals (Group A). These include cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), copper (Cu), lead (Pb), manganese (Mn), mercury (Hg), and thallium (Tl)
- The metalloids (Group B). These include antimony (Sb) and arsenic (As)
- The minerals (Group C). This includes asbestos (ASB)

Since the industrialization of the 19th century and the concomitant increase in mining activities, these metals and minerals have become relevant environmental pollutants. This is especially so for Cd, Cr, Cu, and Pb. Given their recent considerable global increases in production; they are of high environmental concern (Barrientos and Soria, 2013; United States Geological Survey, 2013)

Mining pollutants of environmental concern

Group A: Cadmium (Cd)

Introduction

Cadmium is a transition metal that is found mainly in minerals in combination with zinc (Zn), but also in ores together with Cu and Pb (Godt et al., 2006). The sulfide and carbonate minerals – spahlerite/wurzite, smithsonite, boulangerite, tetrahedrite, stannite, and chalcopyrite (in descending order of importance) – are the main ores of Cd with concentrations of the metal ranging from 15 to 50,000 ppm (Vlasov et al., 1966; Brehler et al., 1969; Schwartz, 2000). On average, the Earth's crust contains 0.11 – 0.5 ppm Cd (Fassett, 1975; Salomons and Förstner, 1984; Giuffré de López Camelo et al., 1997).

Given its resistance to corrosion, the demand for cadmium has increased with a corresponding increase in primary production (Fassett, 1975). Generally, Cd is used in electroplating, pigments, plastic stabilizers, and nickelcadmium batteries (Hutton, 1983). In 1910, the global production of cadmium was 50 tonne, and 17,000 tonne were produced in 1969 (Teworte, 1974). In 2012, world production of Cd stabilized at around 23,000 tonne (United States Geological Survey, 2013). Considerable amounts of Cd are released into the environment as a byproduct of mining production. This is especially the case in the exploitation of Zn and Pb ore fields (Hutton, 1983; Sanità di Toppi and Gabbrielli, 1999; Benavides et al., 2005). Processes like AMD at orphan mining sites and the leaching of heavy metals into the groundwater and surrounding soils from abandoned waste rock heaps and tailings are further sources from which Cd or other hazardous metals enter into the environment (Farrell et al., 2004; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2011). The primary and secondary production processes of Cd and Zn, such as thermal smelting and electrolytic extraction, result in the emission of Cd aerosol particles. These precipitate in soils and surface waters near the production facilities, particularly if no aerosol filtering systems are used, obsolete techniques are applied, and insufficient controls are in place. This can be assumed to be the case in several regions in low- and middle-income countries (Díaz-Barriga et al., 1993; Razo et al., 2004). Additional Cd sources apart from mining are the burning of fossil fuels (mainly coal), emissions at power stations, heating systems, metal working industries, urban traffic, and cement and steel production. Contamination with Cd also occurs as a result of the emission or inappropriate disposal of solid wastes or waste incineration. Furthermore, phosphate rocks, used for the production of fertilizer, can contain traces of cadmium and these act as additional Cd sources into the environment (Bertine and Goldberg, 1971; Hutton and Symon, 1986; Jensen and Bro-Rasmussen, 1992; Sanità di Toppi and Gabbrielli, 1999; Godt et al., 2006).

Environmental behavior and occurrence

Cadmium has a relatively high water solubility (Fassett, 1975; Lockwood, 1976; Benavides et al., 2005). This depends on several factors. One of the main factors influencing the solubility in water is pH. At lower pHs, around and below 8, Cd becomes more soluble in water and occurs mainly as Cd²⁺ ions. At higher pHs, Cd has the affinity to precipitate as the predominant Cd salt, CdCO₃, or it forms complexes with other ligands. With increasing salinity, the predominant Cd species are chloro-complexes with CdCl⁺ at lower salinities and CdCl² at higher salinities (Turner et al., 1981; Comans and van Dijk, 1988). Cd is one of the metals of highest human and environmental concern, because of its relatively high water solubility, its mobility and its toxic effects even at very low concentrations (Benavides et al., 2005).

The human uptake of Cd happens mainly through inhalation of Cd-bound airborne particles from burning pro-

Considerable amounts of Cd are released into the environment as a byproduct of mining production. This is especially the case in the exploitation of Zn and Pb ore fields.

Cd is one of the metals of highest human and environmental concern, because of its relatively high water solubility, its mobility and its toxic effects even at very low concentrations. cesses, smoking, and from ingesting contaminated food and water (Godt et al., 2006).

Additionally, it has been shown that plants have an affinity to take up Cd at high rates and that it accumulates in the roots and shoots. This uptake and accumulation process is dependent on the type of soil, the pH, and the nutrient content of the soil. Soils, plants, and drinking water aquifers close to mining sites, smelters, and industrial districts can register higher levels of Cd or other hazardous metals (Benavides et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2006).

In high-income countries (HICs) like Australia, New Zealand, Denmark, Sweden, and the USA, natural mean concentrations ranging from 0.13 to 0.71 μ g Cd/g have been measured in agricultural soils (McDowell et al., 2013). A mean dissolved Cd concentration of 0.02 μ g/L was measured in two French rivers (Deycard et al., 2014).

In low- and middle-income countries, such as southern China, particularly in the Wu Jiand River basin where untreated mining wastewater is used for irrigation, high mean Cd concentrations of 13.59 µg/g dry weight in paddy soils and 8.21 µg/g dry weight in the roots of rice plants have been found (Yang et al., 2006). In this region, it is estimated that a 60 kg adult ingests about 132 μ g of Cd per day. This exceeds the acceptable daily intake (ADI) of 70 µg of Cd (for an average adult weighing 70 kg). This figure of 70 µg/day is obtained from the provisional tolerable weekly intake (PTWI) of 7 $\mu\text{g/kg}$ for a 70 kg adult (Food and Agriculture Organization and World Health Organization, 2003). In soils at mining sites in Zacatecas State, Mexico, elevated Cd concentrations of from 11 to 47 µg/g of air-dried soil were found (Carrillo González and González-Chávez, 2006).

Toxicity

As previously mentioned, the ADI of Cd is 70 μ g. The US Environmental Protection Agency's low maximum contaminant level (MCL) is 5 μ g Cd/L (Table 5). This is the level that should not be exceeded in drinking water to guarantee public health. These figures indicate the high toxicity of Cd (Food and Agriculture Organization and World Health Organization, 2003; United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015c). Furthermore, Cd is not an essential element for plants, humans, and other animals (Adriano, 2001; Luoma and Rainbow, 2008). The uptake of Cd-oxides by inhaling tobacco smoke and breathing in occupational pollution causes acute respiratory distress syndromes and pulmonary edema. Long-term exposure leads to renal dysfunction, anemia,

osteoporosis, and bone fractures (Friberg et al., 1985; Barbee Jr and Prince, 1999; Godt et al., 2006). In the human body, the kidney is the main target for bioaccumulation. There, the half-life of Cd is about 10 years (Orlowski and Piotrowski, 2003; Godt et al., 2006). In the kidney, chronic uptake leads to tubulus cell necrosis. The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) classifies Cd as a Group I carcinogen for humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 1993). From mammalian in vitro experiments, there is evidence that exposure to cadmium salts promotes micronuclei and chromosomal aberrations and DNA strand breaks, and that the salts have a weakly mutagenic potential (Waalkes, 2003). In addition, although cadmium is not redox-active, there is evidence that exposure to Cd enhances the induction of oxidative stress (Shaikh et al., 1999; Ercal et al., 2001) and promotes the inhibition of several DNA-repair mechanisms (Hartwig and Schwerdtle, 2002). In short, Cd reacts with a wide variety of biomolecules, such as DNA, proteins, and membranes, with visible effects (Bertin and Averbeck, 2006). Given its toxicity, in Germany, the acceptable concentration of Cd in the blood of workers is not allowed to exceed 15 µg/L (Godt et al., 2006). In rat glioma cells an EC_{50} (24 hour) of 0.7 $\mu\text{mol/L}$ of Cd has been identified.

Besides its toxic effects on mammals, Cd has negative effects on plant health and development. Among other adverse effects, it reduces the adsorption and transport of nitrates by inhibiting the nitrate reductase activity (Hernandez et al., 1996). It inhibits ATPase activity (Fodor et al., 1995), and disturbs chlorophyll biosynthesis (Stobart et al., 1985). The most visible symptoms of cadmium intoxication in plants are stunting leaf rolls and chlorosis (Das et al., 1997; Benavides et al., 2005).

From an environmental toxicological point of view, 24 hour EC₅₀ values of between 180 μ g/L (*Paramecium caudatum*) and 2650 μ g/L (*Euplotes patella*) have been determined for these different ciliate species (Madoni et al., 1992). The reproduction of the water snail *Potamopyrgus antipodarum* was significantly affected at test concentrations of 25 μ g Cd/L after exposure for 28 days (Sieratowicz et al., 2011). From an environmental toxicological point of view, even chronic concentrations of 0.08 to 0.25 μ g/L of dissolved Cd can affect the health of aquatic organisms (Table 5; European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2008).

Besides its toxic effects on mammals, Cd has negative effects on plant health and development.

Group A: Chromium (Cr)

Introduction

Chromium (Cr) is a transition metal and commercially mined as chromite ($FeCr_2O_4$). It occurs relatively frequently in nature. Hence, its average concentration in the Earth's crust is about 100 ppm (Salomons and Förstner, 1984; Barnhart, 1997).

Given its metallurgical properties Cr is used in alloys. For example, the addition of chromium during steel production helps to produce stainless steel which has corrosion and oxidation resistance characteristics. Furthermore, given its resistance to heat, it is used in refractory furnaces and foundry sands. In addition, Cr is used as a pigment for textile dyes, paints, inks, and plastics and in chemicals for leather tanning and preserving wood (Barnhart, 1997; Johnson et al., 2006; Straif et al., 2009; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2011). It is contained in the raw material used for cement production and as a trace element in phosphorus fertilizers. (Giuffré de López Camelo et al., 1997). Thus chromium has a wide range of applications, which explains why it is one of the most widely used metals (Barnhart, 1997). In 2012, worldwide mining production was about 24 million tonne (United States Geological Survey, 2013).

Chromium is released into the environment during mining activities, its extraction and smelting, the burning of fossil fuels (especially coal), and industrial activities (steel production, metal alloy production, the textile industry, and tanneries). It is in the waste rocks, slag, and solid wastes of mining processes and in the wastes of refineries and metal and e-waste recycling facilities (Mukherjee, 1998; Johnson et al., 2006; Li et al., 2008c; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2011).

Environmental behavior and occurrence

Under environmental conditions, the most stable oxidation states of chromium are Cr(III) and Cr(VI). In aquatic systems, trivalent Cr is more likely to be precipitated as Cr(OH)₃, especially at pHs between 6 and 12. Outside these conditions, hexavalent Cr has a much higher water solubility and is, therefore, more transportable in water (Rai et al., 1989; Loyaux-Lawniczak et al., 2001). In the environment, Cr(III) is oxidized mainly by manganese oxides to the more hazardous Cr(VI). Hexavalent Cr is reduced to trivalent Cr by Fe(II), by mineral sulfides containing Fe(II), and by organic matter (Schroeder and Lee, 1975; Rai et al., 1989; Deng et al., 1996; Peterson et al., 1997; Loyaux-Lawniczak et al., 2001). In general, the hexavalent oxidation state of Cr is more stable in an oxidizing alkaline environment whereas trivalent Cr is more stable under reducing acidic conditions (Godgul and Sahu, 1995).

The natural levels of Cr in the surface soils of industrial countries, such as Denmark, Germany, Japan, USA, and Canada, range from 28 to 50 ppm dry weight (Kabata-Pendias and Pendias, 2001). In most of the drinking water sources in California, Cr(VI) concentrations ranged from 5 to 50 μ g/L (Pacific Gas and Electric Company Groundwater Remediation Program, 2011).

Large amounts of heavy metals, such as Cr, continuously enter the environment from mining and industrial estates. The ambient air in western India contained chromium concentrations ranging from 0.016 to 0.089 μ g Cr/m³, and drinking water samples contained from 4 to 95 μ g Cr/L (Sathawara et al., 2004). In a mining area in southern Togo, elevated levels of Cr between 182 and 1029 ppm were measured (Gnandi and Tobschall, 2002).

Toxicity

The chemical and biochemical reactivity, the toxicity, and the mobility of chromium as Cr(III) and as Cr(VI) are drastically different (Kotaś and Stasicka, 2000; Loyaux-Lawniczak et al., 2001). Cr(III) is an essential metal for animals and humans, but not for plants. For instance, it is crucial for the control of glucose and the lipid metabolism in mammals (Anderson, 1989). In contrast, Cr(VI) provokes several forms of cancer as a consequence of DNA damage and oxidative stress (Norseth, 1981; Gibb et al., 2000; Li et al., 2008c; Straif et al., 2009). According to the US EPA, the MCL of Cr in drinking water is 100 μ g/L (Table 5) although Cr(III) is considered essential for animals and humans (Adriano, 2001). According to the IARC, hexavalent Cr is classified as a Group 1 carcinogen for humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012d). Between 1990 and 1993 in the EU alone, about 800,000 workers were estimated to have been exposed to Cr(VI) (Kauppinen et al., 2000). The Blacksmith Institute estimated that in their area of operation, 5.5 million people located in low- and middle-income countries are at risk from exposure to chromium alone (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2011). The main routes for hexavalent Cruptake are through the inhalation of dust, mists, and fumes while working in the ore, metal, textile, and dye processing sectors. Cr(VI) is also absorbed through the skin. Smoking cigarettes is a significant source of Cr(VI) as well (Straif et al., 2009). Occupational exposure to Cr(VI) in the long term can lead to perforation of the nasal septum, asthma, bronchial inflammations, lung cancer, and inflammations of the larynx and liver. Skin contact results

Chromium is in the waste rocks, slag, and solid wastes of mining processes and in the wastes of refineries and metal and ewaste recycling facilities.

The main routes for hexavalent Cr uptake are through the inhalation of dust, mists, and fumes while working in the ore, metal, textile, and dye processing sectors.
in allergies, dermatitis, dermal necrosis, and dermal corrosion (Lee et al., 1989; Straif et al., 2009; Bedi et al., 2013).

From an environmental toxicological perspective, the acute (96 hour) $\mathrm{LC}_{\mathrm{50}}$ of hexavalent chromium of 41.75 mg/L for the freshwater fish Channa punctatus was investigated. Abnormal behavior, like erratic swimming and loss of equilibrium, and histopathological changes in gills and liver have been observed from exposure to 20 mg/L Cr(VI) (Mishra and Mohanty, 2008). Exposure to Cr(VI) causes adverse effects on plant growth and development. For higher plants, concentrations of about 100 µmol/kg dry weight of hexavalent Cr showed toxic effects (Davies Jr et al., 2002). For instance, Cr(VI) reduces the germination of seeds (Rout et al., 2000; Zeid, 2001). Hexavalent Cr hinders the uptake of nutrients and essential metals, such as nitrates, phosphorus, Fe, Mg, and potassium (Turner and Rust, 1971; Adriano, 2001). Additionally, it inhibits the growth of roots (Prasad et al., 2001), stems (Rout et al., 1997), and foliage (Sharma and Sharma, 1993). Furthermore, inhibition of photosynthesis and ATPase activity can be caused after exposure to Cr(VI) (Zaccheo et al., 1982; Vajpayee et al., 1999). For Cr(III) the chronic environmental quality standard (AA-EQS) is 4.7 µg/L and for Cr(VI) it is 3.4 µg/L (Table 5; UK Technical Advisory Group on the Water Framework Directive, 2008). Therefore, to guarantee the health of water organisms within an aquatic system, these concentrations should not be exceeded in the long term.

Group A: Copper (Cu)

Introduction

The transition metal copper (Cu) can be found as native copper and in the form of sulfides (chalcopyrite, bornite, and chalcocite), oxides (cuprit and tenovite), hydroxyl carbonates (malachite and azurite), and silicates (chrysocolla; Kruesi and Frahm, 1982). In the Earth's crust it occurs at an average concentration of 50–55 ppm (Taylor, 1964; Salomons and Förstner, 1984).

Copper has a wide range of uses. It has applications as a construction and building material, being used for water pipes, drain pipes, and plumbing fixtures primarily because of its light weight, its waterproofness, its flexibility, and its natural microbial resistance (Lehtola et al., 2004). Nowadays, plastic water pipes are frequently substituted for copper ones (United States Geological Survey, 2013). Because of the high electrical conductivity of copper even at low temperatures, it is used in the electronics industry in wires and electronic devices (Berman and MacDonald, 1952), and in transport equipment and vehicles (Berman and MacDonald, 1952; Kapur and Graedel, 2006). In addition, it is used as a pigment in ink and in the printing industry (Babler, 1998). It is used also in the metal industry to produce the alloys brass and bronze (Duke, 1944). Copper compounds are applied as wood preservatives (Hingston et al., 2001) and to purify water. Given its properties as an algaecide, fungicide, nematocide, and molluscicide, Cu is used as an antibacterial and antifouling agent (Fraser et al., 1974; Cooney and Tang, 1999; Borkow and Gabbay, 2005; Gabbay et al., 2006). Globally, annual copper production has increased immensely. In 1968, 5.8 million tonne (Förstner and Wittmann, 1979) of Cu was produced, increasing to 8.3 million tonne in 1985 (Bowen, 1985). By 2012, world mining production of copper reached 17 million tonne (United States Geological Survey, 2013).

Copper is introduced into the environment in a large number of ways. Mining and metal processing activities, such as smelters and refineries, brass mills, and bronze production are some such sources. Other sources include the cement industry, its use as an aquatic pesticide against fungi, bacteria, and algae (McKnight et al., 1983; Richardson, 1997), and the disposals of e-waste and construction materials (Flemming and Trevors, 1989).

Environmental behavior and occurrence

Cu has three oxidation states, Cu(0), Cu(I), and Cu(II) (Flemming and Trevors, 1989). At pH values up to 6, Cu(II) occurs in aquatic systems as dissolved Cu²⁺ ions. With increasing pH, Cu(II) species, such as Cu₂(OH)₂²⁺, CuOH+, and CuCO3 are predominant (Sillén and Martell, 1964; Sylva, 1976; Luoma and Rainbow, 2008). Cu(II) is a potent complexing agent and in the positive charged form it has a high tendency towards hydrolysis (Flemming and Trevors, 1989). The Cu levels in solution are regulated by different processes: complexation to inorganic (more predominant in seawater than in freshwater; Leckie and Davis, 1979; Flemming and Trevors, 1989) or organic ligands (in fresh and seawater), precipitation as oxides, hydroxyl carbonates, silicates, and sulfide minerals (Sylva, 1976; Elder and Horne, 1978; Kruesi and Frahm, 1982; Davis, 1984; Coale and Bruland, 1988), and adsorption to biota and organic particles (Ramamoorthy and Kushner, 1975; Ramamoorthy and Rust, 1978; Kuo and Baker, 1980). These processes control the presence of the different Cu species, increase or decrease their mobility within aquifers, and affect their availability, uptake, and further adsorption to biota (Flemming and Trevors, 1989). Because of these interactions, Cu is distributed among three different phases – the aqueous phase (as free ionic and water soluble complexes; Sylva, 1976), the solid phase (as particles, colloids, soils and sediments), and the biological phase (adsorbed and absorbed in biota; Flemming and Trevors, 1989; Luoma and Rainbow, 2008).

Natural Cu concentrations in freshwater range from 0.03 to 5 μ g/L (Hodson et al., 1979; Bowen, 1985; Luoma and Rainbow, 2008). In uncontaminated soils, Cu concentrations between 16 and 25 μ g/g have been found (Hornberger et al., 2000).

An example of environmental pollution occurs in northern Chile, near the city Chañaral. Here, extensive copper mining had been conducted for more than 60 years. Untreated tailings water was disposed of directly into the sea causing drastic beach degradation and a decrease in biodiversity with a loss of invertebrates and algal species (Castilla, 1996; Medina et al., 2005). Years after this exposure, elevated Cu concentrations of between 34 and 50 μ g/L could be measured in the water samples of this coastal region (Castilla, 1996; Medina et al., 2005). Elevated Cu concentrations of between 12 and 43 μ g/g were measured in sediments of the River Yamuna in India (Jain, 2004). This contamination is more related to the activities of the textile and printing industries and to the disposal of city waste than to the mining industry (Jain, 2004).

Toxicity

Although Cu is essential for several organisms, low concentrations of Cu can have harmful effects on the ecosystem by affecting bacteria, algae, fungi, plants, fish, and invertebrates, particularly in aquatic systems. The toxicity of Cu is relatively low for mammals and humans because the MCL of Cu in drinking water is 1.3 mg/L. The MCL of the more toxic cadmium is much lower at 5 µg/L (Table 5; United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015c). Although copper is an essential human nutrient, concentrations above the MCL cause gastrointestinal upsets such as diarrhea, abdominal cramps, and nausea, especially in children. These symptoms are less life-threatening than those of previously mentioned metals (Knobeloch et al., 1994). As there is no evidence that Cu can promote the formation of cancer, it is not classified by the IARC as carcinogenic to humans. Concentrations of 50 to 250 mg/kg copper sulfate are used as a food additive in the diet of pigs to promote growth. These animals can tolerate quite high levels of Cu in their diets (López Alonso et al., 2000). In addition, Cu is essential for plants and for that reason it is added to several fertilizers (Adriano, 2001; Xiaorong et al., 2007).

The environmental toxicological perspective is different. Even though Cu is essential for several organisms, low concentrations of Cu can have harmful effects on the ecosystem by affecting bacteria, algae, fungi, plants, fish, and invertebrates, particularly in aquatic systems (Castilla, 1996; Erickson et al., 1996; Santore et al., 2001; Li et al., 2008b; Rofkar et al., 2014). Several investigations and the reviews of Flemming and Trevors have shown that cupric copper (Cu2+) in particular, and the CuOH+ and [Cu₂(OH)₂]²⁺ complex ions are toxic Cu species (Pagenkopf, 1983; Flemming and Trevors, 1989; United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2008). They can interact negatively with essential proteins, enzymes, and nucleic acids at the cell wall, cell membrane, and within such microorganisms as algae, fungi, and bacteria. In addition, exposure to Cu can affect the regeneration of essential inorganic nutrients, inhibit growth and cell division, and inhibit photosynthesis, particularly for algae, cyanobacteria, and aquatic plants. This can have devastating effects on aquatic ecosystems since microorganisms are important primary decomposers of hazardous compounds that are hostile to life. These microorganisms are important also for their ability to regenerate inorganic nutrients; they are necessary primary producers of essential nutrients and oxygen (McBrien and Hassall, 1967; Swift et al., 1979; Kobayashi and Rittmann, 1982; Stauber and Florence, 1987; Flemming and Trevors, 1989; Chaudhry and Chapalamadugu, 1991; Rofkar et al., 2014). Even a single exposure to 10 µg Cu/L leads to a significant, though reversible, reduction in algal biomass and chlorophyll, with negative consequences for photosynthesis. These impacts were not reversible at a test concentration of 40 µg Cu/L (Elder and Horne, 1978; Flemming and Trevors, 1989). Furthermore, a Cu(SO)₄ concentration of 10 μ g/L results in a significant decrease in the number of viable bacteria (Effler et al., 1980). The amphipod Hyalella azteca showed a LC₅₀ of 31 μ g/L (Ankley et al., 1993). In addition, for juvenile salmon weighing between 200 mg and 340 mg, the LC₅₀ values (24 hour) for concentrations ranging from 3.59 to 29.9 µg/L were investigated. Comparable LC_{50} values (24 hours) from 22.8 to 115.7 $\mu g/L$ were determined for juvenile rainbow trout weighing 600 mg (Buhl and Hamilton, 1990). In addition, a fish toxicity test was conducted with juvenile white sturgeon at two life stages, 8 days post hatch and 40 days post hatch. The median LC₅₀ values ranged from 9 to 25 µg Cu/L (Vardy et al., 2014). These LC_{50} values emphasize that fish are highly susceptible to Cu. In fish and other aquatic vertebrates, copper binds to the gill membranes and can cause damage to and interfere with osmoregulatory processes (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2008). From an environmental toxicological point of view, a chronic environmental quality standard (AA-EQS) of 1µg Cu/L is recommended (Table 5; UK Technical UK Technical Advisory Group on the Water Framework Directive, 2012).

Group A: Lead (Pb)

Introduction

The main host mineral of lead is galena (PbS), which contains about 86.6% lead. Other relevant minerals containing lead are cerussite (PbCO₃) and anglesite (PbSO₄) (Shukla and Leland, 1973). Often, Pb is found in ores together with Ag (silver), Zn, and Cu (Commonwealth of Australia, 2015). The average concentration of Pb in the Earth's crust ranges from 13 to 26 ppm. Although this amount is relatively low, Pb is not considered to be a rare element because it is easily extracted from ore and easily refined (Zimdahl et al., 1973; Salomons and Förstner, 1984; World Health Organization, 2011; Thomas Jefferson National Accelerator Facility, 2014).

With its high density, malleability, resistance to corrosion (though it does tarnish when exposed to air), low melting point, ease of fabrication, resistance to acid, and its photovoltaic activities, Pb has a wide variety of applications. In ancient times, it was used for making water pipelines, as a building material, and in glazes on ceramics. It was used for color pigments in paints and cosmetics, for armor, and as weights for fishing nets (Commonwealth of Australia, 2015; United States Geological Survey, 2011). Nowadays, Pb is used mostly in lead-acid batteries for vehicles and in industrial-type batteries (Bode, 1977; World Health Organization, 2011; United States Geological Survey, 2013; Commonwealth of Australia, 2015). In addition, Pb and Pb compounds are used for ammunition, to cover cables, in alloys, as additives in bronze and brass production, in the glass and ceramic industry, and in the construction material in the form of sheet lead. Furthermore, it is a shield for x-rays and is used as a noise control material. Lead compounds are employed as coatings for the paper used in photothermography, as stabilizers in plastic, and as vulcanizing agents in rubber and plastics. A few centuries ago it was used in paints and in plumbing material; now less toxic substitutes are used (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2007b; National Toxicology Program, 2014b; World Health Organization, 2011). Organic lead compounds, like tetramethyllead and tetraethyllead, were used extensively in gasoline as anti-knocking agents from 1992 until the end of the 19th century, when the user of organic Pb compounds was banned. The addition of organic Pb compounds to gasoline resulted in a significant global increase in Pb emissions from car exhaust fumes into the environment (Nriagu, 1990b; von Storch et al., 2003). In low- and middle-income countries, especially in Africa, the enforcement of the ban on organic lead compounds as an anti-knocking agent was delayed. However now, the use of lead compounds in gasoline has been reduced worldwide (United Nations Environment Programme, 1998b; Phiri, 2006). To meet the constantly growing demand for Pb, 5.2 million tonne of Pb were extracted by mining in 2012. Compared to 2011, the production of lead worldwide increased by nearly 10% (United States Geological Survey, 2013).

Today, the main entry pathways for lead into the environment are waste effluents and aerosols that are released into the environment from lead recycling processes, from lead-acid batteries, and the recycling of other ewaste and scrap. Smelters, foundries, and other industrial processes, such as the production of plastic and rubber, the burning of coal (Tang et al., 2008), weapon and ammunition production, and ceramic and glass manufacturing, can emit high amounts of Pb into the environment as well. This is especially the case if no appropriate filter systems are used during the heating and smelting processes. Other significant sources of Pb are mining activities and the extraction of Pb, Ag, Zn, and Cu ores (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2007b).

Environmental behavior and occurrence

Pb occurs rarely in its elemental state, Pb(0). It is more likely to be present in its bivalent form, Pb(II) (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2007b). In general, lead accumulates in plants, algae, invertebrates, and vertebrates (Bowen, 1966; Cox and Rains, 1972; Spehar et al., 1978; Freeman et al., 1992; Namihira et al., 1993; Adriano, 2001; Luoma and Rainbow, 2008). The distribution of lead and other metals and transition metals in the matrices of the environment and its uptake by biota depend on several factors. These include pH, redox potential, concentration of chelating agents, soil composition, chemical composition of the metallic compound, and the hardness of the water (Adriano, 2001). In general, low pH and low redox potential increase the mobility of Pb in water, and its solubility depends on the chemical composition as well (Adriano, 2001). In soils with low pH (from 3 to 5), PbO showed the highest solubility in water; PbCO₃ and PbSO₄ are less soluble (in descending order of solubility). At pH 7, PbSO₄ is the most soluble Pb compound and PbO and PbCO₃ become less water soluble (in descending order of solubility; Cao et al., 2008). This solubility promotes the leaching of Pb from tailings and soils. Acid mine drainage contributes as well (Vymazal, 1990). Lead compounds, such as lead acetate, lead nitrate, and lead chloride are soluble or miscible with water. Lead arsenate, lead acids, halogenated lead compounds, lead thiocyanates, lead

phosphates, and lead sulfates are Pb compounds with lower solubilities (National Toxicology Program 2014b).

The natural level of lead in freshwater is 3 μ g/L and in freshwater sediments it is 40 μ g/g. Soils have a background content of about 10 ppm (Vymazal, 1990).

Elevated Pb concentrations of environmental concern, ranging from 71 to 2190 ppm in dry stream sediments have been found at the recent mining site of Villa de la Paz-Matehuala, Mexico (Razo et al., 2004). Lin et al. (2007) investigated the chemical dynamics and environmental toxicity of a river, located in a tributary basin area of the Pearl River in China, affected by AMD. In this instance, the AMD was induced by a flood event which occurs periodically every 100 years. In floodwater samples near the Dabaoshan mine, Pb concentrations of between 0.7 and 7.2 mg/L were measured 3.5 km from the point source. Elevated Pb concentrations up to 0.2 mg/L were measured 16 km from the point source (Lin et al., 2007). In soil samples at the Chenzhou lead/zinc mine, Pb concentrations of up to 1061.54 mg/kg were measured (Liu et al., 2005). In this region, the Pb concentrations were 1.91 ppm in maize, 4.58 ppm in capsicum, and 9.00 ppm in taro. Elevated Pb concentrations of 1.399 mg/L were measured in the Pilcomayo River in Argentina and levels of 2.201 mg/L were found in the Tarapaya River in Bolivia. This contamination originates from the extensive mining in these areas (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2006b). The results show that although most of the studies about the consequences of AMD and the distribution of heavy metals from tailings were conducted in higher-income countries (USA, Canada, and Europe), considerable concentrations of hazardous compounds and metals from mining are found in low- and middleincome countries as well. This is especially the case where obsolete techniques are used for ore extraction and metal processing and if wastes, tailings, and the closing of mines are poorly managed.

Toxicity

Occupational exposure, and the exposure of humans and other animals, to industrial estates and metalworking industries, lead or other metals, remain a seriously disputed issue. This is particularly so in low- and middleincome countries and even in HICs (Staudinger and Roth, 1998; Tong et al., 2000). The IARC lists inorganic Pb compounds in Group 2A as probable human carcinogens. Organic lead compounds were classified in Group 3 as not being carcinogenic to humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2006b). This categorization shows that inorganic Pb compounds have a higher toxicity than organic ones. According to the US EPA, the MCL for drinking water is about 0.015 mg/L (Table 5). The low value of this limit indicates that an exposure to lead compounds in the long term has adverse effects on human health. Children and pregnant women seem to be most susceptible (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015c; World Health Organization, 2011). Also, Pb is not beneficial to plants, animals, and humans (Adriano, 2001). Pb can enter the blood stream from the alveoli by inhaling lead dust or fumes and it can enter the intestine by ingesting contaminated food and water. Lead is discharged from the body in urine and feces (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2007b; World Health Organization, 2011). The circulation of the blood distributes the Pb throughout the whole body (Ong and Lee, 1980; World Health Organization, 2011). Chronic exposure to higher concentrations of Pb, mainly from occupational exposure or living close to smelters, metal processing and recycling industries, lead-acid battery manufactories, and mining areas, may result in an accumulation of Pb in the liver, lungs, spleen, kidneys, bone marrow, bones, teeth, and even the brain (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2007b). According to several investigations, Pb is suspected to cause the formation of several forms of cancer, especially in the lungs, kidney, and brain, though there are converse results as well (Steenland and Boffetta, 2000; World Health Organization, 2011). Hartwig (1994) showed there is evidence that exposure to Pb in vitro can enhance the mutagenicity of other mutagens by inhibiting the repair of DNA. In addition, increased chromosome aberrations or sister chromatid exchanges were found in exposed workers (Mäki-Paakkanen et al., 1981). Lead has adverse neurological effects on humans and other mammals. Significant behavioral and cognitive deficits, such as malfunctions in activity, adaptability, attention, reduced memory and learning ability, up to irreparable mental retardation, are observed after continuous exposure to Pb (Horn Rummo et al., 1979; Gilbert and Rice, 1987; Schwartz and Otto, 1987). WHO recommends not exceeding an ADI of 250 μg for a 70 kg adult. Globally, the limit for drinking water should not exceed 10 µg/L and that for air should not exceed 0.5 µg/m³ (World Health Organization, 2010a). Keeping the level of lead in the blood below between 10 and 20 µg/100 ml would prevent lead poisoning or problems in neuropsychological development, especially for children (United Nations Environment Programme, 1998a; Gidlow, 2004).

From an environmental toxicological point of view, Pb affects the health of vertebrates and primary producers as well. For instance, rainbow trout were significantly affected after exposure to dissolved lead. In toxicity tests

Chronic exposure to higher concentrations of Pb, mainly from occupational exposure or living close to smelters, metal processing and recycling industries, lead-acid battery manufactories, and mining areas, may result in an accumulation of Pb in the liver, lungs, spleen, kidneys, bone marrow, bones, teeth, and even the brain. in hard and soft water, they showed an LC_{50} (96 hour) ranging from 1.17 to 1.47 mg/L. In addition, chronic exposure (6–7 month) to 0.064 mg/L Pb enhanced the formation of physical abnormalities in fingerling rainbow trout (83 mm length). At this concentration, the tail of the tested rainbow trout turned black. A month later, the trout exhibited spinal curvature as a result of dorsal-ventral spinal flexures (lordosis), and/or bi-lateral spinal flexures, described as scoliosis and degeneration of the caudal fin. The formation of these abnormalities can be explained as direct or indirect influences on the central nervous system or biochemical inhibition in the metabolism (Davies et al., 1976).

Plants are capable of taking up and accumulating Pb as well (Deng et al., 2004; Rotkittikhun et al., 2006). In general, the roots are able to accumulate the most Pb, followed by the leaves, stem, inflorescence, and seeds, in descending order. This order can differ between individual plant species (Antosiewicz, 1992). Lead uptake can lead to several adverse effects, such as inhibition of enzymatic activities and photosynthesis, disturbance of the uptake of essential minerals and nutrients, and impairment of membrane permeability. These problems lead to inhibition of root growth, stunted growth of the plant in general, and even chlorosis (Burton et al., 1984; Sharma and Dubey, 2005). For instance, after a 20 day exposure of rice seedlings to 103.6 and 207.2 mg Pb(NO₃)₂/L, root growth was inhibited by 22 to 42% and shoot growth was reduced by 25% compared to a control without exposure to Pb (Verma and Dubey, 2003). For the algae (diatom) Phaeodactylum tricornutum, short-term exposure to 7.5 mg Pb/L caused complete inhibition of photosynthesis (Woolery and Lewin, 1976). The chlorophyte Chlamydomonas reinhardii seemed to be more resistant to exposure to Pb, showing a 47% reduction in growth after exposure for 48 hours to 0.207 mg Pb/L (Irmer, 1985). According to the estimated chronic environmental quality standard, a concentration above 0.0012 mg/L (Table 5) in the long term can impair the health of aquatic organisms (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2013).

Group A: Manganese (Mn)

Introduction

Manganese appears as a whitish-grey metal, mainly in coexistence with iron (Fe). Because of that, they are similar in their chemical behaviors. It has a melting point around 1255°C and it oxidizes in air and rusts under humid conditions. While it is harder than Fe, it is relatively brittle. Principally, it is deposited as manganese nodules on the ocean floor and the floors of freshwater lakes (Post, 1999). It is distributed and deposited in metamorphic, sedimentary, and igneous rocks in tropical, subtropical, and the warmer temperate zones of the Earth (Post, 1999). The main minerals of manganese are oxides, carbonates, and silicates - pyrolusite (MnO₂), rhodochrosite (MnCO₃), magnetite (MnO₃ * H₂O), hausmannite (Mn₃O₄), braunite (3Mn₂O₃ * MnSiO₃), and rhodonite (MnSiO₃). Manganese minerals are well distributed around the globe and occur frequently, with an average concentration in the Earth's crust of 1000 ppm (Salomons and Förstner, 1984; Adriano, 2001).

Manganese is used mainly as an additive during steel production. As an alloy, together with metals like chromium, aluminum, and zinc, it acts as an anti-corrosive agent during the production of stainless steel and provides strength, toughness, and hardness (Adriano, 2001; International Manganese Institute, 2014). Given its metallurgical properties, it is used in the production of several alloys of steel, aluminum, and copper. Additionally, Mn is used for non-metallurgical purposes as well. For instance, it is used in the production of alkaline batteries, electronic coils, matches and fireworks, welding rods, as a dye in paints, and in the ceramic or glass industry (as a decolorizer or as a pigment). Furthermore, Mn compounds are found in paints, varnishes, and oils as drying agents. They are used as disinfectants, animal food additives, and as bleaching agents in the textile industry and in the tanning of leather. Manganese oxides and Mn chlorides are used in dry cell batteries and as catalysts. Organic Mn compounds (methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl - MMT) are used as an anti-knock agent in fuels as substitutes for methylated Pb compounds, as fungicides (e.g. maneb and mancozeb), and they are contained in contrast agents used in resonance imaging (Adriano, 2001; Santamaria, 2008; United States Geological Survey, 2013). Manganese is the fourth most widely used metal in the world. For instance in 2011, worldwide production of manganese alloys was 17.7 million tonne (International Manganese Institute, 2014).

The uptake of lead can have several adverse effects for plants, leading to inhibition of root growth, stunted growth of the plant in general, and even chlorosis. Manganese is mainly released into the environment from mining activities, manufacturing and metal processing activities, and as an anti-knock agent in fossil fuels. Its toxicity is less pronounced than that of other metals like Pb, Cd, Hg, and Cr (Santamaria, 2008).

Environmental behavior and occurrence

Overexposure to Mn can have an adverse effect on humans and can affect the health of other animals. Once Mn has passed through the blood-brain barrier, it causes neurodegenerative impairment resulting in syndromes comparable to those of idiopathic Parkinson's disease. Manganese can be found in oxidation states I, II, III, IV, VI, VII. Generally, in nature, salts with the oxidation states II, IV, VI, and VII are the most stable. MnO, MnCO₃, and Mn₂O₃, with lower atomicity (II-III), are alkaline and Mn compounds with higher oxidation states are acidic (Adriano, 2001). The oxidized form Mn(II) is very stable in an acidic milieu and MnO₂ is more stable under basic conditions in the presence of oxygen. Divalent Mn is less likely to form complexes with other ligands, whereas Mn(III) can form complexes with phosphorus compounds and with other organic compounds (Adriano, 2001; Santos-Burgoa et al., 2001; Yakushev et al., 2009).

In general, the biogeochemistry of Mn is guite complex, mainly because of its occurrence in several oxidation states and because Mn oxides can occur in crystalline or pseudocrystalline forms. In addition, the oxides are often coexistent with Fe oxides. Iron and Mn hydroxides show amphoteric characteristics, which means that they can act as a base or as an acid by having the tendency to react with both cations and anions. Microbiological activities and physical and chemical factors control the oxidation-reduction reactions of Mn compounds. For plants, the uptake of Mn(II), organic Mn compounds, Mn oxides, and soluble Mn silicates seems to be of highest relevance. Especially at lower pH values, lower redox potentials, and under reducing (anaerobic) conditions, Mn is more soluble and more available for uptake via roots (Boxma and De Groot, 1985; Brookins, 1988; Patrick and Jugsujinda, 1992; Adriano, 2001).

Mn occurs naturally in soils at levels around 1000 ppm (Salomons and Förstner, 1984; Adriano, 2001). However, elevated Mn contamination can be found in water or soil samples in low- and middle-income countries in areas with high levels of mining activity. For instance, investigations in a Mn mining district in central Mexico showed elevated environmental mean concentrations of 45.34 mg Mn/L (maximum, 240.25 mg Mn/L) in river water samples, 119.25 mg Mn/kg (maximum, 264.00 mg Mn/ kg) in soil samples, 39.95 mg Mn/L (maximum, 241.90 mg Mn/L) in well water, and 20.2 mg Mn/ dry kg (maximum, 52.5 mg Mn/ dry kg) in ready to eat food (Santos-Burgoa et al., 2001). In the Lipu manganese mine area in Guangxi, South China, elevated environmental concentrations of Mn and other heavy metals were found as well. There, in an area of bare mining land with tailings, soil concentrations up to 10,000 mg Mn/kg (ppm) were reached. An adjacent region showed elevated concentrations up to 7600 mg Mn/kg (ppm). In an adjacent restored mining area with an artificial chestnut forest and a dense shrub belt, elevated Mn concentrations of around 2000 ppm were measured. In addition, the results indicate that plants are embedding considerable amounts of Mn, particularly in their roots and leaves. In 12 dominant species in the Lipu Mn mine district, concentrations of 17.4 to 816.5 mg Mn/ kg (ppm) were found in the roots and levels of from 89.2 to 3280.0 mg Mn/kg (ppm) were measured in the leaves (Li et al., 2007).

Toxicity

For human beings and other animals, the uptake of Mn is essential to guarantee normal development and body function (Keen et al., 2000). Mn binds to enzymes and controls enzymatic reactions. For instance, Mn acts as a fundamental co-factor for arginase, which enables urea production in the liver, and it is involved in enzymatic processes that reduce cellular oxidative stress (Carl et al., 1993; Keen et al., 2000; Crossgrove and Zheng, 2004). However, overexposure to Mn can have an adverse effect on humans and can affect the health of other animals. Once Mn has passed through the blood-brain barrier, it causes neurodegenerative impairment resulting in syndromes comparable to those of idiopathic Parkinson's disease (IPD; Barbeau, 1984; Cowan et al., 2009). Besides these impairments to the central nervous system, there is evidence from human and animal studies that overexposure to Mn can lead to interference with the function of the lungs, cardiac system, and liver. In addition, it can cause impairments to reproduction by decreasing fertility, increasing the formation of fetal abnormalities, and inhibiting fetal development (Crossgrove and Zheng, 2004). The main clinical symptoms of an overexposure to Mn are headaches and insomnia (86%), exaggerated tendon reflexes (83%), memory loss (75%), hyper-myotonia (75%), emotional instability (35%), hand tremor (23%), speech disturbances (6%), and festinating gait (3%; Crossgrove and Zheng, 2004).

The uptake of Mn occurs mainly through inhalation at ore exploiting areas, steel production, smelting, and battery manufacturing sites, or by ingesting contaminated food or water (Santamaria, 2008). Given its toxicity, WHO recommends a limiting value of 0.4 mg Mn/L for drinking water and has set the tolerable daily intake (TDI) at 0.06 mg Mn/kg of body weight. It should be noted that workers have shown significant clinical effects of Mn toxicity following

continuous exposure to Mn concentrations higher than 5 mg/m³ (Whitlock Jr et al., 1966; Cook et al., 1974; World Health Organization, 2004; Santamaria, 2008).

In plants, manganese is an essential micronutrient that is required for several functions. Plant respiration and the metabolizing of organic acids, P, and N depend on the availability of Mn. Furthermore, Mn is involved in the photosynthetic formation of oxygen in chloroplast (Römheld and Marschner, 1991). It is involved in protein synthesis, the control of the carboxylic acid cycle, and the metabolizing of carbohydrates (Adriano, 2001). Although Mn is essential for plants, human beings, and other ani-mals, it is one of the major factors limiting crop production, particularly on acidic soils. About 30% of the crops on the world's total land area are affected by Mn toxicity (Kochian, 2000; Alam et al., 2006). Furthermore, it has been shown that concentrations in plant tissues of from 100 to 500 mg/kg dry weight are enough to cause toxic effects (Jones, 1991; Adriano, 2001). As a consequence of overexposure of Mn, plants exhibit such symptoms as chlorosis, necrosis of leaves, leaf rolling, and inhibited plant growth. From the environmental toxicological point of view, the estimated AA-EQS of Mn was 0.123mg/L (Table 5; UK Technical Advisory Group on the Water Framework Directive, 2012). Therefore, although Mn is essential for all living organisms and it is not considered in many toxicological assessments (for instance, there is no US EPA MCL value for Mn), overexposure can cause significant toxic affects to plants, mammals, and humans.

Group A: Mercury (Hg)

Introduction

Elemental Hg appears as a silvery white metal and it is the only metal which is liquid at room temperature (Morel et al., 1998). In mining, the sulfide cinnabar (86.2% Hg) is most relevant, and other minerals, like metacinnabar and livingstone are less important exploitation sources for Hg. The average concentration of this transition metal in the Earth's crust ranges from 50 to 80 ppb (Fleischer, 1970; Salomons and Förstner, 1984; Adriano, 2001; Dong et al., 2013).

Mercury is used in many fields. Today, it is used primarily to extract gold and silver using the amalgam process during artisanal and small-scale mining operations (Farrell et al., 2004; Artisanal Gold Council 2015). The Artisanal Gold Council determined that 1620 tonne of Hg were used in artisanal gold mining in 2010 (Artisanal Gold Council 2015). In addition, it is used in high volumes as a catalyst during vinyl chloride monomer production and in the production of chlorine and sodium hydroxide using the chlorine-alkali process. Nowadays, especially in HICs, the more modern diaphragm and membrane method substitutes for the chlorine-alkali process (Pacyna et al., 2006; Swain et al., 2007). Mercury is used in the pulp and paper industry as a slimicide. Furthermore, old fluorescent lamps, batteries, dental amalgam fillings, paints, cosmetic products, antifungal agents for preserving wood, and pesticides can contain mercury. In HICs, the use of mercury has been reduced by finding alternative and equivalent substitutes. For instance, instead of amalgam, plastic and ceramic inlays now are used in dentistry. Fluorescent lamps containing Hg have been replaced by light-emitting diodes using indium or lithium. Nickel-cadmium and zinc-air batteries are substitutes for mercury-zinc ones. Digital thermometers or ones containing new alloys (galistan) are replacing ones containing mercury (United States Geological Survey, 2013). Medical and electronic devices and specific parts of cars (car switches) can contain small quantities of mercury (de Lacerda and Salomons, 1998; Adriano, 2001; United States Geological Survey, 2013). Although the use of mercury has decreased in HICs, it can be assumed that large amounts of mercury are still used in low- and middle-income countries. It has been shown that mercury has a net flow from higher-income to lower-income countries, because in the latter its use in the industrial and the mining sector is less constrained. Also it can be contained in electronic waste which is disposed of inappropriately in low- and middle-income countries (Maxson, 2005; Swain et al., 2007; International Labour Organization, 2012). To meet demand, 1600 tonne of mercury were mined in 2012, while additional mercury is produced from secondary recycling processes (United States Geological Survey, 2013).

Altogether, the highest global anthropogenic release of mercury into the environment is about 1960 t/year. This comes from artisanal gold mining (727 t/year), coal and oil combustion (483.9 t/year), non-ferrous metal production (193 t/year), cement production (173 t/year), large-scale gold production (97.3 t/year), waste disposal (95.6 t/year), emissions from contaminated sites (82.5 t/year), ferrous metal production (45.5 t/year), caustic soda production through chlorine-alkali processes (28.4 t/year), oil refining (16 t/year), and mercury mining production (11.7 t/year; United Nations Environment Programme, 2013a)

Environmental behavior and occurrence

Mercury is an omnipresent environmental pollutant of high concern, having natural and anthropogenic sources.

About 30% of the crops on the world's total land area are affected by Mn toxicity.

Mercury is an omnipresent environmental pollutant of high concern. In the environment, Hg has three different oxidation states. It occurs as elementary Hg(0), as oxidized Hg(I) (mercurous Hg), and as Hg(II) (mercuric Hg; Adriano, 2001). Mercury is remarkable in that it can evaporate directly from water into the atmosphere, mainly as Hg(0). It can sublimate directly from solids and it occurs as inorganic salts, organic complexes, and as methylated compounds.

About 5000 t/year are stored annually in the atmosphere. The land stores about 1 million tonne and about 2.88 million t/year are deposited in the oceans (Swain et al., 2007). Given its physicochemical properties, such as its vapor pressure of 0.163 Pa at 20°C, its low melting point of -38.8 °C, and its water solubility of 60 μ g/L (25°C), mercury has little tendency to dissolve in water and it is more likely to evaporate as elemental Hg or to be deposited in sediments, adsorbed to organic particles or absorbed by biota (Morel et al., 1998; Adriano, 2001).

The partition of Hg among the different environmental compartments is quite complex and there are still some gaps in the knowledge. Elemental Hg (Hg(0)) evaporates from water and sediments and it is released into the air mainly from anthropogenic processes, such as artisanal gold mining and the combustion of fossil fuels. Mercury has a residence time in the atmosphere of about 1 year and it is distributed globally. In the atmosphere, Hg is oxidized slowly to Hg(II), with ozone (O_3) acting as the main oxidizer. Once oxidized, Hg(II) is scavenged from the atmosphere through precipitation or through adsorption to aerosol particles. Because of its long residence time in the atmosphere, its global distribution and subsequent precipitation, Hg can reach considerable concentrations in water and biota even in remote regions without any anthropogenic activity or natural deposits (Hall, 1995; Fitzgerald et al., 1998).

In aquatic systems, Hg(II) can be reduced to Hg(0) and evaporate because of such processes as photo-reduction. It can be present marginally as dissolved inorganic salts (chlorides or hydroxides), as organic complexes, or in the sediments. Under anaerobic conditions, it is precipitated as sulfides (HgS) and methyl groups are added according to bacterial or chemical methylation processes to form methyl mercury (MeHg), dimethyl mercury (Me₂Hg), or ethyl mercury (EtHg). The addition of these methyl groups significantly increases Hg's availability to biota; elemental Hg and the inorganic compounds are less bioavailable (Weber, 1993; Morel et al., 1998).

In low- and middle-income countries, Hg is released into the environment in part through the combustion of fossil fuels, but more significantly from its use in artisanal mining. It is used in this activity as a potent and relatively cheap agent for extracting gold via the amalgamation process. For instance, in North Sulawesi, Indonesia, in the Talawaan watershed where there is extensive artisanal gold mining, high concentrations of Hg were found in sediments, water systems, and aquatic species. Water samples of the Talawaan River contained maximum concentrations up to 0.014 mg Hg/L. These values exceed the EPA MCL for mercury in drinking water of 0.002 mg/L (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015c) by a factor of 7. In sediments, concentrations up to 22 mg/kg were found (Limbong et al., 2003). At the Wuchuan Hg mining site, Guizhou, China, high concentrations of between 79 and 710 mg Hg/kg were measured in mine wastes. In soils, concentrations ranging from 0.33 to 320 mg Hg/kg were found and water samples contained Hg concentrations up to 360 ng/L. A high average Hg concentration of 0.26 mg/kg was found in the vegetation. This amount exceeds the Hg concentration of 0.02 mg/kg recommended by the Chinese National Standard Agency for food sources (Qiu et al., 2006). In soils all over the world, the average Hg levels range between 0.58 and 1.8 mg/kg (Kabata-Pendias, 2010).

There is a body of evidence that Hg, particularly in the form of methylated Hg compounds, is accumulating among the food chain through biomagnification (Fergusson, 1990; Renzoni et al., 1998; Marrugo-Negrete et al., 2008). It has been shown that there is a positive correlation between increasing Hg concentrations in sediments and the amounts of Hg found in aquatic invertebrates and vertebrates. Generally, methylated Hg compounds accumulate mainly in the liver, kidney, brain, and muscles of benthic and predatory pelagic species. Because of this, these species represent the main sources of methyl Hg for humans (Renzoni et al., 1998). Eating fish and seafood with elevated levels of mercury causes adverse effects to human life (Harada, 1995; Castilhos et al., 2006). In addition, a positive correlation was found between the number of seafood meals eaten and the total mercury levels found in human hair (Harada, 1995; Renzoni et al., 1998; Olivero et al., 2002). According to a human health risk study, mercury concentrations in freshwater fish were investigated in the Tatelu region in Indonesia. In 154 fish of 10 freshwater species, a mean concentration of 0.58 ± 0.44 mg Hg/kg (wet weight) was measured. This is above the WHO guideline (World Health Organization and United Nations Environment Programme, 2008) of 0.5 mg Hg/kg in fish for human consumption (Castilhos et al., 2006). In the Talawaan watershed, nine of 47 fish muscle samples exceeded the safety level set for the international human consumption advisory limit (World Health Organization and United Nations Environment Pro-

There is evidence that Hg, particularly in the form of methylated Hg compounds, is accumulating among the food chain through biomagnification. gramme, 2008). The highest concentration measured in fish in this region was 3.2 mg/kg (Limbong et al., 2003). In the Mojana region of Colombia, where gold mining activities are high, elevated concentrations of Hg, ranging from 0.043 to 0.512 mg/kg, were measured in different fish species. This is increasing the risk of mercury poisoning of the regional inhabitants for whom fish is part of their regular diet (Marrugo-Negrete et al., 2008). The elevated levels of mercury in fish indicate the high potency of Hg for bioaccumulation and biomagnification throughout the food chain.

The uptake of mercury into plants is relatively low; usually the natural mercury concentrations in plants are on a parts per billion level. The roots are usually the most predominant part for Hg accumulation, followed by the stems and leaves. According to one study of five arid-land riparian plants, between 2 and 11% of the mercury to which the plants were exposed was accumulated in the roots, between 0.2 and 3.36% in the stem, and between 0.3 and 0.94% in the leaves (Leonard et al., 1998). The level of Hg in the soil ranged from 23.8 to 53.5 mg/kg. It has been shown that plants can act as conduits for the interfacial transport of Hg from the geosphere to the atmosphere as a result of the uptake of Hg by the roots and assimilation of Hg(0) through stomata (Leonard et al., 1998). Additionally, it has been demonstrated that the uptake of organic Hg compounds is more prevalent than the uptake of inorganic ones (Huckabee and Blaylock, 1973).

Toxicity

Since the link was made that methylated mercury compounds were responsible for causing severe neurological disease in human in the Minamata area of Kyushu, the toxicity of mercury has been studied comprehensively (Harada, 1978). Given its high toxicity, the US EPA set the MCL of mercury in drinking water at 2 μ g/L (Table 5) to protect public health (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015c). Also, mercury is a non-essential trace metal for plants and other biota (Adriano, 2001).

Generally, Hg(0) enters the human body as a result of ingesting pollutants in the workplace. Inorganic and methylated Hg compounds enter the human body as a result of consuming contaminated food and drinking water. After the pulmonary uptake of Hg(0), it is rapidly distributed within the body where it can cross both the placenta and the blood–brain barriers. If it is then oxidized to the mercuric ion, Hg(II), it will remain in the brain or placenta affecting human and fetal health. Non-oxidized Hg can be released from the body through exhalation, urine,

sweat, saliva, or feces. The uptake of Hg(0) via the gastrointestinal (GI) tract is negligible, but between 7 and 15% of inorganic mercury compounds and from 90 to 95% of methylated mercury compounds are absorbed via the GI tract (Keating et al., 1997; Wolfe et al., 1998; Adriano, 2001). Inorganic Hg compounds have less of a tendency to pass the placenta and the blood-brain barriers, but methylated mercury compounds can easily pass through them. After gastrointestinal uptake, MeHg compounds bind to glutathione, cysteine, and other sulfhydryl-containing ligands that are secreted in the bile. Then these Hg compounds are reabsorbed in the gut entering the blood cycle. Here 90% are absorbed into the red blood cells and 10% are contained in the plasma. The binding of mercury to ligands with sulfhydryl groups promotes the transfer of MeHg compounds to the brain and throughout the placenta. The biological half-life of MeHg compounds in humans ranges from 44 to 80 days which can cause an accumulation of Hg in the human body. The ingested MeHg can be partly excreted through feces, breast milk, and urine (Adriano, 2001).

In humans and other animals mercury is a neurotoxin. Even at low doses it causes impairment of the nervous system. Typical symptoms of mercury poisoning are malfunctions of peripheral vision, numbness in the hands and feet, impairment of speech, hearing, and walking, mental degradation, and kidney damage. This is particularly the case for children born of mothers who have been exposed to mercury. Such children are very vulnerable and likely to suffer from mercury poisoning diseases, such as ataxia, constriction of the visual field, congenital cerebral palsy, and mental retardation (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 1999).

As well as humans, wildlife and the environment also show adverse effects from exposure to mercury. For instance, dietary concentrations of 4 to 5 ppm MeHg were lethal to small carnivores, like minks and ferrets, within 26 to 58 days (Wren et al., 1986; 1988). In some bird species, uptake by ingesting about 2 to 9 ppm is enough to cause impairments in reproduction. These are manifest as an increase in the number of shell-less eggs laid, decreases in the mean egg weight (Borg et al., 1970), and a decrease in egg production in general (Heinz, 1974). For different freshwater and marine algae species, Hg concentrations at a level of 0.1 ppm cause inhibition of growth. For the algae tested, inorganic mercury compounds seemed to be more toxic than the methylated ones (Hannan and Patouillet, 1972; International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). At the moment, no chronic environmental standard (AA-EQS) for aquatic organisms has been proposed.

Plants can act as conduits for the interfacial transport of Hg from the geosphere to the atmosphere.

In humans and other animals mercury is a neurotoxin. Even at low doses it causes impairment of the nervous system.

Group A: Thallium (TI)

Introduction

Thallium (TI) is a soft, malleable, bluish-white, non-essential metal. Thallium is contained mainly in potash minerals, in sulfides, in the ores of zinc, copper, and lead, and in coal (Kazantzis, 2000; Peter and Viraraghavan, 2005). The sulfide minerals lorandite and crooksite contain up to 60% TI. Other sulfide minerals, like carlinite, christite, ellisite, weissbergite, galkhaite, vrbaite, and hutchinsonite, contain TI as well (Peter and Viraraghavan, 2005). In nature, TI can coexist with other substances like bromine, chorine, fluorine, and iodine and it can be found in sulfide minerals, which are used in gold (Au), Cu, Pb, Zn, and uranium mining (Twidwell and Williams-Beam, 2002). Thallium is found in the Earth's crust at concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 1.7 ppm (Kazantzis, 2000; Peter and Viraraghavan, 2005). In addition, granite and shale contain high amounts of TI. This is especially so for shale and coal of the Jurassic period which contain highly elevated TI concentrations - up to 1000 ppm (Smith and Carson, 1977).

In the past, TI was used intensively in the agricultural and the medical sectors. Until the beginning of the 20th century, TI salts were used widely to treat tuberculosis, venereal diseases, such as gonorrhea and syphilis, and malaria (DelValls et al., 1999; Kazantzis, 2000; Cvjetko et al., 2010). In addition, it was used as a depilatory in the treatment of ringworm of the scalp (Felden, 1928; Peter and Viraraghavan, 2005). Now, its use has been almost entirely abandoned in the medical sector because of its high acute toxicity (Léonard and Gerber, 1997). In agriculture and in private households, TI salts were used extensively as insecticides and as a poison for rodents. Although, today, the use of TI salts as pesticides (mainly thallium sulfates) has been banned in most countries because of their high acute toxicity, these salts are still in use in several low- and middle-income countries (Nriagu, 1998; Kazantzis, 2000)

Thallium is used mainly in the electronics, high-technology, and optical industries. Nowadays, TI is used mainly in the electronics, hightechnology, and optical industries. It is used in lowtemperature thermometers together with mercury and in scintillation counters, which are used to detect and quantify gamma radiation. It is used (together with Ca, Ba, Cu, and O_2) in electronic devices in the semiconductor and superconductor industries, in laser equipment (for medical imaging), in optical fiberglass, in optical lenses, in photovoltaic cells, and in infrared spectrometers (Zitko, 1975; Switzer, 1986; Galván-Arzate and Santamaría, 1998; Ramsden, 2002; United States Geological Survey, 2013). Moreover, it is used in the production of imitation jewelry, together with lead, zinc, silver, and antimony in alloys as anti-corrosion agents, for catalyzing organic reactions such as in the oxidation of hydrocarbons and olefins, for polymerization and for epoxidation, as a pigment in the dye and glass industries, and for impregnation of wood and leather to inhibit the formation of fungi and bacteria (Peter and Viraraghavan, 2005). Because TI salts have a high acute human toxicity, and because TI compounds are odorless and tasteless, TI has acquired a reputation as an agent for criminal poisoning (Meggs et al., 1994; Rusyniak et al., 2002). In 2012, the global production of TI by the mining sector was 10 tonne. This represents the smallest exploited amount of the metals of high environmental concern presented in this report (United States Geological Survey, 2013). However, it is estimated that between 2000 and 5000 tonne are circulated through industrial activities (Kazantzis, 2000).

The primary anthropogenic sources releasing TI into the environment are flue dusts, vapors, and solid wastes emitted or discarded into the environment from brown coal and coal-based power generation plants. Thallium is released by the burning of coal in general, from cement production facilities, from the smelting of lead, copper, and zinc ores, and from steel and iron processing facilities. Many of these activities show an increasing trend. Mining activities, exploiting and extracting mineral sulfide ores, old tailings, and wastes from the electronics industry may act as considerable sources of TI as well (Smith and Carson, 1977; Dolgner et al., 1983; Asami et al., 1996; Zhang et al., 1998; Kazantzis, 2000; Cheam, 2001; Lis et al., 2003; Nriagu, 2003; Stewart and Lemieux, 2003; Cvjetko et al., 2010).

Occurrence and behavior in the environment

Thallium occurs in two oxidation states - as monovalent TI(I) and trivalent TI(III). In the environment, TI(I) is more stable and more common than TI(III) (Adriano, 2001). In its chemical behavior, TI(I) is similar to the alkali metal cation of potassium (K) (Zitko, 1975; Peter and Viraraghavan, 2005). Although these monovalent TI compounds are relatively stable under certain conditions, TI(I) salts – TI(I) carbonates and TI(I) sulfates - can be dissolved in water, reaching TI(I) hydroxide concentrations up to 259 g/L. In this form, they become bioavailable to plants and biota (Dean, 1999; Zitko, 1975; Vink, 1993). In its chemical behavior, TI(III) conforms to aluminum. It shows strong oxidizing properties and, in the environment, it is slowly converted to TI(I) (DelValls et al., 1999). TI(I) compounds are suspected of being more soluble and abundant than TI(III) ones. However, it was found that TI(III) compounds

dominated in samples from a lake in Michigan. Between 68 and 74% of the total dissolved TI compounds in the samples were TI(III) ones. The reason for this is that TI(I) was oxidized to TI(III) by planktonic bacteria (Lin and Nriagu, 1999; Twining et al., 2003). These results show that there is a dearth of knowledge about the environmental behavior of TI and that more investigations are required to better understand its distribution into the environment and its toxicity. In general, uncontaminated soils contain TI concentrations of about 0.33 mg/kg (ppm; Asami et al., 1996). Seawater samples containdissolved TI, the concentration ranging from 10 to 15 ng/L, and freshwater ones have concentrations of 5 to 10 ng/L (Flegal and Patterson, 1985; Cheam et al., 1995).

At high temperatures, the TI compounds emitted are volatile. For this reason, they are not held back efficiently by electrostatic precipitators and other conventional filter systems and control facilities. Consequently, large amounts of TI compounds are released into the environment through the burning of coal, smelting, and cement production processes involving sulfide ores (Ewers, 1988; Kazantzis, 2000). As a consequence, elevated environmental concentrations of TI between 40 and 124 ppm are found in the Lanmuchang area of southwest Guizhou, China, in soil originating from the mining area (Xiao et al., 2004). Moreover, TI accumulates in plants and biota. In the Lanmuchang area, China, elevated TI concentrations in the range of 120 to 495 ppm dry weight (average 338 ppm) were found in green cabbage. In this region other plants, such as carrots, wild herbs, chili, rice, corn, and Chinese cabbage, take up considerable amounts of Tl as well (Xiao et al., 2004). In addition, lake trout from the Great Lakes in Michigan showed elevated average TI concentrations of 0.141 ppm wet weight. This amount is comparable to the TI amounts that have accumulated in brook trout, white sucker, and yellow perch in the Adirondack lakes, USA (Lin et al., 2001).

Toxicity

Even in industrial countries, information about the occurrence and the acute and chronic toxicity to humans, animals, and aquatic organisms is quite rare. For this reason, it is extremely difficult to assess the risk this metal poses to humans, other animals, and terrestrial and aquatic organisms in low- and middle-income countries (Peter and Viraraghavan, 2005). Nevertheless, a small number of toxicity studies indicate that TI is highly toxic and not essential for humans and other mammals. It affects the health of invertebrates and plants as well. According to IARC, TI has not been classified as a compound which causes cancer in humans. Currently, few

toxicity studies are available and no significant link has been found that the uptake of TI promotes the formation of cancers (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). For mammals, it is suspected that the toxicity of TI exceeds that of the heavy metals Hg, Cd, Pb, and Cu (Cheam, 2001). Because of that, TI is on the list of priority pollutants of the US EPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2014c). In addition, EPA defines the MCL as 0.002 mg/L (Table 5; United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015c). The global limits for TI concentrations in crops are from 0.03 ppm to 0.3 ppm (dry mass) and those for land plants are 0.008 to 1 ppm (dry mass; Kabata-Pendias, 2010).

The uptake of TI happens when contaminated food and drinking water is ingested. Thallium aerosols can be taken up by inhalation; TI can also be absorbed through contact with the skin mucous membranes. This latter ingestion process occurs mainly as a result of occupational exposure. Given its similarity in ionic charge and its ion radius to potassium, TI, especially TI(I), can be absorbed and easily distributed throughout the body by mimicking potassium in its movement patterns and intracellular accumulation in mammals. In the body, it accumulates in bones, the renal medulla, and the nervous system. The excretion of TI occurs mainly through urination. However, it is excreted in breast milk, sweat, and saliva as well (Zitko, 1975; International Programme on Chemical Safety, 1996; Hoffman and Hoffman, 2000; Peter and Viraraghavan, 2005). A dose of between 0.7 and 1.1 g of soluble TI salts is considered to be the minimum lethal dose for an adult with a body weight of 70 kg (Moeschlin, 1980). The symptoms of acute TI poisoning are alopecia, nausea, tachycardia, diarrhea, and impairment of the lungs, heart, and gastrointestinal system. Impairment of the nervous system is more likely a result of chronic exposure to TI, but there is a lack of studies about the regular chronic uptake of low doses of TI (Saddique and Peterson, 1983; Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2013; Frattini, 2005; Cvjetko et al., 2010). The toxicity of TI to humans and other mammals is based on the interference of TI(I) with vital potassium-dependent processes. Since K(I) and TI(I) have similar ion charges and ion radii, the cell membrane is not able to distinguish between them. For instance, TI substitutes for potassium in the Na+/K+-ATPase. In addition, given its affinity for the sulfhydryl groups of proteins and mitochondrial membranes, TI inhibits a range of enzyme reactions causing adverse effects and poisoning (Ramsden, 2002). Furthermore, TI is able to pass the blood-brain and placenta barriers, affecting the nervous system and causing impairments in

the growth and development of fetuses (Hoffman and Hoffman, 2000; Tsai et al., 2006).

Reliable data about the toxicity of TI to organisms of environmental relevance are quite rare. Nevertheless, investigations show that the acute toxicity of fish to TI is comparable to that of copper. Reliable data about the toxicity of TI to organisms of environmental relevance are quite rare. Nevertheless, investigations show that the acute toxicity of fish to TI is comparable to that of copper. According to this, concentrations ranging from 0.03 to 60 mg/L are lethal for different fish species. For aquatic invertebrates, like daphnia and gammarus, lethal concentrations of 2 to 4 mg/L were found. For mice, an LD₅₀ dose of between 16 and 27 ppm (effective dose) was reviewed in a paper by Zitko (1975). According to the chronic environmental standard (AA-EQS), it is estimated that concentrations above 0.013 μ g TI/L can adversely affect the health of water organisms (Staatscourant, 2010).

Group B: Antimony (Sb)

Introduction

Antimony (Sb) is a bluish-white, brittle, and glossy metalloid (Fowler and Goering, 1991). Antimony can be found in the environment as sulfides and complex Cu-Sb, Pb-Sb, and Hg-Sb sulfides and oxides. The sulfides stibnite and antimonite and the oxide valentinite are the most important commercially used ores. In addition, coal and petroleum contain relevant amounts of Sb (Adriano, 2001; Filella et al., 2002). In the Earth's crust, Sb occurs in concentrations of around 0.2 and 0.3 ppm (Fowler and Goering, 1991).

Antimony is used in semiconductors and is contained in detectors, diodes, and Hall-effect devices - used for measuring magnetic fields - batteries, small arms and tracer bullets, cable sheathings, antifriction alloys, and in alloys to increase the hardness and the mechanical strength of lead. It is used also in car brakes (Filella et al., 2002; lijima et al., 2007, 2008). The Sb oxide Sb₂O₃ is used in large amounts as a flame retarding additive in textiles, papers, and plastics. It is a component of some adhesives. Also, it is used as a pigment in paints, as a catalyst, as a mordant, and in the ceramic and glass industry (Filella et al., 2002; United States Geological Survey, 2013). In addition, Sb_4O_8 is used commonly as an oxidation catalyst for the oxidative dehydrogenation of olefins (Filella et al., 2002). Antimony is used in medicaments for the treatment of tropical protozoan diseases like leishmaniasis, schistosomiasis, ascariasis, and trypanosomasis (Filella et al., 2002). According to the data of the US geological survey, 180,000 tonne of antimony were mined in 2012 (United States Geological Survey, 2013).

There is evidence that exposure to Sb compounds from anthropogenic causes exceeds that from natural sources. The primary sources of Sb are smelting and refining facilities, energy producing plants that burn fossil fuels, waste incineration plants, mining, and vehicles. In the latter, Sb is present in abrasion materials from tires, brakes, and motor bearings (Fowler and Goering, 1991; Newton et al., 1994). Data from 1988 to 1990 show that, annually, about 3500 tonne of Sb originated from anthropogenic sources, while 2600 tonne were emitted through natural sources, such as volcanic activities, salty sea spray, and forest fires. However, since then, primary Sb production has increased from 138,000 to 180,000 tonne, which may have lead to higher anthropogenic emissions of Sb aerosols (Nriagu and Pacyna, 1988; Nriagu, 1989, 1990a; Maeda, 1994).

Occurrence and behavior in the environment

In the environment, Sb occurs mainly in the oxidation states III and V. In soils, background concentrations of around 1 to 10 ppm have been measured (Shacklette and Boerngen, 1984; Hammel et al., 2000; Reimann et al., 2010). In unpolluted freshwater systems, it can be found at concentrations of less than 1.0 µg/L (Reimann et al., 2010), and the oceans contain even smaller amounts of Sb, concentrations below 200 ng/L being reported (Filella et al., 2002). Although Sb is widely used in large quantities, little attention has been drawn to this metalloid. Accordingly, there is little information available about the transformation and distribution processes of Sb and its different compounds among the different environmental compartments. However, as far as it is known, Sb occurs mainly as sulfides and sulfidic complexes, oxides, and hydroxides. It also occurs in the environment as the more volatile methylated species (Filella et al., 2002; Wilson et al., 2010). Since 1990, the obligatory implementation of filter systems for incineration plants, smelters, metal refining facilities, and energy generating plants has led to a decrease in the amount of organic and inorganic pollutants emitted, especially in HICs. However, since these filter systems are not mandatorily applied in all low- and middle-income countries, and large quantities of Sb are still mined there, the emissions of Sb and other metalloids or heavy metals in these regions are reaching levels of environmental concern. For instance, samples collected from Prestea, a gold mining town in West Ghana, showed elevated Sb concentrations in water ranging from 0.09 to 0.75 mg/L and in soils ranging from 8.5 to 90.4 ppm (Serfor-Armah et al., 2006).

In the Abaróa Sb mine area in southern Bolivia, heavy rainfalls have caused severe erosion of tailings dumps, releasing large amounts of inorganic pollutants, such as Pb, Zn, and Sb, into the Rio Chilco-Rio Tupiza drainage system. There, sediments between the Rio Abaróa and the Rio Machocuya, contained an average 341.9 mg Sb/kg (ppm) and the sediments of the adjacent floodplains had Sb concentrations of about 37.40 ppm (Villarroel et al., 2006). In addition, soils at one of the world biggest Sb mining and smelting areas in Hunan, China, had elevated Sb concentrations of up to 5045 ppm (He, 2007).

There is evidence that Sb is bioavailable for plants. However, these results differ a lot from each other and for different plant species. For instance, the leaves and shoots of endive, corn salad, spinach, biennial parsley, and carrot leaves accumulated from just 0.6 to 1% of Sb from the surrounding soil. The soil originates from a historical mining site and contains Sb concentrations of 54.4 to 67.0 ppm (Hammel et al., 2000). In contrast, the leaves of radish plants at a mining site and in the vicinity of smelting facilities accumulated up to 10.8% Sb (the soil concentration was measured at 852 mg Sb/kg (ppm; He, 2007). These differences indicate that knowledge about the uptake of Sb compounds is still raising questions. Most of the studies do not discriminate between the uptake via roots or the adsorption of Sb aerosols onto the epicuticular waxes on the plant surfaces. Therefore, it is difficult to predict the uptake of Sb by the roots (Ainsworth et al., 1990a; He, 2007; Tschan et al., 2009). Tschan et al. investigated by exposing different plant species to 25 μ mol/L KSb(OH)₆ solutions. It was found that the shoots of sunflowers take up and accumulate Sb to about 24 ppm dry weight, those of perennial ryegrass 17 ppm dry weight, those of wheat 16 ppm dry weight, and those of maize 3 ppm dry weight (Tschan et al., 2009). These results show that plants are able to take up Sb compounds via their roots, although the uptake varies by an order of a magnitude among the different plant species. Under these experimental conditions, the bioavailability of less water-soluble Sb species, such as Sb sulfides and Sb oxides, would be less pronounced than the uptake of the more water soluble Sb hydroxides and KSbO tartrates (Hammel et al., 2000). In contrast, Ainsworth et al. reported that the contamination of vegetation is more likely related to continuing atmospheric deposition than to uptake from the soil (Ainsworth et al., 1990a).

In general, Sb shows a low or no tendency for bioconcentration throughout the food chain (Filella et al., 2002). Although in fish samples near the Sb mining area in Hunan, China, Sb concentrations of up to 218 ppb were measured (Fu et al., 2010), there is evidence that Sb concentrations in ground-living invertebrates are lower than the concentrations in their diets. There is evidence also that the Sb content in the tissue of small mammals is less than that of their dietary intake (Ainsworth et al., 1990b).

Toxicity

Although Sb apparently does not accumulate in the food chain, there is evidence that it has a high toxic potential and that it is not essential for plants, humans, and animals (Adriano, 2001). The IARC has classified antimony trioxide as a Group 2b compound possibly carcinogenic to humans. Antimony trisulfide has not been classified as to its carcinogenicity to humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). According to the US EPA, Sb and Sb compounds are considered as priority pollutants and its drinking water standard, called MCL, is 6 µg Sb/L (Table 5; United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2014c, 2015c). In addition to the other metals and metalloids of environmental concern in this report - As, Cd, Pb, Hg, Tl, hexavalent Cr, and Cu compounds - Sb is listed as a hazardous substance because of the Basel Convention restriction on its transfer across borders (United Nations Environment Programme, 2014). In general, organoantimonials, like methylated Sb compounds, are the least toxic. Pentavalent Sb compounds are increasingly so and trivalent Sb compounds show the highest toxic potential (particularly Sb₂O₃; Gebel, 1997; He and Yang, 1999; Krachler et al., 2001). For mammals, there is evidence that trivalent compounds have a clastogenic, but not mutagenic, activity. Rats were exposed through inhalation to 45 mg/m³ of Sb₂O₃ and Sb ore concentrate. While the male rats were not affected, 27 (25%) of the females developed lung neoplasms (Groth et al., 1986). However, controversial results are found as well. For instance, the findings of Elliott et al. did not confirm that exposing rats to Sb₂O₃ caused genotoxic or clastogenic effects (Elliott et al., 1998). Thus, there is still not sufficient evidence available to determine whether Sb compounds have carcinogenic effects on humans or not (Gebel, 1997). Nevertheless, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) defined the permissible exposure limit at 0.5 mg Sb/m³ as a time-weighted average concentration over an eight hour working shift (National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 1988a).

In plants, an exposure to 30 mg/L caused significant inhibition in root growth in maize and wheat compared to the control. In addition, exposure to just 3 mg Sb/L led to an inhibition, though not significant, in shoot biomass (Tschan et al., 2009). According to the AA-EQS, chronic aquatic concentrations above 7.2 μ g/L can adversely affect the health of water organisms (Marion Junghans (Ecotox Centre); personal communication).

Group B: Arsenic (As)

Introduction

Arsenic (As) is a brittle, steel-grey, crystalline metalloid. Like Sb, it is found primarily in sulfide deposits as arsenides, sulfides, and sulfosalts, often together with Ag, Pb, Cu, Ni, Sb, Co, Fe, Zn, and Au (Adriano, 2001; International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012b). The most prevalent As-containing minerals are arsenian pyrite (Fe(S,As)₂), arsenopyrite (FeAsS), löllingite (FeAs₂), realgar (AsS), orpiment (As₂S₃), cobaltite (CoAsS), niccolite (NiAs), and scorodite (FeAsO₄ x 2H₂O; Wang and Mulligan, 2006; Smedley and Kinniburgh, 2013). In the Earth's crust it occurs at concentrations between 1.5 and 2 ppm (Salomons and Förstner, 1984; Luoma and Rainbow, 2008).

Historically, inorganic and organic arsenic compounds were used as pesticides, insecticides, fungicides, and soil sterilizers. They were used also as medicaments to treat several spirochetal and protozoal diseases and parasites, and other diseases, such as leukemia, psoriasis, and chronic bronchial asthma. Until now, several As compounds were used in the veterinary sector to treat animals infected with parasites. Arsenic compounds are used also as wood preservatives in non-residential areas (Adriano, 2001; Wang and Mulligan, 2006; Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2007a; International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012b). However, today, most arsenic-based agricultural and pharmaceutical agents are being phased out because of restrictions related to their high toxic potential (Adriano, 2001; United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2009). Arsenic compounds are used as pigments in the ceramic, tanning, and glass industries and the metal form is used as an additive in lead and copper alloys, ammunition, the grids of lead-acid storage batteries, optical, and infrared devices. Gallium arsenide semiconductors are used in the electronics industry in solar cells, space research, and telecommunication (Adriano, 2001; Bissen and Frimmel, 2003; United States Geological Survey, 2013). In 2012, around 44,000 tonne of arsenic trioxide (AS₂O₃) was produced worldwide. This is the main arsenic compound that enters end-product manufacturing (Adriano, 2001; United States Geological Survey, 2013).

The primary man-made sources of As contamination of the environment are the combustion of coal and oil containing traces of arsenic, orphan mining sites, inappropriately-closed mines, and residual tailings. Waste incineration, disposal of e-waste, and ore refining and smelting processes (especially lead and copper ores) are other significant point sources of arsenic (World Health Organization, 2001; Wang and Mulligan, 2006; International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012b; United States Geological Survey, 2013).

Occurrence and behavior in the environment

Since arsenic contamination of groundwater has been reported worldwide, anxieties concerning arsenic-related problems have increased (Mukherjee and Bhattacharya, 2001; Wang and Mulligan, 2006; Centeno et al., 2007; Amini et al., 2008). Accordingly, natural contamination by As, through the weathering, leaching, and erosion processes of arsenic-containing rocks and soils, volcanic activity, and natural fires, is of high environmental concern. Within the scope of our report, we focus more on anthropogenic arsenic contamination.

Natural arsenic concentrations in surface waters, such as rivers and lakes, barely exceed 0.01 mg. The oceans and groundwater have average As concentrations around 1 to 0.002 mg and the background concentrations in soils are about 5 mg/kg (World Health Organization, 2001).

Elevated As concentrations, ranging from 3.6 to 295.1 mg/kg, have been found in soil samples in the mining and smelting area of Hunan, China, and concentrations of 942 to 10,200 mg/kg have been found near the gold mining town of Prestea, Ghana, (Serfor-Armah et al., 2006; He, 2007). In Hunan, As concentrations up to 0.0113 mg were detected in water samples and in Prestea the concentrations in the water samples measured 8.25 mg/L (Serfor-Armah et al., 2006; Fu et al., 2010).

The physicochemical properties of As are comparable to those of Sb, but arsenic compounds are much more toxic and more easily bioavailable to plants and invertebrates (Gebel, 1997; Tschan et al., 2009; Fu et al., 2010; Wilson et al., 2010). Similarly to Sb, As occurs mainly in two oxidation states – as trivalent (arsenite) and pentavalent (arsenate) arsenic compounds in the environment. The reduced trivalent compounds are more likely to occur under anaerobic conditions and the pentavalent ones under aerobic ones (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012b). Organic arsenic compounds, such as arsines and methylarsines, mostly are unstable in air if they are not absorbed and accumulated by plants and other biota or adsorbed to organic matter (Adriano, 2001; Centeno et al., 2007; Tschan et al., 2009). In general, adsorption processes to soil and the leaching processes of As compounds from soils depend on several biogeochemical factors, such as particle size, soil composition, organic matter content, nature of constituent minerals, pH, water hardness, redox potential, oxygen, calcareous content, and the number of competing ions (Goldberg and Glaubig, 1988; Masscheleyn et al., 1991; Jones et al., 2000; Adriano, 2001; Smith et al., 2002; Yamaguchi et al., 2011). Generally, it can be said that As(III) is less strongly adsorbed to soil than As(V). Thus, trivalent As compounds are more mobile and, thus, more toxic than As(V) compounds. This increased mobility of As is enhanced because of the reduction of arsenate to arsenite (Masscheleyn et al., 1991; Chiu and Hering, 2000).

There is still a lack of knowledge related to the sorption and mobilization processes of As compounds. There is evidence that in each case they can be mobilized under reducing or oxidizing conditions. On the one hand, under anaerobic aquatic conditions, As(III) is more likely to be mobilized because of reductive dissolution. It has to be said that, in the presence of higher sulfate concentrations, the release of As is hindered, mainly because of microbial-dependent sulfate reduction or surface arsenic adsorption, resulting in the precipitation or incorporation of arsenic compounds in sulfides (Bostick and Fendorf, 2003; Rowland et al., 2006; Amini et al., 2008). On the other hand, under aerobic environmental conditions in arid and semi-arid regions with high evaporation rates and resulting higher salinity, arsenate (AsO $_{4}^{3-}$) and other anions are less strongly adsorbed to mineral surfaces and, therefore, are more water soluble (Amini et al., 2008; Smedley and Kinniburgh, 2013).

After the mobilization of As into aquatic media, As compounds can be taken up by plants and other biota. Naturally, plants and aquatic organisms do not incorporate enough As to be toxic to humans, so it seems that As does not accumulate in the food chain. Often, before reaching internal As concentrations that are toxic to humans, the plants suffer from phytotoxic effects leading to inhibition of growth or crop failure. Also it seems that As negligibly bioaccumulates in fish (National Academy of Sciences, 1977; Eisler, 1994; Adriano, 2001; Jones, 2007).

However, contradictory evidence has been found as well. For instance, in areas with extremely high As contaminations, such as near smelting and waste incineration facilities and in areas with a high level of mining activity, As may indeed have the potency to accumulate throughout the food chain (Tamaki and Frankenberger Jr, 1992; Wang and Mulligan, 2006; Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2007a). In addition, the investigations of Tschan et al. show that plants are accumulating arsenic (around three times more easily than Sb). In the shoots of plant seedlings of perennial ryegrass, As concentrations of 58 mg/kg dry weight have been measured after exposure to 1.9 mg As/L for one week. The corresponding value for wheat is 43 mg/kg dry weight, for sunflowers, 36 mg/kg dry weight, and for maize 4 mg/kg dry weight (Tschan et al., 2009). In addition, rice grains collected from mine-affected areas in Hunan, China, had levels of inorganic As up to 624 µg/kg, which is four times higher than that of the vast majority of rice grains on the rice market (Zhu et al., 2008). In barley, wheat and rice, As concentrations of the order of 100 µg/kg up to 10.2 g/ kg have been measured. For rice, the amount of As transferred and accumulated in the shoots is even higher (1.5 to 20.6 g/kg) than the amount of As found in the soil (5 to 10 g/kg), indicating that rice is able to bioaccumulate As (Williams et al., 2007). In fish near the mining area in Hunan, elevated As concentrations of up to 152 µg/ kg wet weight have been measured (Fu et al., 2010). In addition, considerable concentrations of As in the range of µg/kg to g/kg have been found in food samples (National Academy of Sciences, 1977; Jones, 2007). Whether accumulating through the food chain or not, arsenic poses a risk to environmental and human health because of its high acute toxicity even at low concentrations.

Toxicity

Similarly to Sb compounds, the toxicities of arsenic compounds conform to the following order, from least to highest: organoarsenicals (methylated species), arsenates (pentavalent As), and arsenites (trivalent As; Nriagu, 1994). IARC has listed inorganic As compounds as Group I carcinogens for humans, while organic As compounds are classified in Group III, not carcinogenic for humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). The MCL, which represents the highest level of the contaminant that is allowed in drinking water, as determined by the US EPA, is 0.01 mg (Table 5; United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015c). The uptake of As occurs mainly from eating contaminated food and drinking contaminated water. It can also occur from occupational exposure through the inhalation of pollutants at coal-fired power plants, mining areas, waste incineration, smelting, and battery assembly facilities. It can also be taken up via the mucous membrane and percutaneously (Eisler, 1994; Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2007a; International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012b). The acute minimal lethal dose of inorganic As is estimated to be between 70 and 200 mg (Caravati, 2004). The symptoms of acute As poisoning are stomach ache, nausea,

The uptake of As occurs mainly from eating contaminated food and drinking contaminated water. Chronic ingestion of As-contaminated drinking water has resulted in significant negative consequences for human health. vomiting, and diarrhea. Furthermore, acute uptake of As can cause a decrease in the production of red and white blood cells, cardiac arrhythmias, and blood-vessel damage resulting in bruising, and impaired nerve function (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2007a). With their high acute toxicity and their being odorless, colorless, and tasteless, As salts have been used historically as suicidal and homicidal agents, particularly during the Middle Ages (Smith, 2013). In the long term, a daily chronic exposure to 0.02 mg/kg by ingestion can lead to adverse health effects in sensitive humans (Ontario Ministry of the Environment, 2001). In addition, chronic (20 years) ingestion of As-contaminated drinking water with a concentration of 0.13 mg As/L, has resulted in significant negative consequences for human health (Lerda, 1994). Chronic poisoning symptoms are peripheral neuritis, gastritis, enteritis, liver and kidney failure, cardiac dysfunctions, melanosis, depigmentation, hyperkeratosis, and several forms of cancer (Niu et al., 1997; Mazumder, 2000; Adriano, 2001; Mead, 2005). After uptake, arsenic compounds are effectively assimilated via the gastrointestinal (GI) tract. For instance, in the GI tract 60% of the ingested As(V), 80% of the As(III), and 100% of organoarsenicals are adsorbed after ingestion (Zielhuis and Wibowo, 1984; Gebel, 1997). In short, the toxic effects of inorganic As are a result of their affinity for and ability to bind with sulfhydryl groups, such as glutathione and metallothionein. The results of this binding are alterations of the protein structures, which consequently cause disruptions of metabolic processes. Following the bonding to sulfhydryl groups, metabolic processes, such as cellular glucose uptake, fatty acid oxidation, and production of glutathione, can be affected (Gochfeld, 1997). Arsenic compounds are not directly mutagenic; however, they do behave clastogenically, which means that they give rise to or induce disruptions in or breakages of chromosomes (Jha et al., 1992; Lerda, 1994). In this context, As does not directly interact with DNA: its genotoxic effects are induced indirectly through alterations of gene expression by impairment of DNA methylation, induction of oxidative stress, and changes in the regulation of signal transduction pathways (Gebel, 1997; Kitchin and Ahmad, 2003).

From an environmental perspective, As compounds, such as monosodium methylarsonate, disodium methylarsonate, and dimethylarsinic acid, are known for their phytotoxic effects. Consequently, they have been broadly used as herbicides (Bissen and Frimmel, 2003). In general, for most plants a depression in crop yield results after exposure to soils having concentrations of water soluble As from 3 to 28 mg/L and total arsenic concentrations from 25 to 85 mg/kg (Furlong, 1978; Eisler, 1994). In addition, after exposure of 1.9 mg As/L, wheat, maize, perennial ryegrass, and sunflower seedlings have suffered a significant reduction in biomass, ranging from 48 to 20%. (Tschan et al., 2009). The investigations of Eisler revealed that for aquatic invertebrates, concentrations of 0.019 to 0.049 mg As/L in water for invertebrates, concentrations of 120 mg As/kg in diets, and for algae, concentrations of 1.3 to 5 mg As/kg fresh weight in tissues, provoke significant health-damaging effects and, therefore, pose a risk to environmental health (Eisler, 1994). From an environmental perspective and according to the proposed chronic environmental quality standard (AA-EQS), the concentration of As in aquatic systems should not exceed 0.05 mg/L in the long term to guarantee the welfare of water organisms (UK Technical Advisory Group on the Water Framework Directive, 2008).

Group C: Asbestos

Introduction

Asbestos is the commercially used collective noun for a group of naturally occurring silicate minerals with fibers that are long, thin, and flexible when separated (Stayner et al., 2013). Asbestos minerals can be separated into two groups. These are serpentine minerals, classified as sheet minerals because the silicate (SiO₄) tetrahedrons are serialized as sheets, and amphibole minerals, classified as chain silicates because the SiO₄ tetrahedrons are organized as a double chain of two rows (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012c; Stayner et al., 2013). The most abundant chrysotile asbestos is an asbestos mineral belonging to the serpentine group found as veins in serpentine rocks. The asbestos minerals actinolite, amosite, anthophyllite, crocidolite, and tremolite are characteristic amphibole minerals (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012c). In ambient air, asbestos compounds are naturally found in concentrations ranging from 0.00001 to 0.0001 fibers/mL (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2008).

With their physicochemical characteristics of high tensile strength, flexibility, resistance to chemical and thermal degradation, and high electrical resistance, asbestos minerals are useful for a wide range of industrial applications (National Toxicology Program, 2014a; International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012c; United States Geological Survey, 2013).

Asbestos fibers can be used in the textile industry. With their heat resistance and high insulating properties, they are used in packing materials for steam glands on hightemperature machines and insulation for boilers, steam pipes, and electrical wiring. Asbestos fibers are used in fireproof paints, for suits and blankets, in fireproof construction materials for walls, floors, and roofs, and as additives in asphalt road surfaces. Asbestos-cement is used in the mass production of cheap, fireproof building materials and asbestos-cement pipes are widely used as water and waste pipes. Furthermore, they are used in the automobile industry in brakes, clutch components, and engine gaskets, in the millboard industry, and in filters. The decreased level of production of asbestos in the 1990s is attributable to the finding that exposure to asbestos is associated with the occurrence of lung cancer (Selikoff and Lee, 1978; Tomatis et al., 1978; Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2001; Virta, 2006; International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012c).

In 2003, the use of asbestos was banned or restricted in 16 countries - Argentina, Austria, Belgium, Chile, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Saudi Arabia, Sweden, Switzerland, and the United Kingdom. By 2005, the use of asbestos was almost completely banned within the European Union. Until now, the use of asbestos has been restricted or banned in 57 countries (Virta, 2006; International Ban Asbestos Secretariat, 2015). Nevertheless, although asbestos minerals are banned in several countries, the world mining production of 2 million tonne/year indicates that asbestos is still in use. For instance, the US EPA has generated a list of products containing asbestos that are still produced (United States Geological Survey, 2013; United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015d). In addition, there is evidence that the use of asbestos, especially in many developing countries, is increasing (Stayner et al., 2013).

The modern industrial use of asbestos started around 1880 and peaked in 1975 with an estimated world production of 5.09 million tonne. However, during the last decades worldwide mining production of asbestos has declined and reached a plateau at around 2 million tonne (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012c; United States Geological Survey, 2013).

Asbestos fibers, clumps of asbestos and asbestos dust enter the air, aquatic, and terrestrial environments naturally as a consequence of the weathering and erosion of natural deposits and asbestos-bearing rocks. The primary source of asbestos mineral pollution is a result of anthropogenic activities. Open-pit mining operations, crushing, screening, milling of ore, and all the processes involved in extracting, processing, and manufacturing asbestos are man-made sources of asbestos fibers. Furthermore, inappropriate disposal of waste material containing asbestos, corrosion of asbestos-cement pipes, other asbestos materials used in the construction sector, and the abrasion of asbestos from asphalt or vehicle brakes, clutches, and engine gaskets are additional sources releasing asbestos fibers into the environment (Selikoff et al., 1972; Millette et al., 1980; Williams and Muhlbaier, 1982; Cheng and O'Kelly, 1986; Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2001; Abratt et al., 2004). Although asbestos minerals are banned in several countries, the world mining production of 2 million tonne/year indicates that asbestos is still in use.

Occurrence and behavior in the environment

At the moment, data about environmental asbestos and non-occupational concentrations are quite limited. Nevertheless, there is evidence that significantly elevated concentrations of asbestos can be found in water supplies. Concentrations above 1 million fibers/L have been found in the drinking water of 18% of the 406 cities tested in Puerto Rico and the District of Columbia (Millette et al., 1980). In the Castro Valley Bay area, California, USA, asbestos concentrations of up to 319 million fibers/L have been measured in runoff samples. Creek sediments contained asbestos concentrations up to 230 million fibers/L and street surface particles had concentrations of up to 1300 million fibers/L (Pitt, 1988). In 2012, in the USA alone, 7300 tonne of friable asbestos were reported to have been released by 41 facilities, according to data of the Toxics Release Inventory (TRI) program (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2012). Data about the release of asbestos in low- and middle-income countries is in short supply (Stayner et al., 2013). However, in these countries, occupational exposure to asbestos minerals is still a big issue, especially when obsolete techniques for mining and processing asbestos minerals are used and if the handling of asbestos products takes place without proper precautions (Ramanathan and Subramanian, 2001). For example, in an asbestos processing mill in Andhra Pradesh, India, maximal asbestos concentrations of up to 488,050 fibers/L were measured. This despite the legal level allowed for asbestos production in this region being set below 2000 fibers/L (Ramanathan and Subramanian, 2001).

Toxicity

All asbestos minerals cause cancer and are potentially toxic. The primary uptake routes for asbestos in humans are by ingesting contaminated food and water and by inhaling asbestos aerosol particles during handling (repacking of asbestos containers, transport, and disposal), processing (dry cutting, milling, and production of construction material), and the use of asbestos-containing raw materials and products. Uptake via the respiratory system seems to be the most hazardous and relevant one. In addition, All asbestos minerals cause cancer and are potentially toxic. The primary uptake routes for asbestos in humans are by ingesting contaminated food and water and by inhaling asbestos aerosol particles. people who are living in the vicinity of asbestos mining sites and manufactories, and people living in houses containing asbestos products in the floors, roofs, and walls are taking up elevated amounts of the material and posing risks to their health (World Health Organization, 2006; International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012c).

The uptake of the acerous, sharp asbestos fibers causes a range of diseases, such as asbestosis (fibrosis of the lungs), mesothelioma, and several other forms of cancer of the pharynx, larynx, esophagus, lungs, stomach, and colorectum, and the thickening of pleural plaques and effusions. These diseases have a long latency (Selikoff et al., 1964; Doll and Peto, 1985; International Programme on Chemical Safety, 1985; Enterline et al., 1987; Selikoff and Seidman, 1991; World Health Organization, 2014; Landrigan et al., 1999; National Research Council, 2006; World Health Organization, 2006; International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012c). Thus, if the use of asbestos is eliminated right now, the number of asbestos-related deaths will decrease only after a few decades (World Health Organization, 2006).

It is estimated that globally around 125 million people are exposed to asbestos in their occupations. Of these, 90,000 people are estimated to die annually from asbestos-related diseases (World Health Organization, 2006). Given their high toxicity, all asbestos minerals are classified by the IARC as Group I carcinogens for humans. For drinking water, the limiting value of asbestos contamination, referred to as MCL, is 7 million fibers/L (Table 5; United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015c). In occupational settings, the permissible limits for asbestos range between 100 fibers/L and 2000 fibers/L as a time-weighted average for a normal eight hour workday and a 40 hour week (National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 1988b; International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012c). Nevertheless, it seems that in several regions, especially in low- and middleincome countries, regulations controlling and monitoring human and environmental exposure to asbestos are lacking, posing risks to human and environmental health (Giannasi and Thébaud-Mony, 1997; Joshi and Gupta, 2003; Virta, 2006; LaDou et al., 2010). According to the literature, it is feared that the continuous use of asbestos in low- and middle-income countries will trigger an epidemic of asbestos-related diseases, such as mesothelioma and lung cancer in the near future (Joshi and Gupta, 2004; LaDou et al., 2010; Stayner et al., 2013).

From an environmental toxicological point of view, there have been few investigations of the negative impacts of asbestos on aquatic and terrestrial animals following exposure to anthropogenically released asbestos minerals. However, histological examinations of blue mussels, exposed to waste products containing 10 mg/L of asbestos for five days, indicated that asbestos particles can be taken up and afterwards remain in the gastrointestinal tract causing significant tissue injuries (Halsband, 1974). Further investigations showed that vertebrates - lake trout - incorporate asbestos fibers particularly into their kidneys and, less pronouncedly, into their muscle tissue. In contrast, other fish species, such as catfish, brook trout, and Arctic char, showed a lower potential to incorporate asbestos minerals. The proposed hypothesis to explain this was that the uptake of asbestos minerals is more dependent on eating behavior and the food intake than on uptake via the gill system (Batterman and Cook, 1981). In addition, although asbestos minerals can be incorporated into fish, they seem not to accumulate in the food chain because the asbestos concentration in muscle tissue is half the external water concentration (Batterman and Cook, 1981). Exposure tests on Coho salmon and green sunfish showed that asbestos concentrations of about 1.5 million to 3.0 million fibers/L are enough to cause behavioral stress effects, like impairments in rheotaxic position and balance. Although a destructive effect of asbestos on lateral line histology was observed - this is responsible for the loss of rheotaxic position - the mortality did not increase significantly after exposure to asbestos at the concentrations tested (Belanger et al., 1986). There is evidence that the release of asbestos can affect environmental health. According to the most recent status report, environmental risk assessment is not possible, especially in low- and middle-income countries, where almost no data about environmental asbestos concentrations are published. Nevertheless, a chronic environmental standard (AA-EQS) of 7 million fibers/L was proposed (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 1999).

Name ^A		Primary production [tonne] (United States Geo- logical Survey, 2013)	Most toxic species	Potentially toxic to (Adriano, 2001)	Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) (United States Environmen- tal Protection Agency, 2015c) [mg/L]	Environmental quality standard AA-EQS/MAC- EQS [µg/L] ^B
Metals						
Cadmium	-	23,000 with 54% produced in low- and middle-income countries	Cd(II) (Adriano, 2001)	Plants, animals, humans	0.005	Class 1: 0.08/0.45 Class 2: 0.09/0.6 Class 3: 0.15/0.9 Class 4: 0.25/1.5 ^C (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2008)
Chromium	-	24 million with 94% produced in low- and middle-income countries	Cr(VI) (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012d)	Plants, humans, animals (Mishra and Mohanty, 2008)	0.1	Cr(III): 4.7/32 Cr(VI): 3.4/NA (UK Technical Advisory Group on the Water Framework Directive, 2008)
Copper	•	17 million with 42% produced in low- and middle-income countries	Cu(II), CuOH ⁺ , [Cu ₂ (OH) ₂] ²⁺ (Flemming and Trevors, 1989)	Plants, animals (aquatic organisms) (Richardson, 1997; Borkow and Gabbay, 2005; United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2008; Vardy et al., 2014)	1.3	1/NA (based on the bioavailable concentration) (UK Technical Advisory Group on the Water Framework Directive, 2012)
Lead	•	5.2 million with 67% produced in low- and middle-income countries	Pb(II) (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2007b)	Plants, animals, humans	0.015	1.2 (based on the bioavailable concentration)/14 (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2013)
Manganese	•	16 million with 76% produced in low- and middle-income countries	Mn(VII)O ₄ - (Young et al., 1996), Mn(II, III) oxides, Mn(II)SO ₄ , Mn(II)Cl ₂ (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2010)	Plants	NA (WHO limiting value 0.4) (World Health Organization, 2004)	123/NA (UK Technical Advisory Group on the Water Framework Directive, 2012)
Mercury	0	1,600 with 92% produced in low- and middle-income countries	MeHg, Me ₂ Hg (Weber, 1993; Morel et al., 1998; Wolfe et al., 1998)	Animals, humans	0.002	NA (but biota standard is 20 µg/kg wet weight)/0.07 (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2013)
Thallium	•	10 (proportion produced in low- and middle- income countries not definable)	TI(I), TI(I) ₂ SO ₄ , TI(I) ₂ CO ₃ (Zitko, 1975; International Programme on Chemical Safety, 1996; Hoffman and Hoffman, 2000; Cheam, 2001; Peter and Viraraghavan, 2005)	Plants, animals, humans	0.002	0.013/0.8 (van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2009)
Metalloids						
Antimony	-	180,000 with 97% produced in low- and middle-income countries	Sb(III); Sb(III) ₂ O ₃ , Sb(V) (Gebel, 1997; He and Yang, 1999; Krachler et al., 2001; International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015)	Animals, humans	0.006	7.2/NA (Marion Junghans (Ecotox Centre; personal communication)
Arsenic	J	44,000 with 73% produced in low- and middle-income countries	As(III), As(V) (Nriagu, 1994)	Plants, animals, humans	0.01	50/NA (UK Technical Advisory Group on the Water Framework Directive, 2008)
Minerals						
Asbestos	e	2 million with 48% produced in low-and middle-income countries	Fibers (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2001)	Animals, humans	7 million fibers/L	7 million fibers/L (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 1999)

Table 5: Data about hazardous heavy metals, metalloids, and minerals from the mining industry

A: • Decreasing use trend; • Use trend is unsure – approximation is difficult; • Increasing use trend (United States Geological Survey, 2013; Barrientos and Soria, 2013).

B: The acute and the chronic environmental quality standards (EU-standard), AA-EQS (annual average concentration) and MAC-EQS (maximum allowable concentration) represent chronic and acute environmental concentrations of chemical agents which affect water organisms significantly.

C: AA-EQS and MAC-EQS of cadmium are dependent on water hardness classes: Class 1: < 40 mg CaCO₃/L; Class 2: 40 to 50 mg CaCO₃/L; Class 3: 50 to 100 mg CaCO₃/L; Class 4: 100 to 200 mg CaCO₃/L.

Input pathways of mining pollutants

The lifetime of a mine depends on the main material being mined and the stocks of the ores and minerals of interest Thus the lifetime can be several years or several decades, even as long as a few centuries (International Council on Mining & Metals, 2012). Uneconomical mines can be closed inappropriately, especially in low- and middleincome countries, with nobody assuming responsibility for the orphan mining sites. Often the authorities do not have the capacity to remediate contaminated regions. At abandoned mining sites, the chemical or bacterial oxidation of iron pyrite or other sulfidic minerals results in acidified mine water effluents, causing acid mine drainage (AMD). These acidified mining effluents contain high concentrations of dissolved heavy metals and metalloids, of which arsenic, cadmium, copper, and lead are of the highest concern. These effluents endanger water resources and the environment. AMD occurs particularly in flooded mining sites, waste rock dumps, tailings, and piled heaps of proceeded material (Johnson and Hallberg, 2003, 2005; Farrell et al., 2004).

Acidified mining effluents contain high concentrations of dissolved heavy metals and metalloids, of which arsenic, cadmium, copper, and lead are of the highest concern.



Figure 19: Mining-related water cycle (International Council on Mining & Metals, 2012)

AMDs and other untreated mining wastewater, slag, solid waste, and tailings can be discarded inappropriately into surface waters or left uncovered next to the mining site (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012). These abandoned mining wastes, with their high contents of acids and toxic heavy metals, pose risks to environmental and human health. From these mining wastes, toxic compounds can leach into groundwater aquifers, lakes, and river systems through surface runoff. In low- and middleincome countries, these contaminated water sources are often used for irrigation, thus degrading valuable and fertile agricultural land (He, 2007; Figure 19).

In addition, during ore exploitation, transport, and extraction, and the processing and refining of ores and minerals, hazardous pollutants and metals can be released into the environment.

Social impacts of mining

Since the Industrial Revolution, and as a result of the further developments and progress made in the technical industrial sector, the extraction of metals, metalloids, and minerals has been indispensable for meeting resource needs. The mining industry is a viable way for achieving a rapid and profitable economic revival in the short term (International Institute for Environment and Development, 2002; Low, 2012).

To date, the mining sector has made little contribution in terms of sustainable development (International Institute for Environment and Development, 2002). In addition, although this sector is associated with social and economic benefits, it is known for its ruthless approaches that cause environmental destruction and disadvantage society (Farrell et al., 2004). Today, the mining industry is under pressure to improve its environmental and social performance. From this perspective, the social impacts of mining are emphasized in this report (Miranda et al., 2003).

On the one hand, as already mentioned, there are some social benefits that result from mining (Table 6). The extraction of resources can lead to a rapid and temporary economic boom, result in an increase of gross domestic product, and create new jobs. Furthermore, mining is often associated with the setting up or improvement of infrastructure, such as roads, hospitals, living quarters, telecommunication systems, and water supplies. These are needed to enable the transport and refining of the exploited raw materials and to accommodate and supply the mine workers (Miranda et al., 2003; Farrell et al., 2004)

On the other hand, mining comes with a list of disadvantages and negative social impacts (Table 6). The mining sector is a heavy user of energy and water. Indeed, the mining sector is one of the most energy-intensive of all industries. It consumes approximately 7 to 10% of global energy production each year. In addition, while it is common knowledge that mining requires a lot of water during the exploitation, extraction, and refining processes, the global volume of water that flows through this industry has not been estimated yet (Farrell et al., 2004). Also, mining can cause the destruction of valuable living environments for humans and wildlife. Mining activities are often associated with deforestation, the dredging of huge pits, the disposal of waste rocks, acids, and ores, and the possible formation of AMD. In this sense, one-quarter of the World Heritage Sites are at risk from the extractive industries, including mining and oil and gas extraction. Deforestation can have secondary consequences, such as increasing surface runoff and the erosion of sediments, which result in suspended sediment loads in surface waters and floods of increasing frequency (Miranda et al., 2003; Farrell et al., 2004). Additionally, mining often causes severe pollution of soils or water bodies, groundwater, and other drinking water sources

These events contribute to the degradation of agricultural land and drinking water resources. Previously established and longstanding traditional businesses, such as agriculture and fisheries, which are indispensable to the lives of local people, are often affected as well. An increasing shortage of water and the degradation of arable land provoke tensions between farmers, miners, and other local inhabitants by increasing their competitiveness. Furthermore, the local people often lack accurate information about the effects of mining. Moreover, there is evidence that mining is responsible for the displacement and resettlement of local inhabitants. This can provoke riots and violence, causing a general public discomfort or even civil wars (Downing, 2002; Terminski, 2012).

There are several international initiatives to promote more environmentally-friendly and ethically reasonable mining. These initiatives include the World Summit on Sustainable Development (WSSD), the Mining, Minerals and Sustainable Development (MMSD) project, the Extractive Industries Review of the World Bank, and the International Council on Mining and Metals (ICMM). They involve implementing best practices in those regions, mostly in low- and middle-income countries, where regulations are poorly implemented. Informal artisanal and smallscale businesses seem to be of particularly high relevance (Miranda et al., 2003; Swenson et al., 2011; Low, 2012). In these regions, there are less controls and monitoring studies of the hazardous toxicants that are released into the environment by the mining and other sectors. Often, poor approaches to waste management and waste and protective clothing are other problems, related to mining. In low- and middle-income countries the frequency of occupational accidents far exceeds that in higher-income ones (Miranda et al., 2003; Farrell et al., 2004).



Mining activities are often associated with deforestation, the dredging of huge pits, the disposal of waste rocks, acids, and ores, and the possible formation of Acid Mine Drainage.

The mining sector is

and water.

a heavy user of energy

Figure 20: Venn diagram of the basic modules enabling more environmentally-friendly mining

In general, viable economic incentives from government, consultants, and NGOs, acceptable legal settings from politicians, decision makers, and local authorities, and proper technologies need to be applied in the mining industry to enable the more sustainable, environmentally-friendly, and ethically reasonable exploitation and processing of metals, metalloids, and minerals (Figure 20).

Social benefits	Social detriments (not best practices approaches ^A)
 Temporary economic boom Setting up and/or improvement of infrastructure 	 High consumption of energy and water by the mining sector Destruction of valuable living environments for humans and wildlife Severe pollution of soils and water bodies, groundwater, and and other drinking water sources, affecting human and environmental health. Previously established and longstanding traditional economic sectors, such as agriculture and fisheries, which are indispensable to the lives of local people, are often affected Displacement of local people, causing general public discomfort

A: Efforts, initiatives, and best practices are implemented to reduce the negative social impacts which tend to accompany mining activities. Nevertheless, there is evidence that such best practice approaches are not yet available and feasible worldwide, which leads to the significant list of social detriments mentioned here

Table 6: Short overview of the social benefits and detriments of mining activities (Miranda et al., 2003; Farrell et al., 2004)

Production and pollution trends of hazardous metals, metalloids, and minerals

Data availability

At present there are two comprehensive public databases available that address the primary production of metals, metalloids, and minerals. One is a compendium of world mining data from the 'Austrian 'Federal Ministry of Economy, Family and Youth' and the 'International Organizing Committee for the World Mining Congresses' (Reichl et al., 2013). The other is the data from the 'Mineral Commodity Summaries, 2013' (United States Geological Survey, 2013), developed by the United States Geological Survey (USGS). For this report, the USGS data were used because they are used and mentioned more frequently in scientific literature and have been compiled since 1996.

Future trends and hot spots

According to the USGS data presented in Table 5, it can be seen that the primary production of copper, lead and manganese has increased until the last few years. The exploitation of cadmium, chromium, thallium, and antimony through mining has plateaued while the primary production of mercury, arsenic, while asbestos has decreased during the last years.

Figure 21 shows the sum of the mined metals, metalloids, and minerals of highest concern to environmental and human health that are discussed in this report – antimony, arsenic, asbestos, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, manganese, and mercury. The primary production of gold is also included because often large quantities of mercury are still used for gold extraction as can be seen in Figure 23. For thallium, no comprehensive data were available (Castilhos et al., 2006; Artisanal Gold Council, 2015; Barrientos and Soria, 2013; United States Geological Survey, 2013). Figure 21 shows the areas of potential risk in low- and middle-income countries. These are the places where the highest amounts of hazardous metals, metalloids, and minerals are mined. They include South Africa, China, Kazakhstan, India, Brazil, Gabon, Peru, Indonesia, Zambia, where Mexico and production volumes range from 670,000 to 14 million tonne.

For a broader perspective, Figure 22 shows the sums of the primary production of minerals and/or ores:

(A) Used for industrial purposes. These include asbestos, barite, boron, diamonds, diatomite, feldspar, fluorspar, graphite, kaolin, magnesite, perlite, phosphates, potash, salt, sulfur, talc, vermiculite, and zircon

(B) Iron and ferro-alloy metals. These include iron, chromium, cobalt, manganese, molybdenum, nickel, tantalum, titanium, tungsten, and vanadium

(C) Non-ferrous metals. These include aluminum, antimony, arsenic, bauxite, bismuth, cadmium, copper, gallium, germanium, lead, lithium, mercury, rare earth minerals, tellurium, tin, and zinc.

The latest available data for each commodity for the period 2010–2012 are used (Soria, 2013; United States Geological Survey, 2013).



Figure 21: World primary production (tonne/year) of heavy metals, metalloids, and minerals of highest concern to environmental and human health. These include antimony, arsenic, asbestos, cadmium, copper, chromium, gold, lead, manganese, and mercury (Barrientos and Soria, 2013; United States Geological Survey, 2013) These data show that in low- and middle-income countries, such as China, Morocco, India, Brazil, Iran, Mexico, Egypt, Turkey, and Chile, the largest amounts of industrial commodities are produced by primary production. The countries are listed in descending order of production. Primary production ranges from 12 million to 210 million tonne. Iron and ferro-alloy metals, in particular, are mined in low- and middle-income countries like China, Brazil, India, South Africa, Ukraine, Kazakhstan, and Iran. Production volumes range from 13 to 330 million tonne. China, Brazil, and India mined the highest amounts of commodities used in the non-ferrous metal industry; outputs ranged from 20 to 69 million tonne.



Figure 22: Extraction [tonne] of industrial minerals (Barrientos and Soria, 2013; United States Geological Survey, 2013)

A: Asbestos, barite, boron, diamonds, diatomite, feldspar, fluorspar, graphite, kaolin, magnesite, perlite, phosphates, potash, salt, sulfur, talc, vermiculite, and zircon

B: Iron, chromium, cobalt, manganese, molybdenum, nickel, tantalum, titanium, tungsten, and vanadium Figure 22: Extraction [tonne] of industrial minerals (Barrientos and Soria, 2013; United States Geological Survey, 2013)

C: Aluminum, antimony, arsenic, bauxite, bismuth, cadmium, copper, gallium, germanium, lead, lithium, mercury, rare earth minerals, tellurium, tin, and zinc



Issues of special concern

Artisanal small-scale mining

One of the biggest environmental problems related to mining in low- and middle-income countries is that of informal artisanal and small-scale mining (ASM). ASM activities are known for their large-scale risks (Farrell et al., 2004; Artisanal Gold Council, 2015). Given the informal nature of this business, a reliable assessment of annual gold production through ASM is not possible. However, it has been estimated that about 10-15 million people are engaged in ASM and that about 12-30% of the gold on the world market comes from ASM activities (Farrell et al., 2004; United Nations Environment Programme, 2008; Telmer and Veiga, 2009). ASM, in the main, uses obsolete production methods including the amalgamation technique. In this technique, large amounts of mercury are used to extract the gold. (To extract one unit of gold, three units of mercury are required (Telmer, 2011). Often, these miners are poor. They have few resources to invest in pollution control devices. They are poorly educated in mining and they have little awareness of the hazards of mercury or the other chemical agents used for the extraction of metals from ores (United Nations Environment Programme, 2008). Commonly, these miners are organized in small collectives or they work with their families to extract gold and other precious metals. In the latter case, the women and children are at highest risk because often the amalgamation is done by them at home while the men dig for ores. There is evidence that the mercury used for extraction is handled with bare hands and normal cooking equipment is used (Farrell et al., 2004; Low, 2012). Furthermore, the unregulated disposal of mercury

pollutes soils and water (Malm, 1998; van Straaten, 2000; Limbong et al., 2003; Telmer and Veiga, 2009). In addition to the potential for environmental pollution, ASM has acquired a bad reputation for its support of child labor (Kippenberg, 2011). In several regions, parents send their children to work in the mines, risking their lives to increase the family income. Moreover, often the artisanal and small-scale miners are paid very little for the gold extracted; it is the traders and local officials who make the big profits (Kippenberg, 2011).

Figure 23 shows that artisanal and small-scale gold mining pose a large-scale risk. For instance, in the low- and middle-income countries of Mongolia, Guyana, Venezuela, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Burkina Faso, Tanzania, Brazil, Ecuador, Peru, Philippines, Colombia, Indonesia, and China, from 10 to 445 tonne (mean values) of mercury are released each year by artisanal gold mining activities (Artisanal Gold Council, 2015).

Acid mine drainage at abandoned mining sites

In active and, more likely, in abandoned open-pit mines, open underground shafts, and at sites where tailings have been dumped, the formation of acid mine drainage (AMD) is a very serious environmental pollution problem (Naicker et al., 2003; Kalin et al., 2006). AMD is mainly the result of sulfide rocks (mainly pyrite and marcasite) and sulfide rich tailings being exposed to oxygen and water (moisture in the air, rainwater, surface water, and groundwater) and several abiotic and biotic oxidation processes (Johnson and Hallberg, 2003; Kalin et al., 2006). Whereas in active mines, the groundwater is pumped out in order



Figure 23: Amount (tonne) of mercury released by artisanal gold mining (mean values) (Artisanal Gold Council, 2015)

to mine the ores, in abandoned mines, when the pumps are turned off, the water table rises. This, in the presence of oxygen and of sulfide rocks, results in AMD (Johnson and Hallberg, 2005). If these sulfides are oxidized in the presence of water, sulfuric acid is produced. These acidic drainages (AMDs) leach into the soil and migrate with surface and groundwater streams. With their low pH they provoke the release of several heavy metals and metalloids associated with sulfide rocks. These include antimony, arsenic, cadmium, copper, iron, mercury, manganese, lead, thallium, and zinc (Schwartz, 2000; Adriano, 2001; Filella et al., 2002; Naicker et al., 2003; Peter and Viraraghavan, 2005). The chemical processes involved in the formation of AMD are:

- 1. The oxidation of iron sulfide
- 2. Ferrous iron (Fe2+) oxidation
- 3. Ferric iron (Fe³⁺) hydrolysis

F

4. The enhanced oxidation of ferric sulfide ions.

$$FeS_{2} + \frac{7}{2}O_{2} + H_{2}O \longrightarrow Fe^{2+} + 2SO_{4}^{2-} + 2H^{+}$$
(1)

$$Fe^{2+} + \frac{1}{4}O_{2} + H^{+} \longrightarrow Fe^{3+} + \frac{1}{2}H_{2}O$$
(2)

$$Fe^{3+} + 3H_{2}O \longrightarrow Fe(OH)_{3}(s) + 3H^{+}$$
(3)

$$FeS_{2} + 14Fe^{3+} + 8H_{2}O \longrightarrow 15Fe^{2+} + 2SO_{4}^{2-} + 16H^{+}$$
(4)

This oxidation of ferrous iron (Fe²⁺) to ferric iron (Fe³⁺) and the production of sulfuric acid, and thus the formation of AMDs, can be accelerated by acidophilic bacteria and archaea (Johnson and Hallberg, 2003). Today, especially in low- and middle-income countries, the remediation techniques for AMD polluted sites are still too costly and labor intensive. If untreated, AMD can pose an environmental burden for thousands of years (Farell et. al., 2004).

Investigations in the Witwatersrand region of South Africa, which is famous for its gold mining, have measured highly elevated levels of heavy metals and metalloids in surface water, groundwater, and soil samples near abandoned tailings. As a result of AMD, concentrations in the order of mg/L have been found for chromium, zinc, cadmium, lead, copper, iron, manganese, cobalt, nickel, sodium, and calcium, and in the order of µg/L for arsenic, mercury, and selenium (Naicker et al., 2003). At this mining site, acidified and heavy metal contaminated groundwater and seepage waters with even lower pHs have resulted from AMD, causing high levels of environmental pollution. Although not mentioned in the literature cited before, in the same region, the leaching of uranium from soils through AMD causes environmental damage of high concern (Winde and de Villiers, 2002; Winde and Sandham, 2004; Tutu et al., 2008). In the Natalspruit River, downstream from the mining area, the river beds were coated with a layer of orange colored limonite that has been deposited over decades. The result is that this river is no longer a habitat for animal life; and only a minimal amount of aquatic vegetation can be found in this region (da Silveira et al., 2009). Examples of AMD like this can be found worldwide. However, in low- and middle-income countries, it is those regions with few environmental controls, restrictions, regulations, and resources for remediation, and where abandoned mines and tailings are left in unsafe conditions that are affected the most (Djenchuraev, 1999; McKinnon, 2002; Linetal., 2007; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2013).

Working conditions and occupational incidents

In higher-income countries, the mining and ore refining industries have made considerable progress in providing safer work environments and in using more environmentally-friendly methods (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012). In low- and middle-income countries, some progress has been made as a result of initiatives of the 'Strategic Approach to International Chemicals Management' (SAICM) policy framework and the 'International Council on Mining and Metals' (ICMM). However, inadequate enforcement of environmental legislation and lack of environmental restrictions and controls result in the release of toxicants into the environment. Besides the adverse effects caused to the environment, the health of the employees in the mining and ore refining sectors is endangered as well. According to the report 'The World's Worst Pollution Problems, 2012', in lower-income countries, the health of 2.5 million people engaged in the lead smelting industry and of 14 million people involved in the mining and ore processing industries is at risk (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012).

For instance, there is evidence that bad working conditions have been found in Chinese-run copper mines located in Zambia (Smith, 2011). There, employees are working under poor, unhealthy, and unsafe conditions (inadequate ventilation and insufficient protective clothing). The workers are put under continuous pressure and exploited, having labor shifts of 12 to 18 hours. From medical examinations of and personal interviews with the workers, there is evidence that the employees suffer considerably from diseases associated with mining pollutants because of the bad and unsafe working conditions. Additionally, the mine workers were urged to keep secret any occupational incidents (Wells, 2011). It can be assumed that it is not just these miners in Zambia who are working under unsafe and unhealthy conditions.

Best practices

Implemented examples

Increasing data transparency

Regrettably, corruption within the mining and mineral sector is still a significant issue. This is particularly the case where mining activities have expanded in the lightly-regulated and remote regions of low- and middle-income countries, like Southeast Asia, South America, and Africa (Marshall, 2001; McEwen, 2011; Ernst & Young, 2012).

The Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI) was established to increase transparency of the global revenue from extractives, such as petroleum and mining products, among all participating companies, governments, and civil societies. The EITI is a global coalition of governments, companies, and civil societies that is acting as a global standard for improving the openness and accountable management of revenues from natural resources. To discourage corruption, the EITI standards require the full disclosure of taxes and other payments made by oil, gas, mineral, and mining companies to governments. These payments are publicly available in an annual report (Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative, 2015).

Joining EITI can be beneficial for all participants of the multi-stakeholder group. For instance, by implementing the EITI standards, governments demonstrate commitment to reform and to dealing with corruption. This can lead to improved tax collection. The companies benefit from an enhanced and more stable investment climate because all companies are required to disclose the same information. This enables an improved engagement with citizens and society. Citizens and civil society benefit by receiving reliable information and the established multi-stakeholder platform improves the interactions between the different stakeholders (Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative, 2015).

In the extractive sector, enhanced transparency concerning revenues and improved transparency in the material flow of mining products are required. This will help provide more detailed economic information about exports and imports, which, in turn, leads to a better understanding of global supply chains in minerals, metalloid, and metals. Beside its economic relevance, this information can be used to estimate the amounts produced and refined on regional and international scales. For instance, the USGS is providing international and comprehensive data about the production, import, and export of minerals, but its data concerning the trade of minerals (exports and imports) is more referenced to the situation in the USA (United States Geological Survey, 2013). With the information of the EITI and the USGS, it may be possible to assess regions with a high potential for corruption and where mining can pose risks to environmental and human health.

Sustainable mining

Huge quantities of water are required during ore processing. The water is used for dust suppression, transporting slurry, and the needs of employees. Hence responsible approaches to water management and the implementation of water recycling systems are mandatory. By so doing, valuable water resources can be retained, the release of mining pollutants into surface water and groundwater can be reduced, and competitiveness between the mining industry and other interested groups, such as fisheries, farmers, and local municipalities, can be diminished. Conscientious use of water resources by mining industries is an important criterion for ensuring continued sustainability of mining operations. This is especially the case in water-stressed regions – to the extent that one can talk about sustainability and mining operations in the same breath. Accordingly, the ICMM is focusing on improving the industry's water management performance (International Council on Mining & Metals, 2012).

There are several case studies addressing improvement of water management mentioned in the ICMM report 'Water management in mining: a selection of case studies' (International Council on Mining & Metals, 2012). For example, in the coal mining region near the city of Emalahleni, northeast South Africa, where water resources are rare, the Emalahleni Water Reclamation Plant (EWRP) was commissioned in 2007. With the help of the EWRP, it is possible to treat water from mining operations and to pump and treat water from orphan mines. Following this treatment, an additional supply of water can be delivered from the plant to the local municipality's drinking water system. This reduces social water stress and retains drinking water resources. In addition, by pumping water out of abandoned mines, the formation of AMD and the additional dissolving of hazardous metals, metalloids, and salts can be prevented (International Council on Mining & Metals, 2012).

Remediation techniques

Taking the necessary precautions and avoiding causing environmental pollution from the outset is cheaper and more sustainable than environmental remediation. Nonetheless, more time and money should be invested to find feasible and low cost remediation techniques that can be implemented, particularly in already contaminated regions in low- and middle-income countries. Currently, there are several methods for remediating sites contaminated with inorganic pollutants (e.g. hazardous metals and metalloids). These include:

- The isolation method, which uses physical barriers made of steel, cement, and bentonite, and ground walls to immobilize pollutants
- The solidification/stabilization method, which injects agents to encapsulate contaminants in a solid matrix, or reduces the mobility of the contaminant by forming chemical bonds

- The size selection method, which separates larger cleaner particles from smaller more polluted ones
- Electrokinetic processes, which, by using low-intensity electric currents, precipitate ions and small charged particles that are then transported by water
- Bioleaching, which uses bacteria under aerobic conditions to leach out metals and metalloids (an effect comparable to the one forming AMD)
- Phytoremediation and constructed wetlands, which uses non-edible and disease-resistant plants, or plants which can provide renewable energy, that are able to take up and incorporate heavy metals and remove them from soils and contaminated water systems
- Soil washing and in-situ flushing, which is achieved by adding water, organic or inorganic acids, sodium hydroxide, water soluble solvents, and complexing agents in various combinations.

Most of these techniques are feasible and implemented only in industrial countries because in low- and middle-income countries, there are insufficient resources. Such techniques are often too cost intensive and there is less responsibility to remediate polluted and abandoned mining and ore processing sites. These examples of remediation techniques are described in more detail in Mulligan et al. (2001). The main challenge for remediation is that there is no cost-efficient remediation technique available to remove the different types of metals and metalloids in one go. This is because their different physicochemical properties and their different distribution patterns in the environment depend on the pH, soil composition, and their different bioavailability. Furthermore, there is no general method that can be used to remediate polluted sites completely. Moreover, before remediation of polluted sites can be undertaken, assessments of surface and groundwater streams and geological formations are required. Once this information is available, it is possible to find the most cost-effective, functional, and efficient methods for removing the hazardous pollutants. According to the laboratory experiments of Mkumbo (2012) in Tanzania, a combination of phytoremediation, using local plants, and solidification/stabilization techniques using buried nodules of the sorbent materials zeolite and autoclaved aerated concrete, seem to be feasible and costeffective methods. While these can be used in low- and middle-income countries to remove heavy metals, the techniques need to be further improved (Mkumbo, 2012).

Theoretical examples

There are several initiatives that focus on improving the performances of mining companies and promoting more sustainable, environmentally-friendly, and ethically reasonable mining activities. These initiatives include the WSSD, the MMSD project, and the ICMM. Despite these initiatives, the mining sector and its accompanying ore processing and refining industries are causing one of the world's worst pollution problems (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012). More viable and feasible incentives are required to push forward the implementation of more environmentally-friendly extraction techniques. They also need to increase the level of support for those mining companies or collectives that are seeking to comply with the local legislation, regardless of whether they are operating at a small or large scale. In addition, it is necessary to provide more education for the employees involved in the mining sector. This is especially the case in low- and middle-income countries, where the workers and the environment are affected the most. Obsolete techniques need to be abolished and more sustainable and effective methods promoted. For instance, the implementation of the FAIRMINED certificate is a first step in encouraging responsible smallscale gold mining activities. Small-scale mining communities can get the FAIRMINED certificate by following the required standards. These include requirements for them to:

- Conduct responsible, formal, and legal mining operations
- Take steps to protect the environment
- Meet strict requirements for labor conditions
- Ensure transparency in the trade of FAIRMINED minerals
- Support socio-economic development though a financial premium on the FAIRMINED products.

The FAIRMINED certificate guarantees that:

- During the production of the different mining products, no child under 15 years has worked for the mining organization and no child under 18 years has worked under hazardous or dangerous conditions
- The employees have used appropriate protective gear and attended health and safety training courses

• The product is traded fairly and that a part of the revenue is used for the social development of their communities or in new, more environmentally-friendly mining practices and technologies, minimizing the use of mercury and cyanide and mitigating the negative impacts on the environment and human health (Low, 2012; Fairmined, 2015).

Programs like this contain good, basic approaches that could be expanded and replicated at the international level and for other mining commodities as well. The implementation of FAIRMINED, FAIRTRADE, and FAIRPRODUCED labeled ores and mining commodities would be helpful in encouraging more responsible mining activities (for small-scale and large-scale operations) provided the requirements of the certificates are well controlled and reliable. With the help of trustworthy and serious certificates, it would be possible for consumers to make their own decisions as to whether they prefer to buy products that are mined and produced under ethically reasonable and more environmentally-friendly conditions. Their alternative would be to buy products where it is unclear whether the miners worked under bad and dangerous conditions, child labor was accepted, small-scale communities were exploited by mercenary authorities, and the environment polluted through using obsolete techniques.

Improvement in the recycling of metals and metalloids

In future, the focus should be on improving the secondary production of metals and metalloids and finding more sound and efficient methods of secondary extraction. This is feasible worldwide (even in low- and middle-income countries) and is better than focusing on expanding primary production. Basically, recycled metals are cheaper. The smelting and refining of scrap uses less energy and is more cost effective than the extraction, smelting, and refining of metals and metalloids from ores. For example, recycling iron saves 20% of the energy used to mine and process the ore. For copper, the comparable saving is 60% and for aluminum it is 90%. In addition, in secondary production it is not necessary to destroy and deforest valuable and vulnerable natural environments. Additionally, there is no disposal or stockpiling of the e-wastes and solid wastes associated with the processing of the ores of heavy metals and metalloids. Thus, compared to primary production, secondary production is more sustainable (Visser, 2012). Although secondary production is more sustainable, at this time, the recycling of metals and metalloid is still quite challenging. And, although in principle, metals are infinitely recyclable, under present conditions, the recycling of metals and metalloids is often

inefficient, and not every single metal or metalloid can be recycled efficiently. The widescale blending of different metals and metalloids to enhance their physicochemical properties and their characteristics - their resilience, thermal and electrical conductivity, hardness, and resistance to corrosion – makes the secondary production of metals and metalloids even more difficult (Reck and Graedel, 2012; Visser, 2012). The United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) and the International Resource Panel indicate that the capability of being recycled varies among the different metals. The estimated global end-of-life recycling rates (EOL-RR) indicate that of 60 metals which are discarded, 18, such as silver, aluminum, gold, cobalt, chromium, copper, iron, manganese, niobium, nickel, lead, palladium, platinum, rhenium, rhodium, tin, titanium, and zinc, are recycled 50% of the time (Graedel et al., 2011a, b). Three metals, iridium, magnesium, and molybdenum are recycled between 25 and 50% of the time (Figure 24). However, these data show that most discarded metals are recycled less than 1% of the time. In addition, in Figure 24, the most hazardous metals and metalloids that are released into the environment through mining activities are highlighted (white boxes).

In general, with the continuously increasing production and use of metals and metalloid-containing commodities (in electronics and construction materials), the inefficient disposal, separation, collection, and storage of metals and metalloids, and their inefficient recycling make it difficult to meet the demand. Therefore, at this time, mining, even though it is less cost efficient, is still necessary in order to provide sufficient minerals, metals, and metalloids; secondary production is not efficient enough to meet resource needs (Visser, 2012). However, improvements in and expansion of the secondary production of metals and metalloids would help to achieve a more sustainable closed-loop materials system. Such a development would reduce the deforestation and destruction of valuable environments and reduce the need to dispose of toxic heavy metals and metalloids. However, it is important that only controlled and sound methods should be used for recycling. Today, evidence of the bad practices in the recycling sector that mainly occur in low- and middleincome countries is well known. In some regions, people rifle through piles of rubbish looking for recyclable heavy metals and metalloids. For example, the inappropriate recycling of lead from lead-acid car batteries using obsolete and hazardous methods poses a high risk to human and environmental health (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2011, 2013). This topic will be discussed in more detail in the following section addressing electronic industry pollutants (e-waste).

4																	He
Be												5 3	6 C	7 N	8 0	9 F	10 Ne
12 Mg												3 Al	14 Si	15 P	16 S	17 Cl	18 Ar
20 Ca	21 Sc	22 Ti	23 V	24 Cr	25 Mn	26 Fe	27 Co	28 Ni	29 Cu				32 Ge	33 As	34 Se	35 Br	36 Kr
38 Sr	39 Y	40 Zr	41 Nb	42 Mo	43 Tc	44 Ru	45 Rh	46 Pd	47 Ag			-	50 Sn	51 Sb	52 Te	53 1	54 Xe
56 Ba	*	72 Hf	73 Ta	74 W	75 Re	76 Os	77 Ir	78 Pt	79 Au				82 Pb	83 Bi	84 Po	85 At	86 Rr
88 Ra	* *	104 Rf	105 Db	106 Sg	107 Bh	108 Hs	109 Mt	110 Ds	111 Rg				114 Uuq	115 Uup	116 Uuh	(117) (Uus)	118 Uu
Lant	hanide	es	57	58	59	60	61	62	63	64	65					70	71
** Actinides		La 89 Ac	90 Th	91 Pa	92 U	93 Np	94 Pu	95 Am	96 Cm	97 Bk	98	99	9 100	0 101	102	10 L	
N 2 2 0 3 2 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	Ag 20 Ca 38 Sr 56 33 38 38 38 38 38 38 4 38 38 38 4 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38 38	Arg 20 21 Ca Sc 38 39 Sr Y 56 * 38 *** Ra *	Arg 20 21 22 2a Sc Ti 38 39 Zr 56 * 72 3a ** 104 Ra ** Kf	Arg 20 21 22 23 20 Sc Ti V 38 39 40 41 Sr Y Zr Nb 36 * 72 73 38 ** 104 105 Ra ** Rf Db	Arg 20 21 22 71 V C1 20 21 22 71 V C1 C2 38 39 40 41 42 C1 Mo 36 * 72 73 74 Mo Mo 38 ** 104 105 106 Sg Lanthanides 57 58 La ** Actinides 89 90	Mg 20 21 22 23 24 25 Ca Sc Ti V Cr Mn 38 39 40 41 42 43 36 Y Zr Nb Mo Tc 36 * 72 73 74 75 38 ** 104 105 106 107 Ra ** 57 58 59 La 57 58 59 Pr ** Actinides 89 90 91	Mg 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 Ca Sc Ti V V Ca 25 26 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 Sr Y Zr Nb Mo Tc Ru 36 ** 72 73 74 75 76 38 ** 104 105 106 107 108 8a ** 104 Db Sg Bh Hs Lanthanids Sf Sg Sg Sp 60 Nd	Mg 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 Ca Sc Ti V Cr Mn Fe Co 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 Sr Y Zr Nb Mo Tc Ru Rh 36 * 72 73 74 75 76 77 38 ** 104 105 106 107 108 109 Ra ** 104 Db Sg 59 60 61 La Ce Pr Nd Pm Pm Pm	Mg Mg 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 Ca Sc Ti V Cr Mn Fe 26 27 28 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 56 Y Zr 73 74 75 76 77 78 38 ** 104 105 106 107 108 109 110 8a ** 104 105 Sg Sp 60 61 05 Ra ** 104 105 Sg Sp Nd Mt Ds Lantibus: S7 58 Sp Nd 61 62 ** Actinides 89 90 91 92 93 94	Mg Mg 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 38 * 72 73 74 75 76 77 78 79 38 ** 104 105 106 107 108 109 100 111 Ra ** 104 105 106 Pr Nd Nd Ds 89 Lanth=::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::	Mg Mg 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 20 21 Ti V Cr Mn Fe Co Ni Cu Zr 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 36 * 72 73 74 75 76 77 78 79 80 38a ** 104 105 106 107 108 109 110 111 112 Ra ** 104 105 Sg Bh Hs Md Ds Rg Uu Lanthanides 57 58 59 60 61 62 63 64 ** Actinides 89 90 91 92 93 94 95 96	Mg Image: Mg	Mg Al 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 2a Sc Ti V Cr Mn Fe Co Ni Cu 29 30 31 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 36 * 72 73 74 75 76 77 78 79 80 81 11 38 ** 104 105 106 107 108 109 110 111 112 113 38a ** 104 105 S9 Bh Hs Mt Ds Rg Uub Uut Lanthanides 57 58 59 60 61 62 63 64 65 60 K* Actinides 89 90 91 92 93 94 95 96 97 98	Mg Value AI Si 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 20 21 22 73 V Cr Mn Fe Co Ni 29 30 31 32 Ge 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 Sn 36 * 72 73 74 75 76 77 78 79 80 81 Pb 38 ** 104 105 106 107 108 109 110 111 112 113 114 Ra ** 104 105 Sg Sp 60 61 62 63 64 65 66 65 Ra ** 104 105 Sg Sp 60 61 62 63 64 65 104 104 Uuq Uuq Uuq 114 <td>Mg Mg Al Si P 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 38 33 35 36 <td< td=""><td>Mg Mg Si P Si 20 21 21 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 20 21 27 70 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52 56 51 52 56 51 52 56 57 78 79 80 81 81 82 83 84 90 50 51 52 56 56 67 78 79 80 81 81 81 84 90 80 81 11 82 83 84 90 90 90 90 90 91 90 91 90 91 90 90 90 91 90 91 90 91 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 <t< td=""><td>Mg Vision P S Cl 20 21 21 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36</td></t<></td></td<></td>	Mg Mg Al Si P 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 38 33 35 36 <td< td=""><td>Mg Mg Si P Si 20 21 21 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 20 21 27 70 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52 56 51 52 56 51 52 56 57 78 79 80 81 81 82 83 84 90 50 51 52 56 56 67 78 79 80 81 81 81 84 90 80 81 11 82 83 84 90 90 90 90 90 91 90 91 90 91 90 90 90 91 90 91 90 91 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 <t< td=""><td>Mg Vision P S Cl 20 21 21 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36</td></t<></td></td<>	Mg Mg Si P Si 20 21 21 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 20 21 27 70 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52 56 51 52 56 51 52 56 57 78 79 80 81 81 82 83 84 90 50 51 52 56 56 67 78 79 80 81 81 81 84 90 80 81 11 82 83 84 90 90 90 90 90 91 90 91 90 91 90 90 90 91 90 91 90 91 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 <t< td=""><td>Mg Vision P S Cl 20 21 21 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36</td></t<>	Mg Vision P S Cl 20 21 21 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36

Figure 24: Global estimates of end-of-life recycling rates for 60 metals and metalloids (Graedel et al., 2011a, b)



Electronic Industry Pollutants (E-Waste)

Chemical characteristics and their potential risks

Introduction

In today's throw-away society, the desire, for devices with faster and newer state-of-the art technology is leading to a continuous expansion of the electronic market and to shortened innovation cycles for electrical and electronic equipment (EEE). Much of this EEE has a short lifespan and fast turnover. Frequently, obsolete or damaged EEE is not recycled or repaired, but, more likely, is simply thrown away. Thus the amount of waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE), such as superseded personal computers, mobile phones, entertainment equipment, and electronic consumer equipment has proliferated immensely during the last decades. The increased production and disposal of EEE represents an emerging and growing problem that can adversely affect environmental and human health. This holds especially true, since WEEE is transported from high income countries (HICs) to lowand middle-income countries (LAMICs) such as Brazil, China, India, Mexico, Nigeria, Pakistan, and Thailand (International Labour Organization, 2012; Lewis, 2011; Skinner et al., 2010; Silicon Valley Toxics Coalition, 2014). Here, the waste is discarded or processed (dismantled and recycled) under poor and inappropriate conditions, since this type of waste comprises a wide range of hazardous compounds (these are discussed in more detail in the section E-waste pollutants of environmental concern; Widmer et al., 2005; Wong et al., 2007c; European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2012).

The amount of waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE) has proliferated immensely during the last decades.

Today, the generation of WEEE is the fastest growing waste stream worldwide (about 4% growth per year; International Labour Organization, 2012) and accounts for up to 8% of all municipal waste (Streicher-Porte et al., 2005). In general, the recent global production (data from 2006 and 2009) of WEEE is estimated to be between 20 and 50 million tonne, a large portion of which, as has already been mentioned, is sent to LAMICs (United Nations Environment Programme, 2006a; Robinson,

2009; Schluep et al., 2009). The production of WEEE in 2014/15 is predicted to be between 40 and 70 million tonne (Jain, 2008). This high variation in the volume of WEEE to be produced predicted in the literature underscores the difficulties in estimating the global generation of WEEE and the amounts of environmentally friendly or unfriendly compounds in it.

According to the Directive 2002/96/EC of the European Parliament (revised at the end of 2011) and of the Council (January 2003) on WEEE, this superseded EEE is defined as: "WEEE, which is waste, including all components, sub-assemblies and consumables, which are part of the product at the time of discarding." (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2012). WEEE was divided into 10 categories (Widmer et al., 2005):

- large household appliances
- small household appliances
- IT and telecommunications equipment
- consumer equipment
- lighting equipment
- electrical and electronic tools
- toys and sports equipment
- · medical devices
- monitoring and control instruments
- automatic dispersers.

Although, presumably, this categorization system is becoming a broadly accepted standard, there is no international standard definition for electronic waste (e-waste) available yet. There are several forms of WEEE which may or may not be normally considered as e-waste compounds as shown in the literature (Robinson, 2009). This makes it even more difficult to assess the amounts of ewaste that are produced, or shipped, at a global scale. There are international initiatives to prevent the export of and the trade in e-waste and other hazardous products. The Basel Convention on the Control of Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal (which came into force in 1992) is a good exemplar (United Nations Environment Programme, 2014). However, there is evidence that companies from industrial countries are searching for loop holes in the regulations in order to ship e-waste to LAMICs for cheaper recycling and cheaper disposal, or to offer obsolete EEE as secondhand goods. In some cases, unusable EEE is disguised as secondhand goods and shipped to LAMICs although it is useless or never used in the receiving countries (Jain, 2008; International Labour Organization, 2012). All in all, about 181 countries are supporting the Basel Convention and of these, 53 have signed it. Other countries - Angola, Fiji, Haiti, Myanmar, Sierra Leone, Solomon Islands, South Sudan, Tajikistan, Timor-Leste, United States of America, and Vanuatu - have not even confirmed the Basel Convention, which suggests that they are probably not willing to stop their exports of hazardous e-waste to LA-MICs yet. For the USA, one of the challenges might be that all federal states needs to fulfill the requirements of the Basel Convention to enable the affiliation of the USA to the Basel Convention. In addition, the implementation of the Basel Convention is mainly driven by the poorer countries affected by it and not by the HICs with strong economies. This might be another reason why the USA has not ratified the Basel Convention, yet (Martin Streicher-Porte (FHNW); personal communication). However, the International Labour Office (International Labour Organization, 2012) and Smith et al. (2006) have shown that 80% of all e-waste that is sent to LAMICs for recycling ends up in informal e-waste recycling sites. In addition to the e-waste which is shipped into LAMICs, domestically produced WEEE is increasing as well as a consequence of economic development, especially in regions such as India, China, and Africa. This further amplifies the burden

Main Issues

The main issues associated with the displacement, disposal, and processing of e-waste in LAMICs are (International Labour Organization, 2012):

- Regulations at international, national, and local level are still lacking or they are not observed
- Often unsuitable facilities and obsolete techniques are used to process e-waste in LAMICs
- E-waste contains a wide mixture and variety of compounds making separation and treatment complex
- Employees are working under bad labor conditions
- The toxicological potential of pollutants, released through the disposal and recycling processes, is high

of e-waste pollutants that needs to be handled by these countries (Jain, 2008).

Existing regulations and their enforcement

Many international regulations exist. However, these are not followed or still not approved in every country. Hence, although there are several international initiatives, such as the Basel Convention or the Basel Action Network Amendment, the trade and sale of e-waste, particularly from HICs to LAMICs and informal recycling businesses, still represents a major issue. Although the enforcement of these initiatives should help to inhibit the trade in WEEE or to better understand the transboundary movements of WEEE, the WEEE trade patterns are still difficult to assess, especially in LAMICs (Widmer et al., 2005; International Labour Organization, 2012; Lu et al., 2015). For instance, India has endorsed the Basel Convention, but it has not ratified the Basel Action Network (BAN) Amendment. Until now, in India there are no specific laws or guidelines framed for the trading and recycling of e-waste (International Labour Organization, 2012). On a global scale, the controls for the shipping of e-waste containers are still not efficient enough yet to control the trade completely (International Labour Organization, 2012). At the national and local levels, there is a serious lack of governmental authorities and regulations. Where they do exist, the poor implementation of legal instruments, corruption, the absence of standards for the recycling of e-waste, and the poor participation of stakeholders in supporting/applying sustainable and more environmentally-friendly recycling methods, especially in LAMICs, further promote the informal recycling of ewaste. These deficiencies make it even easier to trade and deal in e-waste. In addition, the definition of and legislation for controlling WEEE differ considerably from country to country (International Labour Organization, 2012; Lu et al., 2015).

One of the main incentives resulting in poor compliance with international and national regulations and the informal collection, trade, and recycling of e-waste is the profitable extraction and sale of valuable compounds – platinum group elements, gold, silver, and copper (Wong et al., 2007a; Robinson, 2009).

Poor facilities and obsolete techniques

Given the large amounts of e-waste imported by LAMICs – 20 to 50 million tonne (United Nations Environment Programme, 2006a; Robinson, 2009; Schluep et al., 2009) – these countries are receiving disproportionate loads of e-waste without having the knowledge, capacity, appropriate facilities, and techniques to handle them properly (International Labour Organization, 2012).

On a global scale, the controls for the shipping of e-waste containers are still not efficient enough yet to control the trade completely.

Informal e-waste recyclers are using inappropriate, unsafe, and obsolete treatment, disposal, and e-waste recycling technologies and methods, which pose a risk to environmental and human health. Often, the informal e-waste recyclers are using inappropriate, unsafe, and obsolete treatment, disposal, and ewaste recycling technologies and methods, which are posing a risk to environmental and human health. For instance, in LAMICs, pyro-, hydro- and bio-metallurgical processes are commonly used to recover valuable metals (Cui and Zhang, 2008). Pyro-metallurgical processing includes the incineration and smelting of e-waste containing valuable target precious metals and non-ferrous metals, such as platinum, gold, silver, and copper. More efficient processes are strongly linked with appropriate investment. Therefore, because resources are scarce, especially in LAMICs, these obsolete pyro-metallurgical methods are applied without using any emission filters or emission control systems. This leads to a release of toxic compounds, such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), heavy metals, and halogenated hydrocarbons, into the environment mainly as aerosol particles. It is the employees of these informal businesses, the local community, and the environment in the vicinity of these e-waste recycling sites that are most affected (Tue et al., 2010; International Labour Organization, 2012). In particular, the low-temperature, open burning in the fields of halogenated flame retardants and the incomplete combustion of the plastics and organic matter contained in the burned WEEE are causing an aerial exposure to highly toxic and carcinogenic PAHs, such as benzo[a]pyrene, dioxins, and furans in particulate form (Yu et al., 2006b; Cui and Zhang, 2008). In addition, the emission of these compounds leads to the contamination of the soil and water following dry and wet disposal methods. According to the investigations of the Blacksmith Institute, the burning and melting of plastic-sheathed cables to isolate and recover the copper is one of the main activities in Ghana that is of the highest concern from a public health perspective. This is because copper acts as a catalyst for dioxin formation during incineration processes (Cui and Zhang, 2008; Sepúlveda et al., 2010; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2013). Hydro- and bio-metallurgical processes are used to dissolve and recover the target metals. For hydro-metallurgical processing, acids and chemicals, like cyanide, halide, thiourea, and thiosulphate, are used. For bio-metallurgical processing, microbes, pyritic compounds, oxygen, and water are used to accelerate the natural leaching process of metals from e-waste heaps (Leung et al., 2008). At hydro- and bio-metallurgical processing sites, the leakage of acids, solvents, and heavy metals during the recycling and the extraction processes or the inappropriate disposal and dumping of e-waste can contaminate soils and drinking water resources in the vicinity.

The diverse composition of e-waste presented in Table 7, the different materials which are blended, glued, fixed, or clamped together, and the scarcity of financial resources are making the efficient recycling of plastic and individual types of metals very difficult (Mundl, 2010). Today, sustainable and more environmentally-friendly recycling technologies, which enable a sound recycling of e-waste, are just as applicable and economic in larger middle- and higherincome countries. But they require a large capital investment, qualified and well educated employees, and high quantities of e-waste to be available. For these reasons, in lower income countries and in most of the middleincome ones, informal recycling business are more prevalent. The pyro-metallurgical, state-of-the-art recycling of ewaste comprises three steps (Empa, 2009f):

- Removal of critical components from the e-waste in order to avoid dilution of and contamination with toxic substances during the subsequent recycling processes
- In large-scale operations, mechanical processing is used to further concentrate the specific components to be recovered from the e-waste and to further separate hazardous materials
- 3. Refining of resources in the e-waste to recover the raw material with minimal environmental impact.

Mixture and variety of different compounds

Heavy metals, metalloids, halogenated hydrocarbons, and other persistent and hazardous pollutants are to be found within the e-waste. The burning of e-waste at low temperatures produces PAHs, such as dioxins and furans, or is causing the release of further halogenated flame retardants. These compounds are known to pose a high risk to environmental and human health (Robinson, 2009). In addition to these toxic compounds, e-waste consists of a broad range of other material, such as glass, ceramics, plastics and rubber, rare earths, non-ferrous metals (aluminum, copper, and lead), ferrous metals (steel and iron), and precious metals (platinum group metals, gold and silver; International Labour Organization, 2012; Lu et al., 2015). The composition of the e-waste is strongly dependent on its type; there is high variation among the 10 different categories of WEEE of Directive 2012/19/EU of the European Parliament (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2012). In addition, the EEE industries, especially the ones located in higher-income countries, have been put recently under increased pressure to avoid or ban the use of highly toxic compounds, such as cadmium and mercury. Such was not the case in the past. Hence, older e-waste often contains more hazardous compounds than recently produced waste (Mundl, 2010). Table 7 shows the composition of the different types of WEEE. 'Large household appliances' includes refrigerators, freezers, and washing machines; 'small household appliances' includes vacuum cleaners, clocks, fryers, and toasters; 'information and communication technologies' includes personal computers, laptops, and telephones; and 'consumer electronics' includes televisions, cameras, and audio amplifiers (Empa, 2009a).

Inadequate labor conditions

The use of obsolete and unsafe methods for e-waste collection and recycling is posing a high risk to human health. The LAMIC workers often are not aware of the toxic compounds contained in the e-waste they are collecting, dismantling, and disassembling. They are mechanically shredding electronic and electrical equipment for recycling without wearing any googles, gloves, masks, or protection clothes. In LAMICs, children and women often may be involved in collecting e-waste, such as plastic coated cables, cathode ray tubes, and printed circuit boards and in manually separating out the desired components. Sometimes, mainly because of financial constraints, they are involved in the burning activities (Prakash et al., 2010). Children and women constitute one of the most susceptible at-risk groups exposed to the heavy metals, flame retardants, and PAHs, which are contained in e-waste or which are released by open e-waste burning activities. During the smelting, leaching, and other extraction processes for the target metals, the informal workers often do not wear masks or adequate protective clothing. In addition, often there are no emission control devices or emission filters being used and hence they are exposed to toxic fumes and solvents that continuously endanger their health (Leung et al., 2008; Li et al., 2008c; Robinson, 2009; International Labour Organization, 2012).

Elevated levels of contaminants associated with e-waste are measured in the blood, breast milk, hair, and placentas of people involved in collecting and processing e-waste or who are living in the vicinity of e-waste storage or processing sites. In this latter instance uptake mainly happens through the inhalation of contaminated air, dust, and fumes and the drinking or eating of contaminated water and food - rice, eggs, milk, and meat (Darnerud, 2003; Zhao et al., 2006; Chan et al., 2007; Leung et al., 2008, 2010; Robinson, 2009; Tue et al., 2010). Additionally hazardous compounds are transmitted via people's hands during eating because an adequate system of running water for hand washing is lacking (International Labour Organization, 2012). The occupational and public exposure and the bioaccumulation of toxicants that are emitted and leached from e-waste, especially

Table 7: Material composition of the four main e-waste categories [%] (Empa, 2009a)

Material	Large household appliances	Small household appliances	ICT ^A and consumer electronics
Ferrous metal	43	29	36
Aluminum	14	9.3	5
Copper	12	17	4
Lead	1.6	0.57	0.29
Cadmium	0.0014	0.0068	0.018
Mercury	0.000038	0.000018	0.00007
Gold	0.0000067	0.0000061	0.00024
Silver	0.0000077	0.000007	0.0012
Palladium	0.000003	0.0000024	0.00006
Indium	0	0	0.0005
Brominated plastics	0.29	0.75	18
Plastics	19	37	12
Lead glass	0	0	19
Glass	0.017	0.16	0.3
Other	10	6.9	5.7
Total	100	100	100

^A information and communication technologies

if they are stored and burned in the open air, can lead to acute and chronic health disorders. These disorders include skin and eye irritation, respiratory diseases (such as coughing, choking, pneumonitis and lung cancer, tuberculosis, and asthma), mental disorders, and diseases of the central nervous system (tremors, convulsions, and cancer) (Yu et al., 2006a). Moreover, increased incidences of birth defects, infant mortality, underdevelopment of the brains of children, blood diseases, anomalies of the immune system, and malfunction of the kidneys were found in regions with high informal e-waste collection, storage, and processing activities (Prakash et al., 2010).

Toxicological potential

As already mentioned, informal e-waste businesses in LAMICs are mostly associated with a considerable release of a diverse cocktail of highly toxic compounds. In general, about 1000 individual chemicals have been identified in e-waste streams. These include heavy metals and metalloids (A), PAHs (B), and halogenated hydrocarbons and flame retardants (C). These pose high risks to environmental and human health (Empa, 2009b; International Labour Organization, 2012). Currently, there are few studies and limited data on the impacts on the environment of the informal disposal and processing of e-waste. The adverse effects on human health, especially after long-term exposure, have not been investigated either. Nevertheless, it is known that many of the single compounds that are found in e-waste, on their own, act as

Currently, there are few studies and limited data on the impacts on the environment of the informal disposal and processing of e-waste. neurotoxins, endocrine disruptors, allergens, or carcinogens. Also many of them are slowly degraded by natural processes and have a high potential for bioaccumulation (International Labour Organization, 2012). The adverse effects caused by exposure to mixtures of these hazardous compounds has not been sufficiently investigated at the present time. Since the composition of e-waste varies enormously, not every substance that is released into the environment from e-waste storage and processing can be considered in this report. The major groups and main substances of highest environmental concern that are contained in e-waste are summarized below and in Table 8, Table 9, and Table 10.

E-waste pollutants of environmental concern

A) Heavy metals and metalloids.

Antimony, arsenic, barium, beryllium, cadmium, cobalt, copper, chromium VI, indium, lead, lithium, mercury, nickel, thallium, tin, rare earth elements (yttrium, europium), and zinc sulfide are the metals and metalloids contained in e-waste that are of the highest environmental concern (Empa, 2009b; International Labour Organization, 2012; Table 8).

Use

The amounts of the individual heavy metals and metalloids that are used for the production of EEE in the electronic industry is not assessable. The amounts of the elements that are used in the semiconductor or the electronic industry have increased significantly - from the 12 elements that were used in 1980 to the 60 elements used in the 21th century (Appendix Figure 5; Theis, 2007). For instance, information about specific agents and compounds that are used in mobile phones and tablets and their specific purposes in these electronic devices are not easily accessible and are generally unknown to the public. Often, these details are secret or this information is not made available because of patent laws. In addition, complex alloys of different chemical compounds, metals, and metalloids are blended together, which makes it more difficult to get an overview of the chemicals used in EEE (Brunning, 2014). Although data about compounds used in such EEE as mobile phones and tablets are limited, some necessary elements which constitute parts of this EEE can be assumed. For instance, mobile phone and tablet screens often contain a mixture of indium and tin oxides which acts as an electrical conductor and enables users to control the devices using their hands. The glass of the screens often comprises aluminosilicates and potassium ions. In addition, several rare earth elements, such as yittrium, lantharium, terbium, praseodymium, europium, dysprosium, and gadolinium, are used to produce the screen colors. In modern mobile phones, often lithium ion batteries are used. These often contain lithium cobalt oxides or manganese and carbon. The micro-electrical parts in the mobile phone often consist of copper wires and gold, silver, and platinum group elements. The microphone and the speaker often contain nickel, praseodymium, gadolinium, neodymium, terbium, and dysprosium. Silicon is one of the main compound in chips, while other compounds, such as antimony, arsenic, and gallium, are used as well as electrical conductors. Often tin and lead solders are used, while lead-free solder contains metals such as tin, copper, and silver. The cases of the various devices are mainly made of magnesium compounds or plastics with flame retardants. For example, more than 30 elements are used in the manufacture of mobile phones and tablets. Additionally, data from Umicore Precious Metal Refining showed that more than 40 elements are used during the production of mobile phones (Schluep et al., 2009). These examples emphasize the large variety of compounds used in electrical devices. Table 8 details the major metals and metalloids that occur in EEE. It lists their intended uses, human toxicity, their maximum contaminant levels (MCLs) for drinking water, and their acute (MAC-EQS) and chronic (AA-EQS) environmental quality standard for aquatic organisms in surface water bodies.

Environmental behavior and occurrence

The release and distribution of metals and metalloids into the environment depend on several factors. The use of rudimentary e-waste recycling approaches, like incineration or the burning of e-waste in open fires, or using acids (cyanides and halides) to leach and extract the desired components in an open field without any controls and regulations, results in a serious release of hazardous metals and metalloids and other toxic substances into the environment (International Labour Organization, 2012).

In general, after low-temperature incineration processes in the absence of any filter systems, these compounds are emitted into the air mainly as fumes or as airborne particles bound to soot or other organic matter. Subsequently, metals and metalloids can precipitate via dry or wet deposition after rain events and contaminate surface water systems, natural and agricultural soils, or they can adsorb to the cuticles of plants that are in the vicinity of e-waste processing sites. In addition, metals and metalloids can directly diffuse into soils and groundwater from landfills as a result of natural processes or rudimentary recycling techniques via chemical or biological seepage and thus contaminate soils, agricultural crops, and drinking water resources. The distribution of metals and metalloids in soils and their uptake and incorporation by plants via roots is dependent on water availability, soil and plant type, pH, redox potential, organic content, and the metal species (Adriano, 2001; Steiner, 2004; Luo et al., 2011).

The different solubilities and bioavailabilities of the individual metals and metalloids are highly variable. The environmental behaviors of Cd, Cr, Cu, Pb, Hg, Tl, As, and Sb – the most serious and relevant metallic pollutants of environmental concern – are described in more detail in the section **Mining pollutants of environmental concern** (p. 70).

In south China, concentrations of Cd of 17 mg/kg, of Cu of 11,140 mg/kg, of Pb of 4500 mg/kg, and of Zn of 3690 mg/kg were determined in soils of former e-waste incineration sites (mean values; Luo et al., 2011). The common background concentration of Cd was from 0.11 to 0.5 mg/kg (Fassett, 1975; Salomons and Förstner, 1984; Giuffré de López Camelo et al., 1997), that of Cu was from 50 to 55mg/kg (Taylor, 1964; Salomons and Förstner, 1984), that of Pb was from 13 to 26 mg/kg (Zimdahl et al., 1973; Salomons and Förstner, 1984; World Health Organization, 2011; Thomas Jefferson National Accelerator Facility, 2014) and that of Zn was from 52 to 79 mg/kg (Wedepohl, 1995).

Rice and vegetables, cultivated in the same region, showed elevated heavy metal concentrations which exceed the maximum level permitted in Chinese food (Leung et al., 2008). Children living in Guiyu, China, had significantly elevated blood lead levels (BLL) and blood cadmium levels. Of the children surveyed, about 71% (109 of 154) had a BLL higher than 100 µg/L (Zheng et al., 2008b). These values indicate that the release of metals and metalloids through rudimentary recycling businesses are posing a risk to environmental and human health and that they have a potential for bioaccumulation. Today, a reference BLL of 50 µg/L is used to identify children with BLLs that are much higher than most children's levels. If the BLL of a child between 1 and 5 years of age is equal to or higher than 450 µg/L, medical treatment is recommended (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2014).

Toxicity

Several metals and metalloids are known or suspected to promote the formation of several forms of cancer. For instance, according to the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), As, Be, Cd, and Cr(VI) are listed in group 1, carcinogenic to humans. In addition, Indium (In) and Pb are listed in group 2A, probably carcinogenic to humans. And antimony trioxides, Co, organic Hg compounds, and Ni are listed in group 2B, possibly carcinogenic to humans (IARC classifications see Table 8). As determined by the US Environmental Protection Agency, the MCL for drinking water for As is 0.001 mg/L, for Be and Cd 0.005 mg/L, for Cr(VI) 0.1 mg/L, for Pb 0.015 mg/L, and for Hg 0.002 mg/L. For In and Co there are no MCLs available yet. The MCLs of other metals and metalloids are presented in Table 8 as well. Several metals and metalloids act as neurotoxins and cause impairments of the nervous system. These include As, Cd, Hg, Li, Pb, and Tl. Other compounds, such as Co, Cr(VI), Cu, Li, and Ni, are known to act as skin and eye irritants or as allergens. The inhalation of As, Be, Cd, Co, Cr(VI), and Ni provokes the formation of pulmonary diseases affecting the respiratory system (Table 8).

The toxic effects to plants and animals of the metals Cd, Cr, Cu, Pb, Hg, and Tl and the metalloids As and Sb, are presented in Table 8. These heavy metals and metalloids are able to affect aquatic organisms in surface water bodies even at low concentrations. The lower the EQS values (in μ g/L) of each individual compound, the higher is its potential to pose a hazard for aquatic organism. Li, Cd, Be, Tl, Co, and Pb have acute MAC-EQS of between 0.344 and 14 μ g/L, while Be, Tl, Cd, Co, Li, and Pb have chronic AA-EQS ranging from 0.0092 to1.2 μ g/L (Table 8; European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2008, 2013; van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2009; European Chemicals Agency, 2015). Additional AA-EQS and MAC-EQS values of other relevant compounds are presented in Table 8.

The metals Cd, Cr, Cu, Pb, Hg, and Tl and the metalloids As and Sb affect aquatic organisms in surface water bodies even at low concentrations.

Table 8: Metals and metalloids that occur in WEEE and their risks to humans and aquatic systems (Empa, 2009b; International Labour Organization, 2012)

Chemical Examples of the occurrence of hazardous metals and metalloids in WEEE ^A		Health concerns (humans)	MCL ^B [mg/L]	Environmental quality standard (in surface water bodies) AA-EQS/MAC-EQS [µg/L] ^C		
Antimony (antimony trioxide Sb ₂ O ₃)	Sb ₂ O ₃ : flame retardant in EEE, cathode ray tubes (old televisions and monitors) and printed circuit boards	The IARC classifies Sb_2O_3 in group 2B, possibly carcinogenic to humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). Sb and Sb compounds are considered as priority pollutants (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2014c). Sb seems to give rise to inducing disruption or breakages of chromosomes. Sb is toxic to blood, kidneys, lungs, the nervous system, liver, and the mucous membranes after inhalation or ingestion (Cooper and Harrison, 2009; Science Lab, 2013).	0.006	7.2/NA (Marion Junghans (Ecotox Centre); personal communication)		
Arsenic (As)	As is used to make transistors, while gallium arsenide is used in light emitting diodes	The IARC lists inorganic As in group I, carcinogenic to humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). Acute uptake of As can cause a decrease in the production of red and white blood cells, cardiac arrhy thmias, blood-vessel damage resulting in bruising, and impaired nerve function (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2007a).	0.01	50/NA (UK Technical Advisory Group on the Water Framework Directive, 2008)		
Barium (Ba)	Getters in cathode ray tubes	No IARC classification. Short-term exposure leads to muscle weakness and affects heart, liver, and spleen. It causes brain swelling after short-term exposure (Osuagwu and Ikerionwu, 2010).	2	9.3/220 (van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2009)		
Beryllium (Be)	Motherboards of computers and power supply boxes which contain silicon-controlled rectifiers and x-ray lenses	The IARC lists Be and its compounds in group I, carcinogenic to humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). It can cause lung cancer. Inhalation of fumes can cause chronic beryllium disease (beryllicosis) and skin diseases (Osuagwu and Ikerionwu, 2010).	0.004	0.0092/0.83 (van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2009)		
Cadmium (Cd)	Chip resistors and semiconductors, rechargeable Ni-Cd batteries, fluorescent layer (cathode ray tubes), printer inks and toners for photo- copying-machines	Cd is classified by the IARC in group I, carcinogenic to humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 1993). The uptake of Cd oxides by inhalation of smoke or occupational pollution causes acute respiratory distress syndrome or pulmonary edema. Long-term exposure leads to renal dysfunction, anemia, osteoporosis, and bone fractures (Friberg et al., 1985; Barbee Jr and Prince, 1999; Godt et al., 2006). In the human body, the kidney is the main target for bioaccumulation. There, chronic Cd uptake leads to tubulus cell necrosis (Orlowski and Piotrowski, 2003; Godt et al., 2006).	0.005	Class 1: 0.08/0.45 Class 2: 0.09/0.6 Class 3: 0.15/0.9 Class 4: 0.25/1.5 ^D (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2008)		
Chromium (VI) (Cr(VI))	Corrosion protection of untreated and galvanized steel plates and as an alloy or hardener for steel housings con- taining data tapes and floppy discs	According to the IARC, Cr(VI) is classified in group 1 carcino- genic to humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). Occupational exposure of Cr(VI) in the long-term leads to perforation of the nasal septum, asthma, bronchial inflamma- tions, or lung cancer, and inflammation of the larynx and liver. Skin contact elicits allergies, dermatitis, dermal necrosis, and dermal corrosion (Lee et al., 1989; Straif et al., 2009; Bedi et al., 2013).	0.1	Cr(III): 4.7/32 Cr(VI): 3.4/NA (UK Technical Advisory Group on the Water Framework Directive, 2008)		
Cobalt (Co)	Rechargeable batteries and coatings for hard disk drives	The IARC classifies cobalt and its compounds in group 2B, possibly carcinogenic to humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). It acts as a skin irritant. Uptake via inhalation or ingestion, if repeated and prolonged, may have carcinogenic effects and is toxic to the lungs (animal study), or it can affect other organs (LabChem, 2009; International Labour Organization, 2012).	-	0.089/1.6 (van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2009)		
Copper (Cu)	Used as a conductor in cables and wires	The IARC classifies copper 8-hydroxyquinoline, in Group 3, not classifiable as to carcinogenicity in humans. Excessive exposure to Cu results in adverse health effects including liver and kidney damage, anemia, immunotoxicity, and developmental toxicity. After ingestion of a copper sulfate solution, adverse health effects, like gastrointestinal distress, nausea, vomiting, and abdominal pain, were observed. Occupational exposure to Cu acts as an irritant of the respiratory tract (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2004a).	1.3	1/NA (based on the bioavailable concentration) (UK Technical Advisory Group on the Water Framework Directive, 2012)		

A: (Empa, 2009b; International Labour Organization, 2012)

B: Maximum contaminant level (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015c)

C: The acute and the chronic environmental quality standards (EU-standard), AA-EQS (annual average concentration) and MAC-EQS (maximum allowable concentration) represent chronic and acute environmental concentrations of chemical agents which affect water organisms significantly.

D: AA-EQS and MAC-EQS of cadmium are dependent on water hardness classes. Class 1: < 40 mg CaCO₃/L; Class 2: 40 to 50 mg CaCO₃; /L; Class 3: 50 to 100 mg CaCO₃/L; Class 4: 100 to 200 mg CaCO₃. /L;
Chemical	Examples of the occurrence of hazardous metals and metalloids in WEEE ^A	Health concerns (humans)	MCL ^B [mg/L]	Environmental quality standard (in surface water bodies) AA-EQS/MAC-EQS [µg/L] ^C
Indium (In)	Liquid crystal display screens, semiconductors, injection lasers, solar cells, photodiodes, and light emitting diodes (National Toxicology Program, 2001)	The IARC classifies indium and its compounds in group 2A, probably carcinogenic to humans (International Agency for Re- search on Cancer, 2015). The probably carcinogenic potential is deduced from animal studies. Exposure to indium compounds caused extraordinarily high incidences of malignant neoplasms of the lungs of rats and mice, increased incidences of pheo- chromocytomas in rats, and increased incidences of hepato- cellular neoplasms in mice, even at very low test doses and short exposure periods (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2006a).	-	26/NA (Ministry of the Environment Japan, 2014)
Lead (Pb)	Solder of printed circuit boards, glass panels and gaskets in computer monitors, cathode ray tube screens, and batteries. Lead-acid batteries used in vehicles (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012)	The IARC classifies inorganic lead and its compounds in group 2A, probably carcinogenic to humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). Inorganic lead, especially, causes damage to the central and peripheral nervous system, affects the blood system (increases blood pressure or anemia) and kidneys, and the brain development of children. The main target for lead toxicity is the nervous system (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2007b; Osuagwu and Ikerionwu, 2010).	0.015	1.2 (based on the bioavailable concentration)/14 (European Parliament and Council of the European Union 2013)
Lithium (Li)	Lithium batteries and rechargeable batteries	No IARC classification (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). Inorganic lithium compounds act as skin and eye irritants. Short-term exposure causes sneezing, coughing, and severe irritation of the respiratory system. After ingestion, mouth, trachea, and esophagus may be burned, or mental confusion, nausea, coma, and death result. Long-term exposure can affect the nervous system or it may affect the renal system (National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 1978). Moreover, there are assumptions that lithium exposure may affect the development of unborn children. Lithium is used therapeutically for the treatment of manic depression or bipolar disorders (Aral and Vecchio-Sadus, 2008; McKnight et al., 2012).	-	0.23/0.344 (adapted from a PNEC value) (European Chemicals Agency, 2015)
Mercury (Hg)	Relays, switches and printed circuit boards, fluorescent lamps, in some batteries, old thermometers	The IARC classifies mercury and inorganic mercury compounds in group 3, not classifiable as to its carcinogenicity to humans, and organic mercury compounds in group 2B, possibly carci- nogenic to humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). Mercury is known as a neurotoxin. Even at low doses it causes impairment of the nervous system. Typical symptoms of mercury poisoning are malfunction of peripheral visions, numbness in hands, feet, and around the mouth, extrapyramidal diseases and movement disorders, impairment in writing, of speech, hearing, and walking, mental degradation and kidney damage. Children, especially those born to mothers exposed to mercury, are highly vulnerable to mercury poisoning diseases e.g. ataxia, constriction of the visual field, congenital cerebral palsy, or mental retardation (Agency for Toxic Substan- ces and Disease Registry, 1999).	0.002	NA/0.07 (biota standard of 20 µg/kg wet weight) (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2013)
Nickel (Ni)	Rechargeable batteries, electron gun in cathode ray tubes	The IARC classifies metallic nickel and nickel alloys in group 2B, possibly carcinogenic to humans and nickel compounds in group 1, carcinogenic to humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). Nickel and its compounds are known to cause allergic reactions by promoting contact dermatitis. Chronic exposure leads to lung fibrosis and cardiovascular and kidney diseases. Nickel compounds are known for their carcinogenic activity (Denkhaus and Salnikow, 2002).	-	4/34 (based on the concentration which is bioavailable) (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2013)

Chemical	Examples of the occurrence of hazardous metals and metalloids in WEEE ^A	Health concerns (humans)	MCL ^B [mg/L]	Environmental quality standard (in surface water bodies) AA-EQS/MAC-EQS [µg/L] ^C
Thallium (TI)	Batteries, semiconductors, in scintillation counters, laser equipment, fiber glass, and photovoltaic cells	No IARC classification although it is suspected to be more toxic than Cd, Hg, and Pb. Today, few studies about its carcinogenic potential are available (Cheam, 2001). Because of its similarity in ionic charge and its ion radius to potassium, Tl(I), especially, can be absorbed and distributed easily throughout the entire body by mimicking potassium in its movement patterns and intracellular accumulation in mammals. In the body, it accumulates easily in bones, the renal medulla, and in the nervous system (Peter and Viraraghavan, 2005). Amounts of from 0.7 to 1.1 g of soluble TI salts are determined to be the minimum lethal dose for an adult with a body weight of 70 kg (Moeschlin, 1980). Symptoms of acute TI poisoning are alopecia, nausea, tachy-cardia, diarrhea, and impairments of the lungs, heart, and gastro-intestinal system. Impairments of the nervous system are more likely to result from chronic exposure to TI. However, there is a dearth of studies about the regular chronic uptake of low doses of TI (Saddique and Peterson, 1983; Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2013; Frattini, 2005; Cvjetko et al., 2010).	0.002	0.013/0.8 (van Vlaardingen and Verbruggen, 2009)
Rare earth elements (REE)	Fluorescent layer (cathode ray tube screen), screens of mobile phones, tablets, and other electronic devices, catalysts, energy-efficient light bulbs, magnets (Hirano and Suzuki, 1996; Casado, 2013)	No IARC classification (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). Information about the toxicity of REE is rare, therefore more research is required. REEs seem to be very persistent in the environment (Tang and Johannesson, 2006; Brioschi et al., 2013). They have a potential for accumulation in biota and humans (Tong et al., 2004; d'Aquino et al., 2009) and there is evidence for their chronic toxicity (Hirano and Suzuki, 1996). For instance, a link was observed between occupational REE exposure and the lung disease, pneumoconiosis (Sabbioni et al., 1982) and REE exposure was related with the formation of pulmonary fibrosis (McDonald et al., 1995). In refining REEs, radioactive waste is produced which may affect human and environmental health indirectly (El-Husaini and El-Hazek, 2005).	-	For fresh surface water the maximum permissible addition of REE ranges from 1.4 µg/L for neodymium to 22 µg/L for cerium (Sneller et al., 2000)
Zinc (Zn), (sulfide, chromates)	Plating material, interior of cathode ray tube screens, mixed with REE	No IARC classification (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). Excessive short-term exposure to ingesting zinc can cause stomach cramps, nausea, and vomiting. Chronic ingestion of Zn can cause anemia, damage the pancreas, and decrease levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2005).	-	10.9/NA (UK Technical Advisory Group on the Water Framework Directive, 2012)

A: (Empa, 2009b; International Labour Organization, 2012)

B: Maximum contaminant level (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015c)

C: The acute and the chronic environmental quality standards (EU-standard), AA-EQS (annual average concentration) and MAC-EQS (maximum allowable concentration) represent chronic and acute environmental concentrations of chemical agents which affect water organisms significantly.

B) PAHs, dioxins, and furans

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), such as: benzo[b]fluoranthene, benzo[k]fluoranthene, benzo[a] pyrene, dibenzo[a,h]anthracene, dibenzo[a,l]pyrene, indeno[1,2,3-cd]pyrene, etc., polyhalogenated dibenzodioxins (PHDDs; for instance, polychlorinated dibenzodioxins, PCDDs), and polyhalogenated dibenzofurans (PHD-Fs) (for instance polychlorinated dibenzofurans, PCDFs) are the most toxic and carcinogenic compounds. They are produced by the incomplete combustion of organic matter and rudimentary WEEE processing or obsolete recycling methods (Yu et al., 2006b; Chan et al., 2007; Cui and Zhang, 2008; Sepúlveda et al., 2010; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2013).

Use

PAHs, dioxins, and furans are not intentionally manufactured and they have no known commercial applications other than for research purposes (Empa, 2009b; International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012a). These compounds are generally formed as unwanted by-products and they are subsequently released into the environment through the incomplete combustion of organic matter during residential/commercial biomass burning. This is a process that happens during cement production and other industrial combustion (production) processes, combustion of fossil fuels, and the incineration or open air burning of biomass (agricultural waste, deforestation, and wild fires), particularly if no soot particle filters are used. In 2007, it was estimated that the global annual atmospheric emission of 16 PAHs ranged from 331 to 818 Gg (as the interquartile range). In addition, it was shown that the proportion of emitted highly carcinogenic PAHs is higher in LAMICs (6.22%) than in HICs (5.73%) because of a lack of regulations and emission controls and the use of obsolete combustion methods (Shen et al., 2013).

In terms of e-waste, the unregulated burning of polyvinyl-sheathed (or other related plastic coated) EEE, or the melting of halogenated polymer casings from electronic devices or coated wires to recycle plastics or to extract valuable metals, such as copper, are the most relevant processes involved in the formation of PAHs, PHDDs, and PHDF (Christmann et al., 1989; Söderström and Marklund, 2002; Wang et al., 2002; Liu et al., 2008; International Labour Organization, 2012). It is known that metals like Cu and Fe, which are contained in e-waste, act as catalysts for the formation of PHDDs and PHDFs as shown in equations 1 to 7. In 1996, it was calculated that about 13,100 \pm 2000 kg/year of dioxins and furans were produced unintentionally and deposited from the atmosphere worldwide (12,500 \pm 1399 kg/year from terrestrial deposition and 610 ± 1500 kg/year from oceanic deposition; lida et al., 1974; Hagenmaier et al., 1987; Brzuzy and Hites, 1996; Wang et al., 2002).

Through pyrolysis, PVC molecules cleave in HCl and organic molecules (aromatic rings; equation 1). These molecules could possibly react to form halogenated organic molecules (equation 2), though this reaction will not happen under normal conditions since it is thermodynamically inefficient (Gibbs free energy of formation: $\Delta G > 0 \rightarrow$ non-spontaneous, endergonic reaction). If HCl is converted to Cl₂ with a catalyst such as copper chloride, the formation of halogenated aromatic compounds (chlorobenzenes, dichloropenzenes, chlorophenols, etc.) and, therefore, the possible formation of halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons, such as dioxins and furans, is favored (equation 3 and 4; $\Delta G < 0 \rightarrow$ spontaneous, exothermic reaction; Wang et al., 2002). As already mentioned, the formation of polyhalogenated dioxins and furans is induced if plastics, such as polyvinyl chlorides or other related polymers, are burned at low temperatures, when the presence of halogenated flame retardants can further induce the formation of halogenated dibenzodioxins and dibenzofurans (Wang et al., 2002; Weber and Kuch, 2003). In contrast, in the absence of metallic catalysts, PAHs are formed predominantly during e-waste incineration processes (Gullett et al., 1990; Wang et al., 2002).

PVC $\stackrel{\Delta}{\longrightarrow}$ HCl + organic molecules (us	ually of aromatic ring structures)	(1)
$Bz(g) + 2HCI(g) \xrightarrow{\vartriangle} Cl_2Bz(g) + H_2(g)$	∆G = +143.51 kJ	(2)
$2\text{HCl}(g) + \frac{1}{2}O_2 \xrightarrow{\Delta} \text{Cl}_2(g) + \text{H}_2O(g)$	∆G = -37.95 kJ	(3)
$Bz(g) + Cl_2(g) \xrightarrow{\Delta} Cl_2Bz(g)$	∆G = -46.99 kJ	(4)

Reaction 3 can be catalyzed by copper chloride, as presented in equation 5 (Hagenmaier et al., 1987).

$CuCl_2 + 1/2O_2 \xrightarrow{\Delta} CuO + Cl_2$	
$CuO + 2HCI \xrightarrow{\Delta} CuCl_2 + H_2O$	(5)
$2\text{HCI} + \frac{1}{2}\text{O}_2 \xrightarrow{\Delta} \text{CI}_2 + \text{H}_2\text{O}$	

where ΔG = Gibbs free energy of formation

Bz = Benzene $Cl_2 = Chlorine$ $Cl_2Bz = Dichlorbenzene$ $CuCl_2 = Copper chloride$ CuO = Copper oxide $H_2 = Hydrogen$ HCl = Hydrogen chloride $H_2O = Water$ $O_2 = Oxygen$ PVC = Polyvinyl chloride

Environmental behavior and occurrence

There are over 100 different PAHs, about 75 different PCDDs, and 135 PCDFs with varying physicochemical properties between their homologue groups and their congeners. Of these, 2,3,7,8 tetrachlorodibenzodioxin (TCDD 2,3,4,7,8-pentachlorodibenzofuran (PeCDF), and the PAH, benzo[a]pyrene (B[a]P) are the ones of most concern (Table 9) from the environmental and human toxicological perspectives. Although PAHs, dioxins and their congeners, and the furans differ in their physicochemical properties, they have in common that they are generally all poorly soluble in water (water solubility: 2,3,7,8-TCDD = insoluble in water; 2,3,4,7,8-PCDF = 0,00024 mg/L; Benzo[a]pyrene = 0.00162 mg/L). They show high octanol-water coefficients (Log K_{ow} : 2,3,7,8-TCDD = 6.8; 2,3,4,7,8-PCDF = 6.9; benzo[a]pyrene = 6.35). They have a high affinity to be adsorbed from organic matter and to geo- and bioaccumulate in the environment and biota (Lohmann and Jones, 1998; International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012a) and, therefore, they are all known as ubiquitous pollutants. In comparison to the metals and metalloids, the PAHs, dioxins, and furans formed are particularly environmentally distributed just by the air as the constituents of fumes or as molecules bound to fly ash, dust, and other organic particles. They are less likely to be distributed by water, mainly because they are formed and emitted during incomplete combustion processes and because of their partly semi-volatile and hydrophobic characteristics (Christmann et al., 1989; Lohmann and Jones, 1998; Söderström and Marklund, 2002; Chan et al., 2007). One exception is that during the extraction of metals at acid leaching sites, PCDD/Fs are significantly leached out into soils and released into the environment as well (Leung et al., 2007). For PAHs, dioxins, and furans, the atmospheric residence times range from several hours to several days before they undergo photolysis, or, more likely, they are degraded by OH-radicals or move to sediments through dry or wet deposition where they accumulate in the soils and biota (Lohmann and Jones, 1998; Lohmann et al., 1999).

Although PAHs, dioxins and their congeners, and the furans differ in their physicochemical properties, they have in common that they are generally all poorly soluble in water.

> As an example of the air pollution caused by these organic compounds, in ambient air in remote areas in HICs, concentrations of tetra- to octa-CDD/Fs homologues from 0.5 to 4 pg/m³ are measured. In urban/industrial regions, concentrations of from 10 to 100 pg/m³ were measured (Lohmann and Jones, 1998). In soils in industrial countries, such as the USA, Canada, Germany, South Korea, and Spain, PCDD/Fs concentrations of from 1.7 to 1080 pg/g dry weight have been measured (Eljarrat et al., 2001; Hilscherova et al., 2003; Zheng et al., 2008a).

Elevated concentrations of PCDD/Fs in shredded e-waste, leaves of trees and shrubs, dust from workshop floors, and in soils in the vicinity of a large e-waste recycling facility in Taizhou, eastern China, indicate that e-waste processing and recycling facilities are significant input sources of compounds such as PCDDs, PCDFs, and other dioxin-like compounds originating from incomplete combustion processes, like PAHs (Shen et al., 2008; Ma et al., 2008). There, in shredder waste, PCDD/Fs concentrations ranged from 31 to 11,400 pg/g dry weight and in tree and shrub leaves the concentrations ranged between 3460 and 9820 pg/g dry weight. Workshop-floor dust and soils contained PCDD/Fs at concentrations of from 2560 to 148,000 and 854 to 10,200 pg/g dry weight, respectively. Croplands in this region showed total PCDD/ Fs concentrations up to 17 times higher than the arithmetic average, measured at reference sites. PAH levels in this region were up to 32 times higher when compared to the arithmetic average measured at control sites (Shen et al., 2008). Elevated levels of 2,3,7,8-TCDD and 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDF ranging from 1.98 to 4.95 pg/g dry weight were found in hair samples of people living in the vicinity of an e-waste processing site near Guiyu, China, proving that indeed dioxin-like compounds have a potential for bioaccumulation (Luksemburg et al., 2002). In addition, in Jiangxi province, average concentrations of PCDD/Fs ranging from 41.5 to 133.8 pg/g lipid were found in breast milk samples and from 177 to 843 pg/g lipid were quantified in blood samples (Zheng et al., 2008a). For comparison, similar average total concentrations of PCDD/Fs of 125 and 299 pg/g lipid were measured in breast milk and blood samples of pregnant women living in the vicinity of an industrialized area in Duisburg, Germany (Wittsiepe et al., 2007).

Toxicity

Besides their high potential for bioaccumulation, PAHs and PCDD/Fs are known for their toxic and carcinogenic potential. According to the IARC, PAHs such as dibenzo[a,h]anthracene and dibenzo[a,l]pyrene or benzo[b]fluoranthene and benzo[k]fluoranthene are classified as 2A, probably carcinogenic to humans or 2B, possibly carcinogenic to humans. The most hazardous PAH, benzo[a] pyrene, and the furan and dioxin 2,3,4,7,8-Pentachlorodibenzofuran (PeCDF) and 2,3,7,8 tetrachlorodibenzodioxin (TCDD) are classified according to the IARC in group 1, carcinogenic to humans as well (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). The low MCLs of PAHs of 0.002 mg/L and of dioxins of 0.00000003 mg/L indicate that these compounds are posing a high risk to environmental and human health, whereas for TCDD it has to be considered that it is not soluble in water (MCLs and IARC classification are presented in Table 9). At present,

MCL^B

no MCL for PCDFs has been determined (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2009).

PCDD/Fs are known to cause adverse effects to human and animal health. For instance, in humans, excess risks for all types of cancer are associated with exposure to TCDD and PeCDF. Moreover, after the exposure to TCDD and dioxin-like compounds, changes in hormone levels were observed in humans and in animals. These changes result in increases in endocrine, reproductive and developmental defects, affecting the welfare and development of humans and other animals. High levels of TCDD exposure cause the skin disease referred to as chloracne (Kogevinas, 2001; International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012a; Energy Justice Network, 2012).

The formation of different types of cancer, such as skin, lung, and bladder cancer, in human and animals has often been associated with exposure to PAHs as well (Boffetta et al., 1997). According to in-vitro and in-vivo

Formation and occurrence of

Chemical

animal tests, PAHs, and especially benzo[a]pyrene, are known for eliciting carcinogenic, mutagenic and genotoxic effects (Huberman et al., 1976; Szmigielski et al., 1982; Grimmer et al., 1991; Goldstein et al., 1998; Miller and Ramos, 2001).

From the environmental toxicological point of view, the AA-EQS and the MAC-EQS of B[a]P, the most hazardous PAH, are 0.00017 and 0.27 µg/L (Table 9). These indicate that even low chronic and acute exposure to this compound poses a high risk to aquatic organisms and aquatic ecosystems. For PCDD and other dioxin-like compounds no AA-EQS and MAC-EQS were available. Nevertheless, the determined EQS of these compounds, which should not be exceeded in biota to avoid poisoning water surface organisms, is 0.0065 µg/kg TEQ (toxic equivalents according to the World Health Organization 2005 Toxic Equivalence Factors; European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2013).

Besides their high potential for bioaccumulation PAHs, PCDD/Fs are known for their toxic and carcinogenic potential.

Environmental quality standard

Equivalence Factors)

(European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2013).

are determined

	hazardous PAHs and halogenated hydrocarbons in WEEE ^A	(humans)	[mg/L]	(in surface water bodies) AA-EQS/MAC-EQS [µg/L] ^C
Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) (benzo[b]fluor- anthene, benzo[k] fluoranthene, benzo[a]pyrene, dibenzo[a,h]anthra- cene, dibenzo[a,l] pyrene, indeno[1,2,3- cd]pyrene, etc.)	By-products of incomplete combustion of organic matter and polyvinyl chloride (Wang et al., 2002).	According to the IARC, PAHs such as dibenzo[a,h]anthracene and dibenzo[a,l]pyrene or benzo[b]fluoranthene and benzo[k] fluoranthene are classified in group 2A, probably carcinogenic to humans or group 2B, possibly carcinogenic to humans. The most hazardous PAH, benzo[a]pyrene is even listed in class 1, carcinogenic to humans, posing a risk to environmental health (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). The formation of different types of cancer, such as skin, lung, and bladder cancer in humans have often been associated with the exposure to PAHs (Boffetta et al., 1997). According to <i>in-vitro</i> and <i>in-vivo</i> animal tests, PAHs, especially benzo[a]pyrene, are known for their carcinogenic, mutagenic, and their genotoxic effects (Huberman et al., 1976; Szmigielski et al., 1982; Grim- mer et al., 1991; Goldstein et al., 1998; Miller and Ramos, 2001).	0.0002	0.00017/0.27 for B[a]P (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2013)
Note: the formation of polybrominated dibenzodioxins and dibenzofurans is possible as well if brominated hydro- carbons are burned	PCDD and PCDF are unwanted by-products of incineration, uncon- trolled burning and certain industrial processes. The open burning of plastic (polyvinyl chloride) sheathed copper wires to recover copper is one of the main reason for the	2,3,4,7,8-Pentachlorodibenzofuran (PeCDF) and 2,3,7,8 tetrachlorodibenzodioxin (TCDD) are classified according to IARC in group 1, carcinogenic to humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). These compounds are known to cause adverse effects to human and animal health. In humans, excess risks for all types of cancer are associated with exposure of TCDD and PeCDF.	0.0000003 for dioxin	No AA-EQS/MAC-EQS available. However, EQS of maximal tolerable concentrations of dioxin- like compounds in biota of 0.0065 µg/kg TEQ (toxic equi- valents according to the World Health Organization 2005 Toxic

Moreover, after exposure to TCDD and dioxin-like compounds,

developmental defects are of the highest concern. High levels

chloracne (Kogevinas, 2001; International Agency for Research

changes in hormone levels were observed in humans and in

animals. These increases in endocrine, reproductive, and

of TCDD exposure cause the skin disease referred to as

on Cancer, 2012a; Energy Justice Network, 2012).

Table 9: PAHs and other hazardous compounds formed and released in the burning of EEE and their risks to human health and aquatic systems (Empa, 2009b; International Labour Organization, 2012)

Health concerns

A: (Empa, 2009b; International Labour Organization, 2012)

В· Maximum contaminant level (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015c)

formation of PCDDs and PCDFs

(Christmann et al., 1989; Söder-

al., 2008; Robinson, 2009).

Weber and Kuch, 2003).

ström and Marklund, 2002; Liu et

There is an observed link between

the formation of PCDDs and PCDFs

(Söderström and Marklund, 2002;

C: The acute and the chronic environmental quality standards (EU-standard), AA-EQS (annual average concentration) and MAC-EQS (maximum allowable concentration) represent chronic and acute environmental concentrations of chemical agents which affect water

organisms significantly.

PCDD/PCDF poly-

chlorinated dibenzo-

dioxins and dibenzo-

furans

C) Flame retardants and other halogenated hydrocarbons.

Chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs), perfluoroctane sulfonates

(PFOS), polychlorinated (or brominated) diphenyl ethers

(PCDEs/PBDEs), polychlorinated (or brominated) biphenyls

(PCBs, PBBs), polyvinyl chloride (PVC), and tetrabromo-

bisphenol-A (TBBPA) are the most hazardous flame retar-

dants and halogenated hydrocarbons that are contained

in e-waste (Empa, 2009b; International Labour Organiza-

Polyvinyl chlorides (PVCs) are one of the most widely used plastics worldwide.

Use

tion, 2012).

Inappropriate production, disposal, and incineration of PVCs can lead to the emission of highly carcinogenic, persistent organic pollutants (POPs), such as dioxins, furans, PAHs, and halogenated biphenyls.

Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) were mainly produced and used in the period 1929-1977 as electrical insulating fluids in transformers and capacitors and as hydraulic, heat transfer, and lubricating fluids in machinery. Furthermore, in combination with other agents, they were added to plastics as plasticizers and fire retardants. They were contained also in products such as caulks, adhesives, and carbonless copy paper (Erickson and Kaley, 2011). All in all, between 1929 and 1984, between 1.3 and 1.7 million tonne of PCBs were produced (Breivik et al., 2007; Stockholm Convention, 2008). Today, equipment and machinery which contain PCBs are still in use, obsolete equipment is stockpiled, and PCB wastes are not yet managed in an environmentally sound manner. According to the Stockholm Convention it is intended to securely remove all PCB stocks by 2028 (Stockholm Convention, 2008). Moreover, there is evidence that PCBs can be produced as byproducts and afterwards released into the environment during industrial or waste combustion processes as well (Müller and Dongmann, 1998; Ishikawa et al., 2007; Li et al., 2009).

Polychlorinated diphenyl ethers (PCDEs) were used as dielectric insulating fluids or as hydraulic and heat transfer fluids, lubricants, plasticizers, and flame retardants. PCDEs were applied as fungicides, slimicides, and wood preservatives (Koistinen, 2000; Domingo, 2006).

The brominated hydrocarbons, PBB, PBDE, and tetrabromo-bisphenol A (TBBPA), are primarily used as fire retardants in plastics, as thermoplastic components, or cable insulation, and they are contained in the plastic housings of EEE, printed circuit boards, etc. (International Labour Organization, 2012). TBBPA is used as reactive flame retardant (chemically bonded into the polymeric material, not volatile) or as an additive flame retardant in plastics (volatile). Often, TBBPA additives were used as flame retardants in acrylonitrile-butadiene-styrene and phenolic resins or as an intermediate in the production of other additive flame retardants (Institute for Health and Consumer Protection - European Chemicals Bureau, 2006). Today, TBBPA additives are the most widely used in the extensively produced and not yet regulated brominated flame retardants (He et al., 2010).

Polyvinyl chlorides (PVCs) are used ubiquitously – they are one of the most widely used plastics worldwide. They are contained in all kind of packaging and sheathing material (for food, EEE, and other kind of goods), plastic bottles, credit cards, and audio records. In the construction industry, PVCs are used as imitation leather or in window frames, cables, pipes, floorings, wallpapers, and window blinds (Greenpeace, 2005). As already mentioned, the inappropriate production, disposal, and incineration of PVCs can lead to the emission of highly carcinogenic, persistent organic pollutants (POPs), such as dioxins, furans, PAHs, and halogenated biphenyls. Therefore, environmentally unsound production, disposal, and incineration can affect human and environmental health indirectly (Müller and Dongmann, 1998; Shen et al., 2008; Ma et al., 2008).

The use of chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) decreased when it was found that the release of these resulted in depletion of the stratospheric ozone layer, which may result in an increase of biologically harmful solar ultraviolet radiation (Newman et al., 2009). It was also determined that CFCs act as potent greenhouse gases (GHGs; Hansen et al., 1989). Because of these negative effects, the use of CFCs was banned on global scale through the Montreal Protocol on substances that deplete the ozone, which was negotiated in 1987 (Newman et al., 2009; Environmental News Network, 2012). Nevertheless, before they were banned, CFCs were used as cooling agents in refrigerators, freezers, air conditioners, and in cooling units in general. They were also contained in insulation foam (Newman et al., 2009).

Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) is used in the photographic industry and in photolithography. It is contained in semiconductors, photo-resistant-, and anti-reflective coatings. Furthermore, it is a component of EEE, firefighting foam, hydraulic fluids, and textiles. Today, the production and application of PFOS is restricted according to the requirements of the Stockholm Convention and there are initiatives for a voluntary phasing out of PFOS production from several chemical production facilities (Swedish Chemicals Inspectorate and Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2004; United Nations Environment Programme, 2013d).

Environmental behavior and occurrence

Most of these halogenated compounds, especially PCBs, PCDEs, PBBs, PBDEs, and PFOS, are fulfilling the per-

sistent, bioaccumulation, and toxicity (PBT) criteria of the Stockholm Convention. All of these compounds are known to have long environmental residence times and they remain unchanged in the environment for extended periods of time. They are ubiquitous pollutants found in soil, water, and, notably, the air being distributed throughout the environment by natural processes. In addition, these compounds are known for their bioaccumulative potential. Thus, they are accumulating in the fatty tissue of living organisms and humans and they are enriched throughout the food chain. Given their high toxicity, they are affecting humans and wildlife. Because of their characteristics, their production and use is restricted or even banned worldwide within the scope of the Stockholm Convention (United Nations Environment Programme, 2013d).

Nevertheless, although the Stockholm Convention has been implemented, elevated concentrations of those halogenated compounds still can be found in the environment. For instance, in the breast milk of women living in the vicinity of an e-waste recycling site in Bui Dau, Vietnam, increased concentrations of 20-250 ng/g lipid weight of PBDE and its congeners were measured, indicating their potential for bioaccumulation. In comparison, the breast milk of Swedish women showed lower mean concentrations of 4 ng PBDE/g lipid weight while the maximum concentrations were 28.2 ng PBDE/lipid weight (Lind et al., 2003). In addition, in soil and sediment samples next to an open e-waste disposal and recycling site in Guiyu Guangdong, China, elevated PBDE concentrations ranging from 0.26 to 824 ng/g dry weight were detected (Wang et al., 2005). In this region, a monthly average PBDE concentration of 16.8 ng/m³ was measured in particles with aerodynamic diameters smaller than 2.5 μ m (PM2.5). These particles were detected in the air in the vicinity of a site with high e-waste burning activities (Wong et al., 2007c). This concentration exceeds the industrial EPA air screening level of 1.4 ng/m³ (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2014b). As a comparison, in Europe, background levels of PBDE in soils range between 0.065 to 12 ng/g dry weight (Hassanin et al., 2004).

PCB concentrations measured in soils at the open burning sites of e-waste recycling facilities in Guiyu were up to 458 µg/kg (Wong et al., 2007c). In comparison, the maximum measured environmental concentration of PCBs in five European cities (Glasgow, Torino, Aveiro, Ljubljana, and Uppsala) was 172 µg/kg dry weight (Cachada et al., 2009).

TBBPA concentrations of 25.2 ± 2.7 ng/g were determined in soil samples from China (Yu et al., 2008). In Spanish soils from an industrial region, comparable TBB-PA concentrations were measured ranging between 3.4 and 32.2 ng/g dry weight (Sánchez-Brunete et al., 2009). Elevated median TBBPA concentrations ranging between 28 to 173 ng/g lipid weight were found in the muscles of six individual bird species that had been fed with food originating from an e-waste recycling region in Qingyuan, South China (He et al., 2010). In this region, TBBPA mean concentrations of 68 ng/L were found in water, 295 ng/g dry weight in soil samples, and 8917 ng/g dry weight in plant leaf samples. These results show that TBBPA has the potential to accumulate primarily in soil plants and wildlife. Maybe it would be appropriate to add this highly bioaccumulative product to the list of the restricted or banned brominated flame retardants along with PBB and PBDE. A summary of the fields of applications of these halogenated hydrocarbons is presented in Table 10.

Toxicity

The polyhalogenated biphenyls and diphenyl ethers are known for their high toxicity and their carcinogenic potential. The IARC lists PCBs in group 1, carcinogenic to humans, and PBBs are included in group 2A, probably carcinogenic to humans. PCDE and PBDE have not been classified by the IARC but might be comparably toxic to humans due to their structural similarity to PCBs and PBBs, respectively (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). Exposure to PCBs causes impairment of the immune system because of their immune-suppressive effects. After uptake of, or direct contact with PBCs, they can cause damage to the liver, the skin - in form of chloracne - and the reproductive system by affecting the thyroid gland. In addition, there is evidence that exposure to PCB promotes the formation of several types of cancer (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2000; Stockholm Convention, 2008).

Because of a lack of epidemiological studies, it is still not possible to find a significant correlation between exposure to PBB and the formation of human cancer, though results from animal tests showed effects similar to those of PCBs. Exposure to PBBs caused the formation of different types of cancers in rats and mice. In other animal tests, skin diseases, such as chloracne, impairments to the central nervous system, the liver, kidney, thyroid glands function, and the reproduction system were observed as well (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2004b; National Toxicology Program, 2014c).

PVCs and other polyvinyl based compounds were, according to the IARC, listed in group 3, not classifiable as to

Exposure to PCBs causes impairment of the immune system because of their immunesuppressive effects. its carcinogenicity to humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). Nevertheless, it has to be considered that during the production, recycling, and incineration of PVCs, hazardous compounds, such as PAHs, dioxins, furans, halogenated biphenyls, and polychlorinated diphenyl ethers, can be produced and released into the environment (Gullett et al., 1990; Wang et al., 2002; 2005).

CFCs, PFOS, and TBBPA are not classified according to the IARC (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). From the environmental and human health perspectives, CFCs are destroying the stratospheric ozone layer, which consequently results in an increase of biologically harmful and aggressive solar ultraviolet radiation (Newman et al., 2009). At high concentrations, CFCs can be transformed to even more toxic gases, such as chlorine and phosgene (New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services, 2010). Furthermore, CFCs are acting as potent GHGs (Hansen et al., 1989). For humans, the inhalation of large volumes of CFCs affects the nervous system with symptoms of alcohol-like intoxication, reduced coordination, light-headedness, headaches, tremors and convulsion, and even cardiac arrhythmia. Dermal contact can lead to skin damage referred to as frost bite (New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services, 2010).

PFOS meet the requirements of the PBT criteria of the Stockholm Convention. From a human health perspective, information about the health risks from exposure to PFOS is still lacking. Nevertheless, according to several epidemiological studies, exposure to PFOS was assumed to be linked with the formation of bladder cancer (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2015). According to animals tests, it has been shown that exposure to PFOS is highly toxic and that these compounds have a high affinity for bioaccumulation. In two mammalian species, rats and monkeys, sub-chronic exposure to PFOS resulted in hepatotoxicity and mortality. In addition, the exposure of mammals to PFOS was associated with causing impairments in reproduction as well. The half-life times in rats is 100 days, in monkeys it is 200 days, and in humans it can be 1 year (Luebker et al., 2002; Seacat et al., 2002; 2003; Inoue et al., 2004; Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2015).

According to the risk assessment report of the Institute for Health and Consumer Protection's and the European Chemicals Bureau, TBBPA is not currently classified for environmental or human health effects (Institute for Health and Consumer Protection – European Chemicals Bureau, 2006). From the data available, TBBPA is not known as a skin, eye, or respiratory tract irritant. From animal tests with rats, no evidence was found that exposure to TBBPA caused adverse effects to the endocrine and the reproduction systems. Information about the carcinogenic potential of TBBPA has not been found yet (Institute for Health and Consumer Protection - European Chemicals Bureau, 2006). Nevertheless, rudimentary plastic recycling and the low-temperature burning processes for plastics containing TBBPA and other brominated or chlorinated flame retardants can lead to the formation and emission of hazardous polybrominated dibenzodioxins and polybrominated dibenzofurans or PCDDs and PCDFs, respectively (Thies et al., 1990; Empa, 2009b).

For the halogenated hydrocarbons considered in this report, an MCL standard level for PCB compounds in drinking water of 0.0005 mg/L and of 0.00000003 mg/L for dioxins were determined. For the other compounds no MCL is available yet (Table 9 and Table 10; United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015c).

For all the previously mentioned flame retardants and halogenated hydrocarbons just as for PFOS/Fs, the chronic environmental quality standard (AA-EQS) of 0.00065 μ g/L has been proposed. For PBDE, the proposed acute environmental quality standards (MAC-EQS) was 0.14 and for PFOS, 36 μ g/L (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2013).

Table 10: Flame retardants and halogenated hydrocarbons occurring in WEEE and their risks to humans and aquatic systems (Empa, 2009b; International Labour Organization, 2012)

Chemical	Formation and occurrence of hazardous PAHs and halogenated hydrocarbons in WEEE ^A	Health concerns (humans)	MCL ^B [mg/L]	Environmental quality standard (in surface water bodies) AA-EQS/MAC-EQS [µg/L] ^C
chlorofluorocarbon (CFC)	Contained in old refrigerators and freezers, cooling units, and insulation foam. The use of CFC is decreasing because of global bans and restrictions (Montreal Protocol on substances that deplete the ozone which was negotiated in 1987; Newman et al., 2009; En- vironmental News Network, 2012).	Not classified according to the IARC (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). CFC uptake – inhaling high concen- trations – affects the central nervous system with symptoms of alcohol-like intoxication, reduced coordination, light-headedness, headaches, tremors, and convulsions. High concentrations can lead to cardiac arrhythmia. Skin contact with CFCs can cause frost bite. The exposure of CFCs to high temperatures can cause the formation of more toxic gases, such as chlorine and phosgene (New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services, 2010). In addition, CFCs are known to destroy the ozone layer, which results in an increase of biologically harmful solar ultraviolet radiation (Newman et al., 2009) and CFCs act as potent GHGs as well (Hansen et al., 1989).	-	-
polychlorinated biphenyls and polychlorinated diphenyl ethers (PCB/PCDE)	From 1929 to 1977, PCBs were commercially used as insulation material or as dielectric insulating fluids in older electronic products, transformers, and capacitors. They were contained in inks and plastic (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012a). PCDEs were used as fire retardants in plastics (thermoplastic com-ponents, cable insulation) or as dielectric insulating fluids, hydraulic and heat transfer fluids, nydraulic and heat transfer fluids, nd lubricants and plasti- cizers. PCDEs were contained as impurities in chlorophenol-based compounds such as fungicides, slimicides, wood preservatives, etc. (Koistinen, 2000; Domingo, 2006).	PCBs are classified in group 1, carcinogenic to humans (Inter- national Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). PCB exposure causes damage to the immune system (immuno-suppressive effects), liver, skin (chloracne), reproductive system, gastro- intestinal and respiratory tract, and thyroid gland, and promotes the formation of cancer (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2000; Stockholm Convention, 2008). PCDEs have not been classified by the IARC but might be comparably toxic to humans due to their structural similarity to PCBs (Inter- national Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015).	0.0005 (PCBs)	-
polybrominated diphenyls and polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBB/PBDE)	PBB and PBDEs are used as fire retardants in plastics (thermoplastic components, cable insulation). They are contained in the plastic housings of EEE, printed circuit boards, etc.	According to the IARC the PBBs are classified as group 2A, prob- ably carcinogenic to humans. Similar to the effects of PCB (see above). According to animal tests PBBs are known to cause diffe- rent types of cancer in rats and mice, although because of a lack of epidemiological studies it is still not possible to find a significant correlation between the exposure to PBB and the formation of human cancer (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2004b; National Toxicology Program, 2014c). During animal tests and unintentional exposure to PBBs, the formation of chloracne or other forms of skin irritation were observed. Significant evi- dence of damage to the central nervous system, liver, kidneys, thyroid gland function, and reproduction system is available from animal studies (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Regis- try, 2004b). PBDEs have not been classified by the IARC but might be comparably toxic to humans due to their structural simi- larity to PBBs (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015).	_	NA/0.14 for PBDE (biota EQS 0.0085 µg/kg wet weight) (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2013)
perfluor octane sulfonate (PFOS)	Used in the photographic industry and in photolithography. PFOS are also contained in semiconductors and photo-resistant and anti-reflec- tive coatings. Now, PFOS produc- tion is being voluntarily phased out (Swedish Chemicals Inspectorate and Swedish Environmental Pro- tection Agency, 2004).	No IARC classification (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). According to several animal tests it has been de- monstrated that PFOSs are highly toxic and that they have a high potential for bioaccumulation. The half-life times in rats, monkeys and in humans are 100 days, 200 days or 1 year respectively. In both species, rats and monkeys, sub-chronic exposure to PFOS results in hepatotoxicity and mortality. Impairments in the repro- ductive systems of mammals was linked to exposure to PFOS (Luebker et al., 2002; Seacat et al., 2002; 2003; Inoue et al., 2004; Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2015). From a human toxicological point of view, adequate information about the health risk from exposure to PFOS is not available. However, according to some epidemiologic studies, exposure to PFOS was linked to the formation of bladder cancer (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2015).	-	0.00065/36 (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2013)

A: (Empa, 2009b; International Labour Organization, 2012)

B: Maximum contaminant level (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015c)

C: The acute and the chronic environmental quality standards (EU-standard), AA-EQS (annual average concentration) and MAC-EQS (maximum allowable concentration) represent chronic and acute environmental concentrations of chemical agents which affect water organisms significantly.

Chemical	Formation and occurrence of hazardous PAHs and halogenated hydrocarbons in WEEE ^A	Health concerns (humans)	MCL ^B [mg/L]	Environmental quality standard (in surface water bodies) AA-EQS/MAC-EQS [μg/L] ^C
polyvinyl chloride (PVC)	PVC is used as cable insulation, computer housing or as housing material of other EEE because of its fire-retardant properties.	According to the IARC, PVCs are classified as group 3, not clas- sifiable as to its carcinogenicity to humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). The burning of PVCs can cause the formation of hazardous and highly carcinogenic substances, such as PAHs, PCDD and PCDFs, and other dioxin-like com- pounds (Gullett et al., 1990; Wang et al., 2002; 2005).	-	-
tetrabromobis- phenol A (TBBPA)	TBBPAs are used as flame retardants in plastics (thermoplastic compo- nents, cable insulation). For ex- ample, TBBPA is most widely used in printed wiring boards and casings of electronic devices. It is used as a reactive flame retardant in epoxy and polycarbonate resins, or as an additive flame retardant in acrylo- nitrile-butadiene-styrene (ABS) resins and phenolic resins. TBBPAs are used as intermediates to pro- duce other flame retardants as well. (Institute for Health and Consumer Protection - European Chemicals Bureau, 2006).	No IARC classification (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). TBBPA is not currently classified for environmen- tal or human health effects (Institute for Health and Consumer Protection - European Chemicals Bureau, 2006). TBBPA is not known as a skin, eye, or respiratory tract irritant and according to animal tests with rats, no evidences were found that ex- posure to TBBPA caused adverse effects to the endocrine and the reproductive systems. Information about the carcinogenic potential of TBBPA has not been found yet (Institute for Health and Consumer Protection - European Chemicals Bureau, 2006). Nevertheless, rudimentary plastic recycling and low-tempera- ture burning processes of plastics containing TBBPA and other brominated flame retardants leads to the formation and emis- sion of hazardous polybrominated-dibenzodioxins and poly- brominated-dibenzofurans (Thies et al., 1990; Empa, 2009b).	-	-

A: (Empa, 2009b; International Labour Organization, 2012)

B: Maximum contaminant level (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015c)

C: The acute and the chronic environmental quality standards (EU-standard), AA-EQS (annual average concentration) and MAC-EQS (maximum allowable concentration) represent chronic and acute environmental concentrations of chemical agents which affect water organisms significantly.

Input pathways of e-waste pollutants

Generally, for e-waste pollutants there are two possible main input pathways by which they can enter the environment. If e-waste is disposed of inappropriately, solvable toxicants, such as several heavy metals (for instance Pb and Sb) can be leached from e-waste landfills especially after stronger rain events. They then remain in the soil or they can be further transported via surface runoff into rivers or they can drain into groundwater aquifers (Robinson, 2009). However, the main entry of e-waste pollutants happens through inappropriate recycling and e-waste processing practices. For example, open burning or incineration of e-waste can lead to the formation and emission of highly toxic compounds into the atmosphere. These can be distributed by air and become sediments in soils and surface waters via dry or wet deposition. This seems to be especially the case in LAMICs where, often, exhaust fumes are not controlled or filtered and regulations are lacking (Stewart and Lemieux, 2003; Leung et al., 2008; International Labour Organization, 2012). Additionally, precious and other valuable metals are leached from e-waste using strong acids. These highly toxic agents can leak from their containers and pollute water systems and soils (Robinson, 2009).

Production and pollution trends of hazardous compounds associated with e-waste

Data availability

Data about e-waste production and particularly data about the transboundary movements of WEEE is difficult to assess. Mainly this is because of the illegal or hidden export of e-waste from OECD countries to non-OECD countries to save on the expenses of e-waste disposal, recycling, and labor costs. For instance, there is evidence from the US EPA that sending WEEE for disposal and/or recycling in Asia would cost one-tenth of the expense to process the materials in the USA (International Labour Organization, 2012). With the currently available data on the production of EEE, the modelling of WEEE generation and its transboundary movements are not possible. This is especially so since such data is more likely to be available in higher-income countries than it is in LAMICs and data about the average lifespan and innovation cycles of individual items of EEE varies from region to region. (In higher-income countries the innovation cycles for and the lifespans of EEE are shorter than those in LAMICs. In these countries, older equipment is used for longer periods of time; Robinson, 2009).

In general, it can be assumed that information about the output figures for EEE and the generation of WEEE alone are not satisfactory to assess the extent of the environmental burden caused by the inappropriate disposal of EEE. It is necessary to get more details about the trade patterns of obsolete EEE because these are largely still not transparent and comprehensible.

Future trends and hot spots

Although the amount of available data about e-waste is rare, several research groups and NGOs are trying to shed light on the output figures for EEE or to get information about the amounts of WEEE generated. These researchers are trying to determine their mass fluxes and gain information about the futures of obsolete and inoperable EEE from a global perspective. They are also trying to assess the negative impacts on environmental and human health caused by the inappropriate disposals and recycling of WEEE (Widmer et al., 2005; United Nations Environment Programme, 2006a; Robinson, 2009; Empa, 2009e; Skinner et al., 2010; Mundl, 2010; International Labour Organization, 2012; Silicon Valley Toxics Coalition, 2014; United Nations Environment Programme, 2014).

Where the illegal export of WEEE is concerned, known and suspected routes of e-waste dumping are presented in Figure 25 and Figure 26 (Lewis, 2010, 2011; International Labour Organization, 2012; Silicon Valley Toxics Coalition, 2014). Australia, Japan, Korea, North America, and Western Europe are suspected of being the main exporter of e-waste to LAMICs.

Known targets for illegal e-waste disposal seem to be Brazil, China, Ghana, India, Nigeria, Mexico, Pakistan, Singapore, and Thailand. Other suspected destinations for obsolete and inoperable EEE are Argentinia, Benin, Chile, Egypt, Eastern Europe, Haiti, Indonesia, Ivory Coast, Kenya, Malaysia, Phillippines, Russia, Senegal, Tanzania, Ukraine, United Arab Emirates, Venezuela, and Vietnam. Unfortunately at present, there is no system for tracking legal or illegal exports of WEEE. Therefore, no direct guantitative data on the exported volumes of e-waste could be found and not every destination for exported and dumped e-waste could be located (Lewis, 2011). Nevetheless, there is evidence that China is one of the main destinations for e-waste. Experts suspect that upto 70% of exported WEEE is probably sent to China - primarily to southeast China near Bejing, the Yangtze River Delta, and the Pearl River Delta (Tong and Wang, 2004; Bodeen, 2007).

It can be assumed that there is a positive correlation between the demand and availability of PCs and other potential e-waste items and the gross domestic product of a country. Therefore, at this time, the regions with the highest GDPs, such as Western Europe, the United States and Australasia, are the most likely e-waste producers. During the next 10 years, regions with high economic growth, such as China, Eastern Europe, and Latin America will catch up with or even exceed the e-waste generation of the former (Robinson, 2009). Thus, besides the loads of ewaste that are illegally exported to LAMICs for disposal or recycling, the additional domestic generation of e-waste will further increase the environmental burden caused by



Figure 25: Known sources of e-waste and its known and suspected shipping routes (International Labour Organization, 2012; Lewis, 2011; Silicon Valley Toxics Coalition, 2014).



Figure 26: Export of e-waste from HICs to LAMICs (Lewis, 2010; International Labour Organization, 2012)

e-waste pollutants in LAMICs experiencing an economic boom. In general, the recent global production (data from 2006 and 2009) of WEEE is suspected to range between 20 and 50 million tonne (United Nations Environment Programme, 2006a; Robinson, 2009; Schluep et al., 2009). In 2014/15 it is estimated that between 40 and 70 million tonne of WEEE might be generated (Jain, 2008).

Issues of special concern

Contaminants in the e-waste processing region of Guiyu, Guangdong Province, China

During the last decades, the people in Guiyu have changed over from a traditionally rice-growing community to an e-waste recycling and processing center (Leung et al., 2006). Today, Guiyu, with its surrounding towns in Guangdong Province, probably has become one of the largest e-waste disposal and recycling sites in the world, receiving large amounts of e-waste from domestic and international sources (Wong et al., 2007a; Greenpeace, 2009). The major recycling and processing activities in this region are toner sweeping, dismantling of EEE, recovering copper from wires and EEE, chipping and melting plastic, heating printed circuit boards over honeycombed coal blocks, and to recover gold and other valuable metals by using strong acids (cyanides, sulfuric acid, and hydrochloric acid; Puckett et al., 2002; Leung et al., 2006). The redundant e-waste is often dumped and openly burned without any controls or precautions, leaving behind an environmental burden of high severity. For instance, according to the disposal and processing of e-waste, POPs

(like PAHs, dioxins, and furans) and halogenated hydrocarbons (like PCDE/PBDEs, PCB, and PBB) or inorganic pollutants (like heavy metals such as Cd, Cu, Ni, Pb and Zn) can be released in the environment, affecting environmental and human health.

For example, the sediments of a duck pond in the vicinity of an e-waste dumping and open burning site showed elevated total PAH concentrations (of the 16 PAHs banned by the US EPA) of up to 514 µg/kg. In rivers in Guiyu, the concentrations of seven carcinogenic PAHs were from two to eight times higher (28-111 μ g/kg) and in duck ponds from seven to nine times higher (94-122 µg/kg) than the concentrations found in the reservoir (13.2 µg/kg). In this region, soil samples from a printer roller dump site had total PAH concentrations of up to 593 µg/kg. These values are comparable with those found at another large-scale e-waste recycling site in Taizhou, China, where total PAH concentrations ranged from 488 to 764 µg/kg dry weight (Tang et al., 2010). Currently, global guidelines and limit values for PAHs have not been established. However, although these values do not exceed the soil criteria for PAH concentrations of the 'Dutch list' (Environmental Protection Department of Hong Kong, 2004) - 1000 µg/ kg, which implies that the soil is contaminated - the elevated PAH concentrations in Guiyu are of high environmental concern. This is especially so since the pollution from e-waste and the informal businesses is increasing and PAHs are known to accumulate via the food chain, be persistent, and highly toxic even at low concentrations (Environmental Protection Department of Hong Kong, 2004). In addition, sediments from the Lianjiang River (Guiyu, China) show that this river is contaminated by PCB and its congeners. Total PCB concentrations of up to

743 µg/kg were measured. This exceeds the Canadian Environmental Quality Guideline of 277 µg/kg (Leung et al., 2006). A high concentration of total mono-hepta PB-DEs of 1140 µg/kg was found in soil samples at an informal dumping site for burned plastic in Guiyu, while in similar samples from a printer roller dumping site in the same area, the concentration was found to be 1169 μ g/kg. Serious levels of contamination with PCDD/F and PBDEs were found in surface samples from the e-waste recycling area in Taizhou, China, as well. At this site, PBDE concentrations ranged from 27.9 to 3128.4 µg/kg and PCDD/Fs concentrations from 218.3 to 3122.2 µg/kg (Tang et al., 2014). Besides the organic pollutants, ewaste processing and recycling is often associated with the release of inorganic contaminants. For instance, sediments of the Lianjiang River were considerably contaminated with Cd (mean value 4.09 ± 3.92 mg/kg), Cu (1070 ± 1210 mg/kg), Ni (181 ± 156 mg/kg), Pb (230 ± 169 mg/ kg), and Zn (324 ± 143 mg/kg; Wong et al., 2007b).

Currently, there is a dearth of detailed information about the consequences of chronic e-waste pollutants to environmental health and their environmental risks, especially in LAMICs. That is the main reason why it is difficult to give information about the severity of the pollution caused by informal e-waste activities. Nevertheless, as shown before, from the several environmental samples collected from e-waste disposal and processing sites, there is evidence concerning the concentrations of highly toxic POPs or inorganics (heavy metals and metalloids). This despite the (intended or unintended) production, use, import, and export of POPs has been banned or restricted globally since the Stockholm Convention came into force in 2004. These POPs are controlled by the Stockholm Convention to reduce their entry into environmental systems and to mitigate their impacts on environmental and human health (Leung et al., 2006). For instance, POPs, such as halogenated hydrocarbons, PCBs, PCDD/Fs, and PCDE and PBDE, are associated with such adverse health effects as impairment of the reproduction systems of humans and wildlife while acting as endocrine disruptors and in the formation of several forms of cancer (Table 10). They are known to bioaccumulate throughout the food chain or to remain and accumulate in soil or sediments (Leung et al., 2006). In addition, the release of heavy metals is affecting environmental and human health, the nervous systems, the mental development, the respiratory tracts, and the digestive tracts of wildlife and people (Leung et al., 2006).

Health consequences of disposal, dismantling, and recycling activities of WEEEs

A systematic review of epidemiological studies of the health consequences of ingesting the chemicals released by e-waste disposal and/or e-waste processing activities shows that human exposure to e-waste is significantly associated with impairments in reproduction, neurodevelopment, and mental health. In addition, toxicants released during e-waste disposal and processing are known to increase the incidence of cancerous diseases by causing DNA damage, chromosomal aberrations, and changes in gene expression (Zhao et al., 2009; Grant et al., 2013).

Grant et al. (2013) studied the health consequences of WEEE recycling and processing in southeast China, mainly in Guiyu and Taizhou. By reviewing the epidemiological studies they showed the positive correlation between exposure to e-waste and the negative impacts on human health.

Their review revealed that halogenated hydrocarbons, such as PBDEs, PCDDs, PCDFs, and PCBs, which are released during e-waste processing, caused variations in thyroid-stimulating hormone levels (Ju et al., 2008; Yuan et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2010; Han et al., 2011; Grant et al., 2013). In the vicinity of an e-waste dismantling site in Guiyu, China, the lung function of school children (8 to 9 years of age) was affected. They showed lower forced vital capacity (FVC = the amount of air that can be forcibly exhaled from the lungs after taking a deep breath). These impairments in lung function are linked with the exposure to and the uptake of heavy metals, such as Cr, Mn, and Ni, which are emitted by the e-waste processing sector. The uptake of heavy metals was proven by the elevated blood levels of Mn of 374.92 nmol/L and of Ni of 5.3 mg/L: control samples contained 271.18 nmol/L of Mn and 3 mg/L of Ni (Zheng et al., 2013). In these regions with their high informal e-waste processing activities, reproductive health was affected as well. For instance, the exposure to e-waste was often accompanied by considerable increases in spontaneous abortions (Wu et al., 2012b), stillbirths (Guo et al., 2012; Xu et al., 2012), premature births reduced birth weights (Guo et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2012b; Xu et al., 2012), and reduced birth length (Wu et al., 2011b, 2012b; Grant et al., 2013). Other studies showed that increased lead levels could be found in the cord blood and meconium of neonates if their parents, and especially their mothers, were involved in e-waste recycling activities or if they lived in the vicinity of e-waste processing sites before and during their pregnancy (Li et al., 2008d; Liu et al., 2011). The elevated lead concentrations and probably the addi-

Exposure to e-waste was often accompanied by considerable increases in spontaneous abortions, stillbirths, premature births, reduced birth weights, and reduced birth length. tional exposure to other contaminants released from ewaste processing resulted in impairment of the children's mental development. From neonatal behavioral neurological examinations, the Guiyu newborns with the higher lead concentrations showed abnormalities in temperament scores and low neonatal behavioral neurological assessment scores (Li et al., 2008d; Liu et al., 2011; Grant et al., 2013). E-waste and its pollutants are known to cause genetic mutations and cytogenetic damage. For instance, mothers involved in e-waste recycling had elevated Cr levels (median 94 µg/L) in umbilical cord blood. The exposure to Cr, in combination with other pollutants from the e-waste recycling, were correlated with DNA damage (Li et al., 2008c). In Jinghai, China, workers involved in ewaste processing had increased chromosomal aberration levels 20 times higher than those who were not working in the same sector (Liu et al., 2009). More evidence that pollutants from the e-waste sector can cause damage to DNA are mentioned in the comprehensive epidemiological study of Grant et al. (2013).

In conclusion, there is a lot of evidence that pollutants from e-waste are indeed a health risk for workers involved in e-waste businesses and for their families if they are living in the vicinity of e-waste processing and dumping sites.

Lack of implementation of policies and regulations

In Delhi, the Indian capital, the informal e-waste recycling sector has a high employment potential with an increasing trend. Especially for the urban poor, informal e-waste businesses are a preferred opportunity to make a profit (Sinha-Khetriwal et al., 2005; International Labour Organization, 2012). Delhi is a favored site for informal ewaste collection and processing (Sinha-Khetriwal et al., 2005; International Labour Organization, 2012) given:

- The good infrastructure
- · Its position as a nodal point in trade
- India's strong economics
- The increase in domestic e-waste production
- The additional loads of e-waste from shipments from HICs which are the major sources of e-waste.

It is estimated that in 2005 in India, between 146,180 and 360,000 tonne of WEEE was generated domestically and it is estimated that 800,000 tonne of e-waste will be produced in India by 2012 (Zoeteman et al., 2010; Wath et al., 2011). In addition, in 2005 up to 850,000 tonne of WEEE

might have been imported into India for disposal and further processing (more recent data have not been found; Zoeteman et al., 2010; Breivik et al., 2014). It has to be considered that given the high complexity of the WEEE production, trade, and processing businesses, the high levels of informal and illegal e-waste transportation and disposal activities, and the increasing trend in global WEEE generation, these numbers may well be significantly underestimated.

However, with the help of stricter governmental regulations in Delhi, a crackdown on informal e-waste businesses has been initiated. There, the effort was made to reduce the number of informal e-waste businesses, to improve safety, and to mitigate the impacts on human and environmental health, which are associated with informal ewaste processing activities (Skinner et al., 2010). Nevertheless, instead of stopping the informal businesses, these were just trans-located to satellite towns, such as Saharanpur and Meerut, while the e-waste trade in the city continues (Waste Management World, 2011).

Figure 27 shows the possible formal, semi-formal, and informal paths of the e-waste trade within India. In addition, the graphic shows that while e-waste can originate from domestic e-waste production sources, such as private consumers, government institutions, industrial consumers, or manufactures, the largest amount of ewaste is imported from HICs. Furthermore, it can be seen that the different formal, semi-formal, and informal stakeholders involved in the trade and processing of ewaste are interlinked (Skinner et al., 2010). First (green path), the e-waste arising from formal sources is given to friends, donated to institutions or sold to responsible formal dismantlers/recyclers. Second (blue path), primarily for economic reasons, most semi-formal stakeholders act as a link between the formal and informal e-waste businesses by sending e-waste to informal dismantlers and recyclers. Third, the informal sector (orange path) is dismantling and processing e-waste or they are even involved in the informal extraction of valuable materials from e-waste (Jain, 2009; Skinner et al., 2010). It must be recognized that Figure 27 shows a simplified path of ewaste trades. In practice, the flow of e-waste is much more complex and more elusive, which makes it difficult to enact effective regulations and policies (Skinner et al., 2010). As described in the section E-waste pollutants of environmental concern (p.106), informal e-waste recycling is mostly responsible for causing severe problems to environmental and human health.

Best practices

The illegal trade on e-waste and the informal e-waste recycling businesses are significant cross-cutting issues on a global scale. Of all countries, the LAMICs are those with the highest e-waste burdens (Skinner et al., 2010; Lewis, 2010, 2011; International Labour Organization, 2012; Silicon Valley Toxics Coalition, 2014).

To mitigate the entry of highly toxic pollutants into the environment through e-waste disposal and processing initiatives, significant efforts are required to implement best practices for e-waste treatment. The introduction of sound management practices for e-waste businesses are required at local and international levels. To facilitate implementation of best practices and sound waste management, collaboration and communications between stakeholders from the electrical and electronic industry, governments, customs authorities, regulatory and environmental agencies, intergovernmental or non-governmental organizations and local authorities need to be strengthened. In addition, purchasers of EEE and civil society, in general, can support the production of greener and more sustainable EEE by purchasing electronic products with less toxic compounds or which do not contain recycled material from informal e-waste businesses. Alternatively, they can support internationally or locally certified e-waste campaigns (for instance the WorldLoop's e-Resource Certificate Programme (WorldLoop, 2013) or the Swiss e-waste program (Empa, 2009e) to promote the controlled and safe collection, processing, and recycling of e-waste (International Labour Organization, 2012). Details of already implemented and theoretical best practices for a more environmentally-friendly trade and processing of e-waste follow.

Implemented examples

Increased data transparency through the (Step) initiative

Solving the e-waste problem (Step) is an international initiative that was established in late 2004. To date, Step has over 60 members representing manufacturers, recyclers, academics, and government and non-governmental organizations committed to solving the increasing e-waste problem (Step Initiative, 2016a). The main objectives of this initiative are to (Step Initiative, 2014):

- · conduct and share scientific research
- set strategies and goals to overcome the e-waste problem



Figure 27: The formal (green), semi-formal (blue), and informal (orange) paths of e-waste flows within India (Skinner et al., 2010)

- provide training on e-waste issues
- communicate and raise awareness

To fulfill their aims, the members of the Step initiative they have to comply with five principles:

- Their work is founded on scientific assessments and integrates a comprehensive view of the social, economic, and environmental aspects of e-waste
- They conduct research on the entire life cycle of EEE by considering their global supply, processes and material flows
- 3. Their research and pilot projects are feasible approaches to the problems caused by e-waste
- 4. They reject all illegal activities related to e-waste, including illegal exports (shipments) and reuse and recycling practices that affect environmental and human health
- They are eager to promote safe, eco-, and energy-efficient reuse and recycling practices on a global scale in a socially responsible manner

Their five core theme areas, which are described in more detail on the homepage of the Step initiative, are (Step Initiative, 2016b):

- Policy to analyze existing approaches and e-waste policies
- Redesign of EEE to promote design for better reuse, repair, refurbishment, and recycling
- Reuse to develop replicable, sustainable, and globally consistent reuse systems for EEE
- Recycle to enhance global recycling infrastructures
- Capacity-building to increase awareness of the growing e-waste problem.

For instance, in respect of their commitments to mitigate the e-waste problem, the Step initiative is compiling a world map with data about EEE that is put on the market. It also provides information on the WEEE that is generated domestically in each country in kg/inhabitant or in total kilotonne (Figure 28), although, in general, the e-waste problem is hard to capture, mainly because of a lack of comprehensive data. These data are available to the public and they are helping to localize hot spots with e-waste problems. They are used internally and externally to find locations that generate large volumes of e-waste and where disassembling and processing programs for e-waste, or new state-of-the-art WEEE recycling facilities could be started. However, the amounts of WEEE that are exported illegally are not considered in the Step calculations, which may cause an underestimation of the amounts of e-waste accumulated and their associated environmental risks, mainly in LAMICs. During Step's editing of the data it has defined EEE and WEEE according to the EU Waste Electrical and Electronic Equip-



Figure 28: World map with domestic e-waste production in 10³ tonne (A) and in kg/inhabitant (B) for 2012 (Step Initiative, 2015). ment Directive categories and products. Nevertheless, although there may be some uncertainties, its world map of e-waste production is unique and is the first data base to provide such comprehensive and international data, thus increasing the transparency of e-waste data (Step Initiative, 2015).

E-waste assessment methodology and implementation of dismantling programs

Since the 1990s, Switzerland was one of the first counties in the world to introduce a national e-waste management system. The Swiss Federal Laboratories for Materials Science and Technology (Empa) has established a good reputation for assessing the serious health, socioeconomic, and environmental problems caused by inappropriate e-waste disposal and rudimentary recycling practices. It has also developed solutions to mitigate these issues by finding and implementing an effective individualized ewaste management system. Since 2003, Empa, which has acted as one of the technical control bodies of the Swiss e-waste management system, is using and adapting the knowledge gained in Switzerland to the needs of LAMICs. Empa has taken part in several e-waste projects in Africa, Asia, and Latin and South America where they are trying to improve the living conditions of local residents, by helping to better manage e-waste streams and protect resources. The projects seek to improve the economic situation in general and to reduce the health risks to humans and the environment (Empa, 2009c).

For instance, after a detailed e-waste country assessment in South Africa, an e-waste processing facility was implemented in Cape Town. From February to November 2008, this facility was able to process around 60 tonne of WEEE, generated an income about USD14,000, and provided direct employment for 19 people (Empa, 2009d). Other projects on sound e-waste management where Empa has been engaged are described on the Empa (2009c) e-waste guide web page. Their latest projects were conducted in Brazil, China, Columbia, Kenya, Morocco, Peru, Senegal, South Africa, and Uganda.

From their extensive experience, Schluep et al. (2012) explain that pure technical implementation alone is often insufficient to enable sound e-waste management. This is the case, particularly, in LAMICs where legal and institutional frameworks and infrastructure are lacking and, therefore, e-waste management requires a comprehensive and well-structured approach. In order to understand the prevalent framework of conditions, the current e-waste regulations and legislations need to be compiled and an assessment made of stakeholders, mass flow, and the environmental and socioeconomic impacts. This requires a country-specific e-waste assessment to be conducted. Along these lines, Schluep et al. (2012) have published a publicly available report, that explains their methodology of e-waste assessment. This report can be used as a reference for organizations that are interested in e-waste assessment projects enabling sound e-waste management. The report about their e-waste assessment methodology shows how to get results about the legal framework conditions, how to understand stakeholder interactions, the mass-flows of WEEE, and how to identify WEEE hotspots. This information will provide a comprehensive overview of the e-waste situation in a specific region for the relevant stakeholders. It will help to evaluate the potentials for employment or for possible improvements in the living condition of local people who are engaged in the e-waste business. The assessment of mass flow and other economic data are helpful when implementing appropriate business models for e-waste collection, processing, and recycling activities. In summary, their e-waste assessment methodology provides all the relevant information required for implementing a regiondependent e-waste management system (Schluep et al., 2012).

Besides Empa, other international organizations, such as the United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO), the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), the Basel Convention, the StEP Initiative, the Partnership for Action on Computing Equipment, the Swiss e-waste program, and Hewlett-Packard, are pursuing similar goals and they all apply the e-waste assessment methodologies of Empa and SOFIES SA (Schluep et al., 2012).

Improvements in WEEE collection and recycling practices

Improvements in WEEE collection and recycling practices are urgently needed. The LIFE + WEEE Label of Excellence (WEEELABEX) EU project was initiated to protect the environment by promoting sound e-waste trading and recycling practices in Europe. This project comprises the enactment of European standards with respect to WEEE collection, handling, storage, recycling, and disposal in compliance with EU health, safety, and environmental legislation. According to these standards, monitoring programs of processing companies will be started. The monitoring will be conducted by auditors, who are trained by the WEEELABEX office to ensure consistent monitoring approaches and that the same sets of standards are used for auditing. If the parties and companies involved in WEEE operations comply with the implemented standards of the WEEELABEX initiative they are awarded the project targeted conformity verification, referred to as

the WEEE label of excellence (WEEELABEX, 2013). With the help of this project, consistent and new standards for WEEE collection, storage, and processing, which are already becoming international benchmarks, were successfully developed within the EU. So far, about 30 companies have been awarded the WEEELABEX conformity verification. More detailed information about this initiative are available on the webpage www.weeelabex.org/.

Development and implementation of greener technologies

The development and implementation of greener technologies leads to a reduction in the volume of WEEE produced. For instance, use of the EPEAT® global rating system, managed by the non-profit organization Green Electronics Council, Portland, Oregon, USA, helps purchasers (businesses, schools, hotels, hospitals, and governments), manufacturers, and others track down and offer environmentally preferable EEEs (Green Electronics Council, 2015). EPEAT® registered electronics meet strict environmental criteria. For instance, EPEAT® registered products use less environmentally sensitive materials in their manufacture, are designed for an increased lifecycle, consume less energy, and disposal of their WEEE products is managed soundly.

The Fairphone enterprise is another example how greener EEE can be supplied for end-users. Fairphone was started in 2010 as a project of the Waag Society, Action Aid, and Schrijf-Schrijf to increase awareness about minerals and the conflicts that are associated with the mining of these minerals in the Democratic Republic of Congo. Given the omnipresence of mobile phones, Fairphone is focusing on producing mobile phones that are designed to have a longer life and increased reparability. The source material originates from local economies and conflict-free mining sites and not from mining sites controlled by armed militias. In addition, properly recycled material is used in the production of the mobile phones. Furthermore, Fairphone guarantees that during production, the employees worked under fair and safe working conditions. Currently, they have 31 employees and they have sold about 50 thousand Fairphones (Fairphone, 2015).

Theoretical examples

Strengthening the regulatory framework and introducing attractive incentives

As described in the section **Lack of implementation of policies and regulations** (p. 122), implementing regulations alone is not sufficiently effective to improve occupational safety and to reduce the impacts on environmental and human health. The example of the informal e-waste businesses in Delhi showed that strengthening regulations and prohibitions alone are not solving the e-waste problem. In the Delhi case, the informal businesses simply shifted from the city center to remote places and the informal e-waste recyclers continued their work using harmful and rudimentary recycling methods (Sinha-Khetriwal et al., 2005; Sinha et al., 2010; International Labour Organization, 2012). As long as informal e-waste businesses provide profit-yielding employment for many people in poverty, the informal activities will continue although such businesses are dangerous and life threatening ones. This is especially so when there are no attractive incentives available that promote and support formal e-waste recycling activities. People who are involved in e-waste businesses should be informed and further educated about the perils of working with e-waste and its impact on environmental and human health. Efforts are needed to mitigate occupational accidents and health risks by raising people's awareness about their work with hazardous compounds. Incentives need to be provided that will urge them to seek safer and healthier working conditions (Wang et al., 2011).

In general in LAMICs, it is necessary to raise awareness of the environmental and human health risks in businesses where hazardous chemicals are involved, such as informal e-waste dismantling and processing activities. It is equally necessary to enable the environmentally sound management of waste and chemicals and to guarantee improvements in occupational and environmental health. In addition, guidance and training for informal e-waste business to become more formal or to cooperate and integrate into the formal sector are important (just as it is the case for informal and small scale mining businesses described in the section Theoretical examples (p. 100). However, this will be challenging, especially as it is mostly uneducated people with low literacy levels, living in extreme poverty who are involved in informal e-waste processing and recycling businesses (Nimpuno et al., 2011; International Labour Organization, 2012; Rockson et al., 2013). Actually, there is evidence that informal e-waste recycling activities, although using rudimentary methods, are economically advantageous businesses and even out-compete formal recycling businesses mainly because of the lower costs of complying with the legislation and the possibility to externalize environmental costs. In comparison, recyclers of the formal e-waste sector have increased operating costs since they are paying contributions for the treatment of the wastewater they produce (Skinner et al., 2010).

Introducing financial incentives, such as funding the best recycling practices or giving grants for the sound management of wastewater effluents and the disposal of WEEE, could be a very effective method to reduce the use of informal e-waste processing and recycling practices for domestic e-waste and imported e-waste from HICs (Williams et al., 2008). Another possibility would be to provide financial incentives for transferring hazardous WEEE, which cannot be easily and safely disassembled and processed by informal businesses, to formal state-of-theart businesses or, even better, to certificated end-processors using sound and controlled processing methods for e-waste. If the capacities for sustainable and sound ewaste processing techniques are available, such an integration of formal e-waste businesses at the international or national level would help to mitigate occupational and environmental health risks (Williams et al., 2008; International Labour Organization, 2012).

Better production processes through extended producer responsibility (EPR) and the green production of EEE

Eliminating informal e-waste businesses and the illegal trade in WEEE, and establishing and launching state-of-the-art e-waste processing facilities alone are not sufficient to mitigate the environmental and human health risks from e-waste pollutants. Mitigating these risks needs additional steps taken by the EEE production industry. For instance, during production, the use of highly toxic chemicals could be reduced or limited voluntarily, by governmental restrictions, or by finding substitutes that are less hazardous and easier to extract and recycle (International Labour Organization, 2012).

One approach in this direction is the Restriction on the use of certain hazardous substances (RoHS) Directive enacted in 2002 and modified in 2011 (European Parliament and Council of the European Union, 2011). This bans or restricts hazardous material in EEE for all products brought to market in Europe. For instance, according to the RoHS Directive, the use of metals and substances such as Pb, Hg, Cd, Cr(VI), polybrominated biphenyls (PBBs), and polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDE) are restricted in the casing of EEE and printed circuit boards. Nevertheless, despite the introduction of the RoHS Directive, the generation and release of highly toxic and carcinogenic pollutants, such as dioxins and furans, cannot be prevented (Williams et al., 2008). Electrical and electronic products produced in LAMICs, which contain recycled material from informal e-waste businesses, or obsolete and secondhand EEE from HICs being reused in LAMICs, still may contain higher amounts of hazardous compounds, possibly because of the lack of controls and regulations in these countries (Weidenhamer and Clement, 2007; Chi et al., 2011; International Labour Organization, 2012). On a global scale, more efforts are necessary to reduce or abolish the use of highly toxic compounds like halogenated flame retardants and heavy metals such as cadmium and mercury. In future, more focus is needed to reduce the amounts of hazardous toxicants and compounds that are used in producing EEE. The production of easy-to-disassemble and recycle EEE needs to be promoted to mitigate occupational risks and to close gaps in the material flow system to avoid the release of highly toxic substances into the environment (International Labour Organization, 2012).

Furthermore, increased responsibility needs to be placed on the EEE production industry. Firstly, in the direction of sound waste management by the industry having to pay fees for the disposal and recycling of the products or wastes generated during their production. This would provide an incentive to produce EEE which contains less hazardous compounds and which is easier to recycle. Secondly, there should be increased responsibility for the EEE production sector for recycling materials in EEE at the end of the equipment's useful life. The manufacturers can reduce the amounts of virgin (primary) metals taken from the mining sector by initiating take-back and collection programs for WEEE. They can achieve this by setting up trade agreements with formal state-of-the-art facilities that implement an efficient, sustainable, and environmentally-friendly recycling of WEEE. Such waste related policies and initiatives are based on the EPR principles, which shift the responsibility from municipalities to producers by compelling producers to take financial responsibility for the disposal and recycling of their WEEE (Yu et al., 2006a). Additionally, closing gaps in the material flow cycle by improving the recycling of WEEE and by incorporating less hazardous compounds, secondary metals, or less scarce metals can lead to a mitigation of the exposure to chemical pollutants from both the e-waste processing and mining sectors.

In summary, the introduction of the RoHS Directive may help to reduce the amount of hazardous pollutants and consequently the impacts of WEEE on environmental and human health even before the WEEE is traded and disposed of inappropriately into the environment or during its recycling. Until now, this approach has been enacted only within Europe and no international directives and legislation with this focus have been developed yet. In general, the EPR approaches are supporting sound waste management of WEEE and they give incentives to reduce the amounts of WEEE produced and traded by the EEE industry. In conclusion, the regulations and approaches of the RoHS Directive and the initiatives based on the EPR principles are promoting the production of 'greener' – more sustainable and eco-friendly – EEE products. They also promote the sound disposal and management of WEEE, but further agreements and approaches at the international level are required to enforce the greener production and disposal of EEE globally.

Green production of EEE and increased data transparency

Over the last years with the continuous development of technology, the life span of EEE has been showing a generally decreasing trend. This, along with the growing population and increasing living standards has resulted in a global increase in WEEE. For instance, the life span of a PC decreased from 4.5 to 2 years during the period 1992 to 2005 (Culver, 2005; Widmer et al., 2005).

Today, in the period of excessive informal e-waste processing and recycling and the resulting occupational and environmental health risks, the production of greener and more environmentally friendly EEE is needed to mitigate the negative impacts associated especially with these e-waste businesses (International Labour Organization, 2012). There are several criteria which have to be fulfilled to design green EEE. For example, the products should be carbon neutral and the GHG production should be as low as possible. They should be easy to dismantle, easy to repair and recycle, and their durability (lifespan) should be maximized. The use of toxic compounds and primary materials (e.g. metals and plastics) should be minimized or abandoned. In addition, efforts are needed to find solutions and technologies that go beyond our current dominant technologies. Production should actively engage the aims of local communities as well as those of the stakeholders, and the reuse of EEE should be fostered. Ultimately, initiatives for taking back obsolete equipment, for sound approaches to the management of e-waste, and appropriate state-of-the-art recycling technologies should be included to close the life cycle of EEE. Such initiatives would help to prevent the negative impacts associated with disposal and recycling practices for the end-of-life products of the EEE sector - much like a cradle to the grave principle (Greenpeace, 2011).

Fortunately, because of several environmental conventions, such as the Stockholm and the Basel Conventions (United Nations Environment Programme, 2013d; 2014) and the Strategic Approach to International Chemicals Management (United Nations Environment Programme, 2006b), the production industry is being put under pressure to improve its performance and provide and promote greener and more sustainable end-products to consumers (Greenpeace, 2011). Along these lines, Greenpeace has published a 'Guide to Greener Electronics' which includes the ranking of 15 companies according to their energy efficiency, the sustainability of their operations, and their compliance with several additional criteria for the production of greener EEE. These additional criteria include whether they give information regarding:

- Their GHG production and if they have specific plans to reduce the emission of GHGs
- If they use clean energy and if their operations have a high product energy efficiency
- If they avoid hazardous substances during their production
- If they use recycled plastics
- If their products have a sustainable product life cycle (high durability, easily repaired).
- If they try to reduce energy consumption throughout the supply chain
- If they follow specific policies and practices for sustainably sourcing paper fibers and using conflict-free minerals
- If they implement effective voluntary take-back initiatives of WEEE.

Greenpeace determined that, of the companies tested, Hewlett-Packard (HP) best meets the criteria for greener electronics - the company scored 5.9 points out of 10. However, HP was awarded a very low number of points for their clean energy policy, for their product life cycle, and for the use of recycled plastic. HP is followed by Dell (5.1 points), Nokia (4.9 points), and Apple (4.6 points). These results show that although some efforts, initiatives, and improvements in production and in the provision of green technologies have been taken, further steps towards the production of sustainable and environmentally friendly EEE are required. In addition, data about energy consumption, product life cycle, and production, in general, are not transparent and difficult for the consumer to assess. Such data need to be more transparent and make it easier for the consumers to make decisions as to whether they are willing to support the development of green technologies or not.

At present, the main focus in the field of green technology is on reducing the use of hazardous compounds, not on improving the efficiency of the product life cycle or other aspects, such as ease of disassembly or facilitating the recycling of EEE. The reason why green technologies are described in this chapter with the theoretical examples of good practices is that the practices used by the main companies are still not satisfactory (Greenpeace, 2011).

One innovative idea for end-products that are easy to assemble and upgrade is the Bloom laptop which has been developed by a group of students from Stanford University and Aalto University of Finland. This laptop can be disassembled by hand easily, individual parts can be easily replaced and upgraded, and any broken elements can be exchanged easily by the consumer alone (Bhobe et al., 2010; International Labour Organization, 2012). Another idea is the vision of the mobile phone of the independent organization Phonebloks. Their idea is to design a mobile phone encouraging the development and production of EEE that produces less electronic waste, is easy to upgrade, is recyclable, and has, therefore, an increased life span (Phonebloks, 2016). Their phones will consist of individual blocks with different functions e.g. different cameras, processors, displays, and so on. The idea is that consumers can design their own phones according to their own wishes and needs. In addition, Phonebloks want to provide a technology where consumers can upgrade or repair their phone by themselves by replacing just individual parts (blocks) instead of buying a completely new phone. This reduces the amount of ewaste produced and considerably increases the life span of these phones. While these are innovative ideas and there is some interest in these products by electronic companies, these products are not likely to be adopted soon (Bhobe et al., 2010; Phonebloks, 2016).



Residual Waste from Selected Industries

Pollution risks from other industrial waste

Our report covers the following chemical pollutants/ sectors: (1) pesticides, (2) pharmaceuticals, (3) mining, and (4) e-waste. This is because our highest concern is for environmental and human health in LAMICs and because of the availability, although partially fragmentary, of comprehensive and global databases. Comprehensive databases about industrial production, exports, and imports are, however, generally not publicly available. This is mainly because of the complex production chains and the non-transparency of industrial data (Larsson and Fick, 2009). Chemical pollution from these industries is of a very varied and complex nature. Nevertheless, the scattered data about industrial activities in LAMICs that were available showed the high impacts on human health and there was evidence that industrial pollutants cause significant environmental pollution and degradation (Larsson et al., 2007; Larsson, 2010; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012, 2013). Despite the limited availability of data, the industrial sector needs to be considered and discussed as a significant source of highly toxic pollutants and more investigations about industrial pollutants in LAMICs are required. This is especially so since:

- The start of worldwide chemical intensification and the outsourcing of the industry from HICs to LAMICs (see section **The future of chemical pollutants in low- and middle-income countries,** p. 15; United Nations Environment Programme, 2013c; PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2008; United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2014).
- Infrastructure is lacking and obsolete and environmentally unfriendly methods are used for the production and processing of industrial commodities (Yusuff and Sonibare, 2004; Mohanta et al., 2010; Mehraj et al., 2013).

 Compliance with environmental regulations, if they exist, cannot be guaranteed and there is less (or maybe even no) awareness of the adverse impacts of pollutants on environmental and human health in LAMICs (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012, 2013; United Nations Environment Programme, 2013c).

In this section, therefore, we briefly address hazardous pollutants released from several industry segments, such as the cement, paper, textile, and rubber industries.

Textile industry

Introduction

During the manufacture (the scouring, bleaching, coloring, and finishing steps) of wearing apparel, large volumes of water (in general, 60-400 L) are needed to produce and process 1 kg of clothes. In addition, large volumes of hazardous agents are used. Both the amount of water consumed and the agents used depend on the type of fabric being processed (wool, cotton, polyester, etc.) (Yusuff and Sonibare, 2004; International Finance Corporation and World Bank Group, 2007). For instance, 1967 data from the U.S. Department of the Interior's Federal Water Pollution Control Administrations (Federal Water Pollution Control Administration, 1967) showed that washing and rinsing operations for the production of 1 kg of wool and cotton clothes required 250-580 L water, while for the production of 1 kg synthetic clothes about 25-240 L of water were needed. (Data from 1967 is used here because these older data might better represent the actual water consumption in LAMICs where older techniques are applied.) Because of the high consumption of water and chemical agents during the textile manufacturing wetting processes, wastewaters are the major source of chemical pollutants. Thus, the key environmental issues associated with the textile industry are water use, inadequate wastewater treatment, and inappropriate disposal of aqueous effluents, especially in LA-MICs (Yusuff and Sonibare, 2004). For a more complete picture, it must be recognized that during the production of natural fabrics, such as cotton and wool, water is also used for growing the plants and raising the animals, which increases the water footprint of these products. Furthermore, in growing the raw materials of natural fabrics (cotton and wool from sheep or other animals) toxic pesticides might be used as well (Syrett, 2002).

Pollution potential from the textile industry

Wastewater from the textile industry often has poor quality by showing high levels (up to 2000 mg/L) of biological oxygen demand (BOD; Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency, 2004). BOD₅ measures the amount of oxygen (mg/L) required for the microbiological decomposition of the organic material contained in the water within 5 days at a constant temperature of 20°C (United Nations, 2007). The wastewater also has an increased alkalinity, generally, a chemical oxygen demand (COD), and carries an amount of solids (measured as total suspended solids; TSS); [COD indicates the amount of oxygen (mg/L) which is needed for the oxidation of all the organic substances in the water (LAR Process Analysers AG, 2016)]. The most relevant toxic agents that might be used and released during the individual steps in textile manufacturing are listed below.

Washing and scouring operations – non-biodegradable and less degradable surfactants (alkyl phenol ethoxylates, APEs; Scott and Jones, 2000) and organic solvents (phenols; Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency, 2004; Le Marechal et al., 2012).

Dyeing operations – benzidine-based azo-dyes (some of the azo-dyes can lead to the formation of environmentally toxic and carcinogenic amines) or sulfur dyes, and dyes which contain heavy metals (intentionally or contaminated with arsenic, cadmium, chromium, cobalt, copper, nickel, lead, and zinc), or chlorines (Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency, 2004; Yusuff and Sonibare, 2004; International Finance Corporation and World Bank Group, 2007). Dyeing carriers can involve heavy metals or chlorines. For the dyeing of polyester and polyesterwool mixtures at lower temperatures, halogenated carriers are used to help the dyes penetrate the polyester fibers (Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency, 2004; Syrett, 2002; Le Marechal et al., 2012).

Bleaching operations – involve the use of sulfur and chlorine-based bleaching agents (sulfur dioxide gas and sodium hyperchlorite), caustic soda (NaOH), acids, and surfactants (the use of peroxides is recommended) (Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency, 2004; Yusuff and Sonibare, 2004; International Finance Corporation and World Bank Group, 2007; Le Marechal et al., 2012).

Cloth protection – for the protection of natural fabrics and clothes, hazardous pesticides are used sometimes (dieldrin, pentachlorophenol, and arsenic or mercury based pesticides). Synthetic clothes may contain plasticizers and brominated or fluorinated flame retardants (Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency, 2004; Le Marechal et al., 2012).

Case study of concern of the textile industry

Rahman et al. (2008) assessed the environmental impacts of the wastewater effluents from the textile and dyeing industries on the ecosystem of Karnopara Canal at Savar, Bangladesh. By monitoring the physicochemical properties, such as pH, color, dissolved oxygen, BOD, COD, TSS, total dissolved solids, alkalinity, salinity, turbidity, electrical conductivity, iron, and ammonia, they revealed that all the water of the Karnopara Canal was outside the tolerable limits of the Department of Environment, Bangladesh standards. Thus, these highly polluted effluents had adverse impacts on the surrounding land and aquatic ecosystems and even on the local community (Rahman et al., 2008). Figure 29 is a picture of untreated effluents from the textile, the dying, and the leather industries. Data from Hämäläinen et al. (2006) showed that the estimated number of fatal occupational accidents is much higher in LAMICs than those of HICs (especially in India, China and Sub-Saharan Africa). This indicates that working conditions in LAMICs are often poor, less safe, and less controlled.



Figure 29: Untreated wastewater from the textile, dying, and leather industries in Savar, Bangladesh (Picture: Daniel Lanteigne, 2010a).

Leather industry

Introduction

During the production of leather, several different processes need to be carried out. Of these, the tanning process is the most important one from an environmental point of view. During the tanning processes, the skins of animals are treated to produce leather. Large amounts of different hazardous chemicals are required to make the raw animal skins more visually attractive and robust. For example, to remove and break down the hair and animal parts on the hides, sulfides are used. Chlorides are used to preserve the leather from decomposition. Often, trivalent chromium salts are used to further stabilize leather products (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012). Similar to the textile industry, large volumes of water are needed during the leather tanning process as well. During the processing of 1 kg of raw material, 30-40 L of wastewater is produced (Ingle et al., 2011). Hence, wastewater effluents from the tanneries (especially if they are untreated) are the major exposure pathway releasing hazardous chemicals into aquatic systems (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012). The key environmental issues associated with the leather industry are, therefore, the same as those for the textile industry - high water consumption, inadequate wastewater treatment, and inappropriate disposal of aqueous effluents. According to the database of the Blacksmith Institute, there are over 100 contaminated tannery sites (Figure 30). Of these, the



Figure 30: Untreated wastewater of leather tanneries in Bangladesh is released into the environment (Picture: Daniel Lanteigne, 2010b)

greatest amount of contaminants is released from poorly run and managed small scale facilities and in legacy leather processing sites. It was calculated that more than 1.8 million persons are at risk worldwide because of the pollution of these sites (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012).

Pollution potential from the leather industry

Wastewater effluents from tanneries have, similar to textile industry effluents, high levels of BOD and COD (Bosnic et al., 2000; Mohanta et al., 2010). Normally, natural and healthy water systems can handle a specific amount of effluents with a high oxygen demand, the effluents of tanneries (especially if untreated) however, often contain excessive loads of water with a high oxygen demand. This can lead to an oxygen withdrawal, adversely affecting the plants, vertebrates, and invertebrates or even causing theirdeath (Bosnicetal., 2000; Mohantaetal., 2010). Besides these aqueous pollutants, large amounts of solid waste are produced during leather production. These solid wastes mainly contain leather particles and the residues of the dead animals, or they originate from chemical discharges and precipitated reagents used during the processing of the leather. If these solid wastes are not adequately removed from the wastewater they can precipitate as sludge and clog wastewater pipes or cover plants and sediments, thus causing the environmental degradation of aquatic systems (Bosnic et al., 2000).

From the pollutants released from the tanneries, chromium is considered to be the one of greatest concern from the environmental and human health perspectives Cr(III) (which is mainly used in the tanning process) is less toxic under certain environmental conditions. In the presence of manganese oxides or other strong oxidizers (Rai et al., 1989) this trivalent chromium can be oxidized to Cr(VI), which is classified in IARC group 1, carcinogenic to humans (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015). Organic solvents, sulfides, ammonia, chlorides, and additional heavy metals, such as lead and cadmium from dyes, can be found in the wastewater effluents of tanneries as well (Bosnic et al., 2000; Mohanta et al., 2010; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2012).

Case study of concern in the leather industry

Studies conducted in 2007 and 2013 by the Blacksmith Institute in the Hazaribagh district of Dhaka, Bangladesh, provide lists of the world's 30 (Hanrahan et al., 2007) and 10 (Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2013) most polluted places. In the Hazaribagh region there are about 200 tanneries on about 25 ha of land, employing between 8000 and 12,000 people (Pearshouse, 2012; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2013). There, about 75 tonne of solid waste and about 22 million L of wastewater are generated per day (Azom et al., 2012). Most of the wastewater is discharged into the Buriganga River, Dhaka's water supply, without any treatment (Pearshouse, 2012; Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross, 2013). In effluents of one of those tanneries, the BOD5 was measured at 3600 mg/L and the COD at 9300 mg/L. Both far exceeded the permitted standards. Concentrations of chromium of 4043 mg/L, chloride of 45,000 mg/L, lead of 1944 mg/L, and sulfide of 145 mg/L have been measured. These are much higher than the permitted levels of 2 mg/L for chromium, 600 mg/L for chloride, 0.1 mg/L for lead, and 1 mg/L for sulfide (Rahman, 1997; Pearshouse 2012). Although these values were measured in 1997, the results from studies of the Blacksmith Institute and Green Cross (2013), Pearshouse (2012), and Azom et al. (2012) showed almost no improvement had been achieved in this region and almost no action taken in waste management (wastewater and solid waste) or for the development of sound leather production.

The pollution of the leather industry (tanneries) is not only adversely affecting the environment, but also the workers and local people of the Hazaribagh district of Dhaka, Bangladesh. There, local residents are living besides channels with untreated tannery effluent. The residents and workers from the tannery facilities suffer from rashes, itches, fever, diarrhea, and respiratory problems. The workers from the tannery facilities especially suffer from the poor occupational health and safety conditions. This is shown through the adverse health effects, such as premature aging, discolored, itchy, acid burned, and rash-covered skin, aches, dizziness and nausea, respiratory diseases, and elevated cancer rates. These arise because the tannery companies do not often provide adequate protective clothing (gloves, masks, boots, and aprons) and because of the unsafe and dirty working conditions (Pearshouse, 2012).

Paper industry

Introduction

In some regions, especially in Indonesia, the paper industry might be responsible for deforestation because of its unsustainable pulpwood harvesting practices. In addition, the pulp and paper industry is, among others, one of the world's largest consumers of energy. The industry is emitting large amounts of GHGs. Although deforestation and the high emission of GHGs have significant impacts on environmental and human health, for this report we are focusing more on the highly toxic organic and inorganic compounds that are released into the environment through paper production (Ince et al., 2011; WWF, 2015). During paper production, large volumes of water are used. For instance, even if state-of-the-art technologies are used, water consumption is about 60 L/kg of paper produced (Thompson et al., 2001; Ince et al., 2011). Data about the degree of pollution caused by the paper industry in LAMICs are much less readily available than data about textile and tannery pollutants. Nevertheless, given the large volumes of water required during paper production, the environment can be exposed to large volumes of wastewater with toxic compounds, especially if poorlyfunctioning, or even no wastewater treatment facilities are available. This often the case in LAMICs (Corcoran et al., 2010).

Pollution potential from the paper industry

Like most industrial effluents, the wastewater effluent of the paper industry can have elevated BOD5, COD, and TSS levels, which can adversely affect aquatic environments (Pokhrel and Viraraghavan, 2004). In addition to these elevated levels, the most relevant and hazardous agents that might be released during the several steps of paper manufacture are listed below.

Wastewaters from wood preparation processes contain suspended solids, dirt, and organic matter, and they have elevated BOD levels. The wastewater from the digester house, which is referred to as 'black liquids', contains chemicals that were used for cooking the wood as well as for extracting lignin and other hot water extracts of the wood. A comprehensive literature research by Pokhrel and Viraraghavan (2004), covering the wastewaters of the digester house, show that the highest level of BOD5 was 13,088 mg/L, that of COD was 38,588 mg/L, and that of TSS was 23,319 mg/L. In addition, higher levels of halogenated compounds (measured as adsorb-able organic halides, AOX) and volatile organic carbons (VOC), such as terpenes, alcohols, phenols, methanol, acetone, chloroform, etc., can be measured in these effluents as well (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2002; Pokhrel and Viraraghavan, 2004). During the subsequent pulp washing, wastewater with higher BODs, CODs, and amounts of suspended solids are generated in the main (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2002; Pokhrel and Viraraghavan, 2004). During pulp bleaching, the pollutants of highest concern are adsorbed organic compounds, inorganic chlorine compounds (CIO³⁻), organochlorine compounds, such as dioxins, furan, and chlorophenols, and VOCs, such as acetone, methylene chloride, carbon disulfide, chloroform, chloromethane, trichloroethane, and others (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2002; Pokhrel and Viraraghavan, 2004). The paper making process can generate wastewater with organic compounds, solvents, and heavy metals from dyes (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2002; Pokhrel and Viraraghavan, 2004).

Case study of concern for the paper industry

Because there is a lack of data and information, no appropriate and recent case example of pollution by the paper industry in LAMICs has been found. It would be relevant to further investigate the exposure, fate, and environmental risks of pollutants released by the paper industry.

Construction industry (cement industry)

Introduction

Cement is used as an important binding agent within the construction industry. It is produced all over the world in large quantities. According to the United States Geological Survey, global production of cement was about 4 billion tonne per year in 2013 (United States Geological Survey, 2014). Cement production involves a series of different processing steps, including (Karstensen, 2006):

- Quarrying the raw materials
- Grinding the raw materials
- Fuel preparation and combustion (preparing conventional fossil fuels and alternative fuels)
- Clinker burning (involving drying, preheating, calcination, clinkering, and clinker cooling)
- Preparation of mineral additives at the cement mill
- Cement packing and dispatching.

All these steps are described in more detail in the report on Formation and Release of POPs in the Cement Industry (Karstensen, 2006). Of these processes, clinkering is the central one and, from an environmental and human health perspective, the most relevant one – not because of the cement, but because of its energy consumption. To produce clinker, the silica and calcium carbonate bearing raw materials of the cement are added to a kiln system. The clinker is formed by the drying/preheating, calcination, and sintering of the raw material at temperatures in the range of 1000 to 1500°C (Karstensen, 2006; Conesa et al., 2008; Lei et al., 2011). This process consumes large amounts of energy. A state-of-the-art furnace used for clinkering needs about 3000 MJ per tonne of produced clinker (Habert et al., 2010). To produce this energetic input, conventional fossil fuels, such as coal, lignite, petroleum coke, or oil are burned. More recently, waste material - including waste oil, used tires, paint thinners, degreasing solvents, solvents from the ink and printing industries, chemical by-products and solid waste from pharmaceutical and chemical manufacturers, municipal solid wastes, and sewage sludge - are added to the regular fuels as inexpensive substitutes for the conventional fuels to reduce costs during this energy-intensive process. The organic and inorganic air pollutants arising from this combustion process are of highest environmental concern, especially if the combustion processes in the furnace are poor (lower temperature, bad mixing, and a shortage of oxygen). The pollution is worse if the exhaust fumes of the cement production facilities are not filtered and controlled, which might be the case in LAMICs. In this case, toxic inorganic and organic pollutant can be released (Conesa et al., 2008).

Pollution potential from the cement industry

The conventional and/or substitute fuels and the raw material can contain heavy metals that can be released during the combustion processes. The higher toxic heavy metals, Hg, Tl, Pb, and Cd, are volatile or semivolatile, while As, Cr, Cu, Sb, and Zn remain in the clinker material. Inadequate combustion of organic matter and fossil fuels produces highly toxic, mutagenic, and carcinogenic products. Persistent and bioaccumulative compounds, such as dioxins, furans (PCDD/Fs), and PAHs, can be generated and released into the environment (see section E-waste pollutants of environmental concern (p. 106) for their impact on the environment. Other hazardous compounds, like HCl, hydrogen fluoride, oxides of nitrogen, sulfur dioxide, and VOCs, such as benzenes, toluenes, xylenes, and phenols, can be released as well (Karstensen, 2006; Conesa et al., 2008; Mehraj et al., 2013).

Case study of concern for the cement industry

A health risk assessment study focusing on the health risk to residents living in the vicinity of a cement manufacturing plant was conducted in Khrew, Jammu and Kashmir, India by Mehraj et al. (2013). In this region, cement manufactories, brick kilns, stone crushers, and automobile exhaust are the main emitters of air pollutants. There, cement production is quite high and enough of the raw materials - limestone/chalk, marl, and clay/shale – required for cement production are available to supply several factories in Khrew, Wuyan, and Khonmoh. The study revealed that in Khrew about 15,000 to 20,000 people, who live within a 2 km to 3 km radius of the cement manufacturing facilities, are directly affected by the pollutants released from cement production. In this region, cement dust, which is emitted during cement production and deposited in a thin layer, affects human and environmental health. This deposit comes about mainly because there is no efficient dust control equipment, but also because there are no adequate filter systems used during the manufacture of cement (The Vox Kashmir, 2013). Cement production can adversely affect environmental and human health through cement dust and/or chemical pollution released during the heating process. The latter pollutants are adsorbed to the dust particles. Because of its high and aggressive alkalinity, frequent inhalation of cement dust can cause respiratory diseases in the long run. This is particularly the case for workers involved directly in cement production and processing, and for residents living in the vicinity of cement production plants. Many workers in India are not wearing appropriate gloves, masks, or footwear (The Vox Kashmir, 2013; Mehraj et al., 2013). Contact with cement dust can cause serious and irreversible injuries to the eyes. Skin contact can cause damage to nerve endings, can burn the skin, or can cause irritant contact dermatitis (Hanson Heidelberg Cement Group, 2009).

When comparing the incidence of disease in Khrew with that in Burzahama, a city without any adjacent cement production facilities, there was a significant increase in the incidence of disease that can be directly associated with the continuous exposure to cement dust in Khrew (The Vox Kashmir, 2013; Mehraj et al., 2013).

Rubber industry

Introduction

Today, the production and use of rubber, naturally or synthetically produced, is indispensable in our daily lives. Given its physical properties, such as being flexible and resilient at the same time, and its waterproof and dielectric characteristics, rubber is widely used in many industrial products (conveyor belts, gasket rings, as adhesives, tires, or in fan belts, and automotive radiator hoses). It is contained in many commodities that are used in our daily lives (clothes and footwear, toys, and rubber gloves; Vishnu et al., 2011). Rubber production has increased continuously over the last decades. In 1996, about 15.5 million tonne of rubber were produced; today yearly rubber production is 27.5 million tonne. Of this, 56% is synthetic rubber and 43% originates from natural rubber material (International Rubber Study Group, 2014). In general, rubber production consumes large amounts of energy and water. Large amounts and a wide range of chemicals, and sodium sulfites and ammonia as anticoagulants, activators, dyes, acids, vulcanization agents, accelerators, and softeners are added to the raw material during the production of latex and rubber. This can lead to the release of large volumes of hazardous chemicals into the environment during the production processes (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2002; Edirisinghe et al., 2008; Vishnu et al., 2011). Given the large volumes of water used during the cooling, cleaning, and washing processes during rubber production, large amounts of wastewater are produced. For the production of 1 kg of natural raw rubber, 40–50 L of wastewater are generated (Edirisinghe et al., 2008).

Pollutions potential from the rubber and plastic industry

If the effluents are not treated, these discharges can have high levels of BOD and COD. The effluents contain high levels of organic compounds, such as rubber particles, carbohydrates, proteins and amino acids, and uncoagulated rubber particles, and TSS. The effluents of the rubber industry are of an acidic nature. In addition, the effluents of rubber factories can contain sulfur compounds, ammonia, or acids, such as formic, acetic, or oxalic acid (United States Environmental Agency, 2005; Edirisinghe et al., 2008; Vishnu et al., 2011). The presence of high loads of organic material, hydrogen sulfides, ammonia, and amines can cause a foul-smelling odor, especially in water with high BOD and COD. The dissolved oxygen levels are low, which makes the water unsuitable for drinking for several kilometers downstream from the rubber



Lanka were analyzed. It showed that about 50% of the wastewaters of the Sri Lankan industries tested exceeded the general standards and tolerance limits for BOD, COD, and TSS values specified by the Sri Lankan Central Environmental Authority (CEA). For instance, an average BOD of 1063 mg/L, an average COD of 2010 mg/L, and an average TSS of 242.9 mg/L were measured. The CEA tolerance limits for wastewater effluents are 50/60 mg/L for BOD, 400 mg/L for COD, and 100 mg/L for TSS. A polluted river, which is close to the rubber industries near Hanwella, Sri Lanka is shown in Figure 31.

Figure 31: Water pollution suspected to emanate from rubber industries near Hanwella, Sri Lanka (Picture: Revolve Water, 2014).

production facilities (Vishnu et al., 2011). Furthermore, consistent with this deterioration in water quality, there is evidence that the continuous discharges of the waste-water effluents of the rubber industry considerably affect the biota of the water body. This is particularly so if the effluents are untreated, which might be the case in several regions in LAMICs (Arimoro, 2009).

Moreover, the inappropriate disposal of rubber material as solid waste or its incineration can cause severe environmental pollution as well. Given that rubber degrades slowly, its disposal can have serious ecological risks and adverse aesthetic effects to the terrestrial and aquatic environment. The incomplete or inadequate combustion of rubber material and solid waste can lead to the formation of highly toxic, carcinogenic, and persistent chemicals, such as PAHs and polyhalogenated hydrocarbons (dioxins and furans; United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2005; Wang and Chang-Chien, 2007).

Case study of concern for the rubber industry

In Sri Lanka, the rubber industry is considered one of the main industrial polluters. There, the effluents of rubber production plants often are discharged directly into water bodies without any treatment, resulting in environmental pollution and a deterioration in water quality (Edirisinghe et al., 2008).

In a comprehensive study by Edirisinghe et al. (2008), wastewater effluents of 62 rubber manufactories in Sri

Market share of several industrial commodities – mapping the risks

To date, comprehensive data about industrial pollutants are neither compiled nor available. Nevertheless, with the help of data about market share it is possible to identify potential risk areas with high industrial activities. These data can give the first hints as to those regions where more risk assessment studies and further investigation would be required.

With the demographic changes and chemical intensification (see section **The future of chemical pollutants in low- and middle-income countries**, p. 15), which are more pronounced in LAMICs, general industrial production is shifting from HICs to LAMICs. The data of the International Yearbook of Industrial Statistics 2014 (United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2014) indicated that the market share (%) of China for commodities produced by such manufacturing sectors as leather, paper, rubber, and textiles, and the share of chemical products doubled from 2005 to 2012 (not shown here). During the same period, the USA's share of these commodities decreased by one-half to three-quarters.

A more detailed look at the global market shares of commodities from the leather and footwear, paper, rubber and plastic, textile, wearing apparel, and chemical production industries (Figure 32) is informative. It can be seen that these commodities are produced in considerable quantities in LAMICs as well, while the high market shares of these different commodities for China are obvious at first sight. The increase in the market shares of these industrial commodities during 2005 and 2012, and the high levels of market share achieved for industrial commodities in China further confirm the outsourcing of industries from HICs to LAMICs. In China, particularly, the market shares of leather and footwear, textiles, and wearing



Figure 32: Proportion (%) of the global market shares of chemical products, leather and footwear, paper, rubber and plastic, textiles, and wearing apparel in Brazil, China, India, Indonesia, South Africa, Thailand, Turkey, and the USA for 2012 (United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2014)

apparel far exceed those of the USA, which, with its high market shares of industrial commodities, acts as a representative of HICs. However, the market shares of chemical products, paper, and rubber and plastic commodities are comparable in both countries.

In addition, the Turkish, Indonesian, Indian, and South African market shares of wearing apparel (1.5 - 2.8%) and the Indian, Turkish, and Indonesian shares of textiles (2.5 - 4.5%) are comparable to those of the USA (4.3% for wearing apparel and 6.2% for textiles). This indicates that considerable amounts of these commodities are produced and put on the market as well. In LAMICs and China, according to the market share data presented in Figure 32, the leather and foowear production activities in Indonesia, India, and Turkey are considerable as well (1.6 - 3.5%).

Nevertheless, it must be remembered that the percentage market shares of Brazil, India, Indonesia, Thailand, Turkey, and South Africa, but not China, were based on the sum of the shares just from LAMICs in the International Yearbook of Industrial Statistics 2014 (United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2014). Because of that, these percentage values were normalized to those of the world share, which might cause an increase in the uncertainty of the data and be incorrect if evaluated on a country scale. The market share values (%) of China had been calculated already by considering the global market share values.

Besides the market share values, data about the production of industrial raw materials could be used also to localize areas with high industrial activities. This information can then be used to identify potential risk areas where high amounts of toxic chemicals might be released into the environment. This holds true especially for regions with high industrial production rates and where unsustainable and environmentally unfriendly production practices are applied. Consequently, by considering these data, presumptive risk areas where environmental and human health might be affected could be assessed.

Figure 33 shows that the highest amounts of cement are produced in LAMICs, such as China and India (67.5 - 1880 million tonne/year). The amounts of cement produced in other LAMICs, like Turkey, Brazil, Iran, Vietnam, Egypt, Thailand, Mexico, Pakistan, Indonesia, Algeria, Malaysia, and the Philippines (in descending order), are of the same order of magnitude as those of the HICs - United States, Japan, Russia, Republic of Korea, Saudi Arabia, Italy, Germany, Spain, France, and United Arab Emirates (descending order). In 2010, production in these countries ranged between 1.5 and 67.5 million tonne/year (United States Geological Survey, 2012). Hence human and environmental health might particularly be affected in LAMICs with the highest cement production rates and where obsolete methods are used. This is particularly so if adequate devices to control the emission of industrial pollutants into the environment are lacking or if the workers and employers of the cement industry are poorly educated and not aware of the toxic chemicals and pollutants released during their work. The health of people in general is threatened if the industrial areas are densely populated, as is the case in Khrew, India (The Vox Kashmir, 2013; Mehraj et al., 2013; see the Case study of concern for the cement industry, p. 135).

In general, it can be assumed that the potential for excessive hazardous pollution is highest in those LAMICs that have experienced a remarkable economic boom within a short period of time, such as China (United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2014). Often in these countries, the regulatory systems, the technical equipment, the know-how, and the financial capacity are not sufficiently well developed. They are unable to address adequately the increased industrial production and to soundly manage the handling, use, trade in, and disposal of hazardous pollutants, which are used in, or generated during, production (African Ministerial Conference on Environment and United Nations Environment Programme, 2004; United Nations Environment Programme, 2013c; European Chemical Industry Council, 2013; United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2013).

Although there is some information about the market share and production of industrial commodities, these data are not comprehensive and are too fragmented for a proper environmental and human health risk assessment study. Therefore, to localize risk areas where human and environmental health are endangered, more comprehensive and transparent data about industrial activities (production, export, import, and water and energy consumption) and the monitoring of exhaust gases and wastewater effluents are required to predict the impacts of industrial pollutants in more detail.



Figure 33: 2010 cement production in different countries (United States Geological Survey, 2012)

Knowledge Gaps and Opportunities to improve the Situation of Chemical Pollution, Exposure and Risks in LAMICS

In this report, we have described the current knowledge on chemical pollution and effects thereof on human- and environmental health in LAMICs. Despite the fact that information is rather scarce and/or fragmented, it is safe to conclude that the situation is alarming and that there is a trend that this situation is getting worse. In all the sectors evaluated, significant amounts of a large variety of chemical compounds are used, which enter the environment in often uncontrolled manner and can have negative impacts on environmental health. The negative effects of chemical pollution on human health, either caused by direct exposure, or indirectly, e.g. via the environment or food, are also significant. Because of the lack of data, the real threat for humans and the environment can only be estimated, with high probability that it could be more severe. Continuous exposures of the environment and humans to a large variety of chemical compounds, sometimes even to high concentrations, is a long term experiment with high risks. We hence believe that serious attention must be given to this risk. With the description of knowledge gaps and opportunities for action for specific fields we aim to improve the knowledge-base of chemical pollution and effects thereof in LAMICs, and help to develop mitigation options for the future.

1) Data availability and data collection

More comprehensive data, including the complete chemical life cycle, assessments of effects on environmental and human health, and comprehensive risk assessments, are needed on various scales. Data at global scale are needed to support international policy development as well as international conventions and protocols. Increasing international attention will also help national policy makers to make chemical pollution a priority topic. Country-level evidence is crucial for the development of national policies. Finally, since mitigation actions are implemented at local/catchment scale, more detailed information, with significant spatial and temporal resolution, is needed at this level. Our report shows that some data are available on the global and/or country scale, though this data is still scarce and often incomplete. Data at catchment scale are largely missing or not available at all.

As a way forward, as a first step, we suggest that existing data could/should be made publicly available. Such data includes figures of chemical production, import, export, use and chemical waste management. This sharing should also include all available data on exposure routes, concentrations and evidence of impacts on human and environmental health. Although this issue of data sharing might sound trivial, in particular in cases where data was collected with public/tax money, unresolved issues around data property and the willingness to be transparent and the subsequent ethical responsibility are major barriers. Reality shows that even existing data are seldom made publicly available, and this is not only true for LAMICs, but also holds for HICs.

Access to existing data with respective analysis would allow an identification of specific regional, or even country-wise risk hotspots. For a more detailed assessment, more data on exposure routes and exposure concentrations with higher spatio-temporal resolution, e.g. within countries, or within catchments, is needed. Finally, to complete the picture, such data would need to be complemented by surveys assessing human and environmental health as well as institutional settings, handling practices, and chemical waste management. All this contributes to the identification of the most hazardous pollutants, processes with major risks, lacking awareness, limited human capacity and knowledge, bad handling practices or even missing legislation.

2) Development of concepts and tools for monitoring and data collection

Most concepts and tools for monitoring and data collection have been developed with available expertise and resources for local settings and conditions in and for HICs. Such concepts and tools need to be adapted or newly developed for LAMICs, so that evidence on exposure routes, environmental concentrations, and effects of chemical pollutants can be collected. Adaptation of concepts and tools need to consider i) functionality under the respective climatic situation, ii) efficiency and cost-effectiveness, iii) feasibility of use by local people with limited technical skills and expertise, iv) applicability for all relevant spheres (air, soil, water and anthoposphere), v) the ability to capture both exposure and effect assessments, and vi) the ability to allow the development of locally relevant risk maps and mitigation options.

3) Development of mitigation options

Despite the fact that chemical pollution is of global importance and influenced by global trends, local mitigation measures are key to improving the situation for human and environmental health. There are no "one size fits all" solutions. A wide portfolio of mitigation options must be developed and it must be evaluated which option fits best to the specific local situation. Ideally, finding and implementing mitigation solutions is a process taking place not in isolation but by including boundary conditions and local challenges and using a base of solid and detailed knowledge about the local situation.

4) Raise awareness in society, private sector and industry, politics and regulatory authorities as well as support the development and implementation of legislation and management tools

Awareness of the existing problem or the risk of the issue becoming a problem is a precondition for change. This report shows that chemical pollution is already a problem in many countries and is a problem which will increase in the years to come. The outcome of chronic chemical exposure on environmental and human health is difficult to predict and if, then only with limited reliability. Society, including policy makers, regulatory authorities, producing industries and the private sector must be better informed with clearer messages. In this regard, scientists and research play an important role as they can provide facts in an unbiased and neutral way. Furthermore, scientists can also support decision making under uncertainty.

Interdisciplinary research is a necessity for the issues of chemical pollution in LAMICs. Such research includes technical, social and natural sciences while involving a wide range of stakeholders at an early stage so that research results are taken up by policy makers and practitioners and can effectively tackle the problem of chemical pollution. Including relevant stakeholders in the research process assures that the critical questions can be voiced and tackled by researchers, the necessary and required data can be collected in a focused, practical manner, mitigation and management tools can be developed in a concerted action, and evidence can support and drive policy and legislation.

Appendix

Appendix Figure 1 shows the trend in chemical production of the European Chemical Industry Council (Cefic) from 2006 to 2011 (European Chemical Industry Council, 2013). These data confirm that chemical production in almost all regions of the world has reduced. There are negative growth rates in 2008/09 that helped give rise to the economic recession in 2009. North America was the region most affected, followed by Europe and Latin America. Production in the Asia-Pacific region continued to show persistent growth over time with only a small deceleration during the recession (European Chemical Industry Council, 2013). In 2009, world chemicals production declined by 4.8% compared to 2008. This represented the largest recorded decline in world chemical production over the last 23 years. However, in 2010, global chemical production recovered in all regions, showing an increased growth rate of 10% compared to 2009. This was followed by a 4.5% increase in 2011 compared to the prior year. The growing rate of the production was headed by the Asia-Pacific region followed by production in the Latin American region. Over the last years, chemical production in Latin America and the Asia-Pacific region has far exceeded the production growth rates of Europe and the North America (European Chemical Industry Council, 2013).

World data on the growth of and distribution trends in manufacturing presented by UNIDO (United Nations Industrial Development Organization) in its International Yearbook of Industrial Statistics 2013 (United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2013) and data presented by the Cefic (European Chemical Industry Council, 2013) are both in agreement with the data of the Global Chemicals Outlook Towards Sound Management of Chemicals from UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme, 2013c).

The data of the Yearbook of Industrial Statistics 2013 indicate that in addition to China, there was constant growth in industrial production and manufacturing output in the least developed countries (Appendix Figure 2). (This includes primary production of the basic chemical and secondary industrial sectors – pharmaceutical and pesticide production – and the production of electronic devices, clothes, household products, etc.) This growth in the least developed countries is shown by the growth in the manufacturing value added (MVA) in this region. In contrast, the manufacturing growth of the indus-



Appendix Figure 1: Long-term trend of chemical production. Growth rates and index numbers (2006 = 100; European Chemical Industry Council, 2013)



Appendix Figure 2: Major trends in the growth and distribution of manufacturing value added (MVA). Growth rates and index numbers (2005 = 100) per capita. MVA for the latest year 2011 for individual economies and for selected country groups. Data referring to country groups were based on cross-country aggregates of MVA in constant 2005 US\$ (United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2013).

trialized countries (the European Union and the United States) was strongly affected by the economic recession of 2009. By 2012, the MVA of the industrial economics had still not reached the level of the period before the financial crisis. The MVA was determined under the terms of the national accounting concept, which represents



Appendix Figure 3: World chemical production 2004 (left) and 2011 (right; African Ministerial Conference on Environment and United Nations Environment Programme, 2004; European Chemical Industry Council, 2013).

the net contribution of the manufacturing sector to the gross domestic product (GDP; United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2013)

The worldwide sales of chemicals for the period 2004 to 2011 in US\$ billion are presented in Appendix Figure 3 (African Ministerial Conference on Environment and United Nations Environment Programme, 2004; European Chemical Industry Council, 2013). The sales figures of 2011 show that the Asian chemical production outstrips those of the other regions, posting sales of US\$1890 billion in 2011. This represents 51.8% of the world's chemicals sales. In 2004, European chemical sales were constituting US\$793 billion compared to Asian chemical sales of US\$612 billion.

The dark blue column in Appendix Figure 3 represents the countries of the European Union; the light blue column represents the rest of Europe. The light green bar represents



Appendix Figure 4: Distribution of world manufacturing value added (MVA; United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2013). [%]

China; the darker green bar shows sales for rest of Asia; the olive column represents the data for Japan; and the grey bar indicates the values for South Korea. The dark brown bar represents the sales for the United States. The light brown bar combines the sales of the countries of the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA: Canada, United States and Mexico). The orange bar shows the value for Latin America. The yellow bar shows the value for Canada, Mexico, Africa and Oceania together. The light orange bar illustrates the amounts of sales that are not included in the other columns. In summary, worldwide chemical sales were US\$2141 billion in 2004 and US\$3649 billion in 2011 (African Ministerial Conference on Environment and United Nations Environment Programme, 2004; European Chemical Industry Council, 2013)

Appendix Figure 4 shows that despite the financial crisis, the industrial economies were still at the top of total manufacturing production, although the proportion of MVA had decreased by approximately 10%. However, the proportions of the MVAs of the developing countries and the emerging industrial economies, especially China, had increased (United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2013).

These pie charts present the shares of selected groups of economic activities (e.g. basic chemical, leather, textile, and pharmaceutical production) in world MVA for different industrialized economies. China belongs to the group of emerging industrial economies. However, because of the large size of its economy, China is presented separately (United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2013)

1 H																		2 He
3 Li	4 Be											Ę	5	6 C	7 N	8 0	9 F	10 Ne
11 Na	12 Mg											1 4	3 \	14 Si	15 P	16 S	17 Cl	18 Ar
19 K	20 Ca	21 Sc	22 Ti	23 V	24 Cr	25 Mn	26 Fe	27 Co	28 Ni	29 Cu		-		32 Ge	33 As	34 Se	35 Br	36 Kr
37 Rb	38 Sr	39 Y	40 Zr	41 Nb	42 Mo	43 Tc	44 Ru	45 Rh	46 Pd	47 Ag	48 Co		-	50 Sn	51 Sb	52 Te	53 I	54 Xe
55 Cs	56 Ba	*	72 Hf	73 Ta	74 W	75 Re	76 Os	77 Ir	78 Pt	79 Au				82 Pb	83 Bi	84 Po	85 At	86 Rn
87 Fr	88 Ra	* *	104 Rf	105 Db	106 Sg	107 Bh	108 Hs	109 Mt	110 Ds	111 Rg								
	* Lanthanides			57 La	58 Ce	59 Pr	60 Nd	61 Pm	62 Sm	63 Eu	64 Gd	65 Tb	66 Dy	67 Ho	68 Er	69 Tm	70 Yb	71 Lu
** Actinides		89 Ac	90 Th	91 Pa	92 U	93 Np	94 Pu	95 Am	96 Cm	97 Bk	98 Cf	99 Es			102 No	103 Lr		
1980s	1980s 12 Elements																	



1990s

16 Elements

1 H																		2 He
3 Li	4 Be											Ę	5	6 C	7 N	8 0	9 F	10 Ne
11 Na	12 Mg												3 41	14 Si	15 P	16 S	17 Cl	18 Ar
19 K	20 Ca	21 Sc	22 Ti	23 V	24 Cr	25 Mn	26 Fe	27 Co	28 Ni	29 Cu	30 Zr		_	32 Ge	33 As	34 Se	35 Br	36 Kr
37 Rb	38 Sr	39 Y	40 Zr	41 Nb	42 Mo	43 Tc	44 Ru	45 Rh	46 Pd	47 Ag	48 Co		-	50 Sn	51 Sb	52 Te	53 I	54 Xe
55 Cs	56 Ba	*	72 Hf	73 Ta	74 W	75 Re	76 Os	77 Ir	78 Pt	79 Au	80 Hç		1	82 Pb	83 Bi	84 Po	85 At	86 Rn
87 Fr	88 Ra	* *	104 Rf	105 Db	106 Sg	107 Bh	108 Hs	109 Mt	110 Ds	111 Rg								
	* Lanthanides			57 La	58 Ce	59 Pr	60 Nd	61 Pm	62 Sm	63 Eu	64 Gd	65 Tb	66 Dy	67 Ho		69 Tm	70 Yb	71 Lu
** Actinides		89 Ac	90 Th	91 Pa	92 U	93 Np	94 Pu	95 Am	96 Cm	97 Bk	98 Cf	99 Es			102 No	103 Lr		
2000s 60 Elements																		

CHEMICAL POLLUTION IN LOW- AND MIDDLE-INCOME COUNTRIES 143

Appendix Figure 5: Growing diversity in the materials used in the semiconductor industry from 1980 to 2000 (Theis, 2007).

References

- ABC News Online, 2013. Indian Police arrest School Principal after 23 Children killed by poisoned School Lunches. 24.07.2013. http://www.abc.net.au/ news/2013-07-24/indian-school-principal-arrested-over-mass-poisoning/4841852 (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Abratt, R.P., Vorobiof, D.A., White, N., 2004. Asbestos and mesothelioma in South Africa. Lung Cancer 45, S3-S6.
- Adriano, D.C., 2001. Trace elements in terrestrial environments: biogeochemistry, bioavailability, and risks of metals. 2nd edn. Springer New York, ISBN 978-1-4684-9505-8.
- African Ministerial Conference on Environment, United Nations Environment Programme, 2004. Africa Environment Outlook 2 - our Environment, our Wealth. http://www.unep.org/dewa/africa/docs/en/AEO2_Our_Environ_Our_Wealth.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 1999. Toxicological Profile for Mercury. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp46.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2000. Public Health Statement for Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs). U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. www.atsdr.cdc.gov/ToxProfiles/tp17-c1-b.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2001. Toxicological Profile for Asbestos. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp61.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2003. Toxicological Profile for Atrazine. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. www.atsdr.cdc.gov/ToxProfiles/tp153.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2004a. Toxicological Profile for Copper. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. www.atsdr.cdc.gov/ToxProfiles/tp132.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2004b. Toxicological Profile for Polybrominated Biphenyls. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp68.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2005. Toxicological Profile for Zinc. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. www.atsdr.cdc.gov/ToxProfiles/tp60.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2007a. Toxicological Profile for Arsenic. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp2.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2007b. Toxicological Profile for Lead. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. www.atsdr.cdc.gov/ToxProfiles/tp13.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2008. What is Asbestos? www.atsdr.cdc.gov/asbestos/more_about_asbestos/what_is_asbestos/ (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, 2013. ToxFAQs™ for Thallium. www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxfaqs/tfacts54.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Ainsworth, N., Cooke, J.A., Johnson, M.S., 1990a. Distribution of antimony in contaminated grassland: 1–vegetation and soils. Environmental Pollution 65, 65-77.
- Ainsworth, N., Cooke, J.A., Johnson, M.S., 1990b. Distribution of antimony in contaminated grassland: 2–small mammals and invertebrates. Environmental Pollution 65, 79-87.
- Alam, S., Kodama, R., Akiha, F., Kamei, S., Kawai, S., 2006. Alleviation of manganese phytotoxicity in barley with calcium. Journal of Plant Nutrition 29, 59-74.
- Alloway, B.J., Ayres, D.C., 1993. Chemical Principles of Environmental Pollution. Blackie Academic and Professional, London, ISBN 0-7415-0013-0.
- Amini, M., Abbaspour, K.C., Berg, M., Winkel, L., Hug, S.J., Hoehn, E., Yang, H., Johnson, C.A., 2008. Statistical modeling of global geogenic arsenic contamination in groundwater. Environmental Science and Technology 42, 3669-3675.
- Anderson, R.A., 1989. Essentiality of chromium in humans. Science of the Total Environment 86, 75-81.
- Andersson, M., Kreuger, J., 2011. Preliminary benchmarks for pesticides in surface water - Calculation of benchmarks for the 64 pesticides that lack Swedish guidelines. Teknisk rapport 144. Uppsala University. www.slu.se/Documents/externwebben/centrumbildningar-projekt/ckb/Publikationer/Teknisk%20rapport/ Teknisk%20rapport%20144.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Angulo, F.J., Nunnery, J., Bair, H.D., 2004. Antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic enteric pathogens. Scientific and Technical Review 23, 485-496.
- Ankley, G.T., Mattson, V.R., Leonard, E.N., West, C.W., Bennett, J.L., 1993. Predicting the acute toxicity of copper in freshwater sediments: Evaluation of the role of acid-volatile sulfide. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 12, 315-320.
- Antosiewicz, D.M., 1992. Adaptation of plants to an environment polluted with heavy metals. Acta Societatis Botanicorum Poloniae 61, 281-299.
- Aral, H., Vecchio-Sadus, A., 2008. Toxicity of lithium to humans and the environment– a literature review. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 70, 349-356.

- Arimoro, F.O., 2009. Impact of rubber effluent discharges on the water quality and macroinvertebrate community assemblages in a forest stream in the Niger Delta. Chemosphere 77, 440-449.
- Artisanal Gold Council, 2015. Mercury watch. ©2009-2015. mercurywatch.org (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Asami, T., Mizui, C., Shimada, T., Kubota, M., 1996. Determination of thallium in soils by flame atomic absorption spectrometry. Fresenius' Journal of Analytical Chemistry 356, 348-351.
- Audus, L.J., 1976. Herbicides : physiology, biochemistry, ecology. Academic Press, London.
- Ayres, R.U., 1992. Toxic heavy metals: materials cycle optimization. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 89, 815-820.
- Azevedo, D.A., Silva, T.R., Knoppers, B.A., Schulz-Bull, D., 2010. Triazines in the tropical lagoon system of Mundaú-Manguaba, NE-Brazil. Journal of the Brazilian Chemical Society 21, 1096-1105.
- Azom, M.R., Mahmud, K., Yahya, S.M., Sontu, A., Himon, S.B., 2012. Environmental impact assessment of tanneries: a case study of Hazaribag in Bangladesh. International Journal of Environmental Science and Development 3, 152-156.
- Babič D.Z., Zelnikar, M., Seme, K., Vandamme, A.-M., Snoeck, J., Tomažič, J., Vidmar, L., Karner, P., Poljak, M., 2006. Prevalence of antiretroviral drug resistance mutations and HIV-1 non-B subtypes in newly diagnosed drug-naïve patients in Slovenia, 2000–2004. Virus Research 118, 156-163.
- Babler, F., 1998. Copper phthalocyanine pigment. U.S. Patent 5931997 A. Google Patents. www.google.com/patents/US5931997 (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Bae, W., Kaya, K.N., Hancock, D.D., Call, D.R., Park, Y.H., Besser, T.E., 2005. Prevalence and antimicrobial resistance of thermophilic *Campylobacter* spp. from cattle farms in Washington State. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71, 169-174.
- Baggaley, R.F., Petersen, M.L., Soares, M.A., Boily, M.-C., Bastos, F.I., 2010. Human Immunodeficiency Virus: resistance to antiretroviral drugs in developing countries. In: Sosa, A. de J., Byarugaba, D.K., Amábile-Cuevas, C.F., Hsueh, P.-R., Kariuki, S., Okeke, I.N. (Eds.). Antimicrobial Resistance in Developing Countries. Springer New York, ISBN 978-0-387-89369-3, pp. 75-94.
- Barbeau, A., 1984. Manganese and extrapyramidal disorders (a critical review and tribute to Dr. George C. Cotzias). NeuroToxicology 5, 13-35.
- Barbee Jr, J.Y., Prince, T., 1999. Acute respiratory distress syndrome in a welder exposed to metal fumes. Southern Medical Journal 92, 510-512.
- Barnhart, J., 1997. Chromium chemistry and implications for environmental fate and toxicity. Journal of Soil Contamination 6, 561-568.
- Barrientos, M., Soria, C., 2013. IndexMundi. Mineral Commodities Production and Trade Statistics. www.indexmundi.com/en/commodities/minerals/ (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Bartels, P., von Tümpling Jr, W., 2008. The environmental fate of the antiviral drug oseltamivir carboxylate in different waters. Science of the Total Environment 405, 215-225.
- Barzel, S., 2013. Welt auf einen Blick: Bevölkerung Einwohnerzahl aller Staaten. SeBaWorld 2002-2013. www.welt-auf-einen-blick.de/bevoelkerung/einwohnerzahl.php (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Batterman, A.R., Cook, P.M., 1981. Determination of mineral fiber concentrations in fish tissues. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 38, 952-959.
- BBC, 2013. China pulls 1000 dead ducks from Sichuan river. 25.03.2013. www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-asia-china-21921145 (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Bedi, J.S., Gill, J.P.S., Aulakh, R.S., Kaur, P., Sharma, A., Pooni, P.A., 2013. Pesticide residues in human breast milk: Risk assessment for infants from Punjab, India. Science of the Total Environment 463-464, 720-726.
- Belanger, S.E., Schurr, K., Allen, D.J., Gohara, A., 1986. Effects of chrysotile asbestos on coho salmon and green sunfish: evidence of behavioral and pathological stress. Environmental Research 39, 74-85.
- Belfroid, A.C., van Drunen, M., Beek, M.A., Schrap, S.M., van Gestel, C.A.M., van Hattum, B., 1998. Relative risks of transformation products of pesticides for aquatic ecosystems. Science of the Total Environment 222, 167-183.
- Benavides, M.P., Gallego, S.M., Tomaro, M.L., 2005. Cadmium toxicity in plants. Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology 17, 21-34.
- Bergmann, A., Fohrmann, R., Weber, F.-A., 2011. Zusammenstellung von Monitoringdaten zu Umweltkonzentrationen von Arzneimitteln. Umweltbundesamt, IWW Rheinisch-Westfälisches Institut für Wasser Beratungs- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft mbH. www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/461/publikationen/4188.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Berman, R., MacDonald, D.K.C., 1952. The thermal and electrical conductivity of copper at low temperatures. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A, Mathematical and Physical Sciences 211, 122-128.
- Bertin, G., Averbeck, D., 2006. Cadmium: cellular effects, modifications of biomolecules, modulation of DNA repair and genotoxic consequences (a review). Biochimie 88, 1549-1559.
- Bertine, K.K., Goldberg, E.D., 1971. Fossil fuel combustion and the major sedimentary cycle. Science 173, 233-235.
- Bhobe, R., Engel-Hall, A., Gail, K., Huotari, J., Koskela, M., Liukas, L., Song, C., 2010. Bloom. Mechanical Engineering 310 Spring design proposal. sustainabilityworkshop.autodesk.com/sites/default/files/gallery-files/bloomlaptop_finalreport_2010_small.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Biocidal Products Committee, 2011. Inclusion of active substances in Annex I or IA to Directive 98/8/EC: Assessment Report for Fipronil. European Chemicals Agency. https://circabc.europa.eu/sd/a/1c88fd79-48e2-4126-b7d0-462c5594-f9ee/Post SCB Fipronil PT 18 AR-cleanforpubl.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Bischel, H.N., Özel Duygan, B.D., Strande, L., McArdell, C.S., Udert, K.M., Kohn, T., 2015. Pathogens and pharmaceuticals in source-separated urine in eThekwini, South Africa. Water Research 85, 57-65.
- Bissen, M., Frimmel, F.H., 2003. Arsenic–a review. Part I: occurrence, toxicity, speciation, mobility. Acta hydrochimica et hydrobiologica 31, 9-18.
- Blacksmith Institute, Green Cross, 2011. Blacksmith Institute's The World's Worst Toxic Pollution Problems: Report 2011. www.worstpolluted.org/files/FileUpload/ files/2011/Worlds-Worst-Toxic-Pollution-Problems-2011-Report.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Blacksmith Institute, Green Cross, 2012. The World's Worst Pollution Problems: Assessing Health Risks at Hazardous Waste Sites. www.worstpolluted.org/ files/FileUpload/files/2012%20WorstPolluted.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Blacksmith Institute, Green Cross, 2013. The World's Worst 2013: The Top Ten toxic Threats. www.worstpolluted.org/docs/TopTenThreats2013.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Bode, H., 1977. Lead-acid batteries. The Electrochemical Society Series. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. New York, ISBN 0-471-08455-7.
- Bodeen, C., 2007. In E-waste Heartland, a Toxic China. New York Times Asia Pacific, 18.11.2007. www.nytimes.com/2007/11/18/world/asia/18iht-waste.1.8374259. html?_r=0 (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Boffetta, P., Jourenkova, N., Gustavsson, P., 1997. Cancer risk from occupational and environmental exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Cancer Causes and Control 8, 444-472.
- Bohn, H.L., McNeal, B.L., O'Connor, G.A., 1985. Soil Chemistry. 2nd edn. John Wiley & Sons, New York, ISBN 0-471-82217-5.
- Borg, K., Erne, K., Hanko, E., Wanntorp, H., 1970. Experimental secondary methyl mercury poisoning in the goshawk (*Accipiter G. gentilis L.*). Environmental Pollution 1, 91-104.
- Borkow, G., Gabbay, J., 2005. Copper as a biocidal tool. Current Medicinal Chemistry 12, 2163-2175.
- Bosnic, M., Buljan, J., Daniels, R.P., 2000. Pollutants in tannery effluents. United Nations Industrial Development Organization, Vienna. www.unido.org/fileadmin/user_media/Publications/Pub_free/Pollutants_in_tannery_effluents.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Bostick, B.C., Fendorf, S., 2003. Arsenite sorption on troilite (FeS) and pyrite (FeS₂). Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 67, 909-921.
- Bowen, H.J.M., 1966. Trace elements in biochemistry. Academic Press Inc., London and New York, ISBN 0-12-120950-4.
- Bowen, H.J.M., 1985. The cycles of copper, silver and gold. In: Hutzinger, O. (Ed.). The Natural Environment and the Biogeochemical Cycles. The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, Vol. 1D. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, ISBN 978-3-662-15263-8, pp. 1-27.
- Boxma, R., De Groot, A.J., 1985. Development and effectiveness of a soluble manganese silicate compound in controlling manganese deficiency in plants. Plant and Soil 83, 411-417.
- Bradbear, N., 2009. Bees and their Role in Forest Livelihoods. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Non-Wood Forest Products 19, ISBN 978-92-5-106181-7. www.fao.org/docrep/012/i0842e/i0842e00.HTM (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Braga, O., Smythe, G.A., Schäfer, A.I., Feitz, A.J., 2005. Steroid estrogens in ocean sediments. Chemosphere 61, 827-833.
- Brain, R.A., Johnson, D.J., Richards, S.M., Sanderson, H., Sibley, P.K., Solomon, K.R., 2004. Effects of 25 pharmaceutical compounds to *Lemna gibba* using a seven-day static-renewal test. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 23, 371-382.
- Brehler, B., Wakita, H., Schmitt, R.A., 1969. Cadmium. In: Wedepohl, K.H. (Ed.). Handbook of geochemistry, Vol. II-4. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Breivik, K., Sweetman, A., Pacyna, J.M., Jones, K.C., 2007. Towards a global historical emission inventory for selected PCB congeners A mass balance approach:
 3. An update. Science of the Total Environment 377, 296-307.
- Breivik, K., Armitage, J.M., Wania, F., Jones, K.C., 2014. Tracking the global generation and exports of e-waste. Do existing estimates add up? Environmental Science and Technology 48, 8735-8743.
- Brindeiro, R.M., Diaz, R.S., Sabino, E.C., Morgado, M.G., Pires, I.L., Brigido, L., Dantas, M.C., Barreira, D., Teixeira, P.R., Tanuri, A., 2003. Brazilian Network for HIV Drug Resistance Surveillance (HIV-BResNet): a survey of chronically infected individuals. Aids 17, 1063-1069.
- Brioschi, L., Steinmann, M., Lucot, E., Pierret, M.-C., Stille, P., Prunier, J., Badot, P-M., 2013. Transfer of rare earth elements (REE) from natural soil to plant systems: implications for the environmental availability of anthropogenic REE. Plant and Soil 366, 143-163.
- Bro-Rasmussen, F., 1996. Contamination by persistent chemicals in food chain and human health. Science of the Total Environment 188, Supplement, S45-S60.
- Brookins, D.G., 1988. Eh-pH diagrams for geochemistry. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, ISBN 3-540-18485-6.

- Brooks, B.W., Foran, C.M., Richards, S.M., Weston, J., Turner, P.K., Stanley, J.K., Solomon, K.R., Slattery, M., La Point, T.W., 2003. Aquatic ecotoxicology of fluoxetine. Toxicology Letters 142, 169-183.
- Brüning, T., Chronz, C., Thier, R., Havelka, J., Ko, Y., Bolt, H.M., 1999. Occurrence of urinary tract tumors in miners highly exposed to dinitrotoluene. Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine 41, 144-149.
- Brunning, A., 2014. The Chemical Elements of a Smartphone. Compound Interest, 19.02.2014. www.compoundchem.com/2014/02/19/the-chemical-elementsof-a-smartphone/ (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Brzuzy, L.P., Hites, R.A., 1996. Global mass balance for polychlorinated dibenzo-pdioxins and dibenzofurans. Environmental Science and Technology 30, 1797-1804.

Buccini, J., 2004. The Global Pursuit of the Sound Management of Chemicals. World Bank. siteresources.worldbank.org/INTPOPS/Publications/20486416/ GlobalPursuitOfSoundManagementOfChemicals2004Pages1To67.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).

- Buerge, I.J., Buser, H.-R., Poiger, T., Müller, M.D., 2006. Occurrence and fate of the cytostatic drugs cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide in wastewater and surface waters. Environmental Science and Technology 40, 7242-7250.
- Buhl, K.J., Hamilton, S.J., 1990. Comparative toxicity of inorganic contaminants released by placer mining to early life stages of salmonids. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 20, 325-342.
- Bull, C.J., McInerney, J.E., 1974. Behavior of juvenile Coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) exposed to Sumithion (Fenitrothion), an organophosphate insecticide. Journal of the Fisheries Board of Canada 31, 1867-1872.
- Burton, K.W., Morgan, E., Roig, A., 1984. The influence of heavy metals upon the growth of sitka-spruce in South Wales forests. Plant and Soil 78, 271-282.
- Butler, R., 2012. Environmental Impact of Mining in the Rainforest. 27.07.2012. rainforests.mongabay.com/0808.htm (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Byarugaba, D.K., 2010. Mechanisms of Antimicrobial Resistance. In: Sosa, A. de J., Byarugaba, D.K., Amábile-Cuevas, C.F., Hsueh, P.R., Kariuki, S., Okeke, I.N. (Eds.). Antimicrobial Resistance in Developing Countries. Springer New York, ISBN 978-0-387-89369-3. pp. 15-26.
- Cabello, F.C., 2006. Heavy use of prophylactic antibiotics in aquaculture: a growing problem for human and animal health and for the environment. Environmental Microbiology 8, 1137-1144.
- Cao, X., Ma, L.Q., Singh, S.P., Zhou, Q., 2008. Phosphate-induced lead immobilization from different lead minerals in soils under varying pH conditions. Environmental Pollution 152, 184-192.
- Caravati, E.M., 2004. Arsenic and Arsine Gas. In: Dart, R.C. (Ed.), 2004. Medical toxicology. 3rd edn. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, ISBN 0-7817-2845-2. pp. 1393-1401.
- Carl, G.F., Blackwell, L.K., Barnett, F.C., Thompson, L.A., Kissinger, C.J., Olin, K.L., Critchfield, J.W., Keen, C.L., Gallagher, B.B., 1993. Manganese and epilepsy: brain glutamine synthetase and liver arginase activities in genetically epilepsy prone and chronically seizured rats. Epilepsia 34, 441-446.
- Carneiro, F.F., Pignati, W., Rigotto, R.M., Augusto, L.G.S., Rizollo, A., Muller, N.M., Alexandre, V.P., Friedrich, K., Mello, M.S.C., 2012. A warning about the impact of pesticides on Health - Part 1: Pesticides, Food Safety and Health. Brazilian Association of Collective Health (ABRASCO).
- www.abrasco.org.br/UserFiles/Image/Dossieing.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16). Carr, R.J.G., Bilton, R.F., Atkinson, T., 1985. Mechanism of biodegradation of paraquat by *Lipomyces starkeyi*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 49, 1290-1294.
- Carrillo González, R., González-Chávez, M.C.A., 2006. Metal accumulation in wild plants surrounding mining wastes. Environmental Pollution 144, 84-92.
- Casado-Martinez, C., 2013. Ecotoxicity of Rare Earth Elements Info Sheet. Ecotox Centre, Eawag/EPFL, Switzerland. http://www.ecotoxcentre.ch/media/40675/2013_selteneerden_en.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Castilhos, Z.C., Rodrigues-Filho, S., Rodrigues, A.P.C., Villas-Bôas, R.C., Siegel, S., Veiga, M.M., Beinhoff, C., 2006. Mercury contamination in fish from gold mining areas in Indonesia and human health risk assessment. Science of the Total Environment 368, 320-325.
- Castilla, J.C., 1996. Copper mine tailing disposal in northern Chile rocky shores: *Enteromorpha compressa* (Chlorophyta) as a sentinel species. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 40, 171-184.
- Centeno, J.A., Tseng, C.-H., Van der Voet, G.B., Finkelman, R.B., 2007. Global impacts of geogenic arsenic: a medical geology research case. Ambio 36, 78-81.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2014. Blood Lead Levels in Children Fact Sheet. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. www.cdc.gov/ nceh/lead/acclpp/lead_levels_in_children_fact_sheet.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16)
- Chan, J.K.Y., Xing, G.H., Xu, Y., Liang, Y., Chen, L.X., Wu, S.C., Wong, C.K.C., Leung, C.K.M., Wong, M.H., 2007. Body loadings and health risk assessment of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans at an intensive electronic waste recycling site in China. Environmental Science and Technology 41, 7668-7674.

- Chandra Sekhar, K., Kamala, C.T., Chary, N.S., Anjaneyulu, Y., 2003. Removal of heavy metals using a plant biomass with reference to environmental control. International Journal of Mineral Processing 68, 37-45.
- Chaudhry, G.R., Chapalamadugu, S., 1991. Biodegradation of halogenated organic compounds. Microbiological Reviews 55, 59-79.
- Chávez, A., Maya, C., Gibson, R., Jiménez, B., 2011. The removal of microorganisms and organic micropollutants from wastewater during infiltration to aquifers after irrigation of farmland in the Tula Valley, Mexico. Environmental Pollution 159, 1354-1362.
- Cheam, V., Lechner, J., Desrosiers, R., Sekerka, I., Lawson, G., Mudroch, A., 1995. Dissolved and total thallium in Great Lakes waters. Journal of Great Lakes Research 21, 384-394.
- Cheam, V., 2001. Thallium contamination of water in Canada. Water Quality Research Journal of Canada 36, 851-877.
- Cheevaporn, V., Duangkaew, K., Tangkrock-Olan, N., 2005. Environmental occurrence of organochlorines in the east coast of Thailand. Journal of Health Science 51, 80-88.
- Chen, H., Li, X., Zhu, S., 2012. Occurrence and distribution of selected pharmaceuticals and personal care products in aquatic environments: a comparative study of regions in China with different urbanization levels. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 19, 2381-2389.
- Cheng, V.K.I., O'Kelly, F.J.O., 1986. Asbestos exposure in the motor vehicle repair and servicing industry in Hong Kong. Occupational Medicine 36, 104-106.
- Chi, X., Streicher-Porte, M., Wang, M.Y.L., Reuter, M.A., 2011. Informal electronic waste recycling: A sector review with special focus on China. Waste Management 31, 731-742.
- Chin, B.S., Choi, J., Nam, J.-G., Kee, M.K., Suh, S.D., Choi, J.Y., Chu, C., Kim, S.S., 2006. Inverse relationship between viral load and genotypic resistance mutations in Korean patients with primary HIV type 1 infections. AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses 22, 1142-1147.
- China Daily, 2007. Drug factories ordered to clean up. 05.09.2007. www.chinadaily.com.cn/language_tips/cdaudio/2007-09/05/content_6082495.htm (last accessed 11.01.16).
- ChinaCSR, 2010. Shanghai Exposes 721 Environmental Violators. Corporate Social Responsibility, Business Intelligence, and Sustainability News for China, 14.01.2010. www.chinacsr.com/en/2010/01/14/6960-shanghai-exposes-721-environmental-violators/ (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Chiu, V.O., Hering, J.G., 2000. Arsenic adsorption and oxidation at manganite surfaces. 1. Method for simultaneous determination of adsorbed and dissolved arsenic species. Environmental Science and Technology 34, 2029-2034.
- Christmann, W., Klöppel, K.D., Partscht, H., Rotard, W., 1989. Determination of PCDD/PCDF in ambient air. Chemosphere 19, 521-526.
- Clark, D.G., McElligott, T.F., Hurst, E.W., 1966. The toxicity of paraquat. British Journal of Industrial Medicine 23, 126-132.
- Clarke, E.E.K., Levy, L.S., Spurgeon, A., Calvert, I.A., 1997. The problems associated with pesticide use by irrigation workers in Ghana. Occupational Medicine 47, 301-308.
- Cleuvers, M., 2004. Mixture toxicity of the anti-inflammatory drugs diclofenac, ibuprofen, naproxen, and acetylsalicylic acid. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 59, 309-315.
- Coale, K.H., Bruland, K.W., 1988. Copper complexation in the Northeast Pacific. Limnology and Oceanography 33, 1084-1101.
- Coburn, D.R., Treichler, R., 1946. Experiments on Toxicity of DDT to Wildlife. The Journal of Wildlife Management 10, 208-216.
- Comans, R.N.J., van Dijk, C.P.J., 1988. Role of complexation processes in cadmium mobilization during estuarine mixing. Nature 336, 151-154.
- Commonwealth of Australia, 2015. Lead Fact Sheet. Geoscience Australia www.australianminesatlas.gov.au/education/fact_sheets/lead.html (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Conesa, J.A., Gálvez, A., Mateos, F., Martín-Gullón, I., Font, R., 2008. Organic and inorganic pollutants from cement kiln stack feeding alternative fuels. Journal of Hazardous Materials 158, 585-592.
- Cook, D.G., Fahn, S., Brait, K.A., 1974. Chronic manganese intoxication. Archives of Neurology 30, 59-64.
- Cooney, J.J., Tang, R.J., 1999. Quantifying effects of antifouling paints on microbial biofilm formation. Methods in Enzymology 310, 637-644.
- Cooper, R.G., Harrison, A.P., 2009. The exposure to and health effects of antimony. Indian Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine 13, 3-10.
- Corcoran, E., C. Nellemann, E. Baker, R. Bos, D. Osborn, H. Savelli (Eds.), 2010. Sick Water? The central role of wastewater management in sustainable development. A Rapid Response Assessment. United Nations Environment Programme, UN-HABITAT, GRID-Arendal, ISBN 978-82-7701-075-5.
- www.unwater.org/downloads/sickwater_unep_unh.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16). Cowan, D.M., Zheng, W., Zou, Y., Shi, X., Chen, J., Rosenthal, F.S., Fan, Q., 2009. Manganese exposure among smelting workers: relationship between blood manganese–iron ratio and early onset neurobehavioral alterations. NeuroToxi-
- cology 30, 1214-1222. Cox, W.J., Rains, D.W., 1972. Effect of lime on lead uptake by five plant species. Journal of Environmental Quality 1, 167-169.
- Crane, M., Watts, C., Boucard, T., 2006. Chronic aquatic environmental risks from exposure to human pharmaceuticals. Science of the Total Environment 367, 23-41.

- Crossgrove, J., Zheng, W., 2004. Manganese toxicity upon overexposure. NMR in Biomedicine 17, 544-553.
- Cui, J., Zhang, L., 2008. Metallurgical recovery of metals from electronic waste: A review. Journal of Hazardous Materials 158, 228-256.
- Culver, J., 2005. The life cycle of a CPU. The CPU Shack.
- www.cpushack.com/life-cycle-of-cpu.html (last accessed 11.01.16). Cunningham, V.L., Perino, C., D'Aco, V.J., Hartmann, A., Bechter, R., 2010. Human health risk assessment of carbamazepine in surface waters of North America
- and Europe. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 56, 343-351. Cvjetko, P, Cvjetko, I., Pavlica, M., 2010. Thallium toxicity in humans. Archives of Industrial Hygiene and Toxicology 61, 111-119.
- Czapinski, P., Blaszczyk, B., Czuczwar, S.J., 2005. Mechanisms of action of antiepileptic drugs. Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry 5, 3-14.
- d'Aquino, L., Morgana, M., Carboni, M.A., Staiano, M., Vittori Antisari, M., Re, M., Lorito, M., Vinale, F., Abadi, K.M., Woo, S.L., 2009. Effect of some rare earth elements on the growth and lanthanide accumulation in different *Trichoderma* strains. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 41, 2406-2413.
- da Silveira, A.N., Silva, R., Rubio, J., 2009. Treatment of acid mine drainage (AMD) in South Brazil: comparative active processes and water reuse. International Journal of Mineral Processing 93, 103-109.
- Darnerud, P.O., 2003. Toxic effects of brominated flame retardants in man and in wildlife. Environment International 29, 841-853.
- Das, P., Samantaray, S., Rout, G., 1997. Studies on cadmium toxicity in plants: a review. Environmental pollution 98, 29-36.
- Dasgupta, S., Meisner, C., Wheeler, D., 2010. Stockpiles of obsolete pesticides and cleanup priorities: A methodology and application for Tunisia. Journal of Environmental Management 91, 824-830.
- Davies, P.H., Goettl Jr, J.P., Sinley, J.R., Smith, N.F., 1976. Acute and chronic toxicity of lead to rainbow trout *Salmo gairdneri*, in hard and soft water. Water Research 10, 199-206.
- Davies Jr, F.T., Puryear, J.D., Newton, R.J., Egilla, J.N., Saraiva Grossi, J.A., 2002. Mycorrhizal fungi increase chromium uptake by sunflower plants: influence on tissue mineral concentration, growth, and gas exchange. Journal of Plant Nutrition 25, 2389-2407.
- Davis, J.A., 1984. Complexation of trace metals by adsorbed natural organic matter. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 48, 679-691.
- Davis, M.A., Hancock, D.D., Besser, T.E., Daniels, J.B., Baker, K.N.K., Call, D.R., 2007. Antimicrobial resistance in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Dublin isolates from beef and dairy sources. Veterinary Microbiology 119, 221-230.
- Dawson, A.H., Eddleston, M., Senarathna, L., Mohamed, F., Gawarammana, I., Bowe, S.J., Manuweera, G., Buckley, N.A., 2010. Acute Human Lethal Toxicity of Agricultural Pesticides: A Prospective Cohort Study. PLoS Medicine 7, e1000357.
- de Jong, M.D., Thanh, T.T., Khanh, T.H., Hien, V.M., Smith, G.J.D., Chau, N.V., Cam, B.V., Qui, P.T., Ha, D.Q., Guan, Y., Peiris, J.S.M., Hien, T.T., Farrar, J., 2005. Oseltamivir Resistance during Treatment of Influenza A (H5N1) Infection. New England Journal of Medicine 353, 2667-2672.
- de Lacerda, L.D., Salomons, W., 1998. Mercury from gold and silver mining: a chemical time bomb? Springer Berlin Heidelberg, ISBN 978-3642-63734-6.
- Dean, J.A., 1999. Lange's Handbook of Chemistry, 15th edn. McGraw Hill, New York. ISBN 0-07-016384-7.
- Deblonde, T., Cossu-Leguille, C., Hartemann, P., 2011. Emerging pollutants in wastewater: A review of the literature. International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health 214, 442-448.
- Deer, H., 2004. Pesticide Adsorption and Half-Life. Utah State University Cooperative Extension, Pesticides No. 15. extension.usu.edu/files/publications/ factsheet/Pesticides_No_15.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- DelValls, T., Sáenz, V., Arias, A.M., Blasco, J., 1999. Thallium in the marine environment: first ecotoxicological assessments in the Guadalquivir estuary and its potential adverse effect on the Doñana European Natural Reserve after the Aznalcóllar mining spill (SW Spain). Ciencias Marinas 25, 161-175.
- Deng, H., Ye, Z.H., Wong, M.H., 2004. Accumulation of lead, zinc, copper and cadmium by 12 wetland plant species thriving in metal-contaminated sites in China. Environmental Pollution 132, 29-40.
- Deng, Y., Stjernström, M., Banwart, S., 1996. Accumulation and remobilization of aqueous chromium (VI) at iron oxide surfaces: Application of a thin-film continuous flow-through reactor. Journal of Contaminant Hydrology 21, 141-151.
- Denkhaus, E., Salnikow, K., 2002. Nickel essentiality, toxicity, and carcinogenicity. Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology 42, 35-56.
- Deschamps, E., Vasconcelos, O., Lange, L., Donnici, C.L., da Silva, M.C., Sales, J.A., 2012. Management of effluents and waste from pharmaceutical industry in Minas Gerais, Brazil. Brazilian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 48, 727-736.
- Devanathan, G., Subramanian, A., Someya, M., Sudaryanto, A., Isobe, T., Takahashi, S., Chakraborty, P., Tanabe, S., 2009. Persistent organochlorines in human breast milk from major metropolitan cities in India. Environmental Pollution 157, 148-154.
- Deycard, V.N., Schäfer, J., Blanc, G., Coynel, A., Petit, J.C.J., Lanceleur, L., Dutruch, L., Bossy, C., Ventura, A., 2014. Contributions and potential impacts of seven priority substances (As, Cd, Cu, Cr, Ni, Pb, and Zn) to a major European Estuary (Gironde Estuary, France) from urban wastewater. Marine Chemistry 167, 123-134.

Díaz-Barriga, F., Santos, M.A., Mejía, J.D., Batres, L., Yáñez, L., Carrizales, L., Vera, E., del Razo, L.M., Cebrián, M.E., 1993. Arsenic and Cadmium Exposure in Children Living Near a Smelter Complex in San Luis Potosí, Mexico. Environmental Research 62, 242-250.

Dickens, T., 2011. Procurement of Medicines. In: The World Medicines Situation 2011, 3rd edn. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland. apps.who.int/ medicinedocs/documents/s18769en/s18769en.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).

Dilernia, D.A., Lourtau, L., Gomez, A.M., Ebenrstejin, J., Toibaro, J.J., Bautista, C.T., Marone, R., Carobene, M., Pampuro, S., Gomez-Carrillo, M., Losso, M.H., Salomón, H., 2007. Drug-resistance surveillance among newly HIV-1 diagnosed individuals in Buenos Aires, Argentina. AIDS 21, 1355-1360.

Dinham, B., 2003. The perils of paraquat - Sales targeted at developing countries. Pesticides News No. 60, 4-7. www.pan-uk.org/pestnews/lssue/pn60/pn60p4. htm (last accessed 11.01.16).

Djenchuraev, N., 1999. Current Environmental issues associated with mining wastes in Kyrgyzstan. Master of Science thesis. Department of Environmental Sciences and Policy of Central European University.

Dolgner, R., Brockhaus, A., Ewers, U., Wiegand, H., Majewski, F., Soddemann, H., 1983. Repeated surveillance of exposure to thallium in a population living in the vicinity of a cement plant emitting dust containing thallium. International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health 52, 79-94.

Doll, R., Peto, J., 1985. Asbestos. Effects on health of exposure to asbestos. Health & Safety Commission, UK. www.hse.gov.uk/asbestos/assets/docs/exposure.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).

Domingo, J.L., 2006. Polychlorinated diphenyl ethers (PCDEs): Environmental levels, toxicity and human exposure: A review of the published literature. Environment International 32, 121-127.

Dong, C.-D., Chen, C.-W., Chen, C.-F., 2013. Distribution, enrichment, accumulation and potential ecological risks of mercury in the sediments of Kaohsiung Harbor, Taiwan. Chemistry and Ecology 29, 693-708.

Downing, T.E., 2002. Avoiding new poverty: mining-induced displacement and resettlement. International Institute for Environment and Development. MMSD Working Paper No. 58. commdev.org/files/1376_file_Avoiding_New_Poverty.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).

Duke Today, 2011. Gold and Amazon Deforestation. Office of News & Communications, 20.04.2011. today.duke.edu/2011/04/goldperu (last accessed 11.01.16).

Duke, F.R., 1944. Salicylimines as Organic Precipitants. Quantitative Precipitation of Nickel and Copper and Determination of Copper in Brass or Bronze. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Analytical Edition 16, 750-751.

Dulaurent, S., Moesch, C., Marquet, P., Gaulier, J.-M., Lachâtre, G., 2010. Screening of pesticides in blood with liquid chromatography–linear ion trap mass spectrometry. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 396, 2235-2249.

Duong, H.A., Pham, N.H., Nguyen, H.T., Hoang, T.T., Pham, H.V., Pham, V.C., Berg, M., Giger, W., Alder, A.C., 2008. Occurrence, fate and antibiotic resistance of fluoroquinolone antibacterials in hospital wastewaters in Hanoi, Vietnam. Chemosphere 72, 968-973.

Duong, C.N., Ra, J.S., Cho, J., Kim, S.D., Choi, H.K., Park, J.-H., Kim, K.W., Inam, E., Kim, S.D., 2010. Estrogenic chemicals and estrogenicity in river waters of South Korea and seven Asian countries. Chemosphere 78, 286-293.

Ebert, E., Dumford, S.W., 1976. Effects of Triazine Herbicides on the Physiology of Plants. In: Gunther, F.A., Gunther, J.D. (Eds.). Residue Reviews - Residues of Pesticides and Other Contaminants in the Total Environment, Vol. 65. Springer, ISBN 978-1-4613-9415-0.

Ecobichon, D.J., 2001. Pesticide use in developing countries. Toxicology 160, 27-33. Ecotox Centre, 2015. Proposals for Acute and Chronic Quality Standards. Swiss Centre for Applied Ecotoxicology Eawag-EPFL. www.ecotoxcentre.ch/expertservice/quality-standards/proposals-for-acute-and-chronic-quality-standards/ (last accessed 11.01.16).

Eddleston, M., Karalliedde, L., Buckley, N., Fernando, R., Hutchinson, G., Isbister, G., Konradsen, F., Murray, D., Piola, J.C., Senanayake, N., Sheriff, R., Singh, S., Siwach, S.B., Smit, L., 2002. Pesticide poisoning in the developing world–a minimum pesticides list. The Lancet 360, 1163-1167.

Edirisinghe, J. Siriwardana, S., Siriwardana, S., Prasandith, P., 2008. Economic Instruments in controlling Water Pollution: A Case Study of Rubber Industry in Sri Lanka. Proceedings of the European Association of Environmental and Resource Economists' 16th Annual Conference, Gothenburg, Sweden, June 2008. www.webmeets.com/files/papers/EAERE/2008/257/rubber%20industry.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).

Effler, S.W., Litten, S., Field, S.D., Tong-Ngork, T., Hale, F., Meyer, M., Quirk, M., 1980. Whole lake responses to low level copper sulfate treatment. Water Research 14, 1489-1499.

Eisler, R., 1994. A review of arsenic hazards to plants and animals with emphasis on fishery and wildlife resources. In: Nriagu, J.O. (Ed.). Arsenic in the Environment, Part II, Human Health and Ecosystem Effects. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, ISBN 978-0-471-30436-4. pp. 185-259.

El Sebae, A.H., 1993. Special problems experienced with pesticide use in developing countries. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 17, 287-291.

El-Husaini, O.M., El-Hazek, M.N., 2005. Removal of radioactive elements from niobium and tantalum ores. European Journal of Mineral Processing and Environmental Protection 5, 7-16.

Elder, J.F., Horne, A.J., 1978. Copper cycles and $CuSO_4$ algicidal capacity in two California lakes. Environmental management 2, 17-30.

Elfvendahl, S., Mihale, M., Kishimba, M.A., Kylin, H., 2004. Pesticide Pollution Remains Severe after Cleanup of a Stockpile of Obsolete Pesticides at Vikuge, Tanzania. Ambio 33, 503-508.

Eljarrat, E., Caixach, J., Rivera, J., 2001. Levels of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans in soil samples from Spain. Chemosphere 44, 1383-1387.

Elliott, B.M., Mackay, J.M., Clay, P., Ashby, J., 1998. An assessment of the genetic toxicology of antimony trioxide. Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis 415, 109-117.

Empa, 2009a. E-waste guide - Material Composition. Swiss Federal Laboratories for Materials Science and Technology (Empa), Switzerland. www.ewasteguide. info/node/4074 (last accessed 11.01.16).

Empa, 2009b. E-waste guide - Hazardous Substances in e-Waste. Swiss Federal Laboratories for Materials Science and Technology (Empa), Switzerland. ewasteguide.info/node/219 (last accessed 11.01.16).

Empa, 2009c. E-waste guide - Case Studies. Swiss Federal Laboratories for Materials Science and Technology (Empa), Switzerland. www.ewasteguide.info/ewaste/case-studies (last accessed 11.01.16).

Empa, 2009d. Empa, HP and DSF unveil conclusions - Next steps of project to tackle electronic waste in Africa. Swiss Federal Laboratories for Materials Science and Technology (Empa), Switzerland. Press release, 17.02.2009. www.empa.ch/web/s604/elektronikschrottewaste (last accessed 11.01.16).

Empa, 2009e. Swiss e-Waste Programme. Swiss Federal Laboratories for Materials Science and Technology (Empa), Switzerland.

ewasteguide.info/swiss-e-waste-programme (last accessed 11.01.16). Empa, 2009f. E-waste guide - State-of-the-art Recycling Technologies. Swiss Federal Laboratories for Materials Science and Technology (Empa), Switzerland. ewasteguide.info/state-art-recycling- (last accessed 11.01.16).

Energy Justice Network, 2012. Dioxins & Furans: The Most Toxic Chemicals Known to Science. www.ejnet.org/dioxin/ (last accessed 11.01.16).

Enterline, P.E., Hartley, J., Henderson, V., 1987. Asbestos and cancer: a cohort followed up to death. British Journal of Industrial Medicine 44, 396-401.

Environmental News Network, 2012. Global CFC ban and unintended consequences. 27.02.2012. www.enn.com/pollution/article/44049 (last accessed 11.01.16).

Environmental Protection Department of Hong Kong, 2004. Soil and ground water criteria used in The Netherlands for contaminated land ("Dutch List"). www.epd.gov.hk/eia/register/report/eiareport/eia_1192005/HTML/Main%20Report/Annex/Annex%20A/Annex%20A-C.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).

Ercal, N., Gurer-Orhan, H., Aykin-Burns, N., 2001. Toxic metals and oxidative stress part 1: mechanisms involved in metal-induced oxidative damage. Current topics in Medicinal Chemistry 1, 529-539.

Erdman, A.R., 2004. Insecticides. In: Dart, R.C. (Ed.). Medical toxicology. 3rd edn. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, ISBN 0-7817-2845-2. pp. 1475-1496.

Erickson, R.J., Benoit, D.A., Mattson, V.R., Leonard, E.N., Nelson Jr., H.P., 1996. The effects of water chemistry on the toxicity of copper to fathead minnows. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 15, 181-193.

Erickson, M.D., Kaley, R.G., 2011. Applications of polychlorinated biphenyls. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 18, 135-151.

Ernst & Young, 2012. Managing bribery and corruption risks in the mining and metals industry. Ernst & Young, Australia. www.ey.com/Publication/vwLUAssets/ Managing_bribery_and_corruption_risk_in_the_mining_and_metals_ industry/\$FILE/Mining-and-Metals-Fraud-brochure-lowres.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).

Ernst, M., Hein, A., Asmin, J., Krauss, M., Fink, G., Hollender, J., Ternes, T., Jørgensen, C., Jekel, M., McArdell, C.S., 2012. Water quality analysis: Detection, fate, and behaviour, of selected trace organic pollutants at managed aquifer recharge sites. In: Kazner, C., Wintgens, T., Dillon, P. (Eds.). Water Reclamation Technologies for Safe Managed Aquifer Recharge, IWA Publishing, UK, ISBN 9781843393443. pp. 197-226.

Etter, B., Udert, K.M., Gounden, T. (Eds.), 2015. VUNA Final Report. Eawag, Dübendorf, Switzerland. www.eawag.ch/fileadmin/Domain1/Abteilungen/eng/projekte/vuna/doc/VUNA_Final_Report_2015.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).

European Chemical Industry Council, 2013. The European chemicals industry in a worldwide perspective: Facts and Figures 2012. www.cefic.org/Documents/ FactsAndFigures/2012/Facts-and-Figures-2012-The-Brochure.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).

European Chemicals Agency, 2015. Information on Chemicals: Lithium hydroxide - Ecotoxicological Information. © European Chemicals Agency, 2007-2015. echa.europa.eu/de/brief-profile/-/briefprofile/100.013.804 (last accessed 11.01.16).

European Commission, 2015. EU - Pesticides database. European Union, 1995-2015. ec.europa.eu/food/plant/pesticides/eu-pesticides-database (last accessed 11.01.16).

European Parliament, Council of the European Union, 2008. Directive 2008/105/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2008 on environmental quality standards in the field of water policy. European Union, 1998-2015. eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2008:348:0084:00 97:EN:PDF (last accessed 11.01.16).

- European Parliament, Council of the European Union, 2011. Directive 2011/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2011 on the restriction of the use of certain hazardous substances in electrical and electronic equipment. European Union, 1998-2015. eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32011L0065&from=EN (last accessed 11.01.16).
- European Parliament, Council of the European Union, 2012. Directive 2012/19/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 4 July 2012 on waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE). European Union, 1998-2015. eur-lex.europa. eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32012L0019&from=EN (last accessed 11.01.16).
- European Parliament, Council of the European Union, 2013. Directive 2013/39/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 August 2013 amending Directives 2000/60/EC and 2008/105/EC as regards priority substances in the field of water policy. European Union, 1998-2015. eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/ LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:226.0001:0017:EN:PDF (last accessed 11.01.16). Ewers, U., 1988. Environmental exposure to thallium. Science of the Total Environmental exposure to the total Envinonmental exposure to the total Envir
- ment 71, 285-292. Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative, 2015. Fact Sheet.
- eiti.org/files/document/EITI_Factsheet_EN.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16). Fairchild, J.F., Ruessler, D.S., Carlson, A.R., 1998. Comparative sensitivity of five species of macrophytes and six species of algae to atrazine, metribuzin, ala-
- chlor, and metolachlor. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 17, 1830-1834. Fairmined, 2015. Get to know fairmined - What is fairmined. http://www.fairmined.org/what-is-fairmined/ (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Pairphone, 2015. Fairphone fact sheet. www.fairphone.com/wp-content/ uploads/2015/06/150702-English-factsheet.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Fan, Z., Casey, FX.M., Hakk, H., Larsen, G.L., 2007. Persistence and fate of 17&estradiol and testosterone in agricultural soils. Chemosphere 67, 886-895.
- Farrell, L., Sampat, P., Sarin, R., Slack, K., 2004. Dirty Metals Mining, Communities and the Environment. Earthworks and Oxfam America. www.oxfamamerica.org/static/oa3/files/dirty-metals.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- FASS Vårdpersonal, 2014. Pharmaceutical Updates. www.fass.se/LIF/startpage (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Fassett, D.W., 1975. Cadmium: Biological effects and occurrence in the environment. Annual Review of Pharmacology 15, 425-435.
- Fatta-Kassinos, D., Meric, S., Nikolaou, A., 2011. Pharmaceutical residues in environmental waters and wastewater: current state of knowledge and future research. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 399, 251-275.
- Federal Water Pollution Control Administration, 1967. The Cost of Clean Water. Industrial Waste Profile No. 4: Textile Mill Products. U.S. Department of the Interior. nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPDF.cgi/20017C5Q.PDF?Dockey=20017C5Q.PDF (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Felden, B.F., 1928. Epilation with Thallium Acetate in the Treatment of Ringworm of the Scalp in Children. Archives of Dermatology and Syphilology 17, 182-193.
- Fent, K., Weston, A.A., Caminada, D., 2006. Ecotoxicology of human pharmaceuticals. Aquatic Toxicology 76, 122-159.
- Fergusson, J.E., 1990. Heavy elements: chemistry, environmental impact and health effects. Pergamon Press, Oxford, ISBN 0-08-034860-2.
- Ferrari, B., Paxéus, N., Lo Giudice, R., Pollio, A., Garric, J., 2003. Ecotoxicological impact of pharmaceuticals found in treated wastewaters: study of carbamazepine, clofibric acid, and diclofenac. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 55, 359-370.
- Ferrari, B., Mons, R., Vollat, B., Fraysse, B., Paxéaus, N., Lo Giudice, R., Pollio, A., Garric, J., 2004. Environmental risk assessment of six human pharmaceuticals: Are the current environmental risk assessment procedures sufficient for the protection of the aquatic environment? Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 23, 1344-1354.
- Fick, J., Lindberg, R.H., Tysklind, M., Haemig, P.D., Waldenström, J., Wallensten, A., Olsen, B., 2007. Antiviral Oseltamivir Is not Removed or Degraded in Normal Sewage Water Treatment: Implications for Development of Resistance by Influenza A Virus. Plos One 2, e986.
- Filella, M., Belzile, N., Chen, Y.-W., 2002. Antimony in the environment: a review focused on natural waters: I. Occurrence. Earth-Science Reviews 57, 125-176.
- Fishel, F.M., 2014a. Pesticide Toxicity Profile: Bipyridylium Herbicides. UF/IFAS Extension, University of Florida. PI-88, published 2005, revised 2014. edis.ifas.ufl.edu/pdffiles/PI/PI12500.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Fishel, F.M., 2014b. Pesticide Toxicity Profile: Synthetic Pyrethroid Pesticides. UF/ IFAS Extension, University of Florida. PI54, published 2005, revised 2014. edis.ifas.ufl.edu/pdffiles/PI/PI09100.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Fishel, F.M., 2015. Pesticide Toxicity Profile: Triazine Pesticides. UF/IFAS Extension, University of Florida, PI-121, published 2006, reviewed 2015. edis.ifas.ufl.edu/pdffiles/PI/PI15800.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Fitzgerald, W.F., Engstrom, D.R., Mason, R.P., Nater, E.A., 1998. The case for atmospheric mercury contamination in remote areas. Environmental Science and Technology 32, 1-7.
- Flegal, A.R., Patterson, C.C., 1985. Thallium concentrations in seawater. Marine Chemistry 15, 327-331.
- Fleischer, M., 1970. Summary of the literature on the inorganic geochemistry of mercury. In: U.S. Geological Survey. Mercury in the Environment. Professional Paper 713, 6-13.
- Fleming, L., Mann, J.B., Bean, J., Briggle, T., Sanchez-Ramos, J.R., 1994. Parkinson's disease and brain levels of organochlorine pesticides. Annals of Neurology 36, 100-103.

- Flemming, C.A., Trevors, J.T., 1989. Copper toxicity and chemistry in the environment: a review. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution 44, 143-158.
- Fluit, A.C., Visser, M.R., Schmitz, F.-J., 2001. Molecular detection of antimicrobial resistance. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 14, 836-871.
- Fodor, E., Szabó-Nagy, A., Erdei, L., 1995. The effects of cadmium on the fluidity and H+-ATPase activity of plasma membrane from sunflower and wheat roots. Journal of Plant Physiology 147, 87-92.
- Fong, P.P., 1998. Zebra mussel spawning is induced in low concentrations of putative serotonin reuptake inhibitors. The Biological Bulletin 194, 143-149.
- Food and Agriculture Organization, World Health Organization, 1995. Pesticide residues in food – 1994. Report. In: FAO Plant Production and Protection Paper, no. 127, ISBN 92-5-103632-2.
- Food and Agriculture Organization, 2001. Baseline Study on the Problem of obsolete Pesticide Stocks. www.fao.org/docrep/003/x8639e/x8639e00.htm (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Food and Agriculture Organization, World Health Organization, 2003. Summary and Conclusions. Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives, Sixty-first meeting, Rome. ftp://ftp.fao.org/es/esn/jecfa/jecfa61sc.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Food and Agriculture Organization, 2010. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2010. ISBN 978-92-5-106675-1. www.fao.org/docrep/013/i1820e/i1820e.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013. Statistics and Database of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. faostat3.fao.org/home/index.html (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Food and Agriculture Organization, 2015a. Prevention and Disposal of Obsolete Pesticides. www.fao.org/agriculture/crops/obsolete-pesticides/where-stocks/ en/ (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Food and Agriculture Organization, 2015b. Prevention and Disposal of Obsolete Pesticides: Africa. www.fao.org/agriculture/crops/obsolete-pesticides/wherestocks/africa-stocks/en/ (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Förstner, U., Wittmann, G.T.W. (Eds.), 1979. Metal pollution in the aquatic environment. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, ISBN 3-540-09307-9.
- Fowler, B., Goering, P., 1991. Antimony. In: Merian, E. (Ed.). Metals and their compounds in the environment: occurrence, analysis, and biological relevance. VCH, Weinheim, Germany, ISBN 3-527-26521-X. pp. 743-750.
- Fraser, W., Quinlan, A., Reid, J., Smith, R., 1974. Primary screening of copper compounds for herbicidal, nematocidal, fungicidal and bactericidal activity. Project No. 211. Incra Report, 43pp.
- Frattini, P., 2005. Thallium properties and behaviour-A Literature Study. Geological Survey of Finland. tupa.gtk.fi/raportti/arkisto/s41_0000_2005_2.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Freeman, G.B., Johnson, J.D., Killinger, J.M., Liao, S.C., Feder, P.I., Davis, A.O., Ruby, M.V., Chaney, R.L., Lovre, S.C., Bergstrom, P.D., 1992. Relative bioavailability of lead from mining waste soil in rats. Fundamental and Applied Toxicology 19, 388-398.
- Friberg, L., Elinder, C., Kjellstrom, T., Nordberg, G.F. (Eds.), 1985. Cadmium and health: A toxicological and epidemiological appraisal - Volume II: Effects and response. ISBN 0-8493-6691-7.
- Fruchart, J.C., Duriez, P., Staels, B., 1999. Molecular mechanism of action of the fibrates. Journal de la Société de Biologie 193, 67-75.
- Fu, Z., Wu, F., Amarasiriwardena, D., Mo, C., Liu, B., Zhu, J., Deng, Q., Liao, H., 2010. Antimony, arsenic and mercury in the aquatic environment and fish in a large antimony mining area in Hunan, China. Science of the Total Environment 408, 3403-3410.
- Fuerst, E.P., Vaughn, K.C., 1990. Mechanisms of paraquat resistance. Weed Technology, 150-156.
- Fukuto, T.R., 1990. Mechanism of action of organophosphorus and carbamate insecticides. Environmental Health Perspectives 87, 245-254.
- Funderburk, H.H., Bozarth, G.A., 1967. Review of the metabolism and decomposition of diquat and paraquat. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 15, 563-567.
- Furlong, C., 1978. Effects of arsenic in the Canadian environment. National Research Council Canada, Ottawa. Publication No. NRCC 15391.
- Gabbay, J., Borkow, G., Mishal, J., Magen, E., Zatcoff, R., Shemer-Avni, Y., 2006. Copper oxide impregnated textiles with potent biocidal activities. Journal of Industrial Textiles 35, 323-335.
- Galván-Arzate, S., Santamaría, A., 1998. Thallium toxicity. Toxicology Letters 99, 1-13.
- Gan, J., Lee, S.J., Liu, W.P., Haver, D.L., Kabashima, J.N., 2005. Distribution and persistence of pyrethroids in runoff sediments. Journal of Environmental Quality 34, 836-841.
- García-Santos, G., Scheiben, D., Binder, C.R., 2011. The weight method: A new screening method for estimating pesticide deposition from knapsack sprayers in developing countries. Chemosphere 82, 1571-1577.
- García de Llasera, M.P., Bernal-González, M., 2001. Presence of carbamate pesticides in environmental waters from the northwest of Mexico: determination by liquid chromatography. Water Research 35, 1933-1940.
- Gebel, T., 1997. Arsenic and antimony: comparative approach on mechanistic toxicology. Chemico-Biological Interactions 107, 131-144.
- Gfrerer, M., Wenzl, T., Quan, X., Platzer, B., Lankmayr, E., 2002. Occurrence of triazines in surface and drinking water of Liaoning Province in Eastern China. Journal of Biochemical and Biophysical Methods 53, 217-228.

- Giannasi, F., Thébaud-Mony, A., 1997. Occupational exposures to asbestos in Brazil. International Journal of Occupational and Environmental Health 3, 150-157.
- Gibb, H.J., Lees, P.S.J., Pinsky, P.F., Rooney, B.C., 2000. Lung cancer among workers in chromium chemical production. American Journal of Industrial Medicine 38 115-126
- Gidlow, D.A., 2004. Lead toxicity. Occupational Medicine 54, 76-81.
- Gilbert, S.G., Rice, D.C., 1987. Low-level lifetime lead exposure produces behavioral toxicity (spatial discrimination reversal) in adult monkeys. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 91, 484-490.
- Giuffré de López Camelo, L., Ratto de Miguez, S., Marbán, L., 1997. Heavy metals input with phosphate fertilizers used in Argentina. Science of the Total Environment 204, 245-250.
- GlobalGAP, 2016. Global Good Agricultural Practices.
- www.globalgap.org/uk_en/who-we-are/about-us/ (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Gnandi, K., Tobschall, H.J., 2002. Heavy metals distribution of soils around mining sites of cadmium-rich marine sedimentary phosphorites of Kpogamé and Hahotoé (southern Togo). Environmental Geology 41, 593-600.
- Gochfeld, M., 1997. Factors influencing susceptibility to metals. Environmental Health Perspectives 105, 817-822.
- Godgul, G., Sahu, K.C., 1995. Chromium contamination from chromite mine. Environmental Geology 25, 251-257.
- Godt, J., Scheidig, F., Grosse-Siestrup, C., Esche, V., Brandenburg, P., Reich, A., Groneberg, D.A., 2006. The toxicity of cadmium and resulting hazards for human health. Journal of Occupational Medicine and Toxicology 1, 6pp.
- Goldberg, E.D., 1975. Synthetic Organohalides in the Sea. With Discussion from Bourne, W.R.P., Boucher, E.A., Preston, A. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 189, 277-289.
- Goldberg, S., Glaubig, R.A., 1988. Anion sorption on a calcareous, montmorillonitic soil–arsenic. Soil Science Society of America Journal 52, 1297-1300.
- Goldstein, L.S., Weyand, E.H., Safe, S., Steinberg, M., Culp, S.J., Gaylor, D.W., Beland, F.A., Rodriguez, L.V., 1998. Tumors and DNA adducts in mice exposed to benzo[a]pyrene and coal tars: implications for risk assessment. Environmental Health Perspectives 106, 1325-1330.
- Gosselin, R.E., Smith, R.P., Hodge, H.C., 1984. Clinical toxicology of commercial products. Williams & Wilkins, ISBN 0-683-03632-7.
- Goyer, R.A., 1997. Toxic and essential metal interactions. Annual Review of Nutrition 17, 37-50.
- Gracia-Lor, E., Sancho, J.V., Serrano, R., Hernández, F., 2012. Occurrence and removal of pharmaceuticals in wastewater treatment plants at the Spanish Mediterranean area of Valencia. Chemosphere 87, 453-462.
- Graedel, T., Allwood, J., Birat, J.P., Buchert, M., Hagelüken, C., Reck, B.K., Sibley, S.F., Sonnemann, G., 2011a. What do we know about metal recycling rates? Journal of Industrial Ecology 15, 355-366.
- Graedel, T.E., Buchert, M., Reck, B.K., Sonnemann, G., 2011b. Assessing Mineral Resources in Society: Metal Stocks and Recycling Rates. United Nations Environment Programme. www.unep.org/resourcepanel/Portals/24102/PDFs/Metals_Recycling_Rates_Summary.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Gramatica, P., Di Guardo, A., 2002. Screening of pesticides for environmental partitioning tendency. Chemosphere 47, 947-956.
- Grant, K., Goldizen, F.C., Sly, P.D., Brune, M.-N., Neira, M., van den Berg, M., Norman, R.E., 2013. Health consequences of exposure to e-waste: a systematic review. The Lancet Global Health 1, e350-e361.
- Green Electronics Council, 2015. About EPEAT. www.epeat.net/about-epeat/ (last accessed 11.01.2016).
- Greenpeace, 2005. Polyvinyl Chloride. 30.05.2005. www.greenpeace.org/international/en/campaigns/detox/polyvinyl-chloride/ (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Greenpeace, 2009. Guiyu: An E-Waste Nightmare. 11.08.2009. www.greenpeac org/eastasia/campaigns/toxics/problems/e-waste/guiyu/ (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Greenpeace, 2011. Guide to Greener Electronics. Version 17. www.greenpeace.org/ eastasia/Global/eastasia/publications/reports/climate-energy/2010/eWaste%20 ranking%20tables%20NOV%202011.All.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Grimmer, G., Brune, H., Dettbarn, G., Jacob, J., Misfeld, J., Mohr, U., Naujack, K.-W., Timm, J., Wenzel-Hartung, R., 1991. Relevance of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons as environmental carcinogens. Fresenius' Journal of Analytical Chemistry 339, 792-795.
- Gros, M., Petrović, M., Barceló, D., 2007. Wastewater treatment plants as a pathway for aquatic contamination by pharmaceuticals in the Ebro river basin (Northeast Spain). Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 26, 1553-1562.
- Gros, M., Petrović, M., Ginebreda, A., Barceló, D., 2010. Removal of pharmaceuticals during wastewater treatment and environmental risk assessment using hazard indexes. Environment International 36, 15-26.
- Groth, D.H., Stettler, L.E., Burg, J.R., Busey, W.M., Grant, G.C., Wong, L., 1986. Carcinogenic effects of antimony trioxide and antimony ore concentrate in rats. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health 18, 607-626.
- Gruber, S.J., Munn, M.D., 1998. Organophosphate and Carbamate Insecticides in Agricultural Waters and Cholinesterase (ChE) Inhibition in Common Carp (*Cyprinus carpio*). Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 35, 391-396.
- Gullett, B.K., Bruce, K.R., Beach, L.O., 1990. The effect of metal catalysts on the formation of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin and polychlorinated dibenzofuran precursors. Chemosphere 20, 1945-1952.

- Guo, Y., Huo, X., Wu, K., Liu, J., Zhang, Y., Xu, X., 2012. Carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in umbilical cord blood of human neonates from Guiyu, China. Science of the Total Environment 427-428, 35-40.
- Gupta, P.K., 2004. Pesticide exposure–Indian scene. Toxicology 198, 83-90.
- Gurunadha Rao, V.V.S., Dhar, R.L., Subrahmanyam, K., 2001. Assessment of Contaminant Migration in Groundwater from an Industrial Development Area, Medak District, Andhra Pradesh, India. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution 128, 369-389.
- Habert, G., Billard, C., Rossi, P., Chen, C., Roussel, N., 2010. Cement production technology improvement compared to factor 4 objectives. Cement and Concrete Research 40, 820-826.
- Hagenmaier, H., Kraft, M., Brunner, H., Haag, R., 1987. Catalytic effects of fly ash from waste incineration facilities on the formation and decomposition of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and polychlorinated dibenzofurans. Environmental Science and Technology 21, 1080-1084.
- Hall, B., 1995. The gas phase oxidation of elemental mercury by ozone. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution 80, 301-315.
- Halling-Sørensen, B., 2000. Algal toxicity of antibacterial agents used in intensive farming. Chemosphere 40, 731-739.
- Halsband, E., 1974. Einfluss von Asbestabfallprodukten auf die Miesmuschel. Informationen für die Fischwirtschaft 21, 52.
- Hämäläinen, P., Takala, J., Saarela, K.L., 2006. Global estimates of occupational accidents. Safety Science 44, 137-156.
- Hammel, W., Debus, R., Steubing, L., 2000. Mobility of antimony in soil and its availability to plants. Chemosphere 41, 1791-1798.
- Hamscher, G., Sczesny, S., Höper, H., Nau, H., 2002. Determination of Persistent Tetracycline Residues in Soil Fertilized with Liquid Manure by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography with Electrospray Ionization Tandem Mass Spectrometry. Analytical Chemistry 74, 1509-1518.
- Hamscher, G., Pawelzick, H.T., Sczesny, S., Nau, H., Hartung, J., 2003. Antibiotics in dust originating from a pig-fattening farm: a new source of health hazard for farmers? Environmental Health Perspectives 111, 1590-1594.
- Han, G., Ding, G., Lou, X., Wang, X., Han, J., Shen, H., Zhou, Y., Du, L., 2011. Correlations of PCBs, DIOXIN, and PBDE with TSH in children's blood in areas of computer E-waste recycling. Biomedical and Environmental Sciences 24, 112-116.
- Hannan, P.J., Patouillet, C., 1972. Effect of mercury on algal growth rates. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 14, 93-101.
 Hanrahan, D., Fuller, R., Singh, A., 2007. Cost Effectiveness and Health Impact of
- Hanrahan, D., Fuller, R., Singh, A., 2007. Cost Effectiveness and Health Impact of Remediation of Highly Polluted Sites in the Developing World. Blacksmith Institute. www.blacksmithinstitute.org/files/FileUpload/files/Resources/cost-Eff1%20%281%29.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Hansen, J., Lacis, A., Prather, M., 1989. Greenhouse effect of chlorofluorocarbons and other trace gases. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 94, 16417-16421.
- Hanson Heidelberg Cement Group, 2009. Health and Safety Data sheet for Common Cements and Cement Products. www.hanson.co.uk/en/system/files_ force/assets/document/msdscommoncements2014.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Harada, M., 1978. Congenital Minamata disease: intrauterine methylmercury poisoning. Teratology 18, 285-288.
- Harada, M., 1995. Minamata disease: methylmercury poisoning in Japan caused by environmental pollution. Critical Reviews in Toxicology 25, 1-24.
- Harries, A.D., Nyangulu, D.S., Hargreaves, N.J., Kaluwa, O., Salaniponi, F.M., 2001. Preventing antiretroviral anarchy in sub-Saharan Africa. The Lancet 358, 410-414.
- Hartwig, A., 1994. Role of DNA repair inhibition in lead-and cadmium-induced genotoxicity: a review. Environmental Health Perspectives 102, 45-50.
- Hartwig, A., Schwerdtle, T., 2002. Interactions by carcinogenic metal compounds with DNA repair processes: toxicological implications. Toxicology Letters 127, 47-54.
- Hassanin, A., Breivik, K., Meijer, S.N., Steinnes, E., Thomas, G.O., Jones, K.C., 2004. PBDEs in European background soils: levels and factors controlling their distribution. Environmental Science and Technology 38, 738-745.
- Haylamicheal, I.D., Dalvie, M.A., 2009. Disposal of obsolete pesticides, the case of Ethiopia. Environment International 35, 667-673.
- He, M., Yang, J., 1999. Effects of different forms of antimony on rice during the period of germination and growth and antimony concentration in rice tissue. Science of the Total Environment 243-244, 149-155.
- He, M., 2007. Distribution and phytoavailability of antimony at an antimony mining and smelting area, Hunan, China. Environmental Geochemistry and Health 29, 209-219.
- He, M.-J., Luo, X.-J., Yu, L.-H., Liu, J., Zhang, X.-L., Chen, S.-J., Chen, D., Mai, B.-X., 2010. Tetrabromobisphenol-A and Hexabromocyclododecane in Birds from an E-Waste Region in South China: Influence of Diet on Diastereoisomer- and Enantiomer-Specific Distribution and Trophodynamics. Environmental Science and Technology 44, 5748-5754.
- Heberer, T., 2002. Occurrence, fate, and removal of pharmaceutical residues in the aquatic environment: a review of recent research data. Toxicology Letters 131, 5-17.

Heberer, T., Verstraeten, I.M., Meyer, M.T., Mechlinski, A., Reddersen, K., 2011. Occurrence and fate of pharmaceuticals during bank filtration – preliminary results from investigations in Germany and the United States. Journal of Contemporary Water Research and Education 120, 4-17.

Heeb, F., Singer, H., Pernet-Coudrier, B., Qi, W., Liu, H., Longrée, P., Müller, B., Berg, M., 2012. Organic micropollutants in rivers downstream of the megacity Beijing: sources and mass fluxes in a large-scale wastewater irrigation system. Environmental Science and Technology 46, 8680-8688.

Heinz, G., 1974. Effects of low dietary levels of methyl mercury on mallard reproduction. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 11, 386-392.

- Helling, C.S., Kaufman, D.D., Dieter, C.T., 1971. Algae Bioassay Detection of Pesticide Mobility in Soils. Weed Science 19, 685-690.
- Helmuth, R., Guerra, B., Malorny, B., Miko, A., Schroeter, A., 2004. Erfassung phänotypischer und genotypischer Resistenzeigenschaften bei Salmonella- und E. coli-Isolaten vom Tier, Lebensmitteln, Futtermitteln und der Umwelt. Bundesinstitut für Risikobewertung. www.bfr.bund.de/cm/343/erfassung_phaenotypischer_und_genotypischer_resistenzeigenschaften_bei_salmonella_und_e._coli_ isolaten_vom_tier_abschlussbericht.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Henriques, W., Jeffers, R.D., Lacher, T.E., Kendall, R.J., 1997. Agrochemical use on banana plantations in Latin America: Perspectives on ecological risk. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 16, 91-99.
- Henschel, K.P., Wenzel, A., Diedrich, M., Fliedner, A., 1997. Environmental Hazard Assessment of Pharmaceuticals. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 25, 220-225.
- Hensel, A., Helmuth, R., 2005. Aktuelles zur Antibiotika-Resistenz: Das Problem aus veterinärmedizinischer Sicht. Fortbildung für den ÖGD, 16.03.2005. Bundesinstitut für Risikobewertung. www.bfr.bund.de/cm/343/aktuelles_zur_ antibiotikaresistenz_das_problem_aus_veterinaermedizinischer_sicht.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Hernandez, L.E., Carpena-Ruiz, R., Gárate, A., 1996. Alterations in the mineral nutrition of pea seedlings exposed to cadmium. Journal of Plant Nutrition 19, 1581-1598.
- Hernando, M.D., Mezcua, M., Fernández-Alba, A.R., Barceló, D., 2006. Environmental risk assessment of pharmaceutical residues in wastewater effluents, surface waters and sediments. Talanta 69, 334-342.
- Hernando, M.D., De Vettori, S., Martínez Bueno, M.J., Fernández-Alba, A.R., 2007. Toxicity evaluation with *Vibrio fischeri* test of organic chemicals used in aquaculture. Chemosphere 68, 724-730.
- Hersher, R., 2012. IndianTB cases highlight need for drug-resistance tests. Nature Medicine 18, 333.
- Hilscherova, K., Kannan, K., Nakata, H., Hanari, N., Yamashita, N., Bradley, P.W., Mccabe, J.M., Taylor, A.B., Giesy, J.P., 2003. Polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin and dibenzofuran concentration profiles in sediments and flood-plain soils of the Tittabawassee River, Michigan. Environmental Science and Technology 37, 468-474.
- Hingston, J.A., Collins, C.D., Murphy, R.J., Lester, J.N., 2001. Leaching of chromated copper arsenate wood preservatives: a review. Environmental Pollution 111, 53-66.
- Hira, S.K., Panchal, K., Parmar, P.A., Bhatia, V.P., 2004. High resistance to antiretroviral drugs: the Indian experience. International journal of STD & AIDS 15, 173-177.
- Hirano, S., Suzuki, K.T., 1996. Exposure, metabolism, and toxicity of rare earths and related compounds. Environmental Health Perspectives 104, 85-95.
- Hirsch, R., Ternes, T., Haberer, K., Kratz, K.-L., 1999. Occurrence of antibiotics in the aquatic environment. Science of the Total Environment 225, 109-118.
- Hladik, M.L., Kuivila, K.M., 2009. Assessing the Occurrence and Distribution of Pyrethroids in Water and Suspended Sediments. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 57, 9079-9085.
- Hodson, P.V., Borgmann, U., Shear, H., 1979. Toxicity of copper to aquatic biota.
 In: Nriagu, J.O. (Ed.). Copper in the environment Part 2: Health Effects. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., US, ISBN 0-471-04778-3, pp. 307-372.
- Hoeger, B., Köllner, B., Dietrich, D.R., Hitzfeld, B., 2005. Water-borne diclofenac affects kidney and gill integrity and selected immune parameters in brown trout (*Salmo trutta* f. *fario*). Aquatic Toxicology 75, 53-64.
- Hoffman, R.S., Hoffman, R., 2000. Thallium poisoning during pregnancy: a case report and comprehensive literature review. Journal of Toxicology: Clinical Toxicology 38, 767-775.
- Holm, J.V., Ruegge, K., Bjerg, P.L., Christensen, T.H., 1995. Occurrence and distribution of pharmaceutical organic compounds in the groundwater downgradient of a landfill (Grindsted, Denmark). Environmental Science and Technology 29, 1415-1420.
- Holmström, K., Gräslund, S., Wahlström, A., Poungshompoo, S., Bengtsson, B.-E., Kautsky, N., 2003. Antibiotic use in shrimp farming and implications for environmental impacts and human health. International Journal of Food Science & Technology 38, 255-266.
- Holst, R.W., Yopp, J.H., Kapusta, G., 1982. Effect of Several Pesticides on the Growth and Nitrogen Assimilation of the *Azolla-Anabaena* Symbiosis. Weed Science 30, 54-58.
- Horn Rummo, J., Routh, D.K., Rummo, N.J., Brown, J.F., 1979. Behavioral and neurological effects of symptomatic and asymptomatic lead exposure in children. Archives of Environmental Health: An International Journal 34, 120-124.

- Hornberger, M.I., Luoma, S.N., Cain, D.J., Parchaso, F., Brown, C.L., Bouse, R.M., Wellise, C., Thompson, J.K., 2000. Linkage of Bioaccumulation and Biological Effects to Changes in Pollutant Loads in South San Francisco Bay. Environmental Science and Technology 34, 2401-2409.
- Huberman, E., Sachs, L., Yang, S.K., Gelboin, H.V., 1976. Identification of mutagenic metabolites of benzo[a]pyrene in mammalian cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 73, 607-611.
- Huckabee, J.W., Blaylock, B.G., 1973. Transfer of mercury and cadmium from terrestrial to aquatic ecosystems. In: Dhar, S.K. (Ed.). Metal lons in Biological Systems. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, Vol. 40. Plenum Press, New York, ISBN 978-1-4684-3242-8. pp. 125-160.
- Huggett, D.B., Brooks, B.W., Peterson, B., Foran, C.M., Schlenk, D., 2002. Toxicity of select beta adrenergic receptor-blocking pharmaceuticals (B-blockers) on aquatic organisms. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 43, 229-235.
- Hutton, M., 1983. Sources of cadmium in the environment. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 7, 9-24.
- Hutton, M., Symon, C., 1986. The quantities of cadmium, lead, mercury and arsenic entering the U.K. environment from human activities. Science of the Total Environment 57, 129-150.
- Ibarluzea, J.M., Fernández, M.F., Santa-Marina, L., Olea-Serrano, M.F., Rivas, A.M., Aurrekoetxea, J., Expósito, J., Lorenzo, M., Torné, P., Villalobos, M., Pedraza, V., Sasco, A.J., Olea, N., 2004. Breast Cancer Risk and the Combined Effect of Environmental Estrogens. Cancer Causes and Control 15, 591-600.
- Iida, T., Nakanishi, M., Gotõ, K., 1974. Investigations on poly(vinyl chloride). I. Evolution of aromatics on pyrolysis of poly(vinyl chloride) and its mechanism. Journal of Polymer Science: Polymer Chemistry Edition 12, 737-749.
- Iijima, A., Sato, K., Yano, K., Tago, H., Kato, M., Kimura, H., Furuta, N., 2007. Particle size and composition distribution analysis of automotive brake abrasion dusts for the evaluation of antimony sources of airborne particulate matter. Atmospheric Environment 41, 4908-4919
- Iijima, A., Sato, K., Yano, K., Kato, M., Kozawa, K., Furuta, N., 2008. Emission factor for antimony in brake abrasion dusts as one of the major atmospheric antimony sources. Environmental Science and Technology 42, 2937-2942.
- IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics, 2012. The global Use of Medicines: Outlook through 2016. apps.who.int/medicinedocs/documents/s20306en/ s20306en.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Ince, B.K., Cetecioglu, Z., Ince, O., 2011. Pollution prevention in the pulp and paper industries. In: Broniewicz, E. (Ed.). Environmental Management in Practice. InTech, ISBN 978-953-307-358-3. pp. 223-246.
- Ingle, K.N., Harada, K., Wei, C.N., Minamoto, K., Ueda, A., 2011. Policy framework for formulating environmental management strategy for sustainable development of tanneries in India. Environmental Health and Preventive Medicine 16, 123-128.
- Inoue, K., Okada, F., Ito, R., Kato, S., Sasaki, S., Nakajima, S., Uno, A., Saijo, Y., Sata, F., Yoshimura, Y., Kishi, R., Nakazawa, H., 2004. Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and related perfluorinated compounds in human maternal and cord blood samples: assessment of PFOS exposure in a susceptible population during pregnancy. Environmental Health Perspectives 112, 1204-1207.
- Institut für Arbeitsschutz der Deutschen Gesetzlichen Unfallversicherung, 2013. GESTIS-Stoffdatenbank. www.dguv.de/ifa/stoffdatenbank (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Institut National de l'Environnement Industriel et des Risques INERIS, 2008a. Portail Substances Chimiques: Carbofuran.
- www.ineris.fr/substances/fr/substance/pdf/605 (last accessed 11.01.16). Institut National de l'Environnement Industriel et des Risques - INERIS, 2008b. Portail Substances Chimiques : Clomazone
- www.ineris.fr/substances/fr/substance/pdf/614 (last accessed 11.01.16). Institut sénégalais de Normalisation (ISN), 2001. Norme Sénégalaise - Eaux usées: Normes de Rejet. NS 05-061, Dakar, Senegal.
- Institute for Health and Consumer Protection European Chemicals Bureau, 2006. 2,2',6,6'-Tetrabromo-4,4'-isopropylidene Diphenol (Tetrabromobisphenol-A or TBBP-A) Part II – Human Health. Summary Risk Assessment Report. European Communities. www.bsef.com/uploads/library/tbbpahhsum402.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- International Agency for Research on Cancer, 1993. Beryllium, Cadmium, Mercury, and Exposures in the Glass Manufacturing Industry. IARC Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans, Vol. 58. ISBN 92-832-1258-4. monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Monographs/vol58/mono58.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2006a. Indium phosphide. In: Cobalt in Hard Metals and Cobalt Sulfate, Gallium Arsenide, Indium Phosphide and Vanadium Pentoxide. IARC Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans, Vol. 86, pp. 197-224. monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Monographs/vol86/ mono86-9.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2006b. Inorganic and Organic Lead Compounds. IARC Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans, Vol. 87. ISBN 92-832-1287-8. monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Monographs/vol87/ mono87.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).

- International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012a. 2,3,7,8-TCDD, 2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF, and PCB 126. In: Chemical Agents and Related Occupations. IARC Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans, Vol. 100 F, pp. 339-378. monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Monographs/vol100F/mono100F-27.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012b. Arsenic and arsenic compounds. In: Arsenic, Metals, Fibres, and Dusts. IARC Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans, Vol. 100C, pp. 41 - 93. monographs.iarc. fr/ENG/Monographs/vol100C/mono100C-6.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012c. Asbestos (Chrysotile, Amosite, Crocidolite, Tremolite, Actinolite and Anthophyllite). IARC Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans, Vol. 100C, pp. 219-309. monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Monographs/vol100C/mono100C-11.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2012d. Chromium (VI) Compounds. In: Arsenic, Metals, Fibres, and Dusts. IARC Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans, Vol. 100C, pp. 147-167. monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/ Monographs/vol100C/mono100C-9.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2015. List of Classifications, Volumes 1-114. monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Classification/latest_classif.php (last accessed 11.01.16).
- International Ban Asbestos Secretariat, 2015. Current Asbestos Bans and Restrictions. ibasecretariat.org/alpha_ban_list.php (last accessed 11.01.16).
- International Council on Mining & Metals, 2012. Water management in mining: a selection of case studies. www.icmm.com/document/3660 (last accessed 11.01.16).
- International Finance Corporation, World Bank Group, 2007. Environmental, Health, and Safety Guidelines for Textile Manufacturing. www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connec t/2a66470048865981b96efb6a6515bb18/Final%2B-%2BTextiles%2BManufacturing.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&id=1323162617789 (last accessed 11.01.16).
- International Institute for Environment and Development, 2002. Mining, Minerals and Sustainable Development (MMSD): background and publications. www.iied.org/mining-minerals-sustainable-development-mmsd-backgroundpublications (last accessed 11.01.16).
- International Labour Organization, 2012. The global impact of e-waste Addressing the challenge. www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--ed_dialogue/--sector/documents/publication/wcms_196105.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- International Manganese Institute, 2014. Production.
- www.manganese.org/about_mn/production/ (last accessed 11.01.16). International Programme on Chemical Safety, 1985. Asbestos and other natural mineral fibres. Environmental Health Criteria Vol. 53. World Health Organization, Geneva. www.inchem.org/documents/ehc/ehc/ehc53.htm (last accessed 11.01.16).
- International Programme on Chemical Safety, 1996. Thallium. Environmental Health Criteria Vol. 182. World Health Organization, Geneva. www.inchem.org/documents/ehc/ehc/ehc182.htm (last accessed 11.01.16)
- International Rubber Study Group, 2014. Rubber Statistical Bulletin. www.rubberstudy.com/pub-stats-bulletin.aspx (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Irmer, U., 1985. Die Wirkung von Blei auf die grüne Alge Chlamydomonas reinhardtii Dang. in axenischer Kultur. MSc Thesis. University of Hamburg, Germany.
- Ishikawa, Y., Noma, Y., Yamamoto, T., Mori, Y., Sakai, S.-i., 2007. PCB decomposition and formation in thermal treatment plant equipment. Chemosphere 67, 1383-1393.
- Ismail, B.S., Haron, S.H., Talib Latif, M., 2012. Pesticide Residue Levels in The Surface Water of The Irrigation Canals in The Muda Irrigation Scheme Kedah, Malaysia. International Journal of Basic & Applied Sciences 12, 85-90.
- Jain, C.K., 2004. Metal fractionation study on bed sediments of River Yamuna, India. Water Research 38, 569-578.
- Jain, A., 2008. Global e-waste growth. In: Johri, R. (Ed.). E-waste: Implications, regulations, and management in India and current global best practices. TERI Press, New Delhi, ISBN 978-81-7993-153-0. pp. 3-22.
- Jain, A., 2009. Developments and evaluation of existing policies and regulations for E-waste in India. Proceedings of the IEEE International Symposium on Sustainable Systems and Technology (ISSST), Tempe, Arizona, May 2009.
- Jensen, A., Bro-Rasmussen, F., 1992. Environmental Cadmium in Europe. In: Ware, G. (Ed.). Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, Vol. 125. Springer New York, ISBN 978-1-4612-7710-1, pp. 101-181.
- Jeyaratnam, J., 1990. Acute pesticide poisoning: a major global health problem. World Health Statistics Quarterly 43, 139-144.
- Jeyaratnam, J., Chia, K. (Eds.), 1994. Occupational health in national development. World Scientific Publishing, ISBN 981-02-1464-2.
- Jha, A.N., Noditi, M., Nilsson, R., Natarajan, A.T., 1992. Genotoxic effects of sodium arsenite on human cells. Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis 284, 215-221.
- Jiang, S., Xing, H., Si, X., Wang, Y., Shao, Y., 2006. Polymorphism of the protease and reverse transcriptase and drug resistance mutation patterns of HIV-1 subtype B prevailing in China. JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes 42, 512-514.

- Jiménez, B., Chávez, A., Gibson, R., Maya, C., 2012. Unplanned aquifer recharge in El Mezquital/Tula Valley, Mexico. In: Kazner, C., Wintgens, T., Dillon, P. (Eds.). Water Reclamation Technologies for Safe Managed Aquifer Recharge, IWA Publishing, UK, ISBN 9781843393443. pp. 141-158.
- Jobling, S., Casey, D., Rodgers-Gray, T., Oehlmann, J., Schulte-Oehlmann, U., Pawlowski, S., Baunbeck, T., Turner, A.P., Tyler, C.R., 2003. Comparative responses of molluscs and fish to environmental estrogens and an estrogenic effluent. Aquatic Toxicology 65, 205-220.
- Johnson, D.B., Hallberg, K.B., 2003. The microbiology of acidic mine waters. Research in Microbiology 154, 466-473.
- Johnson, D.B., Hallberg, K.B., 2005. Acid mine drainage remediation options: a review. Science of the Total Environment 338, 3-14.
- Johnson, J., Schewel, L., Graedel, T.E., 2006. The contemporary anthropogenic chromium cycle. Environmental Science and Technology 40, 7060-7069.
- Jones, J.B., 1991. Plant tissue analysis for micronutrients. In: Mortvedt, J.J., Cox, F.R., Shuman, L.M., Welch, R.M. (Eds.). Micronutrients in agriculture, 2nd edn. Soil Science Society of America Book Series, ISBN 0-89118-797-9. pp. 477-522.
- Jones, C.A., Langner, H.W., Anderson, K., McDermott, T.R., Inskeep, W.P., 2000. Rates of microbially mediated arsenate reduction and solubilization. Soil Science Society of America Journal 64, 600-608.
- Jones, O.A., Lester, J.N., Voulvoulis, N., 2005. Pharmaceuticals: a threat to drinking water? Trends in Biotechnology 23, 163-167.
- Jones, F.T., 2007. A broad view of arsenic. Poultry Science 86, 2-14.
- Joshi, T.K., Gupta, R.K., 2003. Asbestos-related morbidity in India. International Journal of Occupational and Environmental Health 9, 249-253.
- Joshi, T.K., Gupta, R.K., 2004. Asbestos in developing countries: magnitude of risk and its practical implications. International Journal of Occupational Medicine and Environmental Health 17, 179-185.
- Ju, Y., Xu, G., Chen, L., Shi, J., 2008. Effects of the electronic waste pollution on the levels of thyroid hormone and its receptor expression in the parturient woman and the newborn. Wei sheng yan jiu = Journal of Hygiene Research 37, 536-539.
- Kabata-Pendias, A., Pendias, H., 2001. Trace elements in soils and plants, 3rd edn. CRC Press LLC, Boca Raton, Florida, ISBN 0-8493-1575-6.
- Kabata-Pendias, A., 2010. Trace Elements in Soils and Plants, Fourth Edition. CRC Press, Boca Raton, ISBN 978-1-4200-9368-1.
- Kalin, M., Fyson, A., Wheeler, W.N., 2006. The chemistry of conventional and alternative treatment systems for the neutralization of acid mine drainage. Science of the Total Environment 366, 395-408.
- Kapur, A., Graedel, T.E., 2006. Copper mines above and below the ground. Environmental Science and Technology 40, 3135-3141.
- Karlsson, H., Muir, D.C.G., Teixiera, C.F., Burniston, D.A., Strachan, W.M.J., Hecky, R.E., Mwita, J., Bootsma, H.A., Grift, N.P., Kidd, K.A., Rosenberg, B., 2000. Persistent Chlorinated Pesticides in Air, Water, and Precipitation from the Lake Malawi Area, Southern Africa. Environmental Science and Technology 34, 4490-4495.
- Karstensen, K.H., 2006. Formation and release of POPs in the cement industry, 2nd edn. World Business Council for Sustainable Development / SINTEF. www.wbcsdcement.org/pdf/formation_release_pops_second_edition.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Kassu, A., Fujino, M., Matsuda, M., Nishizawa, M., Ota, F., Sugiura, W., 2007. Molecular epidemiology of HIV type 1 in treatment-naive patients in north Ethiopia. AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses 23, 564-568.
- Kauppinen, T., Toikkanen, J., Pedersen, D., Young, R., Ahrens, W., Boffetta, P., Hansen, J., Kromhout, H., Maqueda Blasco, J., Mirabelli, D., de la Orden-Rivera, V., Pannett, B., Plato, N., Savela, A., Vincent, R., Kogevinas, M., 2000. Occupational exposure to carcinogens in the European Union. Occupational and Environmental Medicine 57, 10-18.
- Kazantzis, G., 2000. Thallium in the environment and health effects. Environmental Geochemistry and Health 22, 275-280.
- Keating, M.H., Mahaffey, K.R., Schoeny, R., Rice, G.E., Bullock, O.R., Ambrose, R.B., Swartout, J., Nichols, J.W., 1997. Mercury Study Report to Congress -Volume I: Executive Summary. United States Environmental Protection Agency, EPA-452/R-97-003. www3.epa.gov/ttn/oarpg/t3/reports/volume1.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Keen, C.L., Ensunsa, J.L., Clegg, M.S., 2000. Manganese metabolism in animals and humans including the toxicity of manganese. Metal lons in Biological Systems 37, 89-121.
- Kemper, N., 2008. Veterinary antibiotics in the aquatic and terrestrial environment. Ecological Indicators 8, 1-13.
- Kesavachandran, C.N., Fareed, M., Pathak, M.K., Bihari, V., Mathur, N., Srivastava, A.K., 2009. Adverse Health Effects of Pesticides in Agrarian Populations of Developing Countries. In: Whitacre, D.M. (Ed.). Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, Vol. 200. Springer US, pp. 33-52.
- Kingsley, R.A., Msefula, C.L., Thomson, N.R., Kariuki, S., Holt, K.E., Gordon, M.A., Harris, D., Clarke, L., Whitehead, S., Sangal, V., Marsh, K., Achtman, M., Molyneux, M.E., Cormican, M., Parkhill, J., MacLennan, C.A., Heyderman, R.S., Dougan, G., 2009. Epidemic multiple drug resistant *Salmonella Typhimurium* causing invasive disease in sub-Saharan Africa have a distinct genotype. Genome Research 19, 2279-2287.

- Kippenberg, J., 2011. A Poisonous Mix: Child Labor, Mercury, and Artisanal Gold Mining in Mali. Human Rights Watch. www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/ mali1211_forinsertWebUpload_0.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Kirrolia, A., Nehra, V., 2012. Various Pharmaceuticals including Drugs and Industrial Chemicals as Environmental Health Hazards. International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences & Research 3, 4096-4109.
- Kitchin, K.T., Ahmad, S., 2003. Oxidative stress as a possible mode of action for arsenic carcinogenesis. Toxicology Letters 137, 3-13.
- Klaassen, C.D. (Ed.), 2013. Casarett & Doull's Toxicology: The basic science of poisons. 8th edn, McGraw-Hill, ISBN 978-0071769235.
- Klavarioti, M., Mantzavinos, D., Kassinos, D., 2009. Removal of residual pharmaceuticals from aqueous systems by advanced oxidation processes. Environment International 35, 402-417.
- Knobeloch, L., Ziarnik, M., Howard, J., Theis, B., Farmer, D., Anderson, H., Proctor, M., 1994. Gastrointestinal upsets associated with ingestion of copper-contaminated water. Environmental Health Perspectives 102, 958-961.
- Kobayashi, H., Rittmann, B.E., 1982. Microbial removal of hazardous organic compounds. Environmental Science and Technology 16, 170A-183A.
- Kochian, L.V., 2000. Molecular physiology of mineral nutrient acquisition, transport, and utilization. In: Buchanan, B.B., Gruissem, W., Jones, R.L. (Eds.) Biochemistry and Molecular Biology of Plants. John Wiley & Sons, Inc, ISBN 0-943088-37-2. pp. 1204-1249.
- Köck-Schulmeyer, M., Villagrasa, M., López de Alda, M., Céspedes-Sánchez, R., Ventura, F., Barceló, D., 2013. Occurrence and behavior of pesticides in wastewater treatment plants and their environmental impact. Science of the Total Environment 458-460, 466-476.
- Kofman, O., Berger, A., Massarwa, A., Friedman, A., Jaffar, A.A., 2006. Motor inhibition and learning impairments in school-aged children following exposure to organophosphate pesticides in infancy. Pediatric Research 60, 88-92.
- Kogevinas, M., 2001. Human health effects of dioxins: cancer, reproductive and endocrine system effects. Human Reproduction Update 7, 331-339.
- Koistinen, J., 2000. Polychlorinated Diphenyl Ethers (PCDE). In: Hutzinger, O., Paasivirta, J. (Eds.). The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, Vol. 3 Anthropogenic Compounds, Part K. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, ISBN 978-3-540-65838-2. pp. 157-201.
- Kojima, H., Katsura, E., Takeuchi, S., Niiyama, K., Kobayashi, K., 2004. Screening for estrogen and androgen receptor activities in 200 pesticides by in vitro reporter gene assays using Chinese hamster ovary cells. Environmental Health Perspectives 112, 524-531.
- Kolpin, D.W., Furlong, E.T., Meyer, M.T., Thurman, E.M., Zaugg, S.D., Barber, L.B., Buxton, H.T., 2002. Pharmaceuticals, hormones, and other organic wastewater contaminants in US streams, 1999-2000: A national reconnaissance. Environmental Science and Technology 36, 1202-1211.
- Kotaś, J., Stasicka, Z., 2000. Chromium occurrence in the environment and methods of its speciation. Environmental Pollution 107, 263-283.
- Krachler, M., Shotyk, W., Emons, H., 2001. Digestion procedures for the determination of antimony and arsenic in small amounts of peat samples by hydride generation–atomic absorption spectrometry. Analytica Chimica Acta 432, 303-310.
- Kruesi, P.R., Frahm Jr., V.H., 1982. Process for the recovery of copper from its ores. US Patent 4324582 A. Google Patents. www.google.com/patents/US4324582 (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Kumari, B., Madan, V.K., Kathpal, T.S., 2008. Status of insecticide contamination of soil and water in Haryana, India. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 136, 239-244.
- Kümmerer, K. (Ed.), 2008. Pharmaceuticals in the Environment. Sources, Fate, Effects and Risks. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, ISBN 978-3-540-74663-8.
- Kümmerer, K., 2009a. Antibiotics in the aquatic environment A review Part I. Chemosphere 75, 417-434.
- Kümmerer, K., 2009b. The presence of pharmaceuticals in the environment due to human use – present knowledge and future challenges. Journal of Environmental Management 90, 2354-2366.
- Kuo, S., Baker, A.S., 1980. Sorption of copper, zinc, and cadmium by some acid soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 44, 969-974.
- Küster, A., Lehmann, S., Hein, A., Schönfeld, J., 2013. Antibiotics in the environment - effects and side-effects. UMID: Umwelt und Mensch – Informationsdienst 1, 18-28. www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/419/ publikationen/antibiotika_in_der_umwelt.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16).
- Kwon, Y.-K., Wee, S.-H., Kim, J.-H., 2004. Pesticide poisoning events in wild birds in Korea from 1998 to 2002. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 40, 737-740.
 LabChem, 2009. Material Safety Data Sheet Cobalt AA Standard, 1000 ppm.
- www.labchem.com/tools/msds/msds/75393.pdf (last accessed 11.01.16). LaDou, J., Castleman, B., Frank, A., Gochfeld, M., Greenberg, M., Huff, J., Joshi,
- T.K., Landrigan, P.J., Lemen, R., Myers, J., Soffritti, M., Soskolne, C.L., Takahashi, K., Teitelbaum, D., Terracini, B., Watterson, A., 2010. The case for a global ban on asbestos. Environmental Health Perspectives 118, 897-901.
- Lai, K.M., Johnson, K.L., Scrimshaw, M.D., Lester, J.N., 2000. Binding of Waterborne Steroid Estrogens to Solid Phases in River and Estuarine Systems. Environmental Science and Technology 34, 3890-3894.
- Landrigan, P.J., Nicholson, W.J., Suzuki, Y., Ladou, J., 1999. The hazards of chrysotile asbestos: a critical review. Industrial Health 37, 271-280.

- Lanteigne, D., 2010a. Colours of Water in Pictures. United Nations University. ourworld.unu.edu/en/colours-of-water-in-pictures Licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 3.0 Unported License. (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Lanteigne, D., 2010b. Colours of Water: Bangladesh's Leather Tanneries. United Nations University. ourworld.unu.edu/en/colours-of-water-bangladeshs-leathertanneries Licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 Unported License. (last accessed 12.01.16).
- LAR Process Analysers AG, 2016. COD Chemical Oxygen Demand. © 2006-2016. www.lar.com/products/cod-analysis/cod-chemical-oxygen-demand.html (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Larsson, D.G.J., de Pedro, C., Paxeus, N., 2007. Effluent from drug manufactures contains extremely high levels of pharmaceuticals. Journal of Hazardous Materials 148, 751-755.
- Larsson, D.G.J., Fick, J., 2009. Transparency throughout the production chain a way to reduce pollution from the manufacturing of pharmaceuticals? Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 53, 161-163.
- Larsson, D.G.J., 2010. Release of active pharmaceutical ingredients from manufacturing sites-need for new management strategies. Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management 6, 184-186.
- Laufs, U., Liao, J.K., 1998. Post-transcriptional regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase mRNA stability by Rho GTPase. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 273, 24266-24271.
- Le Marechal, A.M., Križanec, B., Vajnhandl, S., Volmajer Valh, J., 2012. Textile finishing industry as an important source of organic pollutants. In: Puzyn, T., Mostrag-Szlichtyng, A. (Eds.), Organic Pollutants Ten Years After the Stockholm Convention - Environmental and Analytical Update. InTech, ISBN 978-953-307-917-2.
- Leckie, J.O., Davis, J.A., 1979. Aqueous environmental chemistry of copper. In: Nriagu, J.O. (Ed.). Copper in the Environment – Part 1: Ecological cycling, ISBN 0-471-04778-3 pp. 89-121.
- Lee, K.P., Ulrich, C., Geil, R.G., Trochimowicz, H.J., 1989. Inhalation toxicity of chromium dioxide dust to rats after two years exposure. Science of the Total Environment 86, 83-108.
- Lehotay, S.J., de Kok, A., Hiemstra, M., van Bodegraven, P., 2005. Validation of a fast and easy method for the determination of residues from 229 pesticides in fruits and vegetables using gas and liquid chromatography and mass spectrometric detection. Journal of AOAC International 88, 595-614.
- Lehtola, M.J., Miettinen, I.T., Keinänen, M.M., Kekki, T.K., Laine, O., Hirvonen, A., Vartiainen, T., Martikainen, P.J., 2004. Microbiology, chemistry and biofilm development in a pilot drinking water distribution system with copper and plastic pipes. Water Research 38, 3769-3779.
- Lei, Y., Zhang, Q., Nielsen, C., He, K., 2011. An inventory of primary air pollutants and CO₂ emissions from cement production in China, 1990–2020. Atmospheric Environment 45, 147-154.
- Lemaire, G., Terouanne, B., Mauvais, P., Michel, S., Rahmani, R., 2004. Effect of organochlorine pesticides on human androgen receptor activation in vitro. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 196, 235-246.
- Léonard, A., Gerber, G.B., 1997. Mutagenicity, carcinogenicity and teratogenicity of thallium compounds. Mutation Research/Reviews in Mutation Research 387, 47-53.
- Leonard, T.L., Taylor, G.E., Gustin, M.S., Fernandez, G.C., 1998. Mercury and plants in contaminated soils: 1. Uptake, partitioning, and emission to the atmosphere. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 17, 2063-2071.
- Lerda, D., 1994. Sister-chromatid exchange (SCE) among individuals chronically exposed to arsenic in drinking water. Mutation Research/Environmental Mutagenesis and Related Subjects 312, 111-120.
- Leung, A., Cai, Z.W., Wong, M.H., 2006. Environmental contamination from electronic waste recycling at Guiyu, southeast China. Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management 8, 21-33.
- Leung, A.O., Luksemburg, W.J., Wong, A.S., Wong, M.H., 2007. Spatial distribution of polybrominated diphenyl ethers and polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans in soil and combusted residue at Guiyu, an electronic waste recycling site in southeast China. Environmental Science and Technology 41, 2730-2737.
- Leung, A.O.W., Duzgoren-Aydin, N.S., Cheung, K.C., Wong, M.H., 2008. Heavy Metals Concentrations of Surface Dust from e-Waste Recycling and Its Human Health Implications in Southeast China. Environmental Science and Technology 42, 2674-2680.
- Leung, A.O., Chan, J.K., Xing, G.H., Xu, Y., Wu, S.C., Wong, C.K., Leung, C.K., Wong, M.H., 2010. Body burdens of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in childbearing-aged women at an intensive electronic-waste recycling site in China. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 17, 1300-1313.
- Lewis, A., 2010. Europe breaking electronic waste export ban. BBC News, Rotterdam. 04.08.2010. www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-europe-10846395 (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Lewis, M., 2011. Do you know where your e-waste is going? Environmental a world for all, 07.10.2011. environmentalaworldforall.wordpress.com/2011/10/07/do-you-know-where-your-e-waste-is-going/ (last accessed 12.01.16).

- Lewis, K.A., Green, A., Tzilivakis, J. and Warner, D. 2015. The Pesticide Properties DataBase (PPDB) developed by the Agriculture & Environment Research Unit (AERU), University of Hertfordshire, 2006-2015. sitem.herts.ac.uk/aeru/ppdb/ en/atoz.htm (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Li, M.S., Luo, Y.P., Su, Z.Y., 2007. Heavy metal concentrations in soils and plant accumulation in a restored manganese mineland in Guangxi, South China. Environmental Pollution 147, 168-175.
- Li, D., Yang, M., Hu, J., Ren, L., Zhang, Y., Li, K., 2008a. Determination and fate of oxytetracycline and related compounds in oxytetracycline production wastewater and the receiving river. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 27, 80-86.
- Li, J., Leisner, S.M., Frantz, J., 2008b. Alleviation of copper toxicity in Arabidopsis thaliana by silicon addition to hydroponic solutions. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 133, 670-677.
- Li, Y., Xu, X., Liu, J., Wu, K., Gu, C., Shao, G., Chen, S., Chen, G., Huo, X., 2008c. The hazard of chromium exposure to neonates in Guiyu of China. Science of the Total Environment 403, 99-104.
- Li, Y., Xu, X., Wu, K., Chen, G., Liu, J., Chen, S., Gu, C., Zhang, B., Zheng, L., Zheng, M., Huo, X., 2008d. Monitoring of lead load and its effect on neonatal behavioral neurological assessment scores in Guiyu, an electronic waste recycling town in China. Journal of Environmental Monitoring 10, 1233-1238.
- Li, S.M., Zhu, Q., Liu, P., Shang, Y., Tian, Y.J., Yao, W., Zhu, W.Y., 2009. Formation mechanism of by-product PCBs in the p-DCB production. Huan Jing Ke Xue 30, 2093-2098.
- Limbong, D., Kumampung, J., Rimper, J., Arai, T., Miyazaki, N., 2003. Emissions and environmental implications of mercury from artisanal gold mining in north Sulawesi, Indonesia. Science of the Total Environment 302, 227-236.
- Lin, C., Wu, Y., Lu, W., Chen, A., Liu, Y., 2007. Water chemistry and ecotoxicity of an acid mine drainage-affected stream in subtropical China during a major flood event. Journal of Hazardous Materials 142, 199-207.
- Lin, T.-S., Nriagu, J., 1999. Thallium speciation in the Great Lakes. Environmental Science and Technology 33, 3394-3397.
- Lin, T.-S., Nriagu, J., Wang, X.-Q., 2001. Thallium concentration in lake trout from Lake Michigan. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 67, 921-925.
- Lind, Y., Darnerud, P.O., Atuma, S., Aune, M., Becker, W., Bjerselius, R., Cnattingius, S., Glynn, A., 2003. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers in breast milk from Uppsala County, Sweden. Environmental Research 93, 186-194.
- Lis, J., Pasieczna, A., Karbowska, B., Zembrzuski, W., Lukaszewski, Z., 2003. Thallium in soils and stream sediments of a Zn-Pb mining and smelting area. Environmental Science and Technology 37, 4569-4572.
- Liu, H., Probst, A., Liao, B., 2005. Metal contamination of soils and crops affected by the Chenzhou lead/zinc mine spill (Hunan, China). Science of the Total Environment 339, 153-166.
- Liu, H., Zhou, Q., Wang, Y., Zhang, Q., Cai, Z., Jiang, G., 2008. E-waste recycling induced polybrominated diphenyl ethers, polychlorinated biphenyls, polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzo-furans pollution in the ambient environment. Environment International 34, 67-72.
- Liu, Q., Cao, J., Li, K.Q., Miao, X.H., Li, G., Fan, F.Y., Zhao, Y.C., 2009. Chromosomal aberrations and DNA damage in human populations exposed to the processing of electronics waste. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 16, 329-338.
- Liu, J., Xu, X., Wu, K., Piao, Z., Huang, J., Guo, Y., Li, W., Zhang, Y., Chen, A., Huo, X., 2011. Association between lead exposure from electronic waste recycling and child temperament alterations. NeuroToxicology 32, 458-464.
- Lockwood, A.P.M. (Ed.), 1976. Effects of pollutants on aquatic organisms. Society for Experimental Biology Seminar Series 2. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, ISBN 0-521-29044-9.
- Loganathan, B.G., Kannan, K., 1994. Global organochlorine contamination trends: an overview. Ambio 23, 187-191.
- Lohmann, R., Jones, K.C., 1998. Dioxins and furans in air and deposition: a review of levels, behaviour and processes. Science of the Total Environment 219, 53-81.
- Lohmann, R., Green, N.J.L., Jones, K.C., 1999. Atmospheric Transport of Polychlorinated Dibenzo-p-dioxins and Dibenzofurans (PCDD/Fs) in Air Masses Across the United Kingdom and Ireland: Evidence of Emissions and Depletion. Environmental Science and Technology 33, 2872-2878.
- López Alonso, M., Benedito, J.L., Miranda, M., Castillo, C., Hernández, J., Shore, R.F., 2000. The Effect of Pig Farming on Copper and Zinc Accumulation in Cattle in Galicia (North-Western Spain). The Veterinary Journal 160, 259-266.
- López, O., Hernández, A.F., Rodrigo, L., Gil, F., Pena, G., Serrano, J.L., Parrón, T., Villanueva, E., Pla, A., 2007. Changes in antioxidant enzymes in humans with long-term exposure to pesticides. Toxicology Letters 171. 146-153.
- Low, P., 2012. Artisanal and Small-Scale Gold Mining in Peru: A Blessing or a Curse? Peru Support Group, Update Extra. www.perusupportgroup.org.uk/files/ fckUserFiles/file/Artisanal%20and%20Small-scale%20Gold%20Mining%20 in%20Peru.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Loyaux-Lawniczak, S., Lecomte, P., Ehrhardt, J.-J., 2001. Behavior of hexavalent chromium in a polluted groundwater: redox processes and immobilization in soils. Environmental Science and Technology 35, 1350-1357.

- Lu, C., Zhang, L., Zhong, Y., Ren, W., Tobias, M., Mu, Z., Ma, Z., Geng, Y., Xue, B., 2015. An overview of e-waste management in China. Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management, 1-12.
- Luber, P., Wagner, J., Hahn, H., Bartelt, E., 2003. Antimicrobial resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* strains isolated in 1991 and 2001-2002 from poultry and humans in Berlin, Germany. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 47, 3825-3830.
- Luebker, D.J., Hansen, K.J., Bass, N.M., Butenhoff, J.L., Seacat, A.M., 2002. Interactions of flurochemicals with rat liver fatty acid-binding protein. Toxicology 176, 175-185.
- Luksemburg, W.J., Mitzel, R.S., Peterson, R.G., Maier, M.M., Schuld, M., Hedin, J.M., Zhou, H.D., Wong, A.S., 2002. Polychlorinated Dibenzodioxins and Dibenzofurans (PCDD/PCDF) and Polybrominated Diphenylether (PBDE) Levels in Environmental and Human Hair Samples Around an Electronic Waste Processing Site in Guiyu, Guangdong Province, China. Poster. www.vista-analytical. com/documents/Dioxin2002Poster_1s.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Lundholm, C.E., 1997. DDE-induced eggshell thinning in birds: Effects of p,p'-DDE on the calcium and prostaglandin metabolism of the eggshell gland. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Pharmacology, Toxicology and Endocrinology 118, 113-128.
- Luo, C., Liu, C., Wang, Y., Liu, X., Li, F., Zhang, G., Li, X., 2011. Heavy metal contamination in soils and vegetables near an e-waste processing site, south China. Journal of Hazardous Materials 186, 481-490.
- Luo, Y., Zhang, M., 2011. Environmental Modeling and Exposure Assessment of Sediment-Associated Pyrethroids in an Agricultural Watershed. Plos One 6, e15794.
- Luoma, S.N., Rainbow, P.S., 2008. Metal contamination in aquatic environments: science and lateral management. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, ISBN 978-0-521-86057-4.
- Ma, J., Kannan, K., Cheng, J., Horii, Y., Wu, Q., Wang, W., 2008. Concentrations, profiles, and estimated human exposures for polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans from electronic waste recycling facilities and a chemical industrial complex in Eastern China. Environmental Science and Technology 42, 8252-8259.
- Mabaso, M.L.H., Sharp, B., Lengeler, C., 2004. Historical review of malarial control in southern African with emphasis on the use of indoor residual housespraying. Tropical Medicine and International Health 9, 846-856.
- Madoni, P, Esteban, G., Gorbi, G., 1992. Acute toxicity of cadmium, copper, mercury, and zinc to ciliates from activated sludge plants. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 49, 900-905.
- Maeda, S., 1994. Safety and environmental effects. In: Patai, S. (Ed.). The Chemistry of Organic Arsenic, Antimony and Bismuth Compounds. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., Chichester, UK. pp. 725-759.
- Mäki-Paakkanen, J., Sorsa, M., Vainio, H., 1981. Chromosome aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in lead-exposed workers. Hereditas 94, 269-275.
- Malarvizhi, A., Kavitha, C., Saravanan, M., Ramesh, M., 2012. Carbamazepine (CBZ) induced enzymatic stress in gill, liver and muscle of a common carp, *Cyprinus carpio*. Journal of King Saud University - Science 24, 179-186.
- Malm, O., 1998. Gold mining as a source of mercury exposure in the Brazilian Amazon. Environmental Research 77, 73-78.
- Manickum, T., John, W., 2014. Occurrence, fate and environmental risk assessment of endocrine disrupting compounds at the wastewater treatment works in Pietermaritzburg (South Africa). Science of the Total Environment 468–469, 584-597.
- Mapanda, F., Mangwayana, E.N., Nyamangara, J., Giller, K.E., 2005. The effect of long-term irrigation using wastewater on heavy metal contents of soils under vegetables in Harare, Zimbabwe. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 107, 151-165.
- Marrugo-Negrete, J., Olivero Verbel, J., Lans Ceballos, E., Benitez, L.N., 2008. Total mercury and methylmercury concentrations in fish from the Mojana region of Colombia. Environmental Geochemistry and Health 30, 21-30.
- Marshall, I.E., 2001. A survey of corruption issues in the mining and mineral sector. International Institute for Environment and Development, World Business Council for Sustainable Development. MMSD Working Paper No. 15. pubs.iied.org/pdfs/G00949.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Martinez, J.L., Baquero, F., 2000. Mutation frequencies and antibiotic resistance. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 44, 1771-1777.
- Masscheleyn, P.H., Delaune, R.D., Patrick Jr, W.H., 1991. Effect of redox potential and pH on arsenic speciation and solubility in a contaminated soil. Environmental Science and Technology 25, 1414-1419.
- Matos, G.R., 2012. Use of Raw Materials in the United States From 1900 Through 2010. U.S. Geological Survey, Fact Sheet 2012-3140. pubs.usgs.gov/ fs/2012/3140/pdf/fs2012-3140.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Matthies, M. (Ed.), 2008. Neue Umweltproblemstroffe (Emerging Pollutants). Beiträge des Instituts für Umweltsystemforschung der Universität Osnabrück, Beitrag Nr. 49. www.usf.uni-osnabrueck.de/fileadmin/DE/Institut/Publikationen/ Schriftenreihe/049-hauptseminar08.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Matton, P., LaHam, O.N., 1969. Effect of the Organophosphate Dylox on Rainbow Trout Larvae. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 26, 2193-2200.

- Maxson, P.A., 2005. Global Mercury Production, Use and Trade. In: Pirrone, N., Mahaffey, K.R. (Eds.). Dynamics of Mercury Pollution on Regional and Global Scales. Springer Science+Business Media, Inc., US, ISBN 0-387-24493-X. pp. 25-50.
- Maycock, D., Crane, M., Atkinson, C., Johnson, I., 2012a. Proposed EQS for Water Framework Directive Annex VIII substances: chlorothalonil. SNIFFER/Environment Agency. www.wfduk.org/sites/default/files/Media/Chlorothalonil%20 -%20UKTAG.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Maycock, D., Crane, M., Atkinson, C., Johnson, I., 2012b. Proposed EQS for Water Framework Directive Annex VIII substances: glyphosate. SNIFFER/Environment Agency. www.wfduk.org/sites/default/files/Media/Environmental standards/ Glyphosate - UKTAG.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Mazumder, D.N.G., 2000. Diagnosis and treatment of chronic arsenic poisoning. Chapter 4 - Revised Draft. In: United Nations Synthesis Report on Arsenic in Drinking Water. www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/dwq/en/arsenicun4.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- McBrien, D.C.H., Hassall, K.A., 1967. The effect of toxic doses of copper upon respiration, photosynthesis and growth of *Chlorella vulgaris*. Physiologia Plantarum 20, 113-117.
- McDonald, J.W., Ghio, A.J., Sheehan, C.E., Bernhardt, P.F., Roggli, V.L., 1995. Rare earth (cerium oxide) pneumoconiosis: analytical scanning electron microscopy and literature review. Modern Pathology 8, 859-865.
- McDowell, R.W., Taylor, M.D., Stevenson, B.A., 2013. Natural background and anthropogenic contributions of cadmium to New Zealand soils. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 165, 80-87.
- McEwen, PD., 2011. Fraud and Corruption in the Mining and Metals Industry. Continuing Legal Education Society of British Columbia. www.cle.bc.ca/PracticePoints/NAT/11-FraudandCorruption.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- McKinnon, E., 2002. The environmental effects of mining waste disposal at Lihir Gold Mine, Papua New Guinea. Journal of Rural and Remote Environmental Health 1, 40-50.
- McKnight, D.M., Chisholm, S.W., Harleman, D.R.F., 1983. CuSO₄ treatment of nuisance algal blooms in drinking water reservoirs. Environmental Management 7, 311-320.
- McKnight, R.F., Adida, M., Budge, K., Stockton, S., Goodwin, G.M., Geddes, J.R., 2012. Lithium toxicity profile: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet 379, 721-728.
- McMullin, T.S., Andersen, M.E., Nagahara, A., Lund, T.D., Pak, T., Handa, R.J., Hanneman, W.H., 2004. Evidence that atrazine and diaminochlorotriazine inhibit the estrogen/progesterone induced surge of luteinizing hormone in female Sprague-Dawley rats without changing estrogen receptor action. Toxicological Sciences 79, 278-286.
- Mead, M.N., 2005. Arsenic: in search of an antidote to a global poison. Environmental health perspectives 113, A378-A386.
- Medina, M., Andrade, S., Faugeron, S., Lagos, N., Mella, D., Correa, J.A., 2005. Biodiversity of rocky intertidal benthic communities associated with copper mine tailing discharges in northern Chile. Marine Pollution Bulletin 50, 396-409.
- Meggs, W.J., Hoffman, R.S., Shih, R.D., Weisman, R.S., Goldfrank, L.R., 1994. Thallium poisoning from maliciously contaminated food. Journal of Toxicology: Clinical Toxicology 32, 723-730.
- Mehraj, S.S., Bhat, G.A., Balkhi, H.M., Gul, T., 2013. Health risks for population living in the neighborhood of a cement factory. African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology 7, 1044-1052.
- Mensink, B.J.W.G., 2008. Environmental Risk Limits for Difenoconazole. rivm -National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, the Netherlands. Letter Report 601716005. www.rivm.nl/bibliotheek/rapporten/601716005.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Metcalfe, C.D., Miao, X.S., Koenig, B.G., Struger, J., 2003. Distribution of acidic and neutral drugs in surface waters near sewage treatment plants in the lower Great Lakes, Canada. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 22, 2881-2889.
- Miège, C., Favier, M., Brosse, C., Canler, J.-P., Coquery, M., 2006. Occurrence of betablockers in effluents of wastewater treatment plants from the Lyon area (France) and risk assessment for the downstream rivers. Talanta 70, 739-744.
- Miller, K.P., Ramos, K.S., 2001. Impact of cellular metabolism on the biological effects of benzo[a]pyrene and related hydrocarbons. Drug Metabolism Reviews 33, 1-35.
- Millette, J.R., Clark, P.J., Pansing, M.F., Twyman, J.D., 1980. Concentration and size of asbestos in water supplies. Environmental Health Perspectives 34, 13-25.
- Ministry of the Environment Japan, 2014. Indium and its compounds. Profiles of the Initial Environment Risk Assessment of Chemicals, Vol. 11. www.env.go.jp/en/chemicals/profile_erac/profile11/pf1-05.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Miranda, M., Burris, P., Bingcang, J.F., Briones, J.O., La Viña, A., Menard, S., 2003. Mining and critical ecosystems: mapping the risks. World Resources Institute, Washington, DC. www.wri.org/sites/default/files/pdf/mining_critical_ecosystems_full.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Mishra, A.K., Mohanty, B., 2008. Acute toxicity impacts of hexavalent chromium on behavior and histopathology of gill, kidney and liver of the freshwater fish, *Channa punctatus* (Bloch). Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology 26, 136-141.
- Mitema, E.S., Kikuvi, G.M., Wegener, H.C., Stohr, K., 2001. An assessment of antimicrobial consumption in food producing animals in Kenya. Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics 24, 385-390.

- Mkumbo, S., 2012. Development of a low cost remediation method for heavy metal polluted soils. Royal Institute of Technology (KTH), Sweden. TRITA LWR Licenciate thesis 2067. kth.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:572509/FULLTEXT01.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Moeschlin, S., 1980. Thallium poisoning. Clinical Toxicology 17, 133-146.
 Mohanta, M.K., Salam, M.A., Saha, A.K., Hasan, A., Roy, A.K., 2010. Effects of tannery effluents on survival and histopathological changes in different organs of *Channa punctatus*. Asian Journal of Experimental Biological Sciences 1, 294-302
- Morais, S., Dias, E., de Lourdes Pereira, M., 2012. Carbamates: Human Exposure and Health Effects. In: Jokanovic, M. (Ed.). The Impact of Pesticides, Academy-Publish, ISBN 978-0-9835850-9-1. pp. 21 – 38. www.academypublish.org/paper/ carbamates-human-exposure-and-health-effects (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Morel, F.M.M., Kraepiel, A.M.L., Amyot, M., 1998. The chemical cycle and bioaccumulation of mercury. Annual review of ecology and systematics 29, 543-566.
- Moreland, D.E., 1980. Mechanisms of action of herbicides. Annual review of plant physiology 31, 597-638.
- Moretto, A., Colosio, C., 2013. The role of pesticide exposure in the genesis of Parkinson's disease: Epidemiological studies and experimental data. Toxicology 307, 24-34.
- Mukherjee, A.B., 1998. Chromium in the environment of Finland. Science of the Total Environment 217, 9-19.
- Mukherjee, A.B., Bhattacharya, P., 2001. Arsenic in groundwater in the Bengal Delta Plain: slow poisoning in Bangladesh. Environmental Reviews 9, 189-220.
- Müller, J., Dongmann, G., 1998. Formation of aromatics during pyrolysis of PVC in the presence of metal chlorides. Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis 45, 59-74.
- Mulligan, C.N., Yong, R.N., Gibbs, B.F., 2001. Remediation technologies for metalcontaminated soils and groundwater: an evaluation. Engineering Geology 60, 193-207.
- Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency, 2004. Environmental Guidelines for Textiles Industry. www.miga.org/documents/Textiles.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Mundl, J., 2010. Giftberg und Goldmine. corporAID Magazin No. 27, 16-18. www.corporaid.at/?story=1075 (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Murray, D.L., Taylor, P.L., 2000. Claim No Easy Victories: Evaluating the Pesticide Industry's Global Safe Use Campaign. World Development 28, 1735-1749.
- Naicker, K., Cukrowska, E., McCarthy, T.S., 2003. Acid mine drainage arising from gold mining activity in Johannesburg, South Africa and environs. Environmental Pollution 122, 29-40.
- Namihira, D., Saldivar, L., Pustilnik, N., Carreón, G.J., Salinas, M.E., 1993. Lead in human blood and milk from nursing women living near a smelter in Mexico City. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health 38, 225-232.
- National Academy of Sciences, 1977. Medical and Biological Effects of Environmental Pollutants - Arsenic, ISBN 0-309-02604-0. www.nap.edu/read/9003/ chapter/1 (last accessed 12.01.16).
- National Geographic, 2006. DDT to Return as Weapon Against Malaria, Experts Say. 1 August, 2006. news.nationalgeographic.com/news/2006/08/060801-ddtmalaria.html (last accessed 12.01.16).
- National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 1978. Occupational Health Guideline for Lithium Hydride. United States Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/81-123/pdfs/0371.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 1988a. Occupational Safety and Health Guideline for Antimony and its Compounds. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service.
- www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/81-123/pdfs/0036.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16). National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 1988b. Occupational Safety and Health Guideline for Asbestos - Potential Human Carcinogen. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/81-123/pdfs/0041.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- National Institute for Public Health and the Environment RIVM, 2008. Index stoffen - Risico's van stoffen. rvs.rivm.nl/zoeksysteem/Stof/Index (last accessed 12.01.16).
- National Research Council, 2006. Asbestos: Selected Cancers. National Academies Press, Washington, DC, ISBN 0-309-10169-7.
- National Toxicology Program, 2001. Toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of indium phosphide (CAS No. 22398-90-7) in F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice (inhalation studies). National Toxicology Program Technical Report 499. ntp.niehs.nih.gov/ntp/htdocs/lt_rpts/tr499.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- National Toxicology Program, 2014a. Report on Carcinogens, 13th edn. Asbestos. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. http://des.abestos.com/en/forciles/asbestos.pdf (last accessed 12 01 16)
- National Toxicology Program, 2014b. Report on Carcinogens, 13th edn. Lead and Lead Compounds. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. ntp.niehs.nih.gov/ntp/roc/content/profiles/lead.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- National Toxicology Program, 2014c. Report on Carcinogens, 13th edn. Polybrominated Biphenyls. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. ntp.niehs.nih.gov/ntp/roc/content/profiles/polybrominatedbiphenyls.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).

- New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services, 2010. Chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs): Health Information Summary. Environmental Fact Sheet ARD-EHP-34. des.nh.gov/organization/commissioner/pip/factsheets/ard/documents/ ard-ehp-34.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Newman, P.A., Oman, L.D., Douglass, A.R., Fleming, E.L., Frith, S.M., Hurwitz, M.M., Kawa, S.R., Jackman, C.H., Krotkov, N.A., Nash, E.R., Nielsen, J.E., Pawson, S., Stolarski, R.S., Velders, G.J.M., 2009. What would have happened to the ozone layer if chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) had not been regulated? Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 9, 2113-2128.
- Newton, P.E., Bolte, H.F., Daly, I.W., Pillsbury, B.D., Terrill, J.B., Drew, R.T., Ben-Dyke, R., Sheldon, A.W., Rubin, L.F., 1994. Subchronic and chronic inhalation toxicity of antimony trioxide in the rat. Fundamental and Applied Toxicology 22, 561-576.
- Ngwuluka, N.C., Ochekpe, N.A., Odumosu, P.O., 2011. An assessment of pharmaceutical waste management in some Nigerian pharmaceutical industries. African Journal of Biotechnology 10, 11259-11268.
- Nimpuno, N., Scruggs, C., Bengtsson, M., Hayashi, S., Totoki, Y., Swart, M.U., 2011. Information on Chemicals in Electronic Products: A Study of needs, gaps, obstacles and solutions to provide and access information on chemicals in electronic products. Nordic Council of Ministers, Copenhagen. TemaNord 2011: 524, ISBN 978-92-893-2218-8.
- Niu, S., Cao, S., Shen, E., 1997. The status of arsenic poisoning in China. In: Abernathy, C.O., Calderon, R.L., Chappell, W.R. (Eds.). Arsenic – Exposure and Health Effects. Chapman & Hall, London, ISBN 0-412-73470-2. pp. 78-83.
- Norseth, T., 1981. The carcinogenicity of chromium. Environmental Health Perspectives 40, 121-130.
- Nriagu, J.O., Pacyna, J.M., 1988. Quantitative assessment of worldwide contamination of air, water and soils by trace metals. Nature 333, 134-139.
- Nriagu, J.O., 1989. A global assessment of natural sources of atmospheric trace metals. Nature 338, 47-49.
- Nriagu, J.O., 1990a. Global metal pollution: poisoning the biosphere? Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development 32, 7-33.
- Nriagu, J.O., 1990b. The rise and fall of leaded gasoline. Science of the Total Environment 92, 13-28.
- Nriagu, J.O. (Ed.), 1994. Arsenic in the Environment, Part II. Human Health and Ecosystem Effects. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, ISBN 978-0-471-30436-4.
- Nriagu, J.O.(Ed.), 1998. Thallium in the Environment. Advances in environmental science and technology, Vol. 29. Wiley, New York, ISBN 0-471-17755-5.
- Nriagu, J.O., 2003. Thallium. Chemical and Engineering News 81, 153.
 Nunes, B., Carvalho, F., Guilhermino, L., 2004. Acute and chronic effects of clofibrate and clofibric acid on the enzymes acetylcholinesterase, lactate dehydrogenase and catalase of the mosquitofish, *Gambusia holbrooki*. Chemosphere 57, 1581-1589.
- Oaks, J.L., Gilbert, M., Virani, M.Z., Watson, R.T., Meteyer, C.U., Rideout, B.A., Shivaprasad, H.L., Ahmed, S., Chaudhry, M.J.I., Arshad, M., Mahmood, S., Ali, A., Khan, A.A., 2004. Diclofenac residues as the cause of vulture population decline in Pakistan. Nature 427, 630-633.
- Ocampo, J.A., Barea, J.M., 1985. Effect of carbamate herbicides on VA mycorrhizal infection and plant growth. Plant and Soil 85, 375-383.
- Ochiai, N., Sasamoto, K., Kanda, H., Yamagami, T., David, F., Sandra, P., 2004. Multi-residue method for determination of 85 pesticides in vegetables, fruits and green tea by stir bar sorptive extraction and thermal desorption GC-MS. GERSTEL Global Analytical Solutions, AppNote 4.
- Oetken, M., Nentwig, G., Löffler, D., Ternes, T., Oehlmann, J., 2005. Effects of pharmaceuticals on aquatic invertebrates. Part I. The antiepileptic drug carbamazepine. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 49, 353-361.
- Ojesina, A.I., Sankalé, J.-L., Odaibo, G., Langevin, S., Meloni, S.T., Sarr, A.D., Olaleye, D., Kanki, P.J., 2006. Subtype-specific patterns in HIV Type 1 reverse transcriptase and protease in Oyo State, Nigeria: implications for drug resistance and host response. AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses 22, 770-779.
- Ok, Y.S., Kim, S.-C., Kim, K.-R., Lee, S.S., Moon, D.H., Lim, K.J., Sung, J.-K., Hur, S.-O., Yang, J.E., 2011. Monitoring of selected veterinary antibiotics in environmental compartments near a composting facility in Gangwon Province, Korea. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 174, 693-701.
- Okeke, I.N., Klugman, K.P., Bhutta, Z.A., Duse, A.G., Jenkins, P., O'Brien, T.F., Pablos-Mendez, A., Laxminarayan, R., 2005a. Antimicrobial resistance in developing countries. Part II: strategies for containment. The Lancet Infectious Diseases 5, 568-580.
- Okeke, I.N., Laxminarayan, R., Bhutta, Z.A., Duse, A.G., Jenkins, P., O'Brien, T.F., Pablos-Mendez, A., Klugman, K.P., 2005b. Antimicrobial resistance in developing countries. Part I: recent trends and current status. The Lancet Infectious Diseases 5, 481-493.
- Öko-Institut e.V., 2007. Ressourcenfieber Mit kühlem Kopf zu nachhaltigen Lösungen. www.oeko.de/oekodoc/600/2007-146-de.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Olivero, J., Johnson, B., Arguello, E., 2002. Human exposure to mercury in San Jorge river basin, Colombia (South America). Science of the Total Environment 289, 41-47.
- Ong, C.N., Lee, W.R., 1980. High affinity of lead for fetal haemoglobin. British Journal of Industrial Medicine 37, 292-298.

- Ong, K.L., Tan, T.H., Cheung, W.L., 1997. Potassium permanganate poisoning a rare cause of fatal self poisoning. Journal of Accident & Emergency Medicine 14, 43-45.
- Ontario Ministry of the Environment, 2001. Arsenic in the Environment. Fact Sheet, PIBS: 3792e. ia600304.us.archive.org/34/items/greenfactsarseni00ontauoft/greenfactsarseni00ontauoft.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2015. Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS) and related chemical products. www.oecd.org/env/ehs/riskmanagement/perfluorooctanesulfonatepfosandrelatedchemicalproducts.htm (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Orlowski, C., Piotrowski, J.K., 2003. Biological levels of cadmium and zinc in the small intestine of non-occupationally exposed human subjects. Human & Experimental Toxicology 22, 57-63.
- Ortelli, D., Edder, P., Corvi, C., 2005. Pesticide residues survey in citrus fruits. Food Additives and Contaminants 22, 423-428.
- Osuagwu, O.E., Ikerionwu, C., 2010. E-cyling e-waste: the way forward for Nigeria IT and electro-mechanical industry. International Journal of Academic Research 2, 142-149.
- Pacific Gas and Electric Company Groundwater Remediation Program, 2011. Background Chromium and Groundwater. www.hinkleygroundwater.com/wpcontent/themes/hinkleygw/documents/fact-sheets/fact-sheet_background_ chromium.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Pacyna, E.G., Pacyna, J.M., Steenhuisen, F., Wilson, S., 2006. Global anthropogenic mercury emission inventory for 2000. Atmospheric environment 40, 4048-4063.
- Pagenkopf, G.K., 1983. Gill surface interaction model for trace-metal toxicity to fishes: role of complexation, pH, and water hardness. Environmental Science and Technology 17, 342-347.
- Palmquist, K., Salatas, J., Fairbrother, A., 2012. Pyrethroid Insecticides: Use, Environmental Fate, and Ecotoxicology. In: Perveen, F. (Ed.). Insecticides - Advances in Integrated Pest Management. InTech, pp. 251-278. www.intechopen. com/books/insecticides-advances-in-integrated-pest-management/pyrethroidinsecticides-use-environmental-fate-and-ecotoxicology (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Parreira, R., Piedade, J., Domingues, A., Lobão, D., Santos, M., Venenno, T., Baptista, J.L., Mussa, S.A., Barreto, A.T.L., Baptista, A.J., Esteves, A., 2006. Genetic characterization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 from Beira, Mozambigue. Microbes and Infection 8, 2442-2451.
- Pascoe, D., Karntanut, W., Müller, C.T., 2003. Do pharmaceuticals affect freshwater invertebrates? A study with the cnidarian Hydra vulgaris. Chemosphere 51, 521-528.
- Pasternak, T.P., Ötvös, K., Domoki, M., Fehér, A., 2007. Linked activation of cell division and oxidative stress defense in alfalfa leaf protoplast-derived cells is dependent on exogenous auxin. Plant Growth Regulation 51, 109-117.
- Patel, V., 2007. Mental health in low-and middle-income countries. British Medical Bulletin 81-82, 81-96.
- Patrick, W.H., Jugsujinda, A., 1992. Sequential reduction and oxidation of inorganic nitrogen, manganese, and iron in flooded soil. Soil Science Society of America Journal 56, 1071-1073.
- Pawar, K.R., Katdare, M., 1984. Toxic and teratogenic effects of fenitrothion, BHC and carbofuran on embryonic development of the frog *Microhyla ornata*. Toxicology Letters 22, 7-13.
- Pearshouse, R., 2012. Toxic Tanneries The Health Repercussions of Bangladesh's Hararibagh Leather. Human Rights Watch. www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/bangladesh1012webwcover.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Pesticide Action Network Asia and the Pacific, 2010. Communities in Peril: Asian regional report on community monitoring of highly hazardous pesticide use. www.panap.net/panfiles/download/asrep_lowres.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Pesticide Action Network Europe, 2013. Disrupting Food. www.disruptingfood.info/en/ (last accessed 12.01.16).

Pesticide Action Network International, 2014. About.

- http://pan-international.org/about/ (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Pesticide Action Network UK, 1996. Paraquat. Fact Sheet. Pesticide News No. 32, 20-21. http://www.pan-uk.org/pestnews/Actives/paraquat.htm (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Peter, A.L.J., Viraraghavan, T., 2005. Thallium: a review of public health and environmental concerns. Environment International 31, 493-501.
- Peterson, M.L., White, A.F., Brown, G.E., Parks, G.A., 1997. Surface passivation of magnetite by reaction with aqueous Cr(VI): XAFS and TEM results. Environmental Science and Technology 31, 1573-1576.
- Petrović, M., Gonzalez, S., Barceló, D., 2003. Analysis and removal of emerging contaminants in wastewater and drinking water. Trends in Analytical Chemistry 22, 685-696.
- Phillips, I., Casewell, M., Cox, T., De Groot, B., Friis, C., Jones, R., Nightingale, C., Preston, R., Waddell, J., 2004. Does the use of antibiotics in food animals pose a risk to human health? A critical review of published data. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 53, 28-52.
- Phiri, P., 2006. Slow progress on phase out of leaded fuel in the SADC. Southern African News Features No. 6 www.sardc.net/en/southern-african-newsfeatures/slow-progress-on-phase-out-of-leaded-fuel-in-sadc/ (last accessed 12.01.16).

Phonebloks, 2016. Phonebloks - A phone worth keeping. phonebloks.com (last accessed 12.01.16).

Pimentel, D., 1995. Amounts of pesticides reaching target pests: Environmental impacts and ethics. Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics 8, 17-29.

Pitt, R., 1988. Asbestos as an urban area pollutant. Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation 60, 1993-2001.

Pizzutti, I.R., de Kok, A., Zanella, R., Adaime, M.B., Hiemstra, M., Wickert, C., Prestes, O.D., 2007. Method validation for the analysis of 169 pesticides in soya grain, without clean up, by liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry using positive and negative electrospray ionization. Journal of Chromatography A 1142, 123-136.

Pokhrel, D., Viraraghavan, T., 2004. Treatment of pulp and paper mill wastewater – a review. Science of the Total Environment 333, 37-58.

Post, J.E., 1999. Manganese oxide minerals: Crystal structures and economic and environmental significance. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 96, 3447-3454.

Prakash, S., Manhart, A., Amoyaw-Osei, Y., Agyekum, O.O., 2010. Socio-economic assessment and feasibility study on sustainable e-waste management in Ghana. Öko-Institut e.V., Green Adcovacy Ghana. www.oeko.de/oekodoc/1057/2010-105-en.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).

Prakash, J., Yadav, S.K., Chouhan, S., Singh, S.P., 2013. Neuroprotective Role of Withania somnifera Root Extract in Maneb-Paraquat Induced Mouse Model of Parkinsonism. Neurochemical Research 38, 972-980.

- Prasad, M.N.V., Greger, M., Landberg, T., 2001. Acacia nilotica L. bark removes toxic elements from solution: corroboration from toxicity bioassay using Salix viminalis L. in hydroponic system. International Journal of Phytoremediation 3, 289-300.
- Prasse, C., Schlüsener, M.P., Schulz, R., Ternes, T.A., 2010. Antiviral Drugs in Wastewater and Surface Waters: A New Pharmaceutical Class of Environmental Relevance? Environmental Science and Technology 44, 1728-1735.
- PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2008. The changing dynamics of pharma outsourcing in Asia: are you readjusting your sights? www.pwc.ch/user_content/editor/files/ publ life/pwc change pharma outsourcing asia e.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2012. From Vision to Decision Pharma 2020. www.pwc.com/gx/en/pharma-life-sciences/pharma2020/assets/pwc-pharmasuccess-strategies.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Puckett, J., Byster, L., Westervelt, S., Gutierrez, R., Davis, S., Hussain, A., Dutta, M., 2002. Exporting harm: the high-tech trashing of Asia. The Basel Action Network, Silicon Valley Toxics Coalition. sytc.org/wp-content/uploads/technotrash.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).

Purdom, C.E., Hardiman, P.A., Bye, V.V.J., Eno, N.C., Tyler, C.R., Sumpter, J.P., 1994. Estrogenic effects of effluents from sewage treatment works. Chemistry and Eccloay 8, 275-285.

Qiu, G., Feng, X., Wang, S., Shang, L., 2006. Environmental contamination of mercury from Hg-mining areas in Wuchuan, northeastern Guizhou, China. Environmental Pollution 142, 549-558.

Quarantelli, E., 2003. Urban vulnerability to disasters in developing countries: Managing risks. In: Kreimer, A., Arnold, M., Carlin, A. (Eds.). Building safer cities: the future of disaster risk. The World Bank, ISBN 0-8213-5497-3. pp. 211-232.

Rahman, M., 1997. Characteristics of major industrial liquid pollutants in Bangladesh. Masters Project. Department of Civil Engineering, Bangladesh University of Engineering and Technology.

Rahman, S.H., Neelormi, S., Tareq, S.M., 2008. Environmental impact assessments of textile and dyeing industries on ecosystem of Karnopara canal at Savar, Bangladesh. Jahangirnagar University Journal of Science 31, 19-32.

- Rai, D., Eary, L.E., Zachara, J.M., 1989. Environmental chemistry of chromium. Science of the Total Environment 86, 15-23.
- Rama, D.B.K., Jaga, K., 1992. Pesticide exposure and cholinesterase levels among farm workers in the Republic of South Africa. Science of the Total Environment 122, 315-319.

Ramamoorthy, S., Kushner, D.J., 1975. Binding of mercuric and other heavy metal ions by microbial growth media. Microbial Ecology 2, 162-176.

Ramamoorthy, S., Rust, B.R., 1978. Heavy metal exchange processes in sedimentwater systems. Environmental Geology 2, 165-172.

Ramanathan, A.L., Subramanian, V., 2001. Present Status of Asbestos Mining and Related Health Problems in India - A Survey. Industrial Health 39, 309-315.

- Ramaswamy, B.R., Shanmugam, G., Velu, G., Rengarajan, B., Larsson, D.G.J., 2011. GC–MS analysis and ecotoxicological risk assessment of triclosan, carbamazepine and parabens in Indian rivers. Journal of Hazardous Materials 186, 1586-1593.
- Ramsden, D.B., 2002. Thallium. In: Waring, R.H., Steventon, G.B., Mitchell, S.C. (Eds.). Molecules of Death. Imperial College Press, London, ISBN 1-86094-127-3. pp. 304-311.
- Razafindratsimandresy, R., Rajaonatahina, D., Soares, J.-L., Rousset, D., Reynes, J.-M., 2006. High HIV type 1 subtype diversity and few drug resistance mutations among seropositive people detected during the 2005 second generation HIV surveillance in Madagascar. AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses 22, 595-597.

Razo, I., Carrizales, L., Castro, J., Díaz-Barriga, F., Monroy, M., 2004. Arsenic and Heavy Metal Pollution of Soil, Water and Sediments in a Semi-Arid Climate Mining Area in Mexico. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution 152, 129-152. Recena, M.C.P., Pires, D.X., Caldas, E.D., 2006. Acute poisoning with pesticides in the state of Mato Grosso do Sul, Brazil. Science of the Total Environment 357, 88-95.

Reck, B.K., Graedel, T.E., 2012. Challenges in metal recycling. Science 337, 690-695.

- Reddy, B.V., Reddy, K.V.N.S., Sreeramulu, J., Kanumula, G.V., 2007. Simultaneous determination of olanzapine and fluoxetine by HPLC. Chromatographia 66, 111-114.
- Rehman, M.S.U., Rashid, N., Ashfaq, M., Saif, A., Ahmad, N., Han, J.-I., 2015. Global risk of pharmaceutical contamination from highly populated developing countries. Chemosphere 138, 1045-1055.

Reichl, C., Schatz, M., Zsak, G., 2013. World-Mining-Data, Vol. 28. Minerals Pro-duction. Federal Ministry of Economy, Family and Youth, International Organizing Committee for the World Mining Congresses, Vienna. www.bmwfw. gv.at/EnergieUndBergbau/WeltBergbauDaten/Documents/Weltbergbaudaten%202013.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).

Reimann, C., Matschullat, J., Birke, M., Salminen, R., 2010. Antimony in the environment: lessons from geochemical mapping. Applied Geochemistry 25, 175-198.

Relyea, R.A., 2009. A cocktail of contaminants: how mixtures of pesticides at low concentrations affect aquatic communities. Oecologia 159, 363-376.

Renzoni, A., Zino, F., Franchi, E., 1998. Mercury Levels along the Food Chain and Risk for Exposed Populations. Environmental Research 77, 68-72.

Revolve Water, 2014. Water pollution protests in Sri Lanka. http://www.revolve-water.com/water-pollution-protests-sri-lanka/ (last accessed 18.11.15).

Rial-Otero, R., Cancho-Grande, B., Perez-Lamela, C., Simal-Gándara, J., Arias-Estévez, M., 2006. Simultaneous determination of the herbicides diquat and paraquat in water. Journal of Chromatographic Science 44, 539-542.

Richard, M.G., 2013. 16000 dead pigs found in Chinese river, threatening Shanghai's water supply. Treehugger, 03.04.2013. www.treehugger.com/cleanwater/16000-dead-pigs-found-chinese-river-threatening-shanghais-water-supply. html (last accessed 12.01.16).

Richardson, H.W., 1997. Copper fungicides/bactericides. In: Richardson, H.W. (Ed.), Handbook of Copper Compounds and Applications. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, ISBN 0-8247-8998-9. pp. 93-122.

Richardson, B.J., Lam, P.K.S., Martin, M., 2005. Emerging chemicals of concern: Pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) in Asia, with particular reference to Southern China. Marine Pollution Bulletin 50, 913-920.

Richman, D.D., Morton, S.C., Wrin, T., Hellmann, N., Berry, S., Shapiro, M.F., Bozzette, S.A., 2004. The prevalence of antiretroviral drug resistance in the United States. AIDS 18, 1393-1401.

 Riley, D., Wilkinson, W., Tucker, B.V., 1976. Biological unavailability of bound paraquat residues in soil. In: Kaufman, D.D., Still, G.G., Paulson, G.D., Bandal, S.K. (Eds.). Bound and Conjugated Pesticide Residues. ACS Symposium Series, Vol. 29. American Chemical Society. pp. 301-353

Roberts, T.R., Dyson, J.S., Lane, M.C.G., 2002. Deactivation of the biological activity of paraquat in the soil environment: A review of long-term environmental fate. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 50, 3623-3631.

Roberts, D.M., Karunarathna, A., Buckley, N.A., Manuweera, G., Rezvi Sherriff, M.H., Eddleston, M., 2003. Influence of pesticide regulation on acute poisoning deaths in Sri Lanka. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 81, 789-798. www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/81/11/roberts1103.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).

Roberts, J.R., Reigart, J.R., 2013. Recognition and Management of Pesticide Poisonings, 6th edn. United States Environmental Protection Agency. EPA 735-K-13-001. www.epa.gov/pesticide-worker-safety/recognition-and-managementpesticide-poisonings (last accessed 12.01.16).

Robinson, B.H., 2009. E-waste: an assessment of global production and environmental impacts. Science of the Total Environment 408, 183-191.

Rockson, G.N.K., Kemausuor, F., Seassey, R., Yanful, E., 2013. Activities of scavengers and itinerant buyers in Greater Accra, Ghana. Habitat International 39, 148-155.

Rodriguez Jr, M., Sanders, C.A., Greenbaum, E., 2002. Biosensors for rapid monitoring of primary-source drinking water using naturally occurring photosynthesis. Biosensors and Bioelectronics 17, 843-849.

Rofkar, J.R., Dwyer, D.F., Bobak, D.M., 2014. Uptake and Toxicity of Arsenic, Copper, and Silicon in *Azolla caroliniana* and *Lemna minor*. International Journal of Phytoremediation 16, 155-166.

Rogers, B.A., Sidjabat, H.E., Paterson, D.L., 2011. *Escherichia coli* O25b-ST131: a pandemic, multiresistant, community-associated strain. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 66, 1-14.

Roldán-Tapia, L., Parrón, T., Sánchez-Santed, F., 2005. Neuropsychological effects of long-term exposure to organophosphate pesticides. Neurotoxicology and Teratology 27, 259-266.

Romero, J., Feijoó, C.G., Navarrete, P., 2012. Antibiotics in Aquaculture – Use, Abuse and Alternatives. In: Carvalho, E. (Ed.). Health and Environment in Aquaculture. InTech, ISBN 978-953-51-0497-1. pp. 159-198.

Römheld, V., Marschner, H., 1991. Function of micronutrients in plants. In: Mortvedt, J.J., Cox, F.R., Shuman, L.M., Welch, R.M. (Eds.). Micronutrients in agriculture, 2nd edn. Soil Science Society of America Book Series, ISBN 0-89118-797-9. pp. 297-328.

- Rotkittikhun, P., Kruatrachue, M., Chaiyarat, R., Ngernsansaruay, C., Pokethitiyook, P., Paijitprapaporn, A., Baker, A.J.M., 2006. Uptake and accumulation of lead by plants from the Bo Ngam lead mine area in Thailand. Environmental Pollution 144, 681-688.
- Rout, G., Samantaray, S., Das, P., 1997. Differential chromium tolerance among eight mungbean cultivars grown in nutrient culture. Journal of Plant Nutrition 20, 473-483.
- Rout, G.R., Samantaray, S., Das, P., 2000. Effects of chromium and nickel on germination and growth in tolerant and non-tolerant populations of *Echinochloa colona* (L.) Link. Chemosphere 40, 855-859.
- Rowland, H.A.L., Polya, D.A., Lloyd, J.R., Pancost, R.D., 2006. Characterisation of organic matter in a shallow, reducing, arsenic-rich aquifer, West Bengal. Organic Geochemistry 37, 1101-1114.
- Rusyniak, D.E., Furbee, R.B., Kirk, M.A., 2002. Thallium and arsenic poisoning in a small midwestern town. Annals of Emergency Medicine 39, 307-311.
- Rwazo, A., 1997. Dumped pesticides persist in Tanzania. Pesticide News 37, 6-7. www.pan-uk.org/pestnews/Issue/pn37/pn37p6.htm (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Sabbioni, E., Pietra, R., Gaglione, P., Vocaturo, G., Colombo, F., Zanoni, M., Rodi, F., 1982. Long-term occupational risk of rare-earth pneumoconiosis. A case report as investigated by neutron activation analysis. Science of the Total Environment 26, 19-32.
- Sacher, F., Lange, F.T., Brauch, H.J., Blankenhorn, I., 2001. Pharmaceuticals in groundwaters analytical methods and results of a monitoring program in Baden-Württemberg, Germany. Journal of chromatography A 938, 199-210.
- Saddique, A., Peterson, C.D., 1983. Thallium poisoning: a review. Veterinary and Human Toxicology 25, 16-22.
- Sáenz, M.E., Alberdi, J.L., Di Marzio, W.D., Accorinti, J., Tortorelli, M.C., 1997. Paraquat Toxicity to Different Green Algae. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 58, 922-928.
- Salomons, W., Förstner, U., 1984. Metals in the hydrocycle. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, ISBN 978-3-642-69327-4.
- Salvi, R.M., Lara, D.R., Ghisolfi, E.S., Portela, L.V., Dias, R.D., Souza, D.O., 2003. Neuropsychiatric Evaluation in Subjects Chronically Exposed to Organophosphate Pesticides. Toxicological Sciences 72, 267-271.
- Sánchez-Brunete, C., Miguel, E., Tadeo, J.L., 2009. Determination of tetrabromobisphenol-A, tetrachlorobisphenol-A and bisphenol-A in soil by ultrasonic assisted extraction and gas chromatography–mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A 1216, 5497-5503.
- Sanità di Toppi, L., Gabbrielli, R., 1999. Response to cadmium in higher plants. Environmental and Experimental Botany 41, 105-130.
- Santamaria, A.B., 2008. Manganese exposure, essentiality & toxicity. Indian Journal of Medical Research 128, 484-500.
- Santore, R.C., Di Toro, D.M., Paquin, P.R., Allen, H.E., Meyer, J.S., 2001. Biotic ligand model of the acute toxicity of metals. 2. Application to acute copper toxicity in freshwater fish and *Daphnia*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 20, 2397-2402.
- Santos-Burgoa, C., Rios, C., Mercado, L.A., Arechiga-Serrano, R., Cano-Valle, F., Eden-Wynter, R.A., Texcalac-Sangrador, J.L., Villa-Barragan, J.P., Rodriguez-Agudelo, Y., Montes, S., 2001. Exposure to Manganese: Health Effects on the General Population, a Pilot Study in Central Mexico. Environmental Research 85, 90-104.
- Sapari, P., Ismail, B.S., 2012. Pollution levels of thiobencarb, propanil, and pretilachlor in rice fields of the muda irrigation scheme, Kedah, Malaysia. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 184, 6347-6356.
- Sarmah, A.K., Meyer, M.T., Boxall, A.B.A., 2006. A global perspective on the use, sales, exposure pathways, occurrence, fate and effects of veterinary antibiotics (VAs) in the environment. Chemosphere 65, 725-759.
- Sass, J.B., Colangelo, A., 2006. European Union bans atrazine, while the United States negotiates continued use. International Journal of Occupational and Environmental Health 12, 260-267.
- Sathawara, N.G., Parikh, D.J., Agarwal, Y.K., 2004. Essential Heavy Metals in Environmental Samples from Western India. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 73, 756-761.
- Sayeed, I., Parvez, S., Pandey, S., Bin-Hafeez, B., Haque, R., Raisuddin, S., 2003. Oxidative stress biomarkers of exposure to deltamethrin in freshwater fish, *Channa punctatus* Bloch. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 56, 295-301.
- Schaechter, M. (Ed.), 2009. Encyclopedia of Microbiology: 3rd edn. Elsevier Academic Press, ISBN 012373939X.
- Schlatter, J., Lutz, W.K., 1990. The carcinogenic potential of ethyl carbamate (urethane): Risk assessment at human dietary exposure levels. Food and Chemical Toxicology 28, 205-211.
- Schluep, M., Hagelueken, C., Kuehr, R., Magalini, F., Maurer, C., Meskers, C., Mueller, E., Wang, F., 2009. Sustainable Innovation and Technology Transfer Industrial Sector Studies: Recycling–From E-Waste to Resources. United Nations Environment Programme & United Nations University, Bonn, Germany. www.unep.org/pdf/Recycling_From_e-waste_to_resources.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Schluep, M., Müller, E., Ott, D., Rochat, D., 2012. E-waste Assessment Methodology Training & Reference Manual. Swiss Federal Laboratories for Materials Science and Technology (Empa), Switzerland. www.ewasteguide.info/files/ Empa_2012_Assmt-Methodology.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).

- Schöbel, C., Günzel, P., 1993. Results of toxicological tests assessing the risk of nonionic contrast media in humans. In: Dawson, P., Clauß, W. (Eds.). Contrast Media in Practice. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, ISBN 978-3-540-57187-2. pp. 12-20.
- Schroeder, D.C., Lee, G.F., 1975. Potential transformations of chromium in natural waters. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution 4, 355-365.
- Schulte-Oehlmann, U., Oehlmann, J., Keil, F., 2011. Before the Curtain Falls: Endocrine-Active Pesticides – A German Contamination Legacy. In: Whitacre, D.M. (Ed.). Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, Vol. 213. Springer New York, pp. 137-159.
- Schultz, I.R., Skillman, A., Nicolas, J.-M., Cyr, D.G., Nagler, J.J., 2003. Short-term exposure to 17α-ethynylestradiol decreases the fertility of sexually maturing male rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 22, 1272-1280.
- Schummer, C., Mothiron, E., Appenzeller, B.M.R., Wennig, R., Millet, M., 2010. Gas/particle partitioning of currently used pesticides in the atmosphere of Strasbourg (France). Air Quality, Atmosphere and Health 3, 171-181.
- Schwaiger, J., Ferling, H., Mallow, U., Wintermayr, H., Negele, R.D., 2004. Toxic effects of the non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug diclofenac: Part I: histopathological alterations and bioaccumulation in rainbow trout. Aquatic Toxicology 68, 141-150.
- Schwartz, J., Otto, D., 1987. Blood lead, hearing thresholds, and neurobehavioral development in children and youth. Archives of Environmental Health: An International Journal 42, 153-160.
- Schwartz, M.O., 2000. Cadmium in zinc deposits: Economic geology of a polluting element. International Geology Review 42, 445-469.
- Schwarzenbach, R.P., Escher, B.I., Fenner, K., Hofstetter, T.B., Johnson, C.A., von Gunten, U., Wehrli, B., 2006. The challenge of micropollutants in aquatic systems. Science 313, 1072-1077.
- Science Lab, 2013. Material Safety Data Sheet Antimony.
- www.sciencelab.com/msds.php?msdsld=9927438 (last accessed 12.01.16). Scott, M.J., Jones, M.N., 2000. The biodegradation of surfactants in the environ-
- ment. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Biomembranes 1508, 235-251. Seacat, A.M., Thomford, P.J., Hansen, K.J., Olsen, G.W., Case, M.T., Butenhoff,
- J.L., 2002. Subchronic toxicity studies on perfluorooctanesulfonate potassium salt in cynomolgus monkeys. Toxicological Sciences 68, 249-264.
- Seacat, A.M., Thomford, P.J., Hansen, K.J., Clemen, L.A., Eldridge, S.R., Elcombe, C.R., Butenhoff, J.L., 2003. Sub-chronic dietary toxicity of potassium perfluorooctanesulfonate in rats. Toxicology 183, 117-131.
- Securetec AG, 2013. Rapid test Cholinesterase ChE check mobile. www.securetec.net/en/rapid-test-determination-cholinesterase (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Selikoff, I.J., Churg, J., Hammond, E.C., 1964. Asbestos exposure and neoplasia. Journal of the American Medical Association 188, 22-26.
- Selikoff, I.J., Nicholson, W.J., Langer, A.M., 1972. Asbestos air pollution. Archives of Environmental Health: An International Journal 25, 1-13.
- Selikoff, I.J., Lee, D.H.K., 1978. Asbestos and disease. Academic Press, Inc., New York, ISBN 0-12-636050-2.
- Selikoff, I.J., Seidman, H., 1991. Asbestos-Associated Deaths among Insulation Workers in the United States and Canada, 1967–1987. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 643, 1-14.
- Senok, A., Yousif, A., Mazi, W., Sharaf, E., Bindayna, K., Elnima, E., Botta, G., 2007. Pattern of antibiotic susceptibility in *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates of human and poultry origin. Japanese Journal of Infectious Diseases 60, 1-4.
- Sepúlveda, A., Schluep, M., Renaud, F.G., Streicher, M., Kuehr, R., Hagelüken, C., Gerecke, A.C., 2010. A review of the environmental fate and effects of hazardous substances released from electrical and electronic equipments during recycling: Examples from China and India. Environmental Impact Assessment Review 30, 28-41.
- Sereda, B.L., Meinhardt, H.R., 2005. Contamination of the water environment in malaria endemic areas of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa, by agricultural insecticides. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 75, 530-537.
- Serfor-Armah, Y., Nyarko, B.J.B., Adotey, D.K., Dampare, S.B., Adomako, D., 2006. Levels of arsenic and antimony in water and sediment from Prestea, a gold mining town in Ghana and its environs. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution 175, 181-192.
- Shacklette, H.T., Boerngen, J.G., 1984. Element concentrations in soils and other surficial materials of the conterminous United States. U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1270. pubs.usgs.gov/pp/1270/pdf/PP1270_508.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Shaikh, Z.A., Vu, T.T., Zaman, K., 1999. Oxidative Stress as a Mechanism of Chronic Cadmium-Induced Hepatotoxicity and Renal Toxicity and Protection by Antioxidants. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 154, 256-263.
- Sharma, D.C., Sharma, C.P., 1993. Chromium uptake and its effects on growth and biological yield of wheat. Cereal Research Communications 21, 317-322.
- Sharma, P., Dubey, R.S., 2005. Lead toxicity in plants. Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology 17, 35-52.
- Shen, C., Huang, S., Wang, Z., Qiao, M., Tang, X., Yu, C., Shi, D., Zhu, Y., Shi, J., Chen, X., Setty, K., Chen, Y., 2008. Identification of Ah receptor agonists in soil of e-waste recycling sites from Taizhou area in China. Environmental Science and Technology 42, 49-55.

- Shen, H., Huang, Y., Wang, R., Zhu, D., Li, W., Shen, G., Wang, B., Zhang, Y., Chen, Y., Lu, Y., Chen, H., Li, T., Sun, K., Li, B., Liu, W., Liu, J., Tao, S., 2013. Global atmospheric emissions of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from 1960 to 2008 and future predictions. Environmental Science and Technology 47, 6415-6424.
- Shrestha, S.S., Swerdlow, D.L., Borse, R.H., Prabhu, V.S., Finelli, L., Atkins, C.Y., Owusu-Edusei, K., Bell, B., Mead, P.S., Biggerstaff, M., Brammer, L., Davidson, H., Jernigan, D., Jhung, M.A., Kamimoto, L.A., Merlin, T.L., Nowell, M., Redd, S.C., Reed, C., Schuchat, A., Meltzer, M.I., 2011. Estimating the Burden of 2009 Pandemic Influenza A (H1N1) in the United States (April 2009–April 2010). Clinical Infectious Diseases, 52, S75-S82.
- Shukla, S.S., Leland, H.V., 1973. Heavy metals: A review of lead. Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation 45, 1319-1331.
- Sieradzki, K., Roberts, R.B., Haber, S.W., Tomasz, A., 1999. The development of vancomycin resistance in a patient with methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection. New England Journal of Medicine 340, 517-523.
- Sieratowicz, A., Stange, D., Schulte-Oehlmann, U., Oehlmann, J., 2011. Reproductive toxicity of bisphenol A and cadmium in *Potamopyrgus anti-podarum* and modulation of bisphenol A effects by different test temperature. Environmental pollution 159, 2766-2774.
- Sigma-Aldrich, 2014a. Material Safety Data Sheet of Diquat-dibromid Monohydrat. (Product number PS365). www.sigmaaldrich.com/MSDS/MSDS/DisplayMSD-SPage.do?country=DE&language=de&productNumber=PS365&brand=SUPEL CO&PageToGoToURL=http%3A//www.sigmaaldrich.com/catalog/product/supelco/ps365%3Flang%3Dde (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Sigma-Aldrich, 2014b. Material Safety Data Sheet of Paraquat dichloride (Product number 36541). www.sigmaaldrich.com/MSDS/MSDS/DisplayMSDSPage.do?country=DE&language=de&productNumber=36541&brand=SIAL&PageToGoT oURL=/safety-center.html (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Silicon Valley Toxics Coalition, 2014. E-Waste. svtc.org/our-work/e-waste/ (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Sillén, L.G., Martell, A.E., 1964. Stability constants of metal-ion complexes. Chemical Society London.
- Silva, C.P., Otero, M., Esteves, V., 2012. Processes for the elimination of estrogenic steroid hormones from water: a review. Environmental Pollution 165, 38-58.
- Singer, A.C., Nunn, M.A., Gould, E.A., Johnson, A.C., 2007. Potential risks associated with the proposed widespread use of Tamiflu. Environmental health perspectives 115, 102-106.
- Sinha-Khetriwal, D., Kraeuchi, P., Schwaninger, M., 2005. A comparison of electronic waste recycling in Switzerland and in India. Environmental Impact Assessment Review 25, 492-504.
- Sinha, S., Makesh, P., Donders, E., Van Breusegem, W., 2010. Waste electrical and electronic Equipment - The EU and India: sharing best practices. Euroconsult Mott MacDonald, Toxics Link. eeas.europa.eu/delegations/india/documents/eu_ india/final_e_waste_book_en.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Skinner, A., Lloyd, A., Dinter, Y., Strothmann, P., 2010. Does the Basel Ban form an effective and sustainable means of addressing the health and environmental problems caused by the export of e-waste from developed countries to developing nations and countries in transition? Free University of Berlin. ewasteguide.info/files/Skinner_2010_ffu.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Slade, P., 1965. Photochemical degradation of paraquat. Nature 207, 515-516.
- Slade, P., 1966. The fate of paraquat applied to plants. Weed Research 6, 158-167. Smedley, P.L., Kinniburgh, D.G., 2013. Arsenic in Groundwater and the Environ-
- ment. In: Selinus, O. (Ed.). Essentials of Medical Geology. Springer Netherlands, pp. 279-310.Smith, I.C., Carson, B.L., 1977. Trace metals in the environment, Vol. 1 - Thallium.
- Ann Arbor Science Publishes, Inc. Ann Arbor, MI, ISBN 0-250-40214-9. Smith, E., Naidu, R., Alston, A.M., 2002. Chemistry of Inorganic Arsenic in Soils.
- Journal of Environmental Quality 31, 557-563.
- Smith, T., Sonnenfeld, D.A., Pellow, D.N. (Eds.). 2006. Challenging the Chip: Labor Rights and Environmental Justice in the Global Electronics Industry. Temple University Press, Philadelphia, ISBN 1-59213-330-4.
- Smith, D., 2011. Chinese mining firms in Zambia under fire for mistreating workers. The Guardian, 03.11.2011. www.theguardian.com/global-development/2011/ nov/03/chinese-mining-zambia-mistreating-workers (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Smith, R. 2013. Arsenic: A murderous History. Dartmouth Toxic Metals Superfund Research Program. www.dartmouth.edu/~toxmetal/arsenic/history.html (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Sneller, F.E.C., Kalf, D.F., Weltje, L., Van Wezel, A.P., 2000. Maximum permissible concentrations and negligible concentrations for rare earth elements (REEs). National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, the Netherlands. RIVM Report 601501 011. www.rivm.nl/dsresource?objectid=rivmp:15659&type =org&disposition=inline&ns_nc=1 (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Soderlund, D.M., Bloomquist, J.R., 1989. Neurotoxic actions of pyrethroid insecticides. Annual review of entomology 34, 77-96.
- Söderström, G., Marklund, S., 2002. PBCDD and PBCDF from incineration of waste-containing brominated flame retardants. Environmental Science and Technology 36, 1959-1964.
- Solomon, K.R., Baker, D.B., Richards, R.P., Dixon, K.R., Klaine, S.J., La Point, T.W., Kendall, R.J., Weisskopf, C.P., Giddings, J.M., Giesy, J.P., Hall, L.W., Williams, W.M., 1996. Ecological risk assessment of atrazine in North American surface waters. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 15, 31-76.

- Somasundaram, L., Coats, J.R. (Eds.), 1991. Pesticide transformation products: fate and significance in the environment. ACS Symposium Series 459, American Chemical Society, ISBN 9780841219946. pubs.acs.org/isbn/9780841219946 (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Sosa, A. de J., Byarugaba, D.K., Amábile-Cuevas, C.F., Hsueh, P.-R., Kariuki, S., Okeke, I.N. (Eds.), 2010. Antimicrobial resistance in developing countries. Springer New York, ISBN 978-0-387-89369-3.
- Spehar, R.L., Anderson, R.L., Fiandt, J.T., 1978. Toxicity and bioaccumulation of cadmium and lead in aquatic invertebrates. Environmental Pollution 15, 195-208.
- Srinivas Rao, C., Venkateswarlu, V., Surender, T., Eddleston, M., Buckley, N.A., 2005. Pesticide poisoning in south India: opportunities for prevention and improved medical management. Tropical Medicine and International Health 10, 581-588.
- Staatscourant, 2010. Nr 5615. zoek.officielebekendmakingen.nl/stcrt-2010-5615. html (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Staels, B., Dallongeville, J., Auwerx, J., Schoonjans, K., Leitersdorf, E., Fruchart, J.-C., 1998. Mechanism of action of fibrates on lipid and lipoprotein metabolism. Circulation 98, 2088-2093.
- Stauber, J.L., Florence, T.M., 1987. Mechanism of toxicity of ionic copper and copper complexes to algae. Marine Biology 94, 511-519.
- Staudinger, K.C., Roth, V.S., 1998. Occupational lead poisoning. American family physician 57, 719-726.
- Stayner, L., Welch, L.S., Lemen, R., 2013. The worldwide pandemic of asbestosrelated diseases. Annual Review of Public Health 34, 205-216.
- Steenland, K., Boffetta, P., 2000. Lead and cancer in humans: where are we now? American Journal of Industrial Medicine 38, 295-299.
- Steger-Hartmann, T., Länge, R., Schweinfurth, H., 1999. Environmental Risk Assessment for the Widely Used Iodinated X-Ray Contrast Agent Iopromide (Ultravist). Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 42, 274-281.
- Steiner, S., 2004. Risk Assessment of E-Waste burning in Delhi, India. Diploma thesis. Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zurich (ETH), Switzerland. ewasteguide.info/files/Steiner_2004_ETHZ-Empa.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Step Initiative, 2014. Brochure. United Nations University. www.step-initiative.org/ files/step/StEP_FlipBook/flipviewerxpress.html (last accessed 12.01.16).
 Step Initiative, 2015. Step e-waste world map. United Nations University.
- www.step-initiative.org/step-e-waste-world-map.html (last accessed 12.01.16). Step Initiative, 2016a. World map of members. United Nations University.
- www.step-initiative.org/world-map-of-members.html (last accessed 12.01.16). Step Initiative, 2016b. Our work. United Nations University.
- www.step-initiative.org/our-work.html (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Stevens, J.T., Breckenridge, C.B., Wetzel, L.T., Gillis, J.H., Luempert III, L.G., Eldridge, J.C., 1994. Hypothesis for mammary tumorigenesis in Sprague-Dawley rats exposed to certain triazine herbicides. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health 43, 139-153.
- Stewart, P.S., Costerton, J.W., 2001. Antibiotic resistance of bacteria in biofilms. The Lancet 358, 135-138.
- Stewart, E.S., Lemieux, P.M., 2003. Emissions from the incineration of electronics industry waste. Proceedings of the IEEE International Symposium on Electronics and the Environment, Boston, Massachusetts, May 2003. pp. 271-275.
- Stobart, A.K., Griffiths, W.T., Ameen-Bukhari, I., Sherwood, R.P., 1985. The effect of Cd²⁺ on the biosynthesis of chlorophyll in leaves of barley. Physiologia Plantarum 63, 293-298.

Stockholm Convention, 2008. PCBs Overview. chm.pops.int/Implementation/ PCBs/Overview/tabid/273/Default.aspx (last accessed 12.01.16).

- Stoeppler, M. (Ed.), 1992. Hazardous metals in the environment. Elsevier Science, ISBN 978-0-444-89078-8.
- Story, P., Cox, M., 2001. Review of the effects of organophosphorus and carbamate insecticides on vertebrates. Are there implications for locust management in Australia? Wildlife Research 28, 179-193.
- Straif, K., Benbrahim-Tallaa, L., Baan, R., Grosse, Y., Secretan, B., El Ghissassi, F., Bouvard, V., Guha, N., Freeman, C., Galichet, L., Cogliano, V., 2009. A review of human carcinogens – Part C: metals, arsenic, dusts, and fibres. The Lancet Oncology 10, 453-454.
- Straub, J.O., 2009. An environmental risk assessment for oseltamivir (Tamiflu[®]) for sewage works and surface waters under seasonal-influenza- and pandemic-use conditions. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 72, 1625-1634.
- Streicher-Porte, M., Widmer, R., Jain, A., Bader, H.-P., Scheidegger, R., Kytzia, S., 2005. Key drivers of the e-waste recycling system: Assessing and modelling e-waste processing in the informal sector in Delhi. Environmental Impact Assessment Review 25, 472-491.
- Stumpf, M., Ternes, T.A., Wilken, R.-D., Rodrigues, S.V., Baumann, W., 1999. Polar drug residues in sewage and natural waters in the state of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Science of the Total Environment 225, 135-141.
- Sukasem, C., Churdboonchart, V., Sirisidthi, K., Riengrojpitak, S., Chasombat, S., Watitpun, C., Piroj, W., Tiensuwan, M., Chantratita, W., 2007. Genotypic resistance mutations in treatment-naïve and treatment-experienced patients under widespread use of antiretroviral drugs in Thailand: implications for further epidemiologic surveillance. Japanese Journal of Infectious Diseases 60, 284-289.
- Sumpter, J.P., Jobling, S., 1995. Vitellogenesis as a biomarker for estrogenic contamination of the aquatic environment. Environmental Health Perspectives 103, 173-178.

- Swain, E.B., Jakus, P.M., Rice, G., Lupi, F., Maxson, P.A., Pacyna, J.M., Penn, A., Spiegel, S.J., Veiga, M.M., 2007. Socioeconomic consequences of mercury use and pollution. Ambio 36, 45-61.
- Swedish Chemicals Inspectorate, Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2004. Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS). www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/env/Irtap/TaskForce/popsxg/2004/Sweden_
- PFOS_dossier_Aug_2004.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16). Swenson, J.J., Carter, C.E., Domec, J.-C., Delgado, C.I., 2011. Gold mining in
- the Peruvian Amazon: global prices, deforestation, and mercury imports. Plos One 6, e18875.
- Swift, M.J., Heal, O.W., Anderson, J.M., 1979. Decomposition in terrestrial eco-systems. Studies in Ecology, Vol. 5. University of California Press, ISBN 0-5200-4001-5.
- Switzer, J.A., 1986. The n-Silicon/Thallium (III) Oxide Heterojunction Photoelectrochemical Solar Cell. Journal of The Electrochemical Society 133, 722-728.
- Sylva, R.N., 1976. The environmental chemistry of copper (III) in aquatic systems. Water Research 10, 789-792.
- Symons, P.E.K., 1973. Behavior of young Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) exposed to or force-fed fenitrothion, an organophosphate insecticide. Journal of the Fisheries Board of Canada 30, 651-655.
- Syrett, H.L., 2002. Guidelines A handbook on the environment for the textile and fashion industry. Sustainable Solution Design Association, ISBN 87-988309-0-2. www.scribd.com/doc/31602007/Guidelines-A-handbook-on-the-environmentfor-the-textile-and-fashion-industry (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Szmigielski, S., Szudzinski, A., Pietraszek, A., Bielec, M., Janiak, M., Wrembel, J.K., 1982. Accelerated development of spontaneous and benzopyrene-induced skin cancer in mice exposed to 2450-MHz microwave radiation. Bioelectromagnetics 3, 179-191.
- Tamaki, S., Frankenberger Jr, W.T., 1992. Environmental biochemistry of arsenic. In: Ware, G.W. Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, Vol. 124. Springer New York, Inc, ISBN 978-1-4612-7700-2. pp. 79-110.
- Tang, D., Li, T.-y., Liu, J.J., Zhou, Z.-j., Yuan, T., Chen, Y.-h., Rauh, V.A., Xie, J., Perera, F., 2008. Effects of prenatal exposure to coal-burning pollutants on children's development in China. Environmental Health Perspectives 116, 674-679.
- Tang, J., Johannesson, K.H., 2006. Controls on the geochemistry of rare earth elements along a groundwater flow path in the Carrizo Sand aquifer, Texas, USA. Chemical Geology 225, 156-171.
- Tang, X., Shen, C., Shi, D., Cheema, S.A., Khan, M.I., Zhang, C., Chen, Y., 2010. Heavy metal and persistent organic compound contamination in soil from Wenling: An emerging e-waste recycling city in Taizhou area, China. Journal of Hazardous Materials 173, 653-660.
- Tang, X., Zeng, B., Hashmi, M.Z., Long, D., Yu, B., Ullah, N., Shen, C., Chen, Y., 2014. PBDEs and PCDD/Fs in surface soil taken from the Taizhou e-waste recycling area, China. Chemistry and Ecology 30, 245-251.
- Taylor, S.R., 1964. Abundance of chemical elements in the continental crust: a new table. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 28, 1273-1285.
- Tebit, D.M., Ganame, J., Sathiandee, K., Nagabila, Y., Coulibaly, B., Krausslich, H.-G., 2006. Diversity of HIV in rural Burkina Faso. JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes 43, 144-152.
- Telmer, K.H., Veiga, M.M., 2009. World emissions of mercury from artisanal and small scale gold mining. In: Mason, R., Pirrone, N. (Eds.). Mercury fate and transport in the global atmosphere. Springer Science + Business Media, New York, ISBN 978-0-387-93957-5. pp. 131-172.
- Telmer, K., 2011. World Artisanal Gold Production. Artisanal Gold Council Blog, 29.06.2011. artisanalgold.blogspot.ch/2011/06/world-artisanal-gold-production.html (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Teoh, C.H., 2010. Key sustainability issues in the palm oil sector. A discussion paper for multi-stakeholders consultations. World Bank Group. siteresources. worldbank.org/INTINDONESIA/Resources/226271-1170911056314/Discussion. Paper_palmoil.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Terminski, B., 2012. Mining-Induced Displacement and Resettlement: Social Problem and Human Rights Issue (A Global Perspective). Social Science Research Network Electronic Journal. indr.org/wp-content/uploads/ 2013/04/B.-Terminski-Mining-Induced-Displacement-and-Resettlement.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Ternes, T.A., 1998. Occurrence of drugs in German sewage treatment plants and rivers. Water Research 32, 3245-3260.
- Ternes, T.A., Stumpf, M., Mueller, J., Haberer, K., Wilken, R.D., Servos, M., 1999. Behavior and occurrence of estrogens in municipal sewage treatment plants – I. Investigations in Germany, Canada and Brazil. Science of the Total Environment 225, 81-90.
- Ternes, T.A., Hirsch, R., 2000. Occurrence and Behavior of X-ray Contrast Media in Sewage Facilities and the Aquatic Environment. Environmental Science and Technology 34, 2741-2748.
- Ternes, T.A., Joss, A., Siegrist, H., 2004. Peer reviewed: scrutinizing pharmaceuticals and personal care products in wastewater treatment. Environmental Science and Technology 38, 392A-399A.
- Ternes, T., Joss, A. (Eds.), 2007. Human Pharmaceuticals, Hormones and Fragrances -The Challenge of Micropollutants in Urban Water Management. International Water Association, ISBN 9781843390930.
- Teworte, W., 1974. VDI-Ber. 203, 5.

- The Vox Kashmir, 2013. Cement Factories turning Monsters in Khrew. 10.04.2013. ©The Vox Kashmir 2010 – 2014. www.thevoxkashmir.com/2013/04/10/cementfactories-turning-monsters-in-khrew/ (last accessed 12.01.16).
- The World Bank Group, 2001. Population Growth Rate. DEPweb Learning Modules. www.worldbank.org/depweb/english/modules/social/pgr/chart1.html (last accessed 12.01.16).
- The World Bank Group, 2014. World Bank Open Data: free and open access to data about development in countries around the globe. data.worldbank.org (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Theis, T.N., 2007. Energy-conserving classical computation: prospects and challenges. IBMT. J. Watson Research Center. pitpas1.phas.ubc.ca/varchive/asilomar/ pitp_asilomar_theis.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Thies, J., Neupert, M., Pump, W., 1990. Tetrabromobisphenol A (TBBA), its Derivatives and their Flame Retarded (FR) Polymers - Content of polybrominated Dibenzo-p-Dioxins (PBDD) and dibenzofurans (PBDF) - PBDD/F formation under processing and smouldering (worst case) conditions. Chemosphere 20, 1921-1928.
- Thomas Jefferson National Accelerator Facility, 2014. The element Lead. Office of Science Education.
 - education.jlab.org/itselemental/ele082.html (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Thompson, G., Swain, J., Kay, M., Forster, C.F., 2001. The treatment of pulp and paper mill effluent: a review. Bioresource Technology 77, 275-286.
- Togola, A., Budzinski, H., 2008. Multi-residue analysis of pharmaceutical compounds in aqueous samples. Journal of Chromatography A 1177, 150-158.
- Tomatis, L., Agthe, C., Bartsch, H., Huff, J., Montesano, R., Saracci, R., Walker, E., Wilbourn, J., 1978. Evaluation of the carcinogenicity of chemicals: a review of the Monograph Program of the International Agency for Research on Cancer (1971 to 1977). Cancer Research 38, 877-885.
- Tong, S., von Schirnding, Y.E., Prapamontol, T., 2000. Environmental lead exposure: a public health problem of global dimensions. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 78, 1068-1077.
- Tong, S.-L., Zhu, W.-Z., Gao, Z.-H., Meng, Y.-X., Peng, R.-L., Lu, G.-C., 2004. Distribution characteristics of rare earth elements in children's scalp hair from a rare earths mining area in southern China. Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A 39, 2517-2532.
- Tong, X., Wang, J., 2004. Transnational Flows of E-Waste and Spatial Patterns of Recycling in China. Eurasian Geography and Economics 45, 608-621.
- Travis, C.C., Arms, A.D., 1988. Bioconcentration of organics in beef, milk, and vegetation. Environmental Science and Technology 22, 271-274.
- Tredoux, G., Genthe, B., Steyn, M., Germanis, J., 2012. Managed aquifer recharge for potable reuse in Atlantis, South Africa. In: Kazner, C., Wintgens, T., Dillon, P. (Eds.). Water Reclamation Technologies for Safe Managed Aquifer Recharge, IWA Publishing, UK, ISBN 9781843393443. pp. 121-140.
- Tsai, Y.T., Huang, C.C., Kuo, H.C., Wang, H.M., Shen, W.S., Shih, T.S., Chu, N.S., 2006. Central nervous system effects in acute thallium poisoning. NeuroToxicology 27, 291-295.
- Tschan, M., Robinson, B.H., Nodari, M., Schulin, R., 2009. Antimony uptake by different plant species from nutrient solution, agar and soil. Environmental Chemistry 6, 144-152.
- Tue, N.M., Sudaryanto, A., Minh, T. B., Isobe, T., Takahashi, S., Viet, P.H., Tanabe, S., 2010. Accumulation of polychlorinated biphenyls and brominated flame retardants in breast milk from women living in Vietnamese e-waste recycling sites. Science of the Total Environment 408, 2155-2162.

Turner, M.A., Rust, R.H., 1971. Effects of chromium on growth and mineral nutrition of soybeans. Soil Science Society of America Journal 35, 755-758.

- Turner, D.R., Whitfield, M., Dickson, A.G., 1981. The equilibrium speciation of dissolved components in freshwater and sea water at 25 C and 1 atm pressure. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 45, 855-881.
- Tutu, H., McCarthy, T., Cukrowska, E., 2008. The chemical characteristics of acid mine drainage with particular reference to sources, distribution and remediation: The Witwatersrand Basin, South Africa as a case study. Applied Geochemistry 23, 3666-3684.
- Twidwell, L., Williams-Beam, C., 2002. Potential technologies for removing thallium from mine and process wastewater: An abbreviated annotation of the literature. European Journal of Mineral Processing and Environmental Protection 2, 1-10.
- Twining, B.S., Twiss, M.R., Fisher, N.S., 2003. Oxidation of thallium by freshwater plankton communities. Environmental Science and Technology 37, 2720-2726.
- UK Technical Advisory Group on the Water Framework Directive, 2008. Proposals for Environmental Quality Standards for Annex VIII Substances. www.wfduk.org/sites/default/files/Media/Environmental%20standards/Specific%20pollutants%20proposals_Final_010608.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- UK Technical Advisory Group on the Water Framework Directive, 2012. Updated Recommendations on Environmental Standards - River Basin Management (2015-21). www.wfduk.org/sites/default/files/Media/UKTAG%20Summary%20 Report_final_260412.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Umweltbundesamt, 2012. ETOX: Information System Ecotoxicology and Environmental Quality Targets. Federal Environment Agency Dessau-Roßlau, Germany. webetox.uba.de/webETOX/public/search/stoff.do (last accessed 12.01.16).

- United Nations Economic Commission for Europe, 2014. Kiev Protocol on Pollutant Release and Transfer Registers - Introduction.
- www.unece.org/env/pp/prtr.html (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United Nations Environment Programme, 1998a. Lead Exposure and Human Health. In: Global Opportunities for Reducing the Use of Leaded Gasoline. UNEP Chemicals 98/9, pp. 7-16. www.chem.unep.ch/pops/pdf/lead/leadexp.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United Nations Environment Programme, 1998b. Lead in Gasoline International Patterns of Use. In: Global Opportunities for Reducing the Use of Leaded Gasoline. UNEP Chemicals 98/9, pp. 33-51.
- www.chem.unep.ch/pops/pdf/lead/leadgas.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16). United Nations Environment Programme, 2003. Action Plan of the Environment Initiative of the new Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD). www.economicswebinstitute.org/essays/nepad-environment.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).

(last accessed 12.01.16).

- United Nations Environment Programme, 2006a. Call for Global Action on E-waste. Nairobi Declaration to Call for Urgent Global Action on E-wastes. www.unep.org/Documents.Multilingual/Default.asp?ArticleID=5447&Docume ntID=496&I=en (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United Nations Environment Programme, 2006b. Strategic Approach to International Chemicals Management – SAICM texts and resolutions of the International Conference on Chemicals Management, ISBN 978-92-807-2751-7. www.saicm.org/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=72&Item id=474 (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United Nations Environment Programme, 2008. The global atmospheric Mercury Assessment: Sources, Emissions and Transport. UNEP Chemicals Branch, Geneva. www.unep.org/chemicalsandwaste/Portals/9/Mercury/Documents/ Publications/UNEP_GlobalAtmosphericMercuryAssessment_May2009.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United Nations Environment Programme, 2010. Harmful substances and hazardous waste. UNEP six priority areas factsheets.
- www.unep.org/pdf/brochures/HarmfulSubstances.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16). United Nations Environment Programme, 2013a. Global Mercury Assessment 2013: Sources, Emissions, Releases and Environmental Transport. UNEP Chemicals Branch, Geneva, Switzerland. www.unep.org/PDF/PressReleases/ GlobalMercuryAssessment2013.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United Nations Environment Programme, 2013b. United Nations Environment Programme Costs of Inaction on the Sound Management of Chemicals. DTI/1551/GE. www.unep.org/hazardoussubstances/Portals/9/Mainstreaming/ CostOfInaction/Report Cost of Inaction Feb2013.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United Nations Environment Programme, 2013c. Global Chemicals Outlook towards sound Management of Chemicals. ISBN 978-92-807-3320-4. www.unep. org/chemicalsandwaste/Portals/9/Mainstreaming/GCO/The%20Global%20 Chemical%20Outlook_Full%20report_15Feb2013.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United Nations Environment Programme, 2013d. Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs). Text and Annexes as amended in 2009, 2011 and 2013. chm.pops.int/TheConvention/ConventionText/tabid/2232/Default.aspx (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United Nations Environment Programme, Food and Agriculture Organization, 2013. Rotterdam Convention on the Prior Informed Consent Procedure for Certain Hazardous Chemicals and Pesticides in International Trade. www.pic.int/TheConvention/Overview/TextoftheConvention/tabid/1048/lan-
- guage/en-US/Default.aspx (last accessed 12.01.16). United Nations Environment Programme, 2014. Basel Convention on the Control of Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal. UNEP/BRS/2014/3. www.basel.int/Portals/4/Basel%20Convention/docs/text/ BaselConventionText-e.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2013. International Yearbook Of Industrial Statistics 2013. Edward Elgar UK, ISBN 978 1 78195 564 2.
- United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2014. International Yearbook of Industrial Statistics 2014. 20th edn. Edward Elgar UK, ISBN 978 1 78347 389 2.
- United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), 2013. 2013 global fact sheet. www.unaids.org/en/resources/campaigns/globalreport2013/factsheet/ (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United Nations, 1992. Agenda 21. United Nations Conference on Environment & Development, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, June 3-14, 1992. United Nations Division for Sustainable Development, New York. sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/Agenda21.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United Nations, 2002. Plan of Implementation of the World Summit on Sustainable Development, Johannesburg, South Africa, 28.08.-04.09.2002. www.un.org/esa/sustdev/documents/WSSD_POI_PD/English/WSSD_PlanImpl.
- pdf (last accessed 12.01.16). United Nations, 2007. Biochemical Oxygen Demand in Water Bodies.
- www.un.org/esa/sustdev/natlinfo/indicators/methodology_sheets/freshwater/ biochemical_oxygen_demand.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United Nations, 2013. Chemicals and waste. Sustainable Development Knowledge Platform, United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. sustainabledevelopment.un.org/index.php?menu=214 (last accessed 12.01.16).

- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 1995. EPA Office of Compliance Sector Notebook Project - Profile of the Metal Mining Industry. EPA/310-R-95-008. www.hsph.harvard.edu/mining/files/US_EPA_Mining_Review.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 1999. National Recommended Water Quality Criteria - Correction. EPA 822-Z-99-001. nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPDF. cgi/20003OLV.PDF?Dockey=20003OLV.PDF (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2000. Interim Reregistration Eligibility Decision (IRED) Profenofos. EPA 738-R-00-006. archive.epa.gov/pesticides/reregistration/web/pdf/profenofos_red.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2002. Profile of the Pulp and Paper Industry, 2nd edn. EPA Office of Compliance Sector Notebook Project. EPA/310-R-02-002. nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPDF.cgi/50000EV8. PDF?Dockey=50000EV8.PDF (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2005. Profile of The Rubber And Plastics Industry, 2nd edn. EPA Office of Compliance Sector Notebook Project. EPA/310-R-05-003. archive.epa.gov/compliance/resources/publications/assistance/sectors/web/pdf/rubplasn.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2006. Decision Documents for Atrazine. archive.epa.gov/pesticides/reregistration/web/pdf/atrazine_combined_ docs.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2008. Copper Facts. EPA 738-F-06-014. archive.epa.gov/pesticides/reregistration/web/pdf/copper_red_fs.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2009. Organic Arsenicals. Pesticides Reregistration. archive.epa.gov/pesticides/reregistration/web/html/organic_arsenicals_fs.html (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2010. Manganese Compounds. Technology Transfer Network – Air Toxics Web Site.
- www.epa.gov/ttn/atw/hlthef/manganes.html (last accessed 12.01.16). United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2011. Pesticide Industry Sales and
- Usage 2006 and 2007 Market Estimates. www.epa.gov/sites/production/ files/2015-10/documents/market_estimates2007.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16). United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2012. TRI Explorer - Release
- Chemical Report for 2012. iaspub.epa.gov/triexplorer/tri_release.chemical (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2014a. Ecotox Database. cfpub.epa.gov/ecotox/quick_query.htm (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2014b. Technical Fact Sheet -Polybrominated Diphenyl Ethers (PBDEs) and Polybrominated Biphenyls (PBBs). EPA 505-F-14-006. www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2014-03/ documents/ffrrofactsheet_contaminant_perchlorate_january2014_final_0.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2014c. Priority Pollutant List. www2.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-09/documents/priority-pollutant-listepa.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015a. Basic information about Pesticide ingredients. www2.epa.gov/ingredients-used-pesticide-products/basic-information-about-pesticide-ingredients (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015b. EPA On-line Tools for Site Assessment Calculation: Estimated Henry's Law Constants. www3.epa.gov/ ceampubl/learn2model/part-two/onsite/esthenry.html (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015c. Table of Regulated Drinking Water Contaminants. www.epa.gov/your-drinking-water/tableregulated-drinking-water-contaminants (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2015d. U.S. Federal Bans of Asbestos. www2.epa.gov/asbestos/us-federal-bans-asbestos#notbanned (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Geological Survey, 2011. Lead Soft and Easy to Cast. Fact Sheet 2011-3045. pubs.usgs.gov/fs/2011/3045/pdf/fs2011-3045.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Geological Survey, 2012. 2010 Minerals Yearbook: Cement. http://minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/commodity/cement/myb1-2010-cemen. pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Geological Survey, 2013. Mineral commodity summaries 2013. minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/mcs/2013/mcs2013.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- United States Geological Survey, 2014. Mineral Commodity Summaries 2014. minerals.usgs.gov/minerals/pubs/mcs/2014/mcs2014.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Vajpayee, P., Sharma, S.C., Tripathi, R.D., Rai, U.N., Yunus, M., 1999. Bioaccumulation of chromium and toxicity to photosynthetic pigments, nitrate reductase activity and protein content of *Nelumbo nucifera* Gaertn. Chemosphere 39, 2159-2169.
- van der Ven, K., Keil, D., Moens, L.N., van Hummelen, P., van Remortel, P., Maras, M., De Coen, W., 2006. Effects of the antidepressant mianserin in zebrafish: Molecular markers of endocrine disruption. Chemosphere 65, 1836-1845.
- van der Werf, H.M.G., 1996. Assessing the impact of pesticides on the environment. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 60, 81-96.
- van Straaten, P., 2000. Mercury contamination associated with small-scale gold mining in Tanzania and Zimbabwe. Science of the Total Environment 259, 105-113.
- van Vlaardingen, P.L.A., Verbruggen, E.M.J., 2009. Aanvulling milieurisicogrenzen voor negen sporenelementen: afleiding volgens Kaderrichtlijn Water-methodiek.

National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, the Netherlands. RIVM Briefrapport 601714011/2009. www.rivm.nl/dsresource?objectid=rivmp:1 5872&type=org&disposition=inline&ns_nc=1 (last accessed 12.01.16).

- Vane, J.R., Botting, R.M., 1998. Mechanism of Action of Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs. The American Journal of Medicine 104, 2S-8S.
- Vardy, D.W., Santore, R., Ryan, A., Giesy, J.P., Hecker, M., 2014. Acute toxicity of copper, lead, cadmium, and zinc to early life stages of white sturgeon (*Acipenser transmontanus*) in laboratory and Columbia River water. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 21, 8176-8187.
- vbw, 2011. Rohstoffsituation Bayern keine Zukunft ohne Rohstoffe. Vereinigung der Bayerischen Wirtschaft e. V. www.nachhaltigwirtschaften.at/e2050/e2050_pdf/reports/20110714_rohstoffsituation_bayern.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Verma, S., Dubey, R.S., 2003. Lead toxicity induces lipid peroxidation and alters the activities of antioxidant enzymes in growing rice plants. Plant Science 164, 645-655.
- Viani, R.M., Hsia, K., Hubbard, P., Ruiz-Calderon, J., Lozada, R., Alvelais, J., Gallardo, M., Spector, S.A., 2007. Prevalence of primary HIV-1 drug resistance in pregnant women and in newly diagnosed adults at Tijuana General Hospital, Baja California, Mexico. International Journal of STD & AIDS 18, 235-238.
- Villarroel, L.F., Miller, J.R., Lechler, P.J., Germanoski, D., 2006. Lead, zinc, and antimony contamination of the Rio Chilco-Rio Tupiza drainage system, Southern Bolivia. Environmental Geology 51, 283-299.
- Vink, B.W., 1993. The behaviour of thallium in the (sub) surface environment in terms of Eh and pH. Chemical Geology 109, 119-123.
- Virta, R.L., 2006. Worldwide asbestos supply and consumption trends from 1900 through 2003. US Geological Survey Circular 1298.
- pubs.usgs.gov/circ/2006/1298/c1298.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16). Vishnu, V., Priyadarshini, C.S., Hainy, H., 2011. Environmental Issues caused by Rubber Industry. The environmental impact by nearby businesses, 3.10.11. businessimpactenvironment.wordpress.com/2011/10/03/environmental-issuescaused-by-rubber-industry/ (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Visser, W., 2012. Recycling and the Future of Mining. The Business of Mining, 15.04. 2012. thebusinessofmining.com/2012/04/15/recycling-the-future-ofmining/ (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Vlasov, K.M.A., Lerman, Z., Brenner, Y., Amoils, R., 1966. Geochemistry and mineralogy of rare elements and genetic types of their deposits. Israel program for scientific translations.
- Voigt, K., Bruggemann, R., 2008. Ranking of pharmaceuticals detected in the environment: aggregation and weighting procedures. Combinatorial Chemistry & High Throughput Screening 11, 770-782.
- von Storch, H., Costa-Cabral, M., Hagner, C., Feser, F., Pacyna, J., Pacyna, E., Kolb, S., 2003. Four decades of gasoline lead emissions and control policies in Europe: a retrospective assessment. Science of the Total Environment 311, 151-176.
- Vulliet, E., Cren-Olivé, C., 2011. Screening of pharmaceuticals and hormones at the regional scale, in surface and groundwaters intended to human consumption. Environmental Pollution 159, 2929-2934.
- Vymazal, J., 1990. Toxicity and accumulation of lead with respect to algae and cyanobacteria: a review. Acta hydrochimica et hydrobiologica 18, 513-535.
- Waalkes, M.P., 2003. Cadmium carcinogenesis. Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis 533, 107-120.
- Wang, D., Xu, X., Zheng, M., Chiu, C.H., 2002. Effect of copper chloride on the emissions of PCDD/Fs and PAHs from PVC combustion. Chemosphere 48, 857-863.
- Wang, D., Cai, Z., Jiang, G., Leung, A., Wong, M.H., Wong, W.K., 2005. Determination of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in soil and sediment from an electronic waste recycling facility. Chemosphere 60, 810-816.
- Wang, S., Mulligan, C.N., 2006. Occurrence of arsenic contamination in Canada: sources, behavior and distribution. Science of the Total Environment 366, 701-721.
- Wang, L.-C., Chang-Chien, G.-P., 2007. Characterizing the emissions of polybrominated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans from municipal and industrial waste incinerators. Environmental Science and Technology 41, 1159-1165.
- Wang, H., Zhang, Y., Liu, Q., Wang, F., Nie, J., Qian, Y., 2010. Examining the relationship between brominated flame retardants (BFR) exposure and changes of thyroid hormone levels around e-waste dismantling sites. International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health 213, 369-380.
- Wang, H., Han, M., Yang, S., Chen, Y., Liu, Q., Ke, S., 2011. Urinary heavy metal levels and relevant factors among people exposed to e-waste dismantling. Environment International 37, 80-85.
- Waste Management World, 2011. E-waste magnet Delhi struggling to cope. 10.02.2011. https://waste-management-world.com/a/e-waste-magnet-delhi-struggling-to-cope (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Wath, S.B., Dutt, P., Chakrabarti, T., 2011. E-waste scenario in India, its management and implications. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 172, 249-262.
- Weber, J.H., 1993. Review of possible paths for abiotic methylation of mercury(II) in the aquatic environment. Chemosphere 26, 2063-2077.
- Weber, R., Kuch, B., 2003. Relevance of BFRs and thermal conditions on the formation pathways of brominated and brominated–chlorinated dibenzodioxins and dibenzofurans. Environment International 29, 699-710.

- Weber, F.-A., aus der Beek, T., Bergmann, A., Carius, A., Grüttner, G., Hickmann, S., Ebert, I., Hein, A., Küster, A., Rose, J., Koch-Jugl, J., Stolzenberg, H.-C., 2014. Pharmaceuticals in the Environment - the global perspective. Occurence, effects, and potential cooperative action under SAICM. IWW Rheinisch-Westfälisches Institut für Wasser Beratungs- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft mbH. pharmaceuticals-in-the-environment.org/sites/pharmaceuticals-in-the-environment.org/files/documents/pharmaceuticals_en_141210_screen.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Wedepohl, K.H., 1995. The composition of the continental crust. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 59, 1217-1232.
- WEEELABEX, 2013. WEEELABEX WEEE LABel of EXcellence. European Standards for Treatment and Recycling of E&E Waste and for Monitoring the Processing Companies. ec.europa.eu/environment/life/project/Projects/index. cfm?fuseaction=search.dspPage&n_proj_id=3261 (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Weidenhamer, J.D., Clement, M.L., 2007. Widespread lead contamination of imported low-cost jewelry in the US. Chemosphere 67, 961-965.
- Wells, M., 2011. "You'll be fired if you refuse" Labor Abuses in Zambia's Chinese State-owned Copper Mines. Human Rights Watch. www.hrw.org/sites/default/ files/reports/zambia1111ForWebUpload.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Wesseling, C., McConnell, R., Partanen, T., Hogstedt, C., 1997. Agricultural pesticide use in developing countries: health effects and research needs. International Journal of Health Services 27, 273-308.
- Wesseling, C., Corriols, M., Bravo, V., 2005. Acute pesticide poisoning and pesticide registration in Central America. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 207, 697-705.
- Wester, R.C., Maibach, H.I., Bucks, D.A.W., Aufrere, M.B., 1984. In vivo percutaneous absorption of paraquat from hand, leg, and forearm of humans. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health 14, 759-762.
- Weston, D.P., Lydy, M.J., 2010. Urban and Agricultural Sources of Pyrethroid Insecticides to the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta of California. Environmental Science and Technology 44, 1833-1840.
- Whitlock Jr, C.M., Amuso, S.J., Bittenbender, J., 1966. Chronic neurological disease in two manganese steel workers. American Industrial Hygiene Association Journal 27, 454-459.
- Widmer, R., Oswald-Krapf, H., Sinha-Khetriwal, D., Schnellmann, M., Böni, H., 2005. Global perspectives on e-waste. Environmental Impact Assessment Review 25, 436-458.
- Wiegand, C., Pflugmacher, S., Giese, M., Frank, H., Steinberg, C., 2000. Uptake, Toxicity, and Effects on Detoxication Enzymes of Atrazine and Trifluoroacetate in Embryos of Zebrafish. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 45, 122-131.
- Wihardja, M.M., 2010. A Portrait of Deforestation in East Kalimantan, Indonesia. EastAsiaForum, 25September2010.www.eastasiaforum.org/2010/09/25/a-portrait-ofdeforestation-in-east-kalimantan-indonesia/ (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Williams, R.L., Muhlbaier, J.L., 1982. Asbestos brake emissions. Environmental Research 29, 70-82.
- Williams, P.N., Villada, A., Deacon, C., Raab, A., Figuerola, J., Green, A.J., Feldmann, J., Meharg, A.A., 2007. Greatly enhanced arsenic shoot assimilation in rice leads to elevated grain levels compared to wheat and barley. Environmental Science and Technology 41, 6854-6859.
- Williams, E., Kahhat, R., Allenby, B., Kavazanjian, E., Kim, J., Xu, M., 2008. Environmental, Social, and Economic Implications of Global Reuse and Recycling of Personal Computers. Environmental Science and Technology 42, 6446-6454.
- Wilson, S.C., Lockwood, P.V., Ashley, P.M., Tighe, M., 2010. The chemistry and behaviour of antimony in the soil environment with comparisons to arsenic: A critical review. Environmental Pollution 158, 1169-1181.
- Winde, F., de Villiers, A.B., 2002. Uranium contamination of streams by tailings deposits Case studies in the Witwatersrand gold mining area (South Africa).
 In: Merkel, B.J., Planer-Friedrich, B., Wolkersdorfer, C. (Eds.). Uranium in the Aquatic Environment. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, ISBN 978-3-642-62877-1. pp. 803-812.
- Winde, F., Sandham, L.A., 2004. Uranium pollution of South African streams An overview of the situation in gold mining areas of the Witwatersrand. GeoJournal 61, 131-149.
- Wise, R., 2002. Antimicrobial resistance: priorities for action. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 49, 585-586.
- Wittmer, I.K., Bader, H.-P., Scheidegger, R., Singer, H., Lück, A., Hanke, I., Carlsson, C., Stamm, C., 2010. Significance of urban and agricultural land use for biocide and pesticide dynamics in surface waters. Water Research 44, 2850-2862.
- Wittmer, I., Junghans, M., Singer, H., Stamm, C., 2014. Mikroverunreinigungen Beurteilungskonzept f
 ür organische Spurenstoffe aus diffusen Eintr
 ägen. Studie im Auftrag des BAFU. Eawag, D
 übendorf, Switzerland.
- Wittsiepe, J., Fürst, P., Schrey, P., Lemm, F., Kraft, M., Eberwein, G., Winneke, G., Wilhelm, M., 2007. PCDD/F and dioxin-like PCB in human blood and milk from German mothers. Chemosphere 67, S286-S294.
- Wolfe, M.F., Schwarzbach, S., Sulaiman, R.A., 1998. Effects of mercury on wildlife: a comprehensive review. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 17, 146-160.
- Wong, M.H., 2003. Ecological restoration of mine degraded soils, with emphasis on metal contaminated soils. Chemosphere 50, 775-780.
- Wong, C.S.C., Duzgoren-Aydin, N.S., Aydin, A., Wong, M.H., 2007a. Evidence of excessive releases of metals from primitive e-waste processing in Guiyu, China. Environmental Pollution 148, 62-72.

- Wong, C.S.C., Wu, S.C., Duzgoren-Aydin, N.S., Aydin, A., Wong, M.H., 2007b. Trace metal contamination of sediments in an e-waste processing village in China. Environmental Pollution 145, 434-442.
- Wong, M.H., Wu, S.C., Deng, W.J., Yu, X.Z., Luo, Q., Leung, A.O.W., Wong, C.S.C., Luksemburg, W.J., Wong, A.S., 2007c. Export of toxic chemicals – A review of the case of uncontrolled electronic-waste recycling. Environmental Pollution 149, 131-140.
- Woolery, M.L., Lewin, R.A., 1976. The effects of lead on algae IV. Effects of Pb on Respiration and Photosynthesis of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* (Bacillariophyceae). Water, Air, & Soil Pollution 6, 25-31.
- World Health Organization, 2001. Arsenic and Arsenic Compounds. Environmental Health Criteria 224, 2nd edn. whqlibdoc.who.int/ehc/WHO_EHC_224.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- World Health Organization, 2004. Guidelines for drinking-water quality, 3rd edn. Vol. 1 - Recommendations. ISBN 92-4-154638-7. www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/dwq/GDWQ2004web.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- World Health Organization, 2005. Deaths from unintentional poisonings all causes. www.who.int/heli/risks/toxics/chemicals/en/ (last accessed 12.01.16).
- World Health Organization, 2006. Elimination of asbestos-related Diseases. WHO/ SDE/OEH/06.03. www.who.int/occupational_health/publications/asbestosrelateddiseases.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- World Health Organization, 2008. Immunization, Vaccines and Biologicals HIV / AIDS. www.who.int/immunization/topics/hiv/en/index1.html (last accessed 12.01.16).
- World Health Organization, United Nations Environment Programme, 2008. Food Safety - Guidance for Identifying Populations at Risk from Mercury Exposure. Geneva, Switzerland. www.who.int/foodsafety/publications/chem/mercuryexposure.pdf?ua=1 (last accessed 12.01.16).
- World Health Organization, 2009. Global health risks: mortality and burden of disease attributable to selected major risks. World Health Organization, ISBN 978 92 4 156387 1. www.who.int/healthinfo/global_burden_disease/GlobalHeal thRisks_report_full.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- World Health Organization, 2010a. Preventing Disease through Healthy Environments - Exposure to Lead: A Major public Health Concern. www.who.int/ipcs/features/lead..pdf?ua=1 (last accessed 12.01.16).
- World Health Organization, 2010b. The WHO Recommended Classification of Pesticides by Hazard, and Guidelines to Classification 2009. ISBN 978-92-4-154796-3. www.who.int/ipcs/publications/pesticides_hazard_2009.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- World Health Organization, 2011. Lead in Drinking-water. www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/dwg/chemicals/lead.pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- World Health Organization, 2014. Chrysotile Asbestos. ISBN 978 92 4 156481 6. www.who.int/ipcs/assessment/public_health/chrysotile_asbestos_summary. pdf (last accessed 12.01.16).
- World Health Organization, 2015a. Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) Fact sheet No. 317. www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs317/en/ (last accessed 12.01.16).
- World Health Organization, 2015b. HIV/AIDS Fact sheet No. 360.
 www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs360/en/ (last accessed 12.01.16).
 WorldLoop, 2013. E-waste Offsetting. worldloop.org/get-involved/e-resource-
- certificates/ (last accessed 12.01.16).
 Wren, C.D., Fischer, K.L., Stokes, P.M., 1988. Levels of lead, cadmium and other elements in mink and otter from Ontario, Canada. Environmental Pollution 52, 193-202.
- Wren, C.D., Stokes, P.M., Fischer, K.L., 1986. Mercury levels in Ontario mink and otter relative to food levels and environmental acidification. Canadian Journal of Zoology 64, 2854-2859.
- Wu, J.J., Musto, J., 2011. Discovery and Development of PL-100, A Novel HIV-1 Protease Inhibitor. In: Kazmierski, W.M. (Ed.) Antiviral Drugs – From Basic Discovery Through Clinical Trials. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., ISBN 978-0-470-45563-0. pp. 19-30.
- Wu, J.Y., Anelli, C.M., Sheppard, W.S., 2011a. Sub-Lethal Effects of Pesticide Residues in Brood Comb on Worker Honey Bee (*Apis mellifera*) Development and Longevity. Plos One 6, e14720.
- Wu, K., Xu, X., Liu, J., Guo, Y., Huo, X., 2011b. *In utero* exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and reduced neonatal physiological development from Guiyu, China. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 74, 2141-2147.
- Wu, B.L., Song, B., Tian, S.Z., Huo, S.H., Cui, C.X., Guo, Y.S., Liu, H.J., 2012a. Central nervous system damage due to acute paraquat poisoning: A neuroimaging study with 3.0 T MRI. NeuroToxicology 33, 1330-1337.
- Wu, K., Xu, X., Peng, L., Liu, J., Guo, Y., Huo, X., 2012b. Association between maternal exposure to perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) from electronic waste recycling and neonatal health outcomes. Environment International 48, 1-8.
- WWF, 2015. Impacts of pulp and paper production. World Wide Fund For Nature. wwf.panda.org/about_our_earth/about_forests/deforestation/forest_conversion_ agriculture/impactspulppaper/ (last accessed 12.01.16).
- Xiao, T., Guha, J., Boyle, D., Liu, C.-Q., Chen, J., 2004. Environmental concerns related to high thallium levels in soils and thallium uptake by plants in southwest Guizhou, China. Science of the Total Environment 318, 223-244.
- Xiaorong, W., Mingde, H., Mingan, S., 2007. Copper fertilizer effects on copper distribution and vertical transport in soils. Geoderma 138, 213-220.

- Xu, R., Mortimer, P.E., Kuang, R.P., He, J., Zhang, W.D., Yin, F., 2013. Sublethal impact of paraquat on the life span and parasitic behavior of *Diaeretiella rapae* M'Intosh. Journal of Environmental Science and Health. Part B 48, 651-657.
- Xu, W., Zhang, G., Li, X., Zou, S., Li, P., Hu, Z., Li, J., 2007. Occurrence and elimination of antibiotics at four sewage treatment plants in the Pearl River Delta (PRD), South China. Water Research 41, 4526-4534.
- Xu, X., Yang, H., Chen, A., Zhou, Y., Wu, K., Liu, J., Zhang, Y., Huo, X., 2012. Birth outcomes related to informal e-waste recycling in Guiyu, China. Reproductive Toxicology 33, 94-98.
- Yakushev, E., Pakhomova, S., Sørenson, K., Skei, J., 2009. Importance of the different manganese species in the formation of water column redox zones: Observations and modeling. Marine Chemistry 117, 59-70.
- Yalkowsky, S.H., Dannenfelser, R.M., 1992. Aquasol database of aqueous solubility. Version 5. College of Pharmacy, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ
- Yamaguchi, N., Nakamura, T., Dong, D., Takahashi, Y., Amachi, S., Makino, T., 2011. Arsenic release from flooded paddy soils is influenced by speciation, Eh, pH, and iron dissolution. Chemosphere 83, 925-932.
- Yang, S., Cha, J., Carlson, K., 2004. Quantitative determination of trace concentrations of tetracycline and sulfonamide antibiotics in surface water using solidphase extraction and liquid chromatography/ion trap tandem mass spectrometry. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 18, 2131-2145.
- Yang, Q.W., Lan, C.Y., Wang, H.B., Zhuang, P., Shu, W.S., 2006. Cadmium in soilrice system and health risk associated with the use of untreated mining wastewater for irrigation in Lechang, China. Agricultural Water Management 84, 147-152.
- Yang, X., Wang, J., Xu, D.C., Qiu, J.W., Ma, Y., Cui, J., 2011. Simultaneous Determination of 69 Pesticide Residues in Coffee by Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry. Food Analytical Methods 4, 186-195.
- Yin, J., Shao, B., Zhang, J., Li, K., 2010. A preliminary study on the occurrence of cytostatic drugs in hospital effluents in Beijing, China. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 84, 39-45.
- Ying, G.-G., Kookana, R.S., Ru, Y.-J., 2002. Occurrence and fate of hormone steroids in the environment. Environment International 28, 545-551.
- Young, R.J., Critchley, J.A., Young, K.K., Freebairn, R.C., Reynolds, A.P., Lolin, Y.I., 1996. Fatal acute hepatorenal failure following potassium permanganate ingestion. Human and Experimental Toxicology 15, 259-261.
- Yu, J., Welford, R., Hills, P., 2006a. Industry responses to EU WEEE and ROHS Directives: perspectives from China. Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management 13, 286-299.
- Yu, X.Z., Gao, Y., Wu, S.C., Zhang, H.B., Cheung, K.C., Wong, M.H., 2006b. Distribution of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in soils at Guiyu area of China, affected by recycling of electronic waste using primitive technologies. Chemosphere 65, 1500-1509.
- Yu, Z., Peng, P., Sheng, G., Fu, J., 2008. Determination of hexabromocyclododecane diastereoisomers in air and soil by liquid chromatography–electrospray tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A 1190, 74-79.
- Yuan, J., Chen, L., Chen, D., Guo, H., Bi, X., Ju, Y., Jiang, P., Shi, J., Yu, Z., Yang, J., Li, L., Jiang, Q., Sheng, G., Fu, J., Wu, T., Chen, X., 2008. Elevated serum polybrominated diphenyl ethers and thyroid-stimulating hormone associated with lymphocytic micronuclei in Chinese workers from an E-waste dismantling site. Environmental Science and Technology 42, 2195-2200.
- Yusuff, R.O., Sonibare, J.A., 2004. Characterization of textile industries' effluents in Kaduna, Nigeria and pollution implications. Global NEST: the International Journal 6, 212-221.
- Zaccheo, P., Genevini, P.L., Cocucci, S.M., 1982. Chromium ions toxicity on the membrane transport mechanism in segments of maize seedling roots. Journal of Plant Nutrition 5, 1217-1227.
- Zager, E.M., McNerney, R., 2008. Multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. BMC Infectious Diseases 8, 10.
- Zeid, I.M., 2001. Responses of *Phaseolus vulgaris* to chromium and cobalt treatments. Biologia Plantarum 44, 111-115.
- Zhang, Z., Zhang, B., Long, J., Zhang, X., Chen, G., 1998. Thallium pollution associated with mining of thallium deposits. Science in China Series D: Earth Sciences 41, 75-81.
- Zhang, Z., Huang, J., Yu, G., Hong, H., 2004. Occurrence of PAHs, PCBs and organochlorine pesticides in the Tonghui River of Beijing, China. Environmental Pollution 130, 249-261.
- Zhang, Y., Geißen, S.-U., Gal, C., 2008. Carbamazepine and diclofenac: Removal in wastewater treatment plants and occurrence in water bodies. Chemosphere 73, 1151-1161.
- Zhang, J., Jiang, Y., Zhou, J., Wu, B., Liang, Y., Peng, Z., Fang, D., Liu, B., Huang, H., He, C., Wang, C., Lu, F., 2010. Elevated body burdens of PBDEs, dioxins, and PCBs on thyroid hormone homeostasis at an electronic waste recycling site in China. Environmental Science and Technology 44, 3956-3962.
- Zhang, Y., Geißen, S.-U., 2010. Prediction of carbamazepine in sewage treatment plant effluents and its implications for control strategies of pharmaceutical aquatic contamination. Chemosphere 80, 1345-1352.
- Zhao, G., Xu, Y., Han, G., Ling, B., 2006. Biotransfer of persistent organic pollutants from a large site in China used for the disassembly of electronic and electrical waste. Environmental Geochemistry and Health 28, 341-351.

- Zhao, G., Wang, Z., Zhou, H., Zhao, Q., 2009. Burdens of PBBs, PBDEs, and PCBs in tissues of the cancer patients in the e-waste disassembly sites in Zhejiang, China. Science of the Total Environment 407, 4831-4837.
- Zhao, J.-L., Ying, G.-G., Liu, Y.-S., Chen, F., Yang, J.-F., Wang, L., Yang, X.-B., Stauber, J.L., Warne, M.S.J., 2010. Occurrence and a screening-level risk assessment of human pharmaceuticals in the Pearl River system, South China. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 29, 1377-1384.
- Zheng, G.J., Leung, A.O.W., Jiao, L.P., Wong, M.H., 2008a. Polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans pollution in China: Sources, environmental levels and potential human health impacts. Environment International 34, 1050-1061.
- Zheng, L., Wu, K., Li, Y., Qi, Z., Han, D., Zhang, B., Gu, C., Chen, G., Liu, J., Chen, S., Xu, X., Huo, X., 2008b. Blood lead and cadmium levels and relevant factors among children from an e-waste recycling town in China. Environmental Research 108, 15-20.
- Zheng, G., Xu, X., Li, B., Wu, K., Yekeen, T.A., Huo, X., 2013. Association between lung function in school children and exposure to three transition metals from an e-waste recycling area. Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology 23, 67-72.
- Zhu, Y.-G., Sun, G.-X., Lei, M., Teng, M., Liu, Y.-X., Chen, N.-C., Wang, L.-H., Carey, A., Deacon, C., Raab, A., Meharg, A.A., Williams, P.N., 2008. High percentage inorganic arsenic content of mining impacted and nonimpacted Chinese rice. Environmental Science and Technology 42, 5008-5013.
- Zielhuis, R.L., Wibowo, A.A.E., 1984. Standard setting and metal speciation: arsenic. In: Nriagu, J.O. (Ed.). Changing metal cycles and human health: Report of the Dahlem Workshop, Berlin, March 20-25, 1983. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, ISBN 3-540-12748-8. pp. 323-344.
- Zimdahl, R.L., Arvik, J.H., Hammond, P.B., 1973. Lead in soils and plants: A literature review. C R C Critical Reviews in Environmental Control 3, 213-224.
- Zinkl, J.G., Lockhart, W.L., Kenny, S.A., Ward, F.J., 1991. The effects of cholinesterase inhibiting insecticides on fish. In: Mineau, P (Ed.). Chemicals in Agriculture Vol. 2: Cholinesterase-inhibiting Insecticides - Their Impact on Wildlife and the Environment. Elsevier Science Publishers. pp. 233-254.
- Zitko, V., 1975. Toxicity and pollution potential of thallium. Science of the Total Environment 4, 185-192.
- Zoeteman, B.C.J., Krikke, H.R., Venselaar, J., 2010. Handling WEEE waste flows: on the effectiveness of producer responsibility in a globalizing world. The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology 47, 415-436.
- Zounková, R., Odráška, P., Doležalová, L., Hilscherová, K., Maršálek, B., Bláha, L., 2007. Ecotoxicity and genotoxicity assessment of cytostatic pharmaceuticals. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 26, 2208-2214.

Eawag

Überlandstrasse 133 8600 Dübendorf Switzerland Phone +41 (0)58 765 55 11 Fax +41 (0)58 765 50 28 www.eawag.ch info@eawag.ch